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NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddimg statements that are being made pursuanetedfe harbor provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 19964t‘PSLRA") with the intention of obtaining the hedits of the “safe harbor” provisions of
the PSLRA. Forward-looking statements involve riakd uncertainties. All statements other than states of historical facts contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking staénts. In some cases, you can identify forwar#if@pstatements by words such as
“anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue;tould,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “fan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,”
“seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” or thenegative of these words or other comparable terimgy. These forward-looking statements

include, but are not limited to, statements about:

« the projected timing of (1) data from our recemiynpleted Phase 2b study of AKB-6548 in ribalysis patients with anemia rela
to chronic kidney disease (CKD), (2) commenceméat Bhase 3 development program of AKB-6548, (Bnssgsion of an NDA
for AKB-6548 and (4) data from our Phase 2 clinical stfdKB -6548 in CKD patients undergoing dialys

« our plans to commercialize AKB-6548, if it is appedl;
« our development plans with respect to AKB-6899;

- the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings arapprovals, including any required post-marketirggitg or any labeling and other
restrictions;

« the implementation of our business model and gfi@f@ans for our business, product candidates@ctthology;

« our competitive position;

« our intellectual property position;

« developments and projections relating to our coitgestand our industry;

« our estimates regarding expense, future revenpéateequirements and needs for additional finagrand

« other risks and uncertainties, including thosetisinder Part Il, Item 1A. Risk Factors.

All forward-looking statements in this Annual Repon Form 10-K involve known and unknown risks, erainties and other factors
that may cause our actual results, performancelieeements to be materially different from anyfetresults, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by these forward-looking stetiets. Factors that may cause actual resultsfer difaterially from current expectations
include, among other things, those listed under P&em 1A. Risk Factors and elsewhere in thisudal Report on Form 10-K. Given these

uncertainties, you should not place undue reliamcthese forward-looking statements. Except asired|by law, we assume no obligation to
update or revise these forward-looking statememtariy reason, even if new information becomeslalviai in the future.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains eat@s, projections and other information concermingindustry, our business, and
the markets for certain diseases, including dagarding the estimated size of those markets, améhttidence and prevalence of certain
medical conditions. Information that is based amestes, forecasts, projections, market researdngitar methodologies is inherently subject
to uncertainties and actual events or circumstam@gsdiffer materially from events and circumstaneflected in this information. Unless
otherwise expressly stated, we obtained this imguktisiness, market and other data from repatgarch surveys, studies and similar data
prepared by market research firms and other thartigs, industry, medical and general publicatigmsernment data and similar sources.

NOTE REGARDING STOCK SPLIT

Unless otherwise indicated, all information in taesnsolidated financial statements gives retrasmeeffect to the 1.75-fot-stock split of th
Company’s common stock (the Stock Split) that wiésceed on March 6, 2014, as well as any otherksgpdits in historical periods.

-1-




PART |
Ite m 1. Business

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused ondhelopment of novel proprietary therapeutics baselypoxia inducible factor, or HIF,
biology and the commercialization of these prod@mtpatients with kidney disease. HIF is the priyn@gulator of the production of red blo
cells, or RBCs, in the body and a potentially nawekchanism of treating anemia. We were incorporaté&klaware in 2007.

Our lead product candidate, AKB-6548, is being dlgwed as a once-daily, oral therapy. We have ssfally completed a Phase 2b study
demonstrating that AKB-6548 can safely and predigteaise hemoglobin levels in non-dialysis patsewith anemia related to chronic kidney
disease, or CKD.

On October 27, 2014, we announced positive toprsealts from our Phase 2b study of AKB-6548 in-daalysis patients with anemia related
to CKD, and we expect complete efficacy and sadleita to be presented in the first half of 2015.&gect to initiate Phase 3 studies for
anemia secondary to CKD in 2015 and anticipate #tibppan NDA for AKB-6548 in the United States B919, if the Phase 3 data are
favorable. We have also initiated Phase 2 clirdeslelopment for AKB-6548 for the treatment of angini patients undergoing dialysis, the
second indication we will pursue. The results fithiat study are expected in the third quarter 0f52@%e have also commenced discussions
with European regulatory authorities in the firsager of 2015, with the goal of potentially alstmitting European marketing application(s).
Also in the third quarter of 2014, we completethardugh QT (TQT) study, demonstrating that AKB-68#fs not have an adverse effect on
cardiac repolarization or conduction (i.e., negai@QT study).

Our preclinical candidate, AKB-6899, is a small smlle with minor structural differences from ourdecompound AKB-6548. However,
AKB-6899 has distinctive biochemical and physiot@diproperties that may be beneficial for treatnwrtertain cancers. In several preclinical
mouse models, AKB-6899 has been active in redutingr growth and development of metastases. Thexgliovestigational New Drug, or
IND, enabling studies are being performed withdgbal of opening an IND with the U.S. Food and DAdministration (FDA) in 2015.

We own worldwide rights to our HIF-based produatdidates, including AKB-6548. If approved by redatg authorities, we plan to
commercialize AKB-6548 in the United States ouresland intend to seek one or more collaboratacsrumercialize the product candidate in
additional markets.

Anemia is a serious medical condition in which llé® deficient in RBCs and hemaoglobin, both of vihize critical in delivering oxygen to
tissue. Anemia generally exists when hemoglobjpratein in RBCs that carries oxygen, is less thzaug/tiL in men or 12 g/dL in women.
Untreated anemia is associated with chronic fatiqueeased risk of progression of multiple dissamed death. Anemia is common in patients
with CKD, cancer, heart failure, inflammatory disea and other critical illnesses, as well as iretterly.

More than 30 million people in the United Stategeh@KD, with estimates that over 1.8 million of skeepatients suffer from anemia. Anemia
from these indications is currently treated by ¢tégle recombinant protein erythropoiesis stimafigents, or rESAs—including Epogen,
Aranesp and Procrit—with iron supplementation oRBC transfusion. Based on the reported revenuesropanies that market and sell
rESAs, we estimate that global sales of injectali®As were $6.3 billion in 2012, the vast majoofywhich were for renal indications.

rESAs are designed to stimulate production of RBZbinding directly to and saturating erythropaietir EPO, receptors. While injectable
rESAs and transfusions may be effective in raisiagoglobin levels, they carry significant potensi@e effects and also need to be delivered
subcutaneously or intravenously. In particulardtgble rESAs may lead to thrombosis, stroke, myliakinfarction and death, and these risks
are described in black box warnings on the presagimformation of all products marketed in thiags. These safety concerns, which became
evident starting in 2006, have led to a significautuction in the use of injectable rESAs. Todagmaia is either not treated or inadequately
treated in the majority of CKD patients, and weded that a safe, effective, oral therapeutic aptidl take significant market share and
meaningfully grow the market in patients not rempgjrdialysis.

AKB-6548 works by a differentiated mechanism ofi@cthat we believe has the potential to be séfan that of injectable rESAs. This novel
mechanism of action is referred to as HIF prolythtoxylase, or HIF-PH, inhibition. Instead of bindidirectly to the EPO receptors on cells in
the bone marrow, AKB-6548 leads to activation dfical pathways for hemoglobin and RBC productidhis approach mimics the
physiological adjustment made by the body when s&gdo reduced oxygen levels at higher altitudes.
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To date, AKB-6548 has been studied in ten cliniigals across three separate patient populaticedtliy volunteers, patients with CKD stages
3, 4 and 5 (non-dialysis), and patients with eradystrenal disease (ESRD) on hemodialysis. Our Preaséal enrolled 91 patients with anemia
secondary to CKD, which showed significantly in@®@d hemoglobin levels among subjects taking AKB86&@mpared to baseline in a dose-
dependent manner across all treatment arms (p0OD)ONo drug-related serious adverse events veparted, and dosing was well-tolerated.
In addition, AKB-6548 was also shown to stabilike tron supply to the bone marrow while improviregrtoglobin production.

We recently completed a Phase 2b study demongjriitat AKB-6548 can safely and predictably raismbglobin levels in non-dialysis
patients with anemia secondary to CKD. The resilthis Phase 2b study support advancement inted”Bao further evaluate the efficacy
safety of AKB-6548 for the treatment of anemia IRECpatients not on dialysis. We plan to initiateaBé 3 global registration studies for AKB-
6548 in patients with anemia secondary to CKD ib3@ositioning us to file for approval in the UrdtStates by 2019.

Given the burdens of the current standard of cadecasts associated with administering an injeetaBSA, we believe AKB-6548 is a
promising alternative for the overall cost-effeetiveatment of anemia. We intend to commercialig®/548 ourselves in the United States
for the treatment of anemia in patients with CKIDe$e patients are primarily treated by approxingatg00 nephrologists, and we believe we
can reach most of this market with a specialtysstdece of approximately 125 people. We intendgek one or more commercial collabora
for the development and commercialization of AK548 outside the United States. We may also explppertunities to expand AKB-6548

into additional markets not adequately addresseidjbgtable rESAs because of safety or dosing dgfiissues.

We are led by a team of experienced biopharma@duiecutives with a background in developing amhmercializing drugs for the
treatment of renal and metabolic disorders. JotBuEer, our CEO, was former President of Genzyrog@ration’s renal division which grew
to over $1 billion in annual revenue under his &atlip, and is currently the Chairman of the Bazrthe American Kidney Fund, the leading
patient advocacy organization for kidney diseagsiepts. Earlier in his career, Mr. Butler held saéed marketing positions at Amgen, work
on the early commercial launch of injectable rESAthe renal anemia market.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to develop novel therapeutics &digmts based on HIF biology and to commercializalpcts for patients with kidney disease,
beginning with AKB-6548 for patients with anemiagredary to CKD. The key elements of our strategytar

. Complete the development of Al-6548 for anemia secondary to CK. We intend to initiate a Phase 3 development program
2015 following our end of Phase 2 meeting withlthnéted States Food and Drug Administration, or FD

. Obtain regulatory approval of AK-6548 for anemia secondary to CKD in the United ®®tEurope and other marke. We plar
to complete an end of Phase 2 meeting with the BBd\seek scientific advice from the European MedgiAgency, or EMA, to
define the Phase 3 development program necessagectwe regulatory approval to market AKB-6548. Wéelld expect to initiate
Phase 3 trials for anemia secondary to CKD in 2@h#8,anticipate submitting an NDA for AKB-6548 hetUnited States by 2019
if the Phase 3 data are favorat

. Commercialize AKI-6548 in the United States and other territori. We will establish a specialty sales and marketirggaoizatior
to commercialize AKB-6548 in the United States. Slg of the United States, we intend to seek omaaye commercial
collaborators

. Advance AKE-6899 into clinical developmenWe plan to advance AKB-6899, a second WH-inhibitor product candidate, whi
we believe, based on preclinical testing, has Hikyato increase EPO levels while reducing vaac@ndothelial growth factor, or
VEGF, levels. We intend to file an Investigatiohsw Drug, or IND, application and begin a Phaseal to determine its potenti
use in oncology

. Acquire or in-license additional nephrology productWe will look to diversity our pipeline with additi@l products that would be
prescribed by nephrologis!

We may enter into strategic collaborations to fudlglize elements of our strategy.
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Our Product Candidates

The following chart depicts our HIF-based prodwntdidates, their indications and their current tgwment.

b

Anemia Overview

Anemia is a serious medical condition in which lla® deficient in RBCs and hemoglobin, leadingriadequate oxygen delivery to tissues
cells throughout the body. RBCs are normally forrmethe bone marrow from precursor or progenitdiscEPO, a hormonal factor primarily
produced in the kidney and liver, binds to andvatés the EPO receptor on these precursor celésattivation of the EPO receptor stimulates
these cells to divide, differentiate into RBCs tbantain hemoglobin, and mobilize into circulatibfemoglobin is an iron-containing protein in
RBCs that transports oxygen to, and carbon dioftmia, the tissues of the body.

Anemia generally exists when hemoglobin is lesa ttiag/dL in men and 12 g/dL in women. Anemia hasi@ber of potential causes,
including nutritional deficiencies, iron deficiendyone marrow disease, medications, and abnorewlitiEPO production or sensitivity.
Common causes of anemia due to inadequate EPOqtimdinclude CKD, age, heart failure, inflammataligeases, cancer and other critical
illnesses.

Untreated anemia is associated with chronic fatiquereased risk of progression of multiple dissasad death. This morbidity and mortality
risk has been clearly shown in the CKD populatighere in patients age 66 and older, anemic patieititsmid-stage CKD (Stage 3) have a
149% increase in cardiovascular events and patigtiissevere CKD (Stage 4 and 5) have a 24% inergasardiovascular events versus non-
anemic patients in the same group, according tpappublished in 2006 in the peer-reviewed jouBbabd. Similarly, compared to non-
anemic patients, anemia increases the mortaligybyatl 99% in mid-stage CKD, and 59% in severe C8lxcessful treatment of anemia
significantly improves patients’ quality of lifespecially with respect to vitality, fatigue and ghgal function. In addition, patients whose
anemia has been successfully treated have demimustosver mortality rates, less frequent hospitdlan, and decreases in cardiovascular
morbidity.




Chronic Kidney Disease

CKD, a common cause of anemia, is a condition iickvthe kidneys are progressively damaged to that ploat they cannot properly filter the
blood circulating in the body. This damage can eauaste products to build up in the patient’s blaad can lead to other health problems,
including cardiovascular disease, anemia, and d@ease. CKD patients are classified by the degiréeeir loss of kidney function as
measured by the glomerular filtration rate, or GRRJ albuminuria, the protein levels in urine. Asrsin the table below, CKD affects more
than 30 million people in the United States andprevalence of anemia increases with the sevefiGKD.

Anemia Prevalence Increases by CKD Stage

Prevalence — Estimated Anemia Estimated U.S.

Stage (diagnosed! Kidney Function Prevalence (with CKD  Anemia Patients (with
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There are many causes of CKD, the most common @hndre diabetes mellitus and hypertension. Thegheace and incidence of CKD is
increasing in all segments of the U.S. populatatticularly in patients over 65, as shown belowgkRactors for the development of CKD
include underlying disease (hypertension, diabatescardiovascular disease), lifestyle factorsgtsb use and inactivity), family history,
aging, and prenatal factors (maternal diabetestugllow birth weight and small-for-gestationaleagtatus). According toleancetarticle from
May 2013, projected worldwide population changeggsst that the potential number of cases of kidliggase, specifically end-stage, will
increase disproportionately in developing couniréegh as China and India, where the numbers eflglgeople are expanding. This effect
be enhanced further if the trends of increasingehymsion and diabetes prevalence persist, congpeginses of death—such as stroke and
cardiovascular diseases—are reduced, and accesatiment improves.

Percent of U.S. Population With New Cases of CKD, by Age Group (1

Percent
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The prevalence and severity of anemia in CKD ingesaas renal function deteriorates. Three variatitésh may combine to accentuate and
accelerate anemia as CKD progresses include:

. Peritubular fibroblasts, a type of cell in thdney, are designed to sense the amount of oxygeied by the blood. These cells
secrete EPO to adjust the production of RBCs andtaia circulating oxygen levels at normal physgilevels. As kidney
disease progresses, the number of peritubularfifists is reduced and EPO secretion is signifigatgtreased. This decline in
EPO leads to a reduction in RBC producti

. CKD leads to a shorter average life span for RB days) as compared to healthy individualst§aI20 days), requiring
increased RBC production to keep RBC levels coasistith those of a healthy individui

. The availability of iron to the bone marrow iispaired. Iron is a required component in the foramabf hemoglobin, and is
essential in the transport of oxyg:

As CKD progresses, the combined effect of decreR&@ production from lower EPO signaling, increaszte of RBC destruction, and
reduced iron availability to the bone marrow resuitthe increased prevalence and severity of amemi

Current Treatments Leave a Substantial Unmet Need

Injectable rESASs, including epoetin alfa, epoetitiah) and darbepoetin alfa, are currently the standfacare for treating anemia in patients v
CKD and must be administered intravenously or stévmously along with iron supplements. Based omdherted revenues of companies tha
market and sell rESAs, we estimate that globaksaflénjectable rESAs were $6.3 billion in 2012 casnpared to an estimated $12 billion in
2006. Of these 2012 revenues, an estimated $3@nhbiere generated in the United States, the wagority of which were for renal
indications. In 2006, data on the risks of rESA as®ng these patients started to become availaténg physicians to balance serious safet)
concerns against the efficacy of rESAs. The safetycerns with injectable rESA use include increassddof cardiovascular disease as well as
a potentially increased rate of tumor progressiopdtients with cancer. We believe that the dedtinaarket revenue since 2007 is a direct
result of these increased safety concerns, asasell
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reimbursement pressures, and that an opportunigyseior a safer, well-tolerated alternative tolaep injectable rESAs as the standard of care
for anemia secondary to CKD.

As a result of the safety concerns related to rlESé\ patients have been forced to live with loweanabglobin levels, higher rates of
transfusions, and more intravenous iron, or IV jnege. The percentage of dialysis patients in thigeld States receiving IV iron has increased
from 50% in 1999 to 71% during in 2011. Among WS§tients receiving IV iron, the mean monthly dbas also increased by 21%. Despite
the increased use of IV iron and the rate of RB@dfusions, patients are still subject to safeflysrirelated to these alternative treatments to
injectable rESAs. The risks of RBC transfusiongude the development of antibodies to foreign amigy transmission of blood-borne
pathogens, impairment of venous access in CKD miatigot on dialysis) and iron overload with chmtransfusions. The risks of IV iron
include hypersensitivity reactions, such as fatapdylactic-type reactions.

Currently, there is no scientific consensus regeydie cause of the adverse cardiovascular outcassegiated with the use of injectable
rESAs to normalize hemoglobin levels. The resultthe four major randomized, controlled clinicahts on the treatment of anemia secondary
to CKD with rESAs and adjunctive iron supplememtat{Normal Hematocrit Trial/NHCT, CREATE, CHOIR am&EAT) all showed an
increased risk of adverse cardiovascular outcoiftesse results were surprising at the time and adittied the extensive body of data from
observational studies that showed reduced mor@fityimproved health outcomes to be associatedhigtier hemoglobin levels.

A number of critical post-hoc analyses of the deden randomized controlled clinical trials haveftdd attention to the potential of dossatec
toxicity of injectable rESAs in CKD patients asantributing factor to the reported adverse cardsoudar outcomes, instead of the role of
normalized hemoglobin levels. The strongest catitrieof adverse outcomes in the post-hoc analyassben to the level of the injectable
rESA dose, not the hemoglobin level achieved. Athe studies analyzed to date demonstrate thatrmit-dialysis and dialysis-dependent
CKD subjects who achieved normal hemoglobin letald better clinical outcomes than subjects assigmédyher hemoglobin targets who
failed to reach the assigned level despite incngadoses of injectable rESAs. In addition, CKD gat$ who were able to achieve and maintait
normal hemoglobin levels through means other tharuse of injectable rESAs (such as hypoxia or sugpplementation) experienced fewer
cardiovascular events and reduced morbidity andatity: Recent studies of injectable rESA use inaus preclinical models (including non-
human primates) also showed that the frequencyoofatity and thrombotic events cannot be explaisaély by the achieved higher
hemoglobin levels, rather, they are related tadibse, dose frequency, and dose duration of inject&lsAs.

The graphs below highlight these findings. Thet fifsart explores the relative risk of serious aavdscular adverse events, including death,
hospitalization for heart failure, stroke or myatiat infarction based upon the hemoglobin achiedeting the study as well as the weekly
injectable rESA dose. The data clearly show tharitk of adverse cardiovascular events was greiatésose patients receiving the highest
injectable rESA doses, regardless of the hemoglielviel that was achieved.

Cox Proportional Hazards
Hazard Ratio
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The second graph explores the probability of reagbine of several adverse events (death, stroket tadlure or myocardial infarction) over
time for two different groups:

. patients who achieve the target hemoglobin levé wilow injectable rESA dose, a

. patients who do not reach the target hemoglobielJduwt receive a high injectable rESA dose infforeto reach the target leve

This chart is consistent with the previous chaiit ahows that patients with high hemoglobin lewatslow injectable rESA doses have better
outcomes than patients with high injectable rESAedoand low hemoglobin levels. Therefore, highciajele rESA doses, not high hemoglo
levels, appear to be correlated most strongly adtherse outcomes.

Kaplan-Meier Survival Curves
Death, Heart Failure, Stroke, Myocardial Infarction (%)
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The significant safety risks associated with rE&#esoutlined in a black-box warning in their présiolg information. This warning arose from
numerous events highlighting the safety concernsjeftable rESAs and the responses by the FDAjgdighted below.

. In 2007, as a result of concerns associated withirddtering injectable rESAs to target higher herobin levels, the FDA require
that revised warnings, including black-box warnirigs added to the labels of marketed injectablée=81vising physicians to
monitor hemoglobin levels and use the lowest désejectable rESA, and increase the hemoglobin eatration to the lowest
level sufficient to avoid the need for RBC transbus.

. In November 2007, the FDA found evidence thatubke of injectable rESAs to increase hemoglobmdee than 12 g/dL can
stimulate progression of some cancers. As a ranjdttable rESAs were required to contain black-tateling for this risk.
Following this change in labeling, the use of ingdxe rESASs in cancer patients has declined sizanifly.
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In late 2009, Amgen announced the results frloenTtrial to Reduce Cardiovascular Endpoints witaresp Therapy, or TREAT,
its large, randomized, double-blind, placedmitrolled Phase 3 study of patients with CKD (reafuiring dialysis), anemia and ty
2 diabetes. In this study, Aranesp was used t6 &m@mia to a target hemoglobin level of 13 g/dhjclk was higher than the 10
g/dL - 12 g/dL range previously approved by the FiDAhe label. Study results failed to show a biéreefmpared to the control
group with regard to composite of time to all-caos@tality or cardiovascular morbidity (includingdut failure, heart attack,
stroke, or hospitalization for myocardial ischermaayl composite of time to all-cause mortality oroetic renal replacement
therapy. In addition, higher rates of stroke wexgorted among patients in the 13 g/dL target gramrppared to the control group.
Finally, among a subgroup of patients with a histfrcancer at baseline, a statistically significacrease in deaths from cancer
was observed in the Aranetreated patients compared to plac-treated patient:

. In January 2010, FDA officials published an edél in the New England Journal of Medicine notthgt a number of randomized
trials, including TREAT, had attempted to show thsing injectable rESAs to raise hemoglobin conedions to higher targets
improves clinical outcomes but instead suggesteafposite. Accordingly, the article indicated thetre conservative hemoglot
targets (well below 12 g/dL), more frequent hembglanonitoring, and more cautious dosing shoul@éeuated

. In February 2010, the FDA required that injetgalt SAs be prescribed and used under a REMS toretise safe use of the drugs.
As part of the REMS, a medication guide explairtimg risks and benefits of injectable rESAs muspiarided to all patients
receiving injectable rESAs for all indications, aheé FDA imposed reporting and monitoring obligai@n the manufacturers to
ensure complianci

. In June 2011, the FDA cited increased risksanflibvascular events as a basis for more conseevdtising guidelines for use of
injectable rESAs in CKD patients and announcededlahanges to injectable rESA labeling. The FDRaeed the prior target
hemoglobin range of 10-12 g/dL, and recommendedGK® patients initiate treatment when the hemoumldével is less than 10
g/dL and reduce or interrupt dosing if the hemoujidevel approaches or exceeds 10 g/dL for nonydialpatients and 11 g/dL for
dialysis patients. The FDA also required Amgendnduct additional clinical trials to explore dosistgategies to minimize
hemoglobin variability, rates of change and exansi

We believe there is now substantial evidence tgssigthat EPO level, not hemoglobin, is the cadiskeosafety issues in the above trials. The
collective preclinical and clinical data suppodraical re-thinking on the best approach to tregithnemia, the appropriate and safe hemoglob
target, and the right time to initiate treatmenttfeese patients.

AKB-6548 as a potential solution

We are developing our lead product candidate, AKB&,; to be a best-in-class HRH inhibitor for the treatment of anemia secondargKD.
AKB-6548 may potentially offer:

. Predictable, meaningful and sustained improvemiartemoglobin levels

. Once-a-day therapy delivered orall

. A dosing regimen that restores the normal diurfDBpattern

. Robust pharmacodynamics and substantially lowek g0 levels than with injectable rESASs; ¢

. Reduced administration of IV or oral iron supplemation to patients treated for anemia secondaGKD.
Novel Mechanism of Action, Which Mimics the Bo’'s Natural Physiologic Response

AKB-6548 is designed to work by a mechanism ofarcthat differs from injectable rESAs. This novedechanism of action is referred to as a
HIF-PH inhibitor. Instead of binding directly to dusaturating the EPO receptors in the bone maroowrblonged periods of time, HIF-PH
inhibitors act by simulating the body’s naturalgesse to anemia. In this way, AKB-6548 achievesrarolled, adaptive stimulation of the
erythropoietic system in the body. This activatidrthe whole system results in both increased RB®@uyction and improved stabilization of
the bone marrow’s iron supply, which ensures tleper incorporation of iron into hemoglobin neceggar RBC production. This adaptive
simulation is very similar to the natural respotisa is induced when a person ascends in altiiteigher altitudes, low levels of oxygen
circulating in the blood stream lead to reduced-RHF activity in relevant cells in the kidney angdi. The reduced HIF-PH activity stabilizes
and increases levels of HiFproteins (HIF1a and HIF2a ) in these cells. For most cells, the stabilizattdiIF2 a is greater than that of
HIF1 a, ultimately leading to an increase in EPO secnetind a subsequent increase in RBC production.
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HIF-PH inhibitors work by blocking the effect ofdfprolyl-hydroxylase enzymes, which promote thekdewn of HIFa proteins. As the
breakdown is inhibited, the level of these Hifproteins increases in cells. These HIFs are theari protein mediators that enable the body
and all of its individual cells to adapt to changetevels of oxygen. Both HIF& and HIF2a proteins are consistently produced and their e
in cells are adjusted by the activity of the HIF-Bizymes, which target the HiFproteins for degradation. HIFd helps cells survive under
very low oxygen conditions, whereas HIl&2elps cells and the body to adapt to modest changes/gen, such that would occur with a
change in altitude from sea level to up to 7,5@0.fe

When HIFa is stabilized, it travels to the nucleus of thd,aghere it binds to the protein HIF. When bouoglether, they induce the genetic
signal for the production of EPO and several ofiteteins. The HIF-PH inhibitors increase Hiffevels in much the same way that a reductior
in oxygen increases HIlé levels by inhibiting the HIF-PH enzymes in the bod¥ith continued stabilization of HI& (either by staying at
higher altitude or by daily dosing of the HFH inhibitor), the level of hemoglobin and RBCslwise in order to increase the amount of oxy
circulating in the blood. In this way, once-dailysing of AKB-6548 may have the potential to restore the norevallof EPO for a patient wi
anemia.

AKB-6548, our lead compound in development, worksnhibiting HIF-PH, leading to stabilization armcreased levels of HI& , and
improved production of hemoglobin and RBCs, whileimtaining normal levels of EPO in patients. Initidd, we believe that AKB-6548's
mechanism of action provides for the ability touod a more prominent HIF2response (as naturally occurs with a moderate aseren
altitude), and an enhancement in the normal diuraahtion of EPO, which is the normal rise and &IEPO during the each day.

This mechanism of action is illustrated in the dniabelow.

AKB-6548's Mechanism of Action
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Potential Best-in-Class Profile

We believe AKB-6548 has compelling clinical datammstrating a best-in-class profile with severakptal safety and efficacy advantages
over current injectable rESA therapy for the treatirof anemia secondary to CKD.

»  AKB-6548 significantly increases hemoglobin in ane@kD patientsWe have successfully completed two Phase 2 trials
in which AKB-6548 significantly increased hemogloliévels. In the first study (CI-0005), AKB-6548 svdemonstrated to
raise hemoglobin in a doslependent manner compared to baseline and actdssasthent arms (p < 0.0001). In the sec
Phase 2 study (CI-0007), AKB-6548 effectively iramsed hemoglobin while the dose was adjusted inrdanoe with a
dosing algorithm (p = 0.0001 compared to placebbg purpose of the algorithm was to minimize thegfrency of
increases in hemoglobin 13.0 g/dL. Only 4.3% of subjects on AKB-6548 hatye excursiong 13.0 g/dL. Further,
AKB-6548 provides a physiologic reticulocyte, omrg formed RBC, response, which leads to a moreugmhand
consistent increase in hemoglobin levels than g
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seen with injectable rESA therapies, reducing ittelihood of a patier s hemoglobin to rising to levels that cause conc

AKB-6548 may have the potential to restore the nomainal variation of EPO for a patient with anemiraa way that an
injectable rESA cannoinstead of binding directly to and saturating tiEreceptor for prolonged periods of time as is th
case with current injectable rESA treatments, AKRBH® acts by simulating the body’s natural respdagg/poxia that is
carried out by stabilization of HI& . We believe the manner in which AKB-6548 worksrpigs a more prominent HIF@
response (as naturally occurs with a moderateaser@n altitude) and there is an enhancement indhmal diurnal

variation in EPO, which is the normal rise and &IEPO during the each day, without continuousaien of EPO levels.
The graph below illustrates the EPO levels thabétained with AKE-6548 compared with doses of Aranesp and Epc

EPO vs. Time by Study

Log Scale for EPD Concentration (mUfmlL)
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*Source: Arroliga, et al., Crit Care Med 2009, Vol 37, Mo 4,
**Sourca: Glaspy, et al, European Journal of Cancer 41 (2008) 1140-1148. Data based on onginal Aranesp measurements as adjustad
for tha highar inherent polency of Aranesp

Oral, once-daily dosing Once daily, oral dosing of AKB-6548 offers impeal/convenience for patients as compared to
injectable rESAs. This convenience may increasessto anemia therapy for the largely underseregdiption of patient
with anemia secondary to CKD who are not yet otydia and for patients with other forms of anerdiKB-6548 offers

the potential of flexible oral dosing that providemore gradual and reliable means of titratiom that of injectable rESA

Ability to stabilize the iron supply to the bonermeav while improving hemoglobin productialn clinical trials, AKB-6548
has demonstrated dose-related increases in iroilipadion and total iron binding capacity. Theseuks indicate that
AKB-6548 will stabilize the iron supply to the bormearrow while improving hemoglobin production armbsld improve
EPO responsiveness. As a result, unlike injectdb®As which have no effect on iron mobilization, B¥548 offers the
added potential benefit of reducing the amountugipgéemental iron required by anemia patie

Differentiated safety profiltAKB-6548's novel mechanism of action and dosindfifgaffer the opportunity to potentially
avoid the black box label ascribed to injectabl8AE. In our recently completed Phase 2b study, AKi548 was
generally well tolerated with no safety concermiifeed.
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AKB-6548 Clinical Development Overview
Early Clinical Studies (CI-0001 to CI-0004, and C10006):

An IND was filed for AKB-6548 for the treatment afiemia associated with CKD and chronic renal faitum July 17, 2009. Under the IND,
we may investigate AKB-6548 in subjects who arearotialysis and in subjects who are on dialystsd@te, AKB-6548 has been studied in
ten clinical trials across three separate patiepufations: healthy volunteers, patients with Ck&ges 3, 4, and 5 (non-dialysis), and patients
with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) on hemodialyhisse clinical trials consisted of one Phaselidial trial, four Phase 2a clinical trials
and five Phase 1 clinical trials. The early clihistudies (CI-0001 through CI-0004) for AKB-6548 nealesigned to demonstrate the efficacy
and safety of the compound, starting in healthyerwalunteers and progressing to CKD patients wiknaia. In healthy males, we
demonstrated that AKB-6548 can be dosed daily thatit induces the desired pharmacodynamics efépetifically:

- the induction of enhanced diurnal EPO secretiomfeosingle dose
- an increase in new RBC production by day 5 of dgpsamd
- an increase in hemoglobin levels by day 10 of dp:

Subsequently, we demonstrated a similar inductfandiurnal EPO response in CKD patients. This felewed by a 28 day, dose-titration
study to establish the necessary dosing informdtiomcreasing hemoglobin levels. Throughout thetselies, AKB-6548 was generally well
tolerated. There were no serious adverse even&ABs, and treatment emergent adverse events, AE3Bvere limited in number and
duration.

The most common potentially drug-related adversatsy or AEs, in our eight clinical trials were gasntestinal disorders, including diarrhe
nausea and constipation. In our @01 trial, there was one subject who had diarthaawas considered potentially related to theystirdg. Ir
our CI-0002 trial, the potentially drug-related TE&\were gastroesophageal reflux and dyspepsiarepotted in separate subjects. In our ClI-
0006 trial, three of the eight subjects in the cépgroup reported potentially drug-related AEsugea in two subjects and headache and
dizziness in one subject each), and one of the sigjects in the tablet group reported potentidilyg-related headache and dizziness. In our
CI-0003 trial, five subjects experienced AEs thatevconsidered potentially drug-related. Two subjead nausea. Other potentially drug-
related AEs that were noted once included tachyagavdmiting, pyrexia, upper respiratory tract ictien, hypomagnesemia, myalgia,
headache, somnolence, tremor, oropharyngeal palhsweat and hypotension. In our CI-0004 trialethsubjects had potentially drug-related
TEAES, including nausea, chills, peripheral neutbpaperipheral sensory neuropathy and muscle spasnour CI-0005 trial, the most
frequently reported TEAEs considered to be poténtiug-related were gastrointestinal disordems)uding one subject with abdominal
discomfort, three subjects with constipation, onlgject with diarrhea and two subjects with nau§iher one-time events in the CI-0005 trial
that were considered to be potentially drug-relatetbded neutropenia, cardiac palpitations, desrddransferrin saturation, muscle spasms,
dizziness, pollakiuria, hypertension and abnornaé texture.
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The individual design and summary results of edauo completed clinical trials are highlighted dst

Study Design

Subjects Treated

Study Subject Design Dose, Durationl ~ AKB-6548 Placebo Key Findings
(Endpoint)
Phase 1
CI-0001 Healthy  Double-blind, 80 mg, 160 mg, 6 (80mg) 12 AKB-6548 was well tolerated, and dose responsive
males placeblia-d . 388 mg, 6280”‘9' 6(160 mg, (2 Eer increases in EPO levels were demonstrated following
controlled, faste: Im%' 1200 mg; o (300 mg. ° o) single dose. Half-life of the compound was measbaite
single dose 6 (600 mg: approximately 4.8 hours. Ten subjects had an adver
(Safety/PK/PD) 6 (900 . event (AE) (seven in the AKB5548 group and three in
( ma, the placebo group). No serious adverse events $pAE
6 were reported.
(1200 mg)
Cl-0002 Healthy  Double-blind, 500 mg, 700 mg, 8 (500 mg; 9 AKB-6548 was well tolerated, and dose responsive
males placebl?-d . 900 mg; 10 days g (700 mg (3 rp])er increases in reticulocytes and hemoglobin levelewe
controlled, taste: 8 (900 mg ° o) demonstrated. It was also shown that EPO levels
’ returned to baseline by 24 hours following eactedos
(Safety/PK/PD) 26 subjects reported a treatment-emergent adveese e
(TEAE). These were evenly distributed across dpsin
groups. No SAEs were reports
CI1-0006 Healthy = Randomized, 315 mg; single 8 0 Both capsules and tablets were well tolerated fotig a
males cross-over dose of capsule single dose, and shown to be bioequivalent. Sijests
bioavailability and tablet, with had AEs considered related to study drug. No SAEs
study, fasted three days wash- were reported.
(Bioavailability ~ Out period betwee
IPK) doses
CI1-0008 Healthy = Mass Balance 650 mg; single 6 0 The drug was generally well tolerated dutimng
volunteers dose (100 mCi4 study. There were no SAEs and no subjects dropped
C-AKB-6548) of the study. Total radioactivity recovery in wiand

(Radioactivity/
PK)

feces was >85% with approximately 60% in urine and
approximately 26% in feces. Majority of the drug-
related radioactivity (>75%) in plasma was assedat

with AKB-6548, followed by the AKB6548-0-
Glucuronide (~15%) and a very low contribution (1%
coming from the AKB-6548-Acyl-Glucuronide.
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Study Design Subjects Treated
Study Subject Design Dose, Durationl ~ AKB-6548 Placebo Key Findings
(Endpoint)

CI-0009 End-stage Randomized, 450 mg dose four 12 0 During the study, dosing of the drug wad teéérated.
renal crossover, hours prior to start No SAEs were reported during dosing and over the 48
disease pharmacokinetic of a hemodialysis hr in-house observation period after each of tiee pr
(ESRD) study with 72 session; 450 mg dialysis and post-dialysis dose administratiorthoaigh

hour wash-out dose 2 hours after one subject experienced an exacerbation of a caerdur
between completion of a diabetic foot ulcer resulting in 2 reported SAEsiiig
successive different dialysis the follow-up period, 7 days after the last sample
dosing session collection. These 2 events were considered uree ket
the study drug. The timing of administration of BK
(PK/Safety and 6548 doses (pre- .or post-hemodlalyss) did not ek
tolerability of affect pharmacokinetics of AKB5548 and two
subjects on measured glucuronide metabolites. The hemodialysis
chronic procedure had minimal impact on the clearance of
hemodialysis) AKB -6548.
CI-0010 Healthy = Randomized, 600 mg AKB654¢€ 49 48 In general, study drug was well toleratétht wo SAEs
volunteers partially double- tablet; 1200 mg reported. AKB-6548 did not have a meaningful effect
blind, single-  AKB-6548 tablet; on any ECG parameters. An effect on the QTcFyater
dose, placebo tablets, exceeding 10 msec could be confidently excluded and
4-treatment, ?noo(:(i?lquacin the effects on heart rate, PR interval, and QRS at
4-period, tablet were small and clinically not relevant.
4-sequence
crossover study
to evaluate the
effect of
AKB -6548 on
cardiac
repolarization
intervals
(Thorough QTc
Study)

Phase 2

CI-0003 CKD, Open-label, fed 500 mg; single 22 0 Following a single dose of 500 mg of AKB548, the
Stages 3 & dose changes in EPO levels followed a similar patterthas
4 (Safety/PK/PD) observed in the Phase 1 study at 600 mg in healthy

volunteers (CI-0001). In these subjects with CiBak
levels of EPO were similar to healthy male volurdéee
and the half-life was modestly longer at

7.9 hours. Dosing was well tolerated. Five suisjbad
AEs considered related to study drug. No SAEs were
reported
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Study Design Subjects Treated
Study Subject Design Dose, Durationl ~ AKB-6548 Placebo Key Findings
(Endpoint)
CI1-0004 CKD, Open-label Within subject, 10 0 In this study, subjects started at 300 migX@) or
Stages 3 & dose escalation 400 mg (CKD 3). Dose adjustments could be made
4 Safetv/Ch (potential doses of weekly based on reticulocyte count and hemoglobin
.( ie:)y angeé 2oo mg, 300 mg, data. Dosing was well tolerated. Average hemoglobin
Ik? 9o, 400 mg, 500 mg, levels rose from 9.91 g/dL at baseline to 10.54. gyl
e_maltocrlt, 600 mg, and 700 Day 29. Three subjects had AEs considered retated
reticulocytes) o). 28 days of study drug. No SAEs were reported.
dosing
CI-0005 CKD, Double-blind, 240 mg, 370 mg, 18 19 Dosing was well tolerated. AKE5548 significantly
ztgges 3.4 placeblia-d Zgodmg, 6f3g mg; (12840 mg) increased hemoglobin levels in subjects compared to
G notor controlle ays ordosing 370 baseline in all dose groups and compared to
1alysis ( mg) placebo. The hemoglobin increase occurred without
(Mean absolute (15700 mg) increasing pre-dose EPO levels (prior to daily AKB-
change in Hgb 19 9 6548 dose). Ten subjects had AEs considered delate
between the pre- (630 mg) study drug. There were eight reported SAEs in
dose average and separated subjects which were all considered uerkla
End of to study drug.
Treatment/
PD/PK)
Cl-0007 CKD, Double-blind, 450 mg starting 138 72 The study achieved its primary endpoint and A#6B48

Stages 3, 4 placebo-
& 5, not or controlled

dialysis

(EnSaX/e o (Achieving or
y maintaining a

?rreea\gecz)clij sly mean Hgb of

with ESA, = 11.0 g/dL or
or actively ncreasing Hgb
treated Y by>1.29/dL)

with ESA)

dose with dose
adjustment with
allowable dose
levels of 150, 300,
450, or 600 mg to
maintain Hgb
<13.0 g/dL; 2:1
active:placebo;

20 weeks of
dosing

was generally well tolerated, confirming that tmee-
daily, oral therapy can successfully increase and
maintain hemoglobin (Hgb) levels.

54.9% of patients who received AkB548 met the

primary endpoint versus 10.3% in the placebo group
(p<0.0001; achieving or maintaining a mean Hgb
>11.0 g/dL or increasing Hgb by1.2 g/dL above the
pre-treatment value as measured by the mean Hgbk val
at weeks 19 and 20).

TEAESs with AKB-6548 were consistent with those

reported in past studies and were well balancedative
between the active and placebo treatment group6%a4
and 73.6%, respectively). There was a higher e
of SAEs reported in the active treatment groupwers
the placebo group (23.9% and 15.3%, respectivig),
most common being renal-related. Of the 49 SAEs
reported in the active treatment group, one was
considered probably related to active treatmenttand
were considered possibly related, including one
death. There were two additional deaths in thetrinent
group, neither of which was considered c-related.

1 All doses were administered orally, o-daily.
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CI1-0005: Positive Phase 2a Proof of Concept Trial

CI-0005 was designed to confirm the findings of¢laely clinical studies and to demonstrate efficec@KD patients. In November 2012, we
presented at the American Society of Nephrologyréiselts of a randomized, double-blind, placebarotied trial of AKB-6548 in patients
with CKD stages 3, 4 and 5 (not on dialysis) toleate the change in hemoglobin levels over 42 daysultiple dose levels. The study enro
93 patients with CKD stages 3, 4, or 5 (not onydiig) who initiated treatment with either placelsd®A&B-6548 in the following dose groups:
240 mg, 370 mg, 500 mg, or 630 mg once-daily foddgs. Depending upon hemoglobin response, patieayshave had their initial dose
titrated to avoid too rapid of a rise in hemoglokgnels.

The primary endpoint for the trial was the mearoalie change in hemoglobin from baseline. As showthe first graphic below, the study
results show all doses of AKB-6548 increased heptmglsignificantly compared with placebo. A onewaaalysis of variance, or ANOVA,
test showed a statistically significant increasmgan absolute hemoglobin from baseline to weeak &éatment compared with placebo
(p<0.0001). The 95% simultaneous confidence lifioitshe four AKB-6548 treatment groups all showahgicant increases in mean absolute
hemoglobin from baseline to week 6.

At Day 42, AKB-6548 significantly increased hemdgjlolevels in a dosdependent manner compared to baseline in all dosgg. Importar
findings included:

1. AKB-6548 treated patients experienced a statidyicignificant mean increase in hemoglobin, randginogn 0.7 to 1.4 g/dL by Day 42,
while placebatreated patients experienced a small mean decirehsenoglobin of 0.1 g/dL. The average baselinedwdobin level was
9.8 g/dL.

AKB-6548"s Effect on Hemoglobin Levels
Change in Hemoglobin from Baseline to Week & (gidL)

Primary ANCWA p < 0.0004 |
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2.

No patien’s measured hemoglobin level exceeded 13 g/dL thmutghe study perioc

Maximum Hemoglobin Values ThroughWeek &
Hemoglabin (gidl)
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The dose-dependent increases in hemoglobin occemesdthough 26% of patients in the 630 mg doseld@tl of patients in the 500
mg dose decreased their dose, per protocol, asuli of a hemoglobin increase of greater than 4dk gr more by Day 2¢

The increase in hemoglobin levels occurred withoateasing pre-dose EPO levels (prior to daily ABBA8 dose), demonstrating that
AKB-6548 is able to improve RBC production without chically elevating the bo¢'s EPO levels

AKE-6548's Effect on EPO over Time
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5. The increase in hemoglobin levels was precededhgaease in reticulocytes showing that an in@éasiemoglobin levels is a result
of a physiologic increase in RBC produlctir

AKB-6548's Effect on Hemoglobin and Reticulocytes
Hemoglabin (grdl)
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6. A dose-related increase in TIBC indicated enhamt®lity to stabilize the iron supply to the bonermsav while improving hemoglobin

production, as shown below with the d-dependent increase in TIB

TIBC Levels in Week 6
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AKB-6548 was generally well tolerated in the 91 jeabs who received study drug. In total, 45 sulsjiéatd an AE: 34 (47.2%) in the AKB-
6548 groups and 11 (57.9%) in the placebo groups Weére evenly distributed across the dosing graxifhsno apparent dose related effect.
Ten subjects (13.9%) treated with AKB-6548 and plaeebo subject (5.3%) had AEs that were considexedly drug related.

There were eight SAEs in separate subjects which a#considered unrelated to the study drug kystiady investigators; seven in the AKB-
6548 groups (9.7%) and one in the placebo grol8¥{h.These included fluid overload (placebo pajiegastroenteritis, hypoglycemic event,
dizziness, triple vessel coronary artery diseasle mon-ST elevation myocardial infarction, hypesiee crisis, ventricular pacemaker lead
replacement, and azotemia (uremia). One subjeat,weéhbelieve received only three or four dosesudysdrug, died after being hospitalized
for uremia. The subject’s death occurred seveng dt#to her hospitalization following an in-hospiteocedure when she developed sustained
ventricular tachycardia and cardiac arrest. Thgestis death was not considered to be related t8/%&48. All other subjects recovered.
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VEGF is necessary for the maintenance of healttigeg function and is regulated by HIE1 Clinical studies have shown that increased
VEGF levels are potentially linked to increasedvgtoof tumors in patients with cancer. AKB-6548 yid®es for the ability to induce a more
prominent HIF2x response, and consistent with this mechanism,atsttally significant change in VEGF levels wetgserved from baseline
for any of the AKB-6548 dose groups.

We also found no statistically significant changénflammation (C-reactive protein), renal functi@ystatin-C), heart rate, blood pressure an
EKG values (including QT assessments).

Phase 2b Study (¢0007)

We have completed a Phase 2b study of AKB-6548liests with anemia (hemoglokin 10.5 g/dL) secondary to CKD not requiring dialysis
This double-blind, randomized, placebo controlledig evaluated the efficacy and safety of AKB-654&10 subjects across 62 U.S. sites.
The study enrolled patients based on their preattment with rESASs: naive (never received rESAapg), previously treated with rESAs, and
actively treated with rESAs (previous history ofifeglobin< 10.5 g/dL). Patients initiated treatment with eitd50mg of AKB-6548 or
placebo once-daily for 20 weeks. The dose of AKB&®Was adjusted in accordance with the patientisdggobin response. The primary
purpose of this study was to demonstrate an adappiproach to dosing AKB-6548 that would enablgesuib to appropriately raise their
hemoglobin from baseline without excessive excmsio> 13.0 g/dL. Subjects were extensively evaluatecfioical and laboratory safety,
changes in specific biomarkers, and changes intgudllife and neuro-cognitive outcomes.

Patients were assigned in a double-blind fashian2ril ratio to either AKB-6548 or placebo. Afteitiating treatment at 450 mg, the dose was
adjusted in accordance with the protocol defineds®Adjustment Guidelines and Algorithm.”

The primary endpoint (determined from values at kg9 and 20) of this study was the percent ofenibjwho either (i) achieve a mean
hemoglobin o 11.0 g/dL, or (ii) increase their hemoglobin®yl.2 g/dL over their pre-dose average hemoglobiwéen screening and
baseline. Subjects who received injectable rEStamrsfusion rescue were counted as treatmentdailaind subjects receiving transfusion for
non-rescue reason were removed from the primarysisaTreatment with AKB-6548 was very effectis®mpared to placebo, in achieving
the primary endpoint (p<0.0001).

The results from this study will enable Akebia ietmine the optimal dosage, including tablet aizé number of tablets per dose, and dose
adjustment for the Phase 3 studies. Preliminarlyaisandicates that the range of doses will nosigmificantly changed, and the algorithm
effective at achieving and maintaining the desiesponse in hemoglobin as designed in the primatgome (the algorithm will be subject to
review and acceptance by FDA and other regulatottyaities). The algorithm was also designed t@ meinimize hemoglobin fluctuation and
reduce the frequency of excessive excursions irolgéshin. Only 4.3% of subjects receiving AKB-654&dha hemoglobin excursianl13.0
g/dL.

Patients were also analyzed for safety, includig Avital signs, electrocardiograms, and laboraéssay results. AKB-6548 was generally
well tolerated with similar percentages of subjextperiencing adverse events in AKB-6548 treatetacebo groups. There was an increast
in renal (kidney) related serious adverse evemtsrted in the AKB-6548 treated subjects (AKB-6548% vs. placebo 2.8%), however, the
number of subjects requiring dialysis, an objectieasure of the severity of renal disease, was\wsbatdess in the AKB548 treated subjec
(AKB-6548 8.0% vs. placebo 9.7%). Overall advensengs for renal and urinary disorders was balarid&dB-6548 14.5% vs. placebo 13.9'
The disparity in renal serious adverse events ikalylrelated to differences in reporting betwesweistigators (reasons included proceeding t
dialysis in association with a serious adverse etrei was not reported in the renal category,rocgeding to dialysis without being conside

a serious adverse event). Other differences, fagaither AKB-6548 or placebo, in adverse eventevas follows: nausea and diarrhea (AKB:
6548 10.1% vs. placebo 4.2%); gastrointestinal hemage (AKB-6548 0.0% vs. placebo 5.6%); upperiragpry tract infection (AKB-6548
1.4% vs. placebo 6.9%); hyperkalemia (AKB-6548 5M%oplacebo 0.0%); and hypertension (AKB-6548 8\&¥placebo 2.8%). There were
three deaths in AKB-6548 treated subjects. Thistivagxpected number of subject deaths based @iopsestudies in similar populations.

Additional assessments conducted during our PhastuBly include: iron metabolism (changes from liasén iron, transferrin saturation
(TSAT), TIBC, and ferritin); the dose of iron repament needed to maintain iron levels; actual wlral change from baseline in reticulocyte
hemoglobin content, HbAlc, and lipids; functionadrbarkers; concentration measurements of AKB-65#8its glucuronide metabolite; and
measures of patient reported outcomes. These aviléported in various scientific sessions in 20i&8uding the World Congress of
Nephrology meeting in March 201
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Ongoing and Planned Clinical Trials
Study of AKE-6548 in Dialysis Patients (CI-0011)

We are currently enrolling patients in a multiptesd, open label Phase 2 study in approximateluBfests (30 per cohort) on dialysis with
anemia secondary to CKD. The primary endpoint @dlinpare the change in hemoglobin from baselinéhfee different dosing regimens of
AKB-6548: 1) 300 mg per dose administered onceyda)l 450 mg administered once daily; and, 3) 4%0administered three times per
week. The first analysis of change in hemoglobilhlve conducted at Week 8, and the second anadydi¢eek 16 will assess the change in
hemoglobin with dose adjustment starting at Wedke8. secondary endpoints will include (i) the safet AKB-6548 in ESRD subjects on
dialysis; (ii) the total dose of IV iron therapyrfihe eight weeks prior to baseline to the firsie@is 1-8) and second (Weeks 9-16) eight week
of treatment; and (iii) the effect of dialysis dretpharmacokinetics of AKB-6548. The first two cadbd300 mg and 450 mg dose administerec
once daily, respectively) have been fully enrollgdgd we have initiated enrollment in the third cwh®hus far, dosing with AKB-6548 has
been well tolerated. We plan to report the fingutes from this study in the third quarter of 2Git to initiate Phase 3 studies for this
indication in 2016.

Projected Phase 3 Clinical Trial

In the fourth quarter of 2014, we reported positive-line results from a Phase 2b placebo-contidtedy of AKB-6548 in non-dialysis
patients with anemia related to chronic kidney aige(CKD). As a result, the company is planningtings to discuss the Phase 2b study
results with U.S. and European regulatory agerninigseparation for initiating global Phase 3 regison studies in 2015.

We are designing the Phase 3 program to be apjgiéabglobal development with limited protocol fdifences between geographic regions.
We expect that two adequate and well controlledsPI3atrials will be required to support the markgtapplication. The total number of
patients to be enrolled in the Phase 3 studiesheiliietermined upon agreement with FDA, EMA aneiothgulatory authorities.

We anticipate that one of the Phase 3 studies&ilandomized, double-blind, and placebo-contradiechlling CKD patients with anemia
(hemoglobin <10.5 g/dL). The primary endpoint would be to dentiate non-inferiority for cardiovascular safety fiKB-6548 compared to
the standard of care provided to the placebo grohp.efficacy endpoint for this study will be tongpare the ability to raise hemoglobin levels
between AKB-6548 and placebo treatment groups.stimty will include a rescue component for subjegth declining hemoglobin levels
using injectable rESAs and/or transfusions in agaonce with existing treatment guidelines (i.e. dtad of care).

We expect that the second study will be a randadnizentrolled, open-label study where subjectsanily receiving treatment with rESAs are
randomized 1:1 to receive AKB-6548 or to remairttogir current rESA therapy. The primary efficacylpaint would be to demonstrate non-
inferiority for the mean change from the baselieenbglobin level to the mean level during the eviidumaperiod.

Although the exact size and timing cannot be knowiil final agreement is reached with the FDA, EMAd other regulatory authorities, we
estimate that the two Phase 3 studies in non-dsapatients with anemia related to CKD will inclualéotal of approximately 3,000 -

3,500 subjects. We estimate that the cardiovaseafaty study will be approximately 3 years in diorg with an average of 1.5 years on study
drug.

Additional Studies

We have completed a thorough QT, or TQT, studycooadance with FDA guidance to ensure that AKB-68d8s not affect the cardiac
conduction cycle (CI-0010). A lengthened QT intéigaa biomarker for certain ventricular arrhythsiend a risk factor for sudden death. To
date, AKB-6548 has not shown any tendency to affeeQT interval either in humans or animals. Btigly was a partially blinded, four way
crossover study in 50 healthy volunteers, men amahen. Each subject received the four differenttneats (AKB-6548 600 mg, AKB-6548
1200 mg, Placebo, and Moxifloxacin 400 mg — eaehtiment taken at separate visits). The results thisrstudy confirm that AKB-6548 does
not alter cardiac repolarization intervals in hiealrolunteers following a single dose of up to 120§.
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To test AKB-6548 in a chronic dosing setting, caogjenicity assessments in two rodent speciesrfchtuse) will be pursued. AKB-6548
has been shown to be orally bioavailable and phesfogically active in both species. The resulta atandard battery of tests that evaluate fo
mutations in cells or animals have indicated thisBA6548 does not cause mutations that could leadtzer. However, to satisfy the expectec
regulatory requirement, carcinogenicity assessm@ntsyears of dosing in rats, and 6 months of nigén a transgenic mouse model) in each
of the two rodent species will be conducted. Cotigrteof three-month (mouse; ongoing) and six-mdnd; completed) oral toxicity
evaluations will support dose selection for thegpessive carcinogenicity assessment.

Finally, in order to complete the registration pagéd for drug approval, we are exploring the neesl/eduate specific drug interactions with
patients taking AKB-6548, as patients with CKD takeltiple medications. It is likely we will conduat least one of these additional clinical
studies.

AKB-6899

AKB-6899 is also a HIFx -stabilizing compound. In screening AKB-6899 far HIF-related properties, it was discovered thateilis cultured
at low oxygen levels, AKB-6899 significantly inhibd the expression of VEGF and phosphoglycerataskinor PGK, mRNA, both of which
are associated with the growth of cancerous tuniosddition, AKB-6899 was found to significantl§ireulate the production of soluble
vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1, \EGFrl. SVEGFrl is known to be a potent inhibitbM&GF signaling by sequestering
VEGF and inhibiting its interaction with transmerabe receptors+s so doing, SVEGFr1 can inhibit the growth of egmttypes of cancer cel
AKB-6899 was also found to stimulate the productié=PO in a manner similar to AKB-6548.

These properties, and others, indicate that AKBG8@y be an effective treatment for certain canfmrarian, breast, colon, and possibly
lung), alone or in combination with chemotherapyatldition AKB-6899 may also be a candidate comgddonthe treatment of chemotherapy
induced anemia and for VEGF-related eye disead¢B-8899 has been used effectively in several animadels of cancer, both alone and in
combination. In addition, it has been shown to fiiecéive in animal models of colitis.

Manufacturing and Supply

AKB-6548 is a small-molecule drug that is manufaetlfrom readily available commercial starting mials. The manufacturing of AKB548
uses standard chemical technologies and equipmeditnore than 440kg of drug substance has beenfatamed to date. The intended
commercial manufacturing route has been succegdfatsferred to Evonik Corporation for large-saalenufacture of AKB-6548.

The drug substance can be readily formulated iotpressed tablets using common manufacturing psesesmploying standard USP grade
excipients. Compressed tablets have been madé&@fedit potencies with excellent tabletting propeet(i.e. hardness, disintegration time and
friability) and a fast, reproducible dissolutioriea

AKB-6899 is at the pre-clinical stage. A scalablemafacturing route has been developed for the siubgtance of AKB5899. Thus far, 2kg
non-GMP material and 10kg of GMP material has mexessfully manufactured.

We have no internal manufacturing capabilities aatg on outside manufacturers to produce all Iétdrag substance and drug products. On
February 28, 2014, we entered into a Master Sesviggeement with Evonik Corporation, or Evonik, guent to which Evonik shall further
develop and manufacture the drug substance fonusgé Phase 3 development program for AKB-6548 athér clinical trials.

On June 24, 2014, we entered into a Master Senfigesement with Gregory Pharmaceutical Holdings, (d/b/a UPM Pharmaceuticals Inc.,
or UPM), pursuant to which UPM shall further deyetnd manufacture the drug product for use in tiasB 3 development program for AKB-
6548 and other clinical trials.

AKB-6548 has been manufactured under strict cGMfalegions and we believe has fully complied with #DA guidelines for the
manufacture of drug substance and drug productinsgahical trials.

Intellectual Property

The proprietary nature of, and protection for, product candidates and our discovery programsgssas and know-how are important to our
business. Our policy is to seek to protect our pedgry position by, among other methods, filingsUand foreign patent applications related tc
our proprietary technology, inventions and improeais that are important to the development andeémphtation of our business. We also
rely on know-how, continuing technological innowatiand potential iticensing opportunities to develop and maintain pnaprietary positior
Additionally, we may benefit from a variety of stadry frameworks in the United States, Europe ahérocountries that provide periods of
non-patent-based exclusivity for qualifying molexsilSee “—Regulatory Matters.”

21




Our commercial success will depend in part on oltgiand maintaining patent protection of our cotrr@nd future product candidates,
methods of their use and the methods used to deasld manufacture them, as well as successfulgndiiig these patents against third-party
challenges. Our ability to stop third parties fromaking, using, selling, offering to sell or impodiour products depends on the extent to w
we have rights under valid and enforceable pathatscover these activities. We cannot be surephtents will be granted with respect to any
of our pending patent applications or with respge@ny patent applications filed by us in the faturor can we be sure that any of our existing
patents or any patents that may be granted to tieifuture will be commercially useful in protexgiour product candidates, discovery
programs and processes. Even once patents sudbeissiue, third parties may challenge the validépforceability, inventorship, or scope
thereof, which may result in such patents beingaweed, invalidated or held unenforceable. For #md more comprehensive risks related to
our intellectual property, please see “Risk Faetdrisks Related to Our Intellectual Property.”

Our patent estate, on a worldwide basis, includealidwed applications and issued patents and appately 45 pending utility and
provisional patent applications, with pending asslied claims relating to our current clinical stegedidate AKB-6548 as well as other
product candidates, including AKB-6899. We alsadhtbiree patents that claim the crystal of a preligend complex of EGLN-1 as well as
methods for identifying compounds that bind to EGLN

Individual patents extend for varying periods af¢i depending on the date of filing of the patemiaption or the date of patent issuance and
the legal term of patents in the countries in whitdy are obtained. Generally, patents issued &pptications filed in the United States are
effective for twenty years from the earliest nooypsional filing date. In addition, in certain iasices, a patent term can be extended to
recapture a portion of the term effectively losea®gsult of the FDA regulatory review period, hoese the restoration period cannot be longer
than five years and the total patent term includimgrestoration period must not exceed 14 yedlsxfimg FDA approval. The duration of
foreign patents varies in accordance with provisiohapplicable local law, but typically is alsoetmty years from the earliest international
filing date. Patent term recapture for loss of tesra result of the regulatory review period isilatzée in some foreign jurisdictions. Our issued
patents and pending applications with respect tacomposition of matter, methods of treatment, pln@rmaceutical compositions are expe

to expire in 2027 or 2028 (depending on eligibifity patent term adjustment) and our pending appibos with respect to processes for
manufacturing AKB-6548, dosing regimens, formulagipand various other aspects relating to thenresatt of anemia using AKB-6548 are
expected to expire between 2032 and 2034, excladipessible patent term adjustments or extensionsgever, the actual protection afforded
by a patent varies on a product by product basisa tountry to country and depends upon many factocluding the type of patent, the scope
of its coverage, the availability of extensionpatent term, the availability of legal remediesiparticular country and the validity and
enforceability of the patent.

Changes in either the patent laws or interpretatafrpatent laws in the United States and othentr@ms can diminish our ability to protect our
inventions and enforce our intellectual properghts. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadtlemfiorceability of claims that may be
granted in our patents or in third-party patentse Bbiotechnology and pharmaceutical industriechagacterized by extensive litigation
regarding patents and other intellectual propediyts. Our ability to maintain and solidify our preetary position for our drugs and technol
will depend on our success in obtaining effectilaénes and enforcing those claims once granted. Wead know whether any of the patent
applications that we may file or license from thirarties will result in the issuance of any patente issued patents that we own or may
receive in the future may be challenged, invalidatecircumvented, and the rights granted underissyed patents may not provide us with
sufficient protection or competitive advantagesiagfacompetitors with similar technology. Furthem@oour competitors may be able to
independently develop and commercialize similagdror duplicate our technology, business modetrategy without infringing our patents.
Because of the extensive time required for clindmlelopment and regulatory review of a drug we oheyelop, it is possible that, before any
of our drugs can be commercialized, any relatednahay expire or remain in force for only a shp@tiod following commercialization,
thereby reducing any advantage of any such pakbetpatent positions for our most advanced proge@asummarized below.

AKB-6548 Patent Portfolio

We hold five issued patents and one pending agjditaovering the composition of matter, methodrefting anemia, and pharmaceutical
compositions of AKB-6548 in the United States, @®ied patent in Europe (registered in most caestf the European Patent Convention),
and additional patents issued or pending in mahgranajor jurisdictions worldwide, including Jap&hina, South Korea, Brazil, Mexico,
Russia, Israel and India. The expected expiratadn tbr these composition of matter patents is 20@8 any extensions or adjustments of tern
available under national law.

In July of 2011, a third party filed an opposititmour issued European Patent No. 2044005 (the Ra@8&nt). During the oral proceedings,
which took place on April 10, 2013, the Oppositivision of the European Patent Office maintainke ‘005 Patent on the basis of the third
auxiliary request filed during the oral proceedingiis decision resulted in the maintenance oaarcHirected to a compound chosen from a
group of eight compounds, including AKB-6548, adlwe claims to compositions and methods for treptiarious diseases, including, but not
limited to, anemia. Both parties have appealedidesion of the Opposition
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Division and final resolution of the opposition peedings will likely take a number of years. Werwarbe assured of the breadth of the claim:
that will remain in the '005 Patent or that theguetwill not be revoked in its entirety.

We also hold patents and patent applications dicettt processes for manufacturing AKB-6548, dosaggmens, formulations, polymorphs,
and various other aspects relating to the treatwlesmiemia using AKB-6548 that are expected torexpetween 2032 and 2034 exclusive of
possible patent term extensions.

AKB-6899 Patent Portfolio

We hold four issued patents and one pending apigicaovering the AKB-6899 composition of mattedgrharmaceutical compositions or
methods of use in the United States, and additipatnts issued or pending in many other majosdliztions worldwide, including Europe,
Japan, China, South Korea, Brazil, Mexico, Russiladia. The expected expiration date for thesepmusition of matter patents is 2028 plus
any extensions or adjustments of term availableeundtional law.

We hold one issued patent that covers the treatofeartemia by administration of AKB-6899, whicheigpected to expire in 2028. We also
hold, either alone or jointly, one issued patert ane pending application covering various methoasuding, but not limited to, the treatment
of cancer by administration of AKB-6899 in the WdtStates and additional patent applications amdipg in many other major jurisdictions
worldwide, including Japan, China, South Korea, MexRussia, Israel and India. The expected expiatates for these method of treatment
patent applications are expected to be 2032 ex&udipossible patent term extensions or adjustsn&ke hold one pending PCT patent
application directed to treatment or preventiooailar conditions using AKB899, and one pending PCT patent application dicetts dosing
regimens of AKB-6899. The expected expiration ddtthis ocular patent application is 2035, andekpected expiration date of this dosing
patent application is 2034, exclusive of possitdtept term extensions or adjustments. We also ¢nédpending patent application directed to
polymorphs of AKB-6899 in the United States andwas foreign jurisdictions. The expected expiratitate of this polymorph patent
application is 2034 exclusive of possible patenhtextensions or adjustments.

Know-How

In addition to patents, we rely upon unpatentedakhow and continuing technological innovation tovelep and maintain our competitive
position. We seek to protect our proprietary infation, in part, using confidentiality agreementtfwaur collaborators, employees and
consultants and invention assignment provisiorthénconfidentiality agreements with our employ8dsese agreements are designed to prote
our proprietary information and, in the case ofithention assignment provisions, to grant us oafnigrof technologies that are developed by
our employees. These agreements may be breachibdieamay not have adequate remedies for any breach.

To the extent that our commercial partners, collatus, employees and consultants use intelleproglerty owned by others in their work for
us, disputes may arise as to the rights in relatedsulting know-how and inventions.

Third Party Filings

We are aware of certain U.S. patents issued tm&ién, directed to, among other things, purportedly methods of using previously known
heterocyclic carboxamide compounds for purposereating or affecting specified conditions. We dit believe these currently issued,
FibroGen U.S. patents conflict with our intelledtpeoperty rights; nor do we make any admission #my of such patents are valid or
enforceable. Under U.S. law, a person may be alppatient a discovery of a new way to use a prelyidasown compound, even if such
compound itself is patented, provided, the new$cavered use is novel and non-obvious. Such a miaifiase patent, however, if valid, only
protects the use of a claimed compound for theiipéenethods claimed in the patent. This type atiept does not prevent persons from using
the compound for any previously known use of thmpound. Further, this type of patent does not prepersons from making and marketing
the compound for an indication that is outsidestbape of the patented method. We are not awaneyofalid U.S. patents issued to FibroGen
that claim methods of using any of our product édaigs for purposes of inhibiting HIF-PHs for theatment of anemia secondary to CKD.
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In addition, we are aware of certain foreign pate@wned by FibroGen. For example, in June 2013Ethrepean Patent Office granted
European Patent No. 1463823 (the '823 patent)licoEen. The '823 patent claims, among other thitigsuse of a heterocyclic carboxamide
compound selected from the group consisting ofdiyei carboxamides, quinoline carboxamides, isodimae@arboxamides, cinnoline
carboxamides, and beta-carboline carboxamidesrthiits HIF-PH enzyme activity in the manufactafea medicament for increasing
endogenous EPO in the prevention, pretreatmemteatment of anemia. On December 5, 2013, we éiledpposition with the European Pa
Office to the '823 patent requesting that the '®28ent be revoked in its entirety. While, for teagons set forth in our opposition, we believe
the '823 patent should be revoked in its entiréig, ultimate outcome of the opposition remains ctage

Competition

We operate in highly competitive segments of tletdmhnology and biopharmaceutical markets. We ¢acepetition from many different
sources, including commercial pharmaceutical antebhnology enterprises, academic institutionsggawent agencies and private and pu
research institutions. Many of our competitors hsigaificantly greater financial, product developrhenanufacturing and marketing resout
than us. Large pharmaceutical companies have éxée@sperience in clinical testing and obtainingukatory approval for drugs. These
companies also have significantly greater resesaplabilities than us. Many universities and privatd public research institutes are active in
CKD research, some in direct competition with usa$er or early-stage companies may also provetsigmificant competitors, particularly
through collaborative arrangements with large astdldished companies. The key competitive factfiexting the success of AKB-6548, if
approved, are likely to be its efficacy, convenieaod safety profile.

If AKB- 6548 is approved and launched commercially, comgetiugs will include EPOGEN and potentially Argmeshich are both market
by Amgen, Inc., or Amgen, in addition to ProcridaBprex, which are marketed by Johnson & Johnsoandsp, introduced in 2001, has
significant market share in the United States,ipaldrly in the oncology and the non-dialysis maskalthough it is approved for treatment in
dialysis patients as well. In Europe, Roche haaiobt regulatory approval to market, and has lagdich PEGylated rESA called Mircera.
Mircera reportedly has greater plasma stabilitythay of the currently marketed products. PEGpslgmer that increases the time rEPO
remains in the circulation and consequently caddsed less frequently. Mircera has also obtaingdlatory approval in the United States, but
as a result of Roche and Amgen'’s patent infringeriggation, Mircera was found to infringe sevelalS. patents owned by Amgen and has
been enjoined from being sold in the United State# mid-2014 under the terms of a limited licengélircera enters the U.S. market, we
believe it will be in direct competition with AKB518 because of Mircera’s ability to be long-actitigerefore, it could potentially limit the
market for AKB-6548.

We may also face competition from potential newnaiaetherapies if we obtain approval for and comnadlsclaunch AKB-6548. There are
several other HIF product candidates for anemiaaibns in various stages of development by paieobmpetitors. These candidates are
being developed by companies such as FibroGenringrahip with AstraZeneca PLC in the United Statied China and with Astellas Pharma
Inc., in Europe and Asia, Japan Tobacco, GlaxoSftite and Bayer, all of whom are likely to have aper financial resources than our
company. FibroGen, in particular, is ahead of uh@clinical development of its product, FG-458&@adustat). Such HIF compounds under
development may have a mechanism of action thtaeisame or similar to AKB-6548 and promote thedpotion of naturally occurring EPO
in patients. Some of these product candidates migy the market in advance of AKB-6548. If thesedurct candidates enter the market, they
may compete with AKB-6548, if it is approved andrkeded.

In addition, certain companies are developing paenew therapies for renadlated diseases that could potentially reduce redixation anc
thus limit the market for AKB-6548 if it is approd@nd marketed.

The introduction of biosimilars into the rEPO markethe United States will constitute additionahapetition for AKB-6548 if it is approved
and marketed. A biosimilar product is a subsequerdion of an existing, branded biologic produdte patent for the existing, branded pro«
must expire in a given market before biosimilaryreater that market. The patents for epoetin alfegrsion of rEPO, expired in 2004 in the
European Union, and the remaining patents haveekpir will expire in 2012 through 2015 in the WxwitStates. Several biosimilar versions o
rEPO are available for sale in the European Uniahlz@osimilar versions of rEPO are currently bestiggdied in clinical trials in the United
States.

In February 2015, Hospira announced that it suleahidt Biologics License Application (BLA) to the Fvh December 16, 2014, for Retracrit,
a proposed biosimilar to epoeitin alfa. In OctoP@t2, Sandoz announced the beginning of its Phasiaical program for its biosimilar rEPO
with results anticipated in 2014. Upon entry irfte tJ.S. market, biosimilars will compete with AKB4B if it is approved and marketed, and
will likely drive down prices for rEPO, which coultlso adversely affect our reimbursement.

In the dialysis market, it is typical to compete &md enter into long-term supply agreements viighrhajor operators of dialysis clinics in the
United States. In particular, two of the largestmpors of dialysis clinics in the United StateaMia Inc., or DaVita, and Fresenius, account
for more than half of the rESA sales in the U.&lydiis market. Both DaVita and Fresenius entertmariong-term supply agreements with
Amgen, Inc. that began in January 2012. We belikatit may be challenging to enter into or expapdn long or short-term supply
agreements with DaVita, Fresenius or other opesaibdialysis clinics.
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Regulatory Matters

The FDA and comparable regulatory authorities &itesand local jurisdictions and in other countimpose substantial and burdensome
requirements upon companies involved in the clindleaelopment, manufacture, marketing, labeling packaging storage, distribution, post-
approval monitoring and reporting, advertising @anoimotion, pricing and export and import of dru@ke process of obtaining regulatory
approvals and the subsequent compliance with apptegederal, state, local and foreign statutasragulations require the expenditure of
substantial time and financial resources. Moredhagiyre to comply with applicable regulatory reggments may result in, among other things
warning letters, clinical holds, civil or criminpkenalties, recall or seizure of products, injunttidisbarment, partial or total suspension of
production or withdrawal of the product from therket. Any agency or judicial enforcement action Idduave a material adverse effect on us.

U.S. Government Regulation

In the United States, the FDA regulates drug prtsdunder the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic@dtFDCA, and the FDA'’s
implementing regulations. If we fail to comply wisipplicable FDA or other requirements at any timerdy the drug development process,
clinical testing, the approval process or afterrapal, we may become subject to administrativeudigial sanctions. These sanctions could
include the FDA's refusal to approve pending aggtians, license suspension or revocation, withdrafvan approval, warning letters, product
recalls, product seizures, total or partial susjpensf production or distribution, injunctions, &g, civil penalties or criminal prosecution. Any
FDA enforcement action could have a material adveftect on us. FDA approval is required before aeny unapproved drug or dosage form,
including a new use of a previously approved doagp, be marketed in the United States.

The process required by the FDA before a drug neambrketed in the United States generally involves:

. completion of extensive nonclinical laboratoegts, nonclinical animal studies and formulatiardi&s performed in accordance
with the FD#'s current Good Laboratory Practice, or cGLP, reipra;

. submission to the FDA of an IND application whimust become effective before human clinicaldrialthe United States may
begin;

. approval by an IRB or ethics committee at eachddirtrial site before each trial may be initiat

. performance of adequate and well-controlled hunieical trials to establish the safety and eféig of the drug candidate for each
proposed indicatior

. submission to the FDA of an ND:

. satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortled manufacturing facility or facilities at whiche drug is produced to assess
compliance with current cGMP regulatiol

. satisfactory completion of a potential review byFIDA advisory committee, if applicable; a

. FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to aymmercial marketing, sale or commercial shipméthe drug in the United
States

The manufacturing, nonclinical testing and clinitsting and approval process requires substdimtia| effort and financial resources, and we
cannot be certain that any approvals for our prodandidates will be granted on a timely basiat ill. Nonclinical tests include laboratory
evaluation of product chemistry, formulation, sti#piand toxicity, as well as animal studies toesssthe characteristics and potential safety
efficacy of the product.

The results of nonclinical tests, together with ofanturing information, analytical data and a pregubclinical trial protocol and other
information, are submitted as part of an IND to FfiA. The central focus of an IND submission istioe general investigational plan and the
protocol(s) for human studies. Some nonclinicaingsmay continue even after the IND is submitteat, an IND must become effective before
human clinical trials may begin in the United S¢afehe IND automatically becomes effective 30 dalfysr receipt by the FDA, unless the
FDA, within the 30-day time period, raises concasnguestions relating to one or more proposedodiririals and places the clinical trial on a
clinical hold, including concerns that human resbaubjects will be exposed to unreasonable heiskh. In such a case, the IND sponsor anc
the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns bdfar clinical trial can begin. Accordingly, subgig of an IND may or may not result in
the FDA allowing clinical trials to commence. A seate amendment to an existing IND must also beenfraideach successive clinical trial
conducted during product development.

25




Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational drug to human subjects under thersigion of qualified investigators in
accordance with cGCPs, which include the requirdriex all research subjects provide their inforrnedsent for their participation in any
clinical trial. Clinical trials are conducted ungawotocols detailing, among other things, the dijes of the clinical trial, the parameters to be
used in monitoring safety and the effectivenedsiia to be used. Each protocol in the United Statast be submitted to the FDA as part o
IND. In addition, an independent IRB or ethics coitige for each medical center proposing to condudinical trial must also review and
approve a plan for any clinical trial before it daegin at that center and the IRB must monitorctirécal trial until it is completed. There are
also requirements governing the reporting of ongaimical trials and clinical trial results to gidregistries.

A sponsor who wishes to conduct a clinical trialside the United States may, but need not, obtBid &uthorization to conduct the clinical
trial under an IND. If a foreign clinical trial isot conducted under an IND, the sponsor may sutbaté from the clinical trial to the FDA in
support of an NDA so long as the clinical triat@nducted in compliance with an international glidefor the ethical conduct of clinical
research known as the Declaration of Helsinki,ea®at in the FDA regulations or with the laws aadulations of the country or countries in
which the clinical trial is performed, whicheveopides the greater protection to the participamthe clinical trial.

Clinical Trials
Clinical trials are typically conducted in threefour phases, which may overlap or be combined:

. Phase 1: Clinical trials are initially conductada limited population of subjects to test thagicandidate for safety, dose tolerance
absorption, metabolism, distribution and excretiohealthy humans or, on occasion, in patients sétere problems or life
threatening diseases to gain an early indicatidtsaffectiveness

. Phase 2: Clinical trials are generally condudteal limited patient population to evaluate dostjerance and appropriate dosage,
identify possible adverse effects and safety riakg, evaluate preliminarily the efficacy of the glfor specific targeted indications
in patients with the disease or condition undedt

. Phase 3: Clinical trials are typically conducteaen Phase 2 clinical trials demonstrate thatse dange of the product candidate is
effective and has an acceptable safety profiles@Baclinical trials are commonly referred to aw¢pal” studies, which typically
denotes a study which presents the data that tihedf@ther relevant regulatory agencies will uselétermine whether or not to
approve a drug. Phase 3 clinical trials are gelyemaldertaken with large numbers of patients, saggroups of several hundred to
several thousand, to further evaluate dosage aige substantial evidence of clinical efficacy dadurther test for safety in an
expanded and diverse patient population at muljtggegraphicall-dispersed clinical trial site

. Phase 4: In some cases, FDA may condition agpahan NDA for a product candidate on the spossagreement to conduct
additional clinical trials after NDA approval. Inh@r cases, a sponsor may voluntarily conduct imahdit clinical trials post-
approval to gain more information about the drugctSpost approval trials are typically referrecsoPhase 4 clinical trial

The FDA, the IRB, or the sponsor may suspend aodinue a clinical trial at any time on variousgnds, including a finding that the subje
are being exposed to an unacceptable health riddtitidnally, some clinical trials are overseen yirdependent group of qualified experts
organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known akata safety monitoring board or committee. Thiaugrprovides authorization for whether or
not a trial may move forward at designated chedktpdased on access to certain data from the studgonsor may also suspend or termi
a clinical trial based on evolving business objaxgiand/or competitive climate.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuabmplete additional animal testing and must alseeltg additional information about the
chemistry and physical characteristics of the dmd finalize a process for manufacturing the drugammercial quantities in accordance with
cGMP requirements. The manufacturing process nmaustpable of consistently producing quality batabfebe drug candidate and, among
other things, the manufacturer must develop metfad®sting the identity, strength, quality andipuof the final drug product. Additionally,
appropriate packaging must be selected and testkdtability studies must be conducted to demotesthet the drug candidate does not
undergo unacceptable deterioration over its skelf |

New Drug Applications

The clinical trials, together with the results afclinical studies and extensive manufacturingrimiation and information on the composition
of the drug, are submitted to the FDA in the forivao NDA requesting approval to market the drugdioe or more specified indications. The
FDA reviews an NDA to determine, among other thjgsether a drug is safe and effective for itsrided use.
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Once the NDA submission has been accepted fogfilimder the Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUR®# FDA has a goal of responding
to standard review NDAs within ten months after &@elay filing review period, but this timeframe is@ftextended. The first indication of -
FDA's review progress is provided at the mid-cyeeiew. This typically occurs five months after tRBA is submitted. However, the review
process is often significantly extended by FDA resis for additional information or clarificationhd FDA may refer the application to an
advisory committee for review, evaluation and ren@ndation as to whether the application shouldgpecved. The FDA is not bound by the
recommendation of an advisory committee, but itegally follows such recommendations.

Before approving an application, the FDA will insp#he facility or the facilities at which the fstied drug product, and sometimes the active
drug ingredient, is manufactured, and will not @warthe drug unless cGMP compliance is satisfacfidng FDA may also inspect the sites at

which the clinical trials were conducted to asshe#r compliance, and will not approve the drugesslcompliance with GCP requirements is

satisfactory.

After the FDA evaluates the NDA and conducts infipas of manufacturing facilities, it may issueapproval letter or a Complete Response
Letter. An approval letter authorizes commerciathkating of the drug with specific prescribing infieation for specific indications. A
Complete Response Letter indicates that the regimbe of the application is complete and the appién is not ready for approval. A
Complete Response Letter may require additionalazll data and/or other significant, expensive, timé-consuming requirements related to
clinical trials, preclinical studies and/or manutaing. Even if such data are submitted, the FDA miéimately decide that the NDA does not
satisfy the criteria for approval. Data from cligli¢rials are not always conclusive and the FDA nmagrpret data differently than we interpret
data. The FDA could also approve the NDA with a REM mitigate risks, which could include medicatgrndes, physician communication
plans, or elements to ensure safe use, such astexbtistribution programs, patient registrieotirer risk minimization tools. The FDA may
also condition approval on, among other thingsngea to proposed labeling, development of adequmatiols and specifications, or a
commitment to conduct one or more post-market studr clinical trials. Such post-market testing rimejyude Phase 4 clinical trials and
surveillance to further assess and monitor theyrtsl safety and effectiveness after commercidbpat

Once the FDA approves an NDA, or supplement theteeoFDA may withdraw the approval if ongoing rkegary requirements are not met or
if safety problems are identified after the drugatees the market. Where a withdrawal may not beogpiate, the FDA still may seize existing
inventory of such drug or require a recall of anyglalready on the market. In addition, the FDA theesauthority to prevent or limit further
marketing of a drug based on the results of posketatudies or surveillance programs.

After regulatory approval of a drug is obtainednpanies are subject to a number of post-approgairements. For example, there are
reporting obligations regarding certain adversenes/eeceived and production problems. Companiealacerequired to report updated safety
and efficacy information and to comply with requirents concerning advertising and promotional laigelDrugs may be marketed only for
FDA approved indications and in accordance withglavisions of the approved labeling. The FDA clgpsegulates the post-approval
marketing and promotion of drugs, including staddaand regulations for direct-to-consumer adveisoff-label promotion, industry-
sponsored scientific and educational activities @imanotional activities involving the Internet. Arapany can make only those claims relating
to safety and efficacy that are approved by the FBEdilure to comply with these requirements canltés adverse publicity, warning letters,
corrective advertising and potential civil and dnal penalties. Physicians may prescribe legalilatle drugs for uses that are not describec
in the product’s labeling and that differ from tkedested by us and approved by the FDA. Such b#tlases are common across medical
specialties. Physicians may believe that suchaifél uses are the best treatment for many paientried circumstances. The FDA does not
regulate the behavior of physicians in their chat&eatments. The FDA does, however, imposegnhrestrictions on manufacturers’
communications regarding off-label use.

Further, if there are any modifications to the diingluding changes in indications, labeling, ommfacturing processes or facilities, the
applicant may be required to submit and obtain FpAroval of a new NDA or NDA supplement, which nmaguire the applicant to develop
additional data or conduct additional nonclinidaidées and clinical trials. As with new NDAs, threview process is often significantly exten
by the FDA requests for additional information Grification. Also, quality control and manufactogi procedures must continue to conform tc
cGMP requirements after approval to ensure ancepreghe long term stability of the drug produdieTFDA periodically inspects
manufacturing facilities to assess compliance w@MP requirements, which imposes extensive proegdsubstantive and record keeping
requirements. In addition, changes to the manufimgiyprocess are strictly regulated, and, dependinthe significance of the change, may
require prior FDA approval before being implementeDA regulations also require investigation andection of any deviations from cGMP
requirements and impose reporting and documentegigmirements upon us and any third-party manufaciuthat we may decide to use.
Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to exptime, money and effort in the area of productiod gnality control to maintain
compliance with cGMP requirement and other aspafatsgulatory compliance.
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The testing and approval processes require sukatante, effort and financial resources, and emay take several years to complete. The
FDA may not grant approval on a timely basis, aalatEven if we believe a clinical trial has demstmated safety and efficacy of one of our
drug candidates for the treatment of a diseasagthdts may not be satisfactory to the FDA. Narcél and clinical data may be interpretec
the FDA in different ways, which could delay, linoit prevent regulatory approval. We may encouniféicdlties or unanticipated costs in our
efforts to secure necessary governmental apprewatsh could delay or preclude us from marketingggturhe FDA may limit the indications
for use or place other conditions on any approtrals could restrict the commercial applicationt# tirugs.

Special Protocol Assessme

An SPA is a written agreement with the FDA on tlkéads of the design, size, execution and planmedlyais for a clinical trial intended to
form the primary basis of an effectiveness claimninNDA. After the clinical trial begins, the agneent may only be changed through a wri
agreement between the sponsor and the FDA. An SBarierally binding upon the FDA unless the FDAedaines that there are public het
concerns unrecognized at the time the SPA agreemsnentered into, other new scientific concergsur@ing product safety or efficacy arise,
or if the sponsor fails to comply with the agrequba trial protocol, or standard-of-care change$ shat FDA does not accept that the trial
comparator is accurate to assess the results frertial. If the outcome of the clinical trial inccessful, the sponsor will ordinarily be able to
rely on it as the primary basis for approval witspect to effectiveness. FDA requires 45 dayswieweeach SPA and often 2-3 review cycles
may be necessary to reach written agreement betii@Arand the sponsor. Any protocol amendment duttiregconduct of the clinical trial
may invalidate the SPA agreement, requiring a sabiom of the amended protocol to the FDA for adddi review and revision of the initial
agreement. FDA has 45 days to review each requasteddment to an issued SPA. Failure of the spdosmmply with the written SPA
agreement could affect approvability of the NDA.

Europe/Rest of World Government Regulati

In addition to regulations in the United States,wikbe subject to a variety of regulations in etljurisdictions governing, among other things,
clinical trials and any commercial sales and disttion of our products. Whether or not we obtain®=pproval for a product, we must obtain
the requisite approvals from regulatory authoritieforeign countries prior to the commencementliofical trials or marketing of the product
in those countries.

Certain countries outside of the United States leasienilar process that requires the submissiandaiinical trial application, or CTA, much
like the IND prior to the commencement of humanichl trials. In Europe, for example, a CTA mustsiemitted to each country’s national
health authority and an independent ethics comajitteuch like the FDA and IRB, respectively. Onae @TA is approved in accordance with
a country’s requirements, the clinical trial mapgeed. Outside of the United States, each clini@d|to be conducted in a given country
requires submission and approval of a unique CTA.

The requirements and process governing the comdwdiical trials, product licensing, pricing aneimbursement vary from country to
country. In all cases, the clinical trials are cactéd in accordance with cGCP requirements andppécable regulatory requirements and the
ethical principles that have their origin in thedxeation of Helsinki. To obtain regulatory apprbgfan investigational drug under European
Union regulatory systems, we must submit a margednthorization application. The application usedile the NDA in the United States is
similar to that required in Europe, with the exd@ptof, among other things, country-specific docatrequirements.

For other countries outside of the European Ursach as countries in Eastern Europe, Latin Amecasia, the requirements governing the
conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, prig and reimbursement vary from country to counimall cases, again, the clinical trials must
be conducted in accordance with cGCP requirememntshee applicable regulatory requirements and thiea principles that have their origin
in the Declaration of Helsinki.

If we fail to comply with applicable foreign regtday requirements, we may be subject to, amongrdtiiegs, fines, suspension or withdrawal
of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizudrproducts, operating restrictions and criminalgacution.

Fraud and Abuse Laws

In the United States, the research, manufactudistyibution, sale and promotion of drug productd anedical devices are subject to regulatiol
by various federal, state and local authoritieaddition to the FDA, including the CMS, other diaiss of the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services (e.g., the Office of Inspector Galjethe U.S. Department of Justice, state Attosr@gneral, and other state and local
government agencies.
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These laws include the federal Anti-Kickback Statuthich makes it illegal for any person, includangrescription drug manufacturer (or a
party acting on its behalf) to knowingly and willfusolicit, receive, offer, or pay any remuneratitat is intended to induce the referral of
business, including the purchase, order, or pretseni of a particular drug, for which payment mayrhade under a federal healthcare prog
such as Medicare or Medicaid. Violations of this l@re punishable by up to five years in prisormanal fines, administrative civil money
penalties, and exclusion from participation in fedidealthcare programs. In addition, the PPACApagiother things, amends the intent
requirement of the federal Anti-Kickback Statutel @niminal healthcare fraud statutes created byAALPA person or entity no longer needs to
have actual knowledge of the statute or specitieninto violate it. Moreover, the PPACA provideattthe government may assert that a claim
including items or services resulting from a viaatof the federal anti-kickback statute constisutefalse or fraudulent claim for purposes of
the False Claims Act.

Although we would not submit claims directly to pay, drug manufacturers can be held liable undefateral False Claims Act, which
prohibits anyone from knowingly presenting, or dagso be presented, for payment to federal progréntluding Medicare and Medicaid)
claims for items or services, including drugs, ta false or fraudulent, claims for items or sggsinot provided as claimed, or claims for
medically unnecessary items or services. The govent may deem manufacturers to have “caused” theission of false or fraudulent
claims by, for example, providing inaccurate biliar coding information to customers or promotingr@duct off-label. In addition, our future
activities relating to the reporting of wholesaberestimated retail prices for our products, thgoréing of prices used to calculate Medicaid
rebate information and other information affectfaderal, state, and third-party reimbursement forproducts, and the sale and marketing of
our products, are subject to scrutiny under this Renalties for a False Claims Act violation irdduthree times the actual damages sustainec
by the government, plus mandatory civil penaltiebeiween $5,500 and $11,000 for each separaie ¢&ém, the potential for exclusion from
participation in federal healthcare programs, afitiough the federal False Claims Act is a ciwakiste, conduct that results in a False Claims
Act violation may also implicate various federahunal statutes. If the government were to alldw tve were, or convict us of, violating th
false claims laws, we could be subject to a sutisldime and may suffer a decline in our stockcepriln addition, private individuals have the
ability to bring actions under the federal Falsai@k Act and certain states have enacted laws moa@dler the federal False Claims Act.

In addition to the laws described above, the PPA3A imposed new reporting requirements on drugufie&turers for payments made to
physicians and teaching hospitals, as well as ostrigiand investment interests held by physiciamstheir immediate family members. Fail
to submit required information may result in ciwibnetary penalties of up to an aggregate of $180p@0 year (or up to an aggregate of $1
million per year for “knowing failures”), for allgyments, transfers of value or ownership or investnnterests that are not timely, accurately
and completely reported in an annual submissiongDnanufacturers were required to begin colleatiata on August 1, 2013 and will be
required to submit reports to CMS by March 31, 2Qdd by the 90 day of each subsequent calendar year).

In addition, many states have adopted laws sirtoléine federal laws discussed above. Some of gtage prohibitions apply to the referral of
patients for healthcare services reimbursed byimswyrer, not just federal healthcare programs sischledicare and Medicaid. There has also
been a recent trend of increased federal and retgtgation of payments made to physicians. Cegtites mandate implementation of
compliance programs, impose restrictions on drugufacturers’ marketing practices and/or requirettaeking and reporting of gifts,
compensation and other remuneration to physiclesause we intend to commercialize products thalddoe reimbursed under a federal
healthcare program and other governmental heatthmagrams, we plan to develop a comprehensive kkamge program that establishes
internal controls to facilitate adherence to tHeswand program requirements to which we will oyrhacome subject. Although compliance
programs can mitigate the risk of investigation pnasecution for violations of these laws, the sislnnot be entirely eliminated. Due to the
breadth of and ambiguities in these laws, the atesehguidance in the form of regulations or calatisions, and the potential for additional
legal or regulatory change in this area, it is gmeghat our future sales and marketing practared/or our future relationships with physicians
might be challenged under these laws. Any acti@ireg us for violation of these laws, even if weassfully defend against it, could cause u
to incur significant legal expenses and divertmanagement’s attention from the operation of owir®ss.
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Third-Party Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of pharmaceutical products depend in sigmifipart on the availability of coverage and adégusimbursement by third-party payors,
such as state and federal governments, includingjddee and Medicaid, and commercial managed canagers. In the United States, no
uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement fargdproducts exists among thipawty payors. Accordingly, decisions regardingéektent of
coverage and amount of reimbursement to be provioledKB-6548 will be made on a payor by payor lsagis a result, the coverage
determination process is often a time-consumingcarstly process that will require us to provideestific and clinical support for the use of
our product candidates to each payor separatetly,ri assurance that coverage and adequate reienbems will be obtained. Third-party
payors may limit coverage to specific drug produetsan approved list, or formulary, which might natlude all of the FDA-approved drugs
for a particular indication. A decision by a thijpdsty payor not to cover our product candidatedccoeduce physician utilization of our
products once approved and have a material adeffexet on our future sales, results of operatior fanancial condition. Moreover, a payor’'s
decision to provide coverage for a drug producsdua imply that an adequate reimbursement ratebeibpproved. Adequate third-party
reimbursement may not be available to enable usdiotain price levels sufficient to realize an aggpiate return on our investment in product
development.

Healthcare Reformr

In March 2010, the PPACA was enacted, which incdutleasures that have or will significantly charfgeway health care is financed by both
governmental and private insurers. Among the pionsof PPACA of greatest importance to the phaeutcal industry are the following:

. Effective in 2010, PPACA made several changdbhe¢dviedicaid Drug Rebate Program, including insieg pharmaceutical
manufacturers’ rebate liability by raising the mimim basic Medicaid rebate on most branded pregmmigrugs and biologic
agents from 15.1% of average manufacturer pricA\P, to 23.1% of AMP and adding a new rebate datan for “line
extensions”i(e., new formulations, such as extended releaseuiations) of solid oral dosage forms of brandeatipcts, as well
potentially impacting their rebate liability by miédng the statutory definition of AMF

. PPACA also expanded the universe of Medicaid atilon subject to drug rebates by requiring pharmiical manufacturers to pi
rebates on Medicaid managed care utilization &0&6 and by expanding the population potentiallyilele for Medicaid drug
benefits, to be phased-in by 2014. CMS has proptuse’pand Medicaid rebate liability to the temiés of the United States as
well.

. In addition, PPACA provides for the public awadillity of retail survey prices and certain weightererage AMPs under the
Medicaid program. The implementation of this regqmient by the CMS may also provide for the publiailability of pharmacy
acquisition cost data, which could negatively intpag sales

. Effective in 2010, PPACA expanded the typesntities eligible to receive discounted 340B prigiahough, under the current
state of the law, with the exception of children&spitals, these newly eligible entities will net éligible to receive discounted
340B pricing on orphan drugs when used for the anghdication. In addition, as 340B drug pricingletermined based on AMP
and Medicaid rebate data, the revisions to the bedirebate formula and AMP definition describedwabcould result in an
increase in the required 340B discou

. Effective in 2011, PPACA imposed a requirement amuofacturers of branded drugs and biologic agenpsdvide a 50% discou
off the negotiated price of branded drugs dispetsé@dedicare Part D patients in the coverage gap,“donut hol).

. Effective in 2011, PPACA imposed an annual, rezhattible fee on any entity that manufactures qrarts certain branded
prescription drugs and biologic agents, apporticem@dng these entities according to their marketesimacertain government
healthcare programs, although this fee would nptyap sales of certain products approved exclugif@ orphan indications

. As of 2010, a new Patient-Centered Outcomesdrelsénstitute was established pursuant to PPACéversee, identify priorities
in, and conduct comparative clinical effectivenesssearch, along with funding for such research.résearch conducted by the
Patien-Centered Outcomes Research Institute may affeehtiri&et for certain pharmaceutical produ

. PPACA created the Independent Payment Advisagré which, beginning in 2014, will have authotityrecommend certain
changes to the Medicare program to reduce expeadihy the program that could result in reducedrgays for prescription
drugs. Under certain circumstances, these recomatiend will become law unless Congress enactsl&ga that will achieve th
same or greater Medicare cost savit
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. PPACA established the Center for Medicare andib#d Innovation within CMS to test innovative pagnt and service delivery
models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spendingepigelly including prescription drug spending. Fimgdhas been allocated to
support the mission of the Center for Medicare liediicaid Innovation from 2011 to 201

Many of the details regarding the implementatio®BACA are yet to be determined and, at this titmemains unclear the full effect that
PPACA would have on our business. In addition, wegeet that additional state and federal healthosfiegm measures will be adopted in the
future. Because we anticipate that a significanpprtion of patients eligible for AKB-6548 will bmovered by Medicare Part D, any
government healthcare reform measures which limeittamounts that federal and state governmentgaylfor healthcare products and serv
could result in reduced demand for our producteapproved or additional pricing pressures.

Other Regulations

We are also subject to numerous federal, statdomadilaws relating to such matters as safe workimgditions, manufacturing practices,
environmental protection, fire hazard control, d@igposal of hazardous or potentially hazardoustanbes. We may incur significant costs to
comply with such laws and regulations now or infiltere.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 43 employees, #ihofn were full-time, 12 of whom hold Ph.D. or M.d@egrees, 19 of whom were
engaged in research and development activitiedraf whom were engaged in business developmeiatdie, information systems, facilities,
human resources or administrative support. Normupoemployees are represented by any collectivgali@ng unit. We believe that we
maintain good relations with our employees.

Facilities

Our corporate headquarters are located in Cambridgssachusetts. We currently lease approximate§6ll square feet of office space in
Cambridge, Massachusetts under a lease that expirBecember 31, 2016. We believe that our exidtwdities are adequate to meet our
current needs, and that suitable additional altermapaces will be available in the future on coenerally reasonable terms for our future
growth.
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Ite m 1A. Risk Factors
Risk Factors

The following risk factors and other information icluded in this Annual Report on Form 18 should be carefully considered. The risks ¢
uncertainties described below are not the only omesface. Additional risks and uncertainties notgsently known to us or that we curren
believe to be immaterial may also adversely affaat business. Please reference our “Cautionary BdRegarding Forward-Looking
Statement” which identifies certain forwardlooking statements contained in this report thateaqualified by these risk factors. If any of tl
following risks occur, our business, financial coitébn, results of operations and future growth prpscts could be materially and advers:
affected.

Risks Related to our Financial Position and Need foAdditional Capital

We have incurred significant losses since inceptiand anticipate that we will continue to incur sigfiicant losses for the foreseeable future
and may never achieve or maintain profitability.

We have incurred net losses each year since oeption, including net losses of $37.0 million fbetyear ended December 31, 2014, and

$13.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2@&3of December 31, 2014, we had an accumulatddidef $100.7 million. To date, we

have not commercialized any products or generatgdevenue from the sale of products, and we derpéct to generate any product reve
in the foreseeable future. We do not know whetheviten we will generate revenue or become pro#abl

We have devoted most of our financial resourcesgearch and development, including our clinical preclinical development activities. To
date, we have financed our operations primarilgdlgh our initial public offering, or IPO, and prtegplacements of our preferred stock. The
amount of our future net losses will depend, irt,p@m the rate of our future expenditures, andfimancial position will depend, in part, on our
ability to obtain funding through equity or debtdincings, strategic collaborations or grants. @ad Iproduct candidate, AKB-6548, has
recently completed a Phase 2b study, and our ptioeluct candidate is in preclinical developmenterEfiore, we expect that it will be several
years, if ever, before we have a product candigggtdy for commercialization. Even if we obtain redory approval to market AK-6548, our
future revenue will depend upon the size of anyketarin which AKB-6548 has received approval, duility to achieve sufficient market
acceptance, the availability and extent of reimbeomsnt from third-party payors and other factors.

We expect to continue to incur significant expereses increased operating losses for the foreseéatole. We anticipate that our expenses
will increase significantly if and as we:

e continue our Phase 2 clinical development of ABBHS for the treatment of anemia in patients ungiargdialysis and prepare for
and initiate a Phase 3 development program of -6548 for the treatment of anemia secondary to CiKPaitients not on dialysi

e seek regulatory approvals for our product candgittat successfully complete clinical stud
e have our product candidates manufactured for diriitals and for commercial sal

e establish a sales, marketing and distributiorastfucture to commercialize any products for whighmay obtain marketing
approval,

® initiate additional preclinical, clinical or othstudies for additional indications for AKB548, AKB-6899 and other product
candidates that we may develop or acqt

e seek to discover and develop additional productlickates;

e acquire or irlicense other commercial products, product candslahd technologie

e make royalty, milestone or other payments underfatwe ir-license agreement

e maintain, protect and expand our intellectual prgpeortfolio;

e attract and retain skilled personnel; ¢

e continue to create additional infrastructure topgrpour operations as a public compe
Because of the numerous risks and uncertaintiesi@ated with pharmaceutical product developmentaveeunable to accurately predict the
timing or amount of increased expenses or wheat, afl, we will be able to achieve profitabilitf.ve are required by the United States Food
and Drug Administration, or FDA, the European Mauls Agency, or EMA, or other regulatory authogtte perform studies in addition to or

larger than those currently expected, or if theesamy delays in completing our clinical trialstbe development of any of our product
candidates, our expenses could increase.
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The net losses we incur may fluctuate significafiyn quarter to quarter and year to year, suchahmeriod-to-period comparison of our
results of operations may not be a good indicatioour future performance. In any particular quadiequarters, our operating results could be
below the expectations of securities analysts westors, which could cause our stock price to decli

To become and remain profitable, we must succedéwrloping and commercializing our product cantisiavhich must generate significant
revenue. This will require us to be successful iarege of challenging activities, including compigtpreclinical testing and clinical trials of
our product candidates, discovering or acquiringjteahal product candidates, obtaining regulatgspraval for these product candidates and
manufacturing, marketing and selling any productsiafhich we may obtain regulatory approval. Weaiky in the preliminary stages of most
of these activities. We may never succeed in theteities and, even if we do, may never generatemue that is significant enough to achi
profitability.

Even if we do achieve profitability, we may notddge to sustain or increase profitability on a ¢grdy or annual basis. Our failure to become
and remain profitable could depress the value otompany and could impair our ability to raiseitapexpand our business, maintain our
research and development efforts, diversify oudpot offerings or even continue our operationseéligie in the value of our company could
cause our shareholders to lose all or part of theagstment.

We will require substantial additional financing. Aailure to obtain this necessary capital when neeldcould force us to delay, limit, reduce
or terminate our product development or commerckation efforts.

As of December 31, 2014, our cash and cash equigadend available for sale securities were $108ll&bom We believe that we will continue
to expend substantial resources for the foresediatniee developing AKB-6548, AKB-6899 and any otipeoduct candidates that we may
develop or acquire. These expenditures will inclodsts associated with research and developmetettaly obtaining regulatory approvals
and having our products manufactured, as well aketiag and selling products approved for saleny. In addition, other unanticipated costs
may arise. Because the outcome of our current aficiated clinical trials is highly uncertain, wannot reasonably estimate the actual
amounts necessary to successfully complete thdaj@went and commercialization of our product caathd.

Our future capital requirements depend on manyfagctncluding:

e the rate of progress of, results of and cosbaieting Phase 2 clinical development of AKB-6%dBthe treatment of anemia in
patients undergoing dialysi

e the results of our meetings with the FDA andEMA and other regulatory authorities and the conseatjal effect on our operating
costs;

e assuming AKB-6548 advances to Phase 3 clinicdias$, the scope, size, rate of progress, resuitsasts of initiating and
completing our Phase 3 development program of -6548;

e assuming favorable Phase 3 clinical resultscts®, timing and outcome of our efforts to obtaiarketing approval for AKB3548 ir
the United States, Europe and in other jurisdigjamcluding to fund the preparation and filingre§ulatory submissions for AKB-
6548 with the FDA, the EMA and other regulatoryhauities;

e the scope, progress, results and costs of additfreclinical, clinical, or other studies for &ttthal indications for AKB-6548,
AKB-6899 and other product candidates that we may dpwalacquire

e the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtainiegulatory approvals for AK-6899 if clinical studies are success!

e the cost and timing of future commercializatiativdties for our products, if any of our produerdidates are approved for
marketing, including product manufacturing, mankgtisales and distribution cos

e the revenue, if any, received from commercial safesur product candidates for which we receivekating approval
e the cost of having our product candidates manufeadttor clinical trials and in preparation for commialization;

e our ability to establish and maintain strategtaborations, licensing or other arrangementsthedinancial terms of such
agreements

e the costs involved in preparing, filing and prasiing patent applications and maintaining, defegdind enforcing our intellectual
property rights, including litigation costs, an@ thutcome of such litigation; au

e the extent to which we acquire o-license other products or technologi
Based on our current operating plan, and absentuange financings or strategic partnerships, wigelie that the net proceeds we received
from our IPO, and our existing cash and cash edprivgand available for sale securities, will b#isient to fund our projected operating
expenses and capital expenditure requirementsghrthe first half of 2016. However, our operatingrpmay
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change as a result of many factors currently unkntmaus, and we may need additional funds soorer pienned. In addition, we may seek
additional capital due to favorable market condisi@r strategic considerations even if we belieeehave sufficient funds for our current or
future operating plans. Additional funds may nogbailable when we need them on terms that areptatoie to us, or at all. If adequate funds
are not available to us on a timely basis, we neyelguired to delay, limit, reduce or terminatecpnécal studies, clinical trials or other
development activities for AKB-6548, AKB-6899 onyaother product candidates that we develop or aeqar delay, limit, reduce or
terminate our establishment of sales and marketipgbilities or other activities that may be neassto commercialize our product
candidates.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to pexisting stockholders, restrict our operations oEquire us to relinquish rights to produ
candidates on unfavorable terms to us.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate sulbistigproduct revenue, we expect to finance ouh ceeseds through a combination of equity
offerings, debt financings and license, developnagict commercialization agreements with collabogatdo the extent that we raise additional
capital through the sale of equity or convertibddtsecurities, the ownership interests of our comstockholders will be diluted, and the
terms may include liquidation or other preferenaied anti-dilution protections that adversely affibet rights of our common stockholders.
Debt financing, if available, may involve agreensethtat include covenants limiting or restricting ability to take certain actions, such as
incurring additional debt, making capital expendisior declaring dividends. If we raise additiditalds through strategic collaborations with
third parties, we may have to relinquish valuaéts to our product candidates, future revenwsastis, research programs or product
candidates or grant licenses on terms that aréamotable to us. If we are unable to raise additiédands through equity or debt financing w
needed, we may be required to delay, limit, rechrderminate our product development or commetwiditon efforts for AKB-6548,

AKB -6899 or any other product candidates that we dpwal@cquire, or grant rights to develop and mapketiuct candidates that we would
otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Our limited operating history may make it difficufor you to evaluate the success of our businesddte and to assess our future viability.

We commenced active operations in 2007, and owatipas to date have been limited to organizing staffing our company, business
planning, raising capital, identifying potentiabguct candidates, undertaking preclinical studres@nducting clinical trials. We currently
have two product candidates, one of which is irtlpreal development. Biopharmaceutical productelegment is a highly speculative
undertaking and involves a substantial degreesé&f Dnly a small percentage of biopharmaceuticetldgment programs ultimately result in
commercial products or even product candidatessamgimber of events could delay our developmenttsfeimd negatively impact our ability
to obtain regulatory approval for, and to manufestmarket and sell, a biopharmaceutical produ&.have not yet demonstrated our ability tc
successfully complete later stage clinical trialstain regulatory approvals, manufacture a comraksciale product, or arrange for a third part
to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales and miakectivities necessary for successful productroencialization.

In addition, as a relatively young business, we mragounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, cmapbns, delays and other known and
unknown factors. We will need to expand our caji@éslto support commercial activities. We may betsuccessful in adding such
capabilities.

Risks Related to our Business and the Clinical Delapment, Regulatory Review and Approval of AKB-6548nd AKB-6899

We depend heavily on the success of one productidate, AKB-6548, which just completed a Phase fidg. Even if we obtain favorable
clinical results in our Phase 3 studies, we may @&t able to obtain regulatory approval for, or swssfully commercialize, AKB-6548.

We currently have only one product candidate, AKEHS, in clinical development, and our business ddpalmost entirely on the successful
clinical development, regulatory approval and comuiadization of that product candidate, which ma&yer occur. We currently have no drug
products for sale, generate no revenue from sélasyodrugs, and may never be able to develop neleedrug products. AKB-6548, which
has completed a Phase 2b study, will require sntiatadditional clinical development, testing, méacturing process development, and
regulatory approval before we are permitted to cemee its commercialization. Our other product cdatdi, AKB-6899, is in preclinical
development. None of our product candidates haarembd into a pivotal study, and it may be yearsrgediny such study is initiated. The
clinical trials of our product candidates are, #melmanufacturing and marketing of our product ddates will be, subject to extensive and
rigorous review and regulation by numerous govemtraathorities in the United States and in othemtges where we intend to test and, if
approved, market any product candidates. Beforaimibg regulatory approval for the commercial s#lany product candidate, we must
demonstrate through extensive preclinical testimdj@inical trials that the product candidate ifesand effective for use in each target
indication. This process can take many years. ©&falge number of drugs in development in the Win8&ates, only a small percentage
successfully complete the FDA regulatory
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approval process and are commercialized. Accorgjraylen if we are able to obtain the requisite edpd continue to fund our development
and clinical programs, we may be unable to sucabgsfevelop or commercialize AKB-6548.

We are not permitted to market AKB-6548 in the EddiStates until we receive approval from the FDAna@ny jurisdiction outside of the
United States until we receive the requisite apgrénom such jurisdiction. As a condition to subtinij a New Drug Application, or NDA, to
the FDA for AKB-6548 regarding its ability to trepatients with anemia secondary to CKD, we mustpete Phase 3 studies and any
additional non-clinical or clinical studies requdrby the FDA. AKB-6548 may not be successful imicil trials or receive regulatory approval.
Further, AKB-6548 may not receive regulatory ap@ia@wven if it is successful in clinical trials. @bting approval of an NDA is a complex,
lengthy, expensive and uncertain process thatajlpitakes many years following the commencememiofcal trials and depends upon
numerous factors, including the substantial dismnedf the regulatory authorities. In addition, gefety concerns associated with injectable
rESAs and the black box warnings in their presnghinformation may affect the FDA'’s review of thefaty results of AKB-6548. Further, the
policies or regulations, or the type and amourtlioical data necessary to gain approval, may ceahging the course of a product candidate
clinical development and may vary among jurisdizsioWe have not obtained regulatory approval fgr@oduct candidate and it is possible
that AKB-6548 will never obtain regulatory apprav@he FDA may delay, limit or deny approval of AKES48 for many reasons, including,
among others:

e we may not be able to demonstrate that AKB-6548afe and effective in treating anemia secondaGKD to the satisfaction of the
FDA;

e the results of our clinical trials may not mdwet tevel of statistical or clinical significancegtered by the FDA for marketing
approval,

e the FDA may disagree with the number, design, siaaduct or implementation of our clinical tria
e the FDA may not approve the formulation, labelimgpecifications we request for Al-6548;

e the FDA may approve AK-6548 for use only in a small patient populati

e the FDA may require that we conduct additionalichhtrials;

e the clinical research organizations, or CROg, wearetain to conduct our clinical trials may taaions outside of our control that
materially adversely impact our clinical tria

e we may fail to perform in accordance with the F's good clinical practice, or GCP, requireme

e the FDA may disagree with inclusion of patiemtsti certain regions outside the United States ppstt the NDA for potential
reasons such as differences in clinical practisenfunited States standart

e the FDA may disagree with our interpretation ofadlbom our nonclinical studies and clinical trie
e the FDA may not approve the manufacturing processéacilities of thir-party manufacturers with whom we contract

e the policies or regulations of the FDA may sigrafhtly change in a manner that renders our clirdaga insufficient for approval, or
requiring that we amend or submit new clinical poats.

In addition, similar reasons may cause the EMAtbheoregulatory authorities to delay, limit or deapyproval of AKB-6548 outside the United
States.

Any of these factors, many of which are beyondaantrol, could jeopardize our ability to obtain uégtory approval for and successfully
market AKB-6548. Because our business is almosteintdependent upon AKB-6548, any such setbaakuinpursuit of regulatory approval
would have a material adverse effect on our busiaes prospects.

Alternatively, even if we obtain regulatory apprhthat approval may be for indications or patipapulations that are not as broad as we
intend or desire or may require labeling that idelsi significant use or distribution restrictionsafety warnings. We may also be required to
perform additional, unanticipated clinical triatsdbtain approval or be subject to additional poatketing testing requirements to maintain
regulatory approval. In addition, regulatory autties may withdraw their approval of a product loe FDA may require a risk evaluation and
mitigation strategy, or REMS, for a product, whaduld impose restrictions on its distribution. Asfythe foregoing scenarios could materially
harm the commercial prospects for AKB-6548 or aineo product candidates.

We have not obtained agreement with the FDA, EMAather regulatory authorities on the design of okthase 3 development program.

Although we have recently completed our Phase @tystve have not obtained agreement with the FDgherdesign of our Phase 3
development program. We plan to hold an end of @Baweeting with the FDA in 2015 and if the FDAatetines that the Phase 2b
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study results do not support moving into a pivptalgram, we would be required to conduct additidtase 2 studies. Alternatively, the FDA
could disagree with the proposed design of our @Badevelopment program and could suggest a largaber of subjects or a longer course
of treatment than our current expectations. IfRB&\ takes such positions, the costs of our AKB-68é8elopment program could increase
materially, and the potential market introductidrA&B-6548 could be delayed or we could risk notaibing FDA approval even if the Phase
3 trials meet their primary endpoints. The FDA aisay require that we conduct additional clinicainalinical or manufacturing validation
studies and submit that data before it will consate NDA.

We have not yet received formal scientific advicette regulatory path for AKB-6548 from the EMAather regulatory authorities. We
cannot predict what additional requirements majnised by these regulatory authorities or how seghirements might delay or increase
costs for our planned Phase 3 development progBacause our business is almost entirely depengemt the successful development,
regulatory approval, and commercialization of AKB48, any such delay or increase in costs would havedverse effect on our business.

We may find it difficult to enroll patients in ouclinical studies, which could delay or prevent cigal studies of our product candidates.

Identifying and qualifying patients to participateclinical studies of our product candidates iical to our success. The timing of our clinical
studies depends on the speed at which we can treatignts to participate in testing our productdidates. Patients may be unwilling to
participate in our clinical studies for AKB-6548daeise of concerns from adverse events observednjgtttable rESAs, other investigational
agents and commercial products in CKD or for otkasons, including competitive clinical studiesdonilar patient populations. In addition,
patients controlling their disease with injectatli&SAs may be reluctant to participate in a clinici@l with an investigational drug. Finally,
competition for clinical trial sites may limit oaccess to subjects appropriate for studies of ARBS6 As a result, the timeline for recruiting
patients, conducting studies and obtaining regojfapproval of potential products may be delaydtkse delays could result in increased ¢
delays in advancing our development of AKB-6548mmination of the clinical studies altogether.

We may not be able to identify, recruit and enaddiufficient number of patients, or those with iieggior desired characteristics to achieve
diversity in a study, to complete our clinical seglin a timely manner. Patient enroliment is affddy factors including:

e severity of the disease under investigat

e design of the study protocc

e size and nature of the patient populati

e eligibility criteria for and design of the study guestion

e perceived risks and benefits of the product candidader study

e proximity and availability of clinical study sitésr prospective patient:

e availability of competing therapies and clinistldies and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptioh$oathe potential advantages of
AKB-6548 in relation to available therapies or oth@dpicts under developmel

o efforts to facilitate timely enroliment in clinicatudies;
e patient referral practices of physicians; i
e ability to monitor patients adequately during aftératreatment
We may not be able to initiate or continue clinistaldies if we cannot enroll a sufficient numbeeliible patients to participate in the clinical

studies required by regulatory agencies. If we tdiffeculty enrolling a sufficient number of patiento conduct our clinical studies as planned
we may need to delay, limit or terminate on-goinglanned clinical studies, any of which would haveadverse effect on our business.

We may not be able to obtain regulatory approvakiome jurisdictions outside of the United States.

We currently expect to seek regulatory approvalliB-6548 for the treatment of anemia secondary KidGn major markets outside the
United States, including the European Union. Otulitgtio successfully initiate, enroll and completelinical study in any country outside of
the United States, should we attempt to do sahgest to numerous risks unique to conducting essrin international markets, including:

e difficulty in establishing or managing relationssiwith qualified CROs, physicians and clinical ltsdes;

e different local standards for the conduct of clatistudies
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e the potential burden of complying with a variefylaws, medical standards and regulatory requirdséncluding the regulation of
pharmaceutical and biotechnology products andrtreats; ant

e the acceptability of using data obtained frontis conducted in the United States with the EMA atiher regulatory authorities
outside of the United State

If we fail to successfully meet requirements foretftonduct of clinical trials outside of the UniteStates, we may be delayed in obtaining
be unable to obtain, regulatory approval for AKB-88 in countries outside of the United States.

Regulatory authorities outside of the United Statsrequire compliance with numerous and varyragulatory requirements. The approval
procedures vary among jurisdictions and may invobguirements for additional testing, and the thegired to obtain approval may differ
from that required to obtain FDA approval. In addit in many countries outside the United Statesdrug product must be approved for
reimbursement before it can be approved for sallbahcountry. In some cases, the price that wenihto charge for our drug product is also
subject to approval. Approval by the FDA does nwatuge approval by regulatory authorities in ottmurdries or jurisdictions, and approval by
one regulatory authority outside of the United &atoes not ensure approval by regulatory autésiiiti other countries or by the FDA.
However, the failure to obtain approval in onegdiction may negatively impact our ability to olotaipproval in another jurisdiction. The
regulatory approval process in countries outsidnefUnited States may include all of the riskagded with obtaining FDA approval. We
may not obtain such regulatory approvals on a girbekis, if at all. We may not be able to file fegulatory approvals and may not receive the
necessary approvals to commercialize our produdidates in any market.

Clinical drug development is a lengthy and experesjrocess with an uncertain outcome, and positiesults from the clinical studies of
AKB-6548 thus far are not necessarily predictive oethesults of any future clinical trials of AKB-6548f we cannot replicate the positive
results observed to date in our Phase 3 clinicafs, we may be unable to successfully developaivbtegulatory approval for and
commercialize AKB-6548.

Clinical testing is expensive and can take manys/gacomplete, and its outcome is inherently uia@er Failure can occur at any time during
the clinical trial process. Success in preclingtadies may not be predictive of similar resultiimans during clinical trials, and successful
results from early or small clinical trials may e replicated in later and larger clinical tridier example, our encouraging preclinical and
clinical results for AKB-6548 thus far do not enstiat the results of any future clinical trialdlwiemonstrate similar results. Our planned
Phase 3 development program will enroll a largeniper of subjects and will treat subjects for longeriods than our prior trials, which will
result in a greater likelihood that adverse evardy be observed. Many companies in the pharmaegatici biotechnology industries have
suffered significant setbacks in late-stage clinidals after achieving positive results in eastpge development, and we may face similar
setbacks. If the results of our ongoing or futuneical trials for AKB-6548 are inconclusive witlespect to efficacy, if we do not meet our
clinical endpoints with statistical significance,ibthere are safety concerns or adverse evergsnay be prevented from or delayed in
obtaining marketing approval for AKB-6548.

We may experience delays in our ongoing Phase Bicéil development for AKB-6548 for the treatment afiemia in patients undergoing
dialysis and we do not know whether any of our ptead clinical trials will begin on time, need to lredesigned, enroll patients on time or
completed on schedule, if at all.

Clinical trials can be delayed or aborted for detgrof reasons, including delay or failure to:
e obtain regulatory approval to commence a clinigal;t

e reach agreement on acceptable terms with pragpdeROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of ethcan be subject to extensive
negotiation and may vary significantly among diéfier CROs and trial site

e obtain institutional review board, or IRB, approatleach site

e recruit, enroll and retain patients through the ptation of clinical trials

e maintain clinical sites in compliance with trialopocols through the completion of clinical trig

e address any patient safety concerns that arisaglthie course of the trie

e initiate or add a sufficient number of clinicalrsites; o

e manufacture sufficient quantities of our produatdidate for use in clinical trial.
We could encounter delays if a clinical trial ispanded or terminated by us, by the relevant IRBseasites at which such trials are being
conducted, by the Data Safety Monitoring BoardP8MB, for such trial or by the FDA or other regalgt authorities. Such authorities may

impose such a suspension or termination due tordauof factors, including failure to conduct thimical trial in accordance with regulatory
requirements or our clinical protocols, inspectidnhe clinical trial operations, clinical trialtsior
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manufacturing facility by the FDA or other regulat@uthorities resulting in the imposition of anitial hold, unforeseen safety issues or
adverse side effects, changes in laws or regulgtimnlack of adequate funding to continue theicdintrial. Any delays in completing our
clinical trials will increase our costs, slow dowuar product candidate development and approvalgs®and jeopardize our ability to
commence product sales and generate revenue. Ahgsd# occurrences may harm our business, finacmmalition and prospects significant

Even if we receive regulatory approval for our pract candidates, such drug products will be subjezbngoing regulatory review, whic
may result in significant additional expense. Addihally, our product candidates, if approved, coud@ subject to labeling and other
restrictions, and we may be subject to penaltiesé fail to comply with regulatory requirements experience unanticipated problems with
our products.

Any regulatory approvals that we receive for owrdurct candidates may be subject to limitationshenapproved indicated uses for which the
product may be marketed or other conditions of aygdy or contain requirements for potentially cpgtbst-marketing studies and surveillance
to monitor the safety and efficacy of the drug pretd In addition, if the FDA approves any of ouoguct candidates, the manufacturing
processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, aslvewrent reporting, storage, advertising, promatiwh recordkeeping for the product will be
subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requémgs. These requirements include submissionsfetiysand other post-marketing
information and reports, as well as continued cdamgk with current Good Manufacturing Practicec@MP, requirements and GCP
requirements for any clinical trials that we condpest-approval.

Post-approval discovery of previously unknown peof$ with an approved drug product, including advessents of unanticipated severity or
frequency or relating to manufacturing operationprocesses, or failure to comply with regulata@guirements, may result in, among other
things:

e restrictions on the marketing or manufacturinghaf drug product, withdrawal of the drug produonf the market, or drug product
recalls;

e fines, warning letters or clinical hold

e refusal by the FDA to approve pending applicationsupplements to approved applications filedigyor suspension or revocation
of product approvals

e product seizure or detention, or refusal to peth@timport or export of product
e a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (REMS)gmam; anc
e injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimingkenalties

The FDA's policies may change and additional gorregnt regulations may be enacted. We cannot predidtkelihood, nature or extent of
government regulation that may arise from futuggskation or administrative action, either in thaitéd States or abroad. If we are slow or
unable to adapt to changes in existing requiremantise adoption of new requirements or policiesare not able to maintain regulatory
compliance, we may lose any marketing approvalriet have been obtained and we may not achievestain profitability, which would
adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to our Reliance on Third Parties

We rely on third parties to conduct preclinical ardinical studies for our product candidates. If 8y do not properly and successfully
perform their obligations to us, we may not be aldeobtain regulatory approvals for our product cditates.

We rely on third-party CROs and other third part@assist in managing, monitoring and otherwisey@ag out our ongoing Phase 2
development of AKB-6548 for the treatment of anemipatients undergoing dialysis. We expect to it to rely on third parties, such as
CROs, clinical data management organizations, naéistitutions and clinical investigators to contaur clinical trials in the future,
including our Phase 3 development program for ABRBI8. We compete with many other companies forékeurces of these third parties.
third parties on whom we rely may terminate thegagements with us, and having to enter into adtere arrangements would delay
development and commercialization of our producdidates.

Our reliance on these third parties for researchdmvelopment activities will reduce our controkothese activities but will not relieve us of
our responsibilities. For example, the FDA and egjgnt regulatory authorities outside of the Uni&dtes require compliance with regulati
and standards, including GCP requirements, forgaésj, conducting, monitoring, recording, analyzargl reporting the results of clinical
trials to ensure that the data and results areldesdnd accurate and that the rights, integrity emnfidentiality of study subjects are protected.
Although we rely on third parties to conduct ounidal trials, we are responsible for ensuring #eath of these clinical trials is conducted in
accordance with its general investigational plad amotocol in compliance with legal and regulatoeguirements. Regulatory authorities
enforce these GCP requirements through periodpeict®ons of trial sponsors, principal investigatansl trial sites. If we or any of our CRO:«
clinical trial sites fail to comply with applicab@CP
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requirements, the clinical data generated in aaiaal trials may be deemed unreliable and the FEMA or other regulatory authorities may
require us to perform additional clinical trialsftwe approving our marketing applications. We cdrassure you that upon inspection by a
given regulatory authority, such regulatory auttyowill determine that any of our clinical trialemply with GCP requirements. In addition,
our clinical trials must be conducted with prodiizt meets certain specifications and is manufadtunder applicable cGMP regulations.
Failure to comply with these regulations may reguis to repeat clinical trials, which would delbg tegulatory approval process.

If these third parties do not successfully carrytbeir duties under their agreements, if the dquali accuracy of the data they obtain is
compromised due to their failure to adhere to céhtrial protocols or to regulatory requirememtsif they otherwise fail to comply with
clinical trial protocols or meet expected deadljribe clinical trials of our product candidates nmay meet regulatory requirements. If clinical
trials do not meet regulatory requirements or éfsth third parties need to be replaced, preclidieatlopment activities or clinical trials may be
extended, delayed, suspended or terminated. [bathese events occur, we may not be able to obtginlatory approval of our product
candidates on a timely basis or at all.

We also expect to rely on other third parties tweseind distribute drug supplies for our clinicals. Any performance failure on the part of
distributors could delay clinical development orrkeing approval of our product candidates or commmaézation of our products, resulting in
additional losses and depriving us of potentiatpici revenue.

We intend to rely on third parties to conduct someall aspects of our product manufacturing, andehe third parties may not perform
satisfactorily.

We do not have any manufacturing facilities andhdbexpect to independently manufacture our prodantidates for research and preclinica
and clinical testing. We currently rely, and exp@ctontinue to rely, on third parties to manufaetand supply drug product for our AK&ES48
clinical trials, and we expect to rely on third fi@s for the manufacture of clinical and commerqiadntities of our product candidates. This
reliance on third parties increases the risk thatill not have sufficient quantities of our protleandidates or such quantities at an acceptab
cost or quality, which could delay, prevent or innmaur development or commercialization efforts.

Also, these third parties may terminate their eegagnt with us. We believe we have sufficient dreagdpct to complete our ongoing Phase 2
study of AKB-6548. On February 28, 2014, we enténéal an agreement with Evonik Corporation, or Bipfor the manufacture of the drug
substance for the Phase 3 development program &-8%48. If Evonik cannot perform as agreed or teates their engagement with us, we
may be required to find replacement manufactui®ies may incur significant delays and added cosidentifying, qualifying and contracting
with any such replacement, as well as producingithg substance. Also, if we choose to engage@nslesource for the production of drug
substance, we may incur addition costs. We alse haangements in place for the manufacture ofHiedl drug product for the Phase 3
development program. Although we believe that tla@eeseveral other manufacturers who also couldufaature our drug product if our
current drug product manufacturer cannot performgaeed or terminates their engagement with usneseincur significant delays and added
costs in identifying, qualifying, and contractingtlvanother manufacturer. In addition, we haverteeinto technical transfer agreements and
share our know-how with such third-party manufagtsy which can be time-consuming and may resulelays. These delays could result in a
suspension of our clinical trials or, if AKB-6548 approved and marketed, a failure to satisfy patdlemand.

Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails riskahich we would not be subject if we manufactiuttee product candidates ourselves,
including:
e the inability to negotiate manufacturing agreemevith third parties under commercially reasonablens;

e reduced control as a result of using third-pargnufacturers for all aspects of manufacturingvdids, including regulatory
compliance and quality assuran

e termination or nonrenewal of manufacturing agreemaiith third parties in a manner or at a time ikatostly or damaging to u

e the possible misappropriation of our proprietafpimation, including our trade secrets and k-how; and

e disruptions to the operations of our manufacgicersuppliers caused by conditions unrelated tdasiness or operations, including
the bankruptcy of the manufacturer or supplier oatstrophic event affecting our manufacturersuppliers,

Any of these events could lead to clinical studiage or failure to obtain regulatory approval, &eet our ability to successfully commercial
future products. Some of these events could bbdkis for FDA action, including injunction, recakizure or total or partial suspension of
production.
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The facilities used by our contract manufacturemninufacture our product candidates must be apgdrby the FDA pursuant to inspections
that will be conducted prior to or after we submit NDA to the FDA. We do not control the manufaittg process of, and are completely
dependent on, our contract manufacturers for canpé with cGMP requirements for manufacture of lastly substance and finished drug
product. If our contract manufacturers cannot sssitdly manufacture material that conforms to quercsfications and the strict regulatory
requirements of the FDA, we will not be able towsecand/or maintain regulatory approval for ourduat candidates. In addition, we have no
control over the ability of our contract manufaettsrto maintain adequate quality control, qualgguaance and qualified personnel. If the F
EMA or other regulatory authorities do not apprdvese facilities for the manufacture of our prodtartdidates or if they withdraw any such
approval in the future, we may need to find altéweamanufacturing facilities, which would signidintly impact our ability to develop, obtain
regulatory approval for or market our product cdatks, if approved. Moreover, our failure, or thgufe of our third-party manufacturers, to
comply with applicable regulations could resulsanctions being imposed on us, including clinicdtlk, fines, injunctions, civil penalties,
delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvalspbeerevocation, seizures or recalls of product ickatels or products, operating restrictions
and criminal prosecutions, any of which could digantly and adversely affect the supply of ourdarets or product candidates.

In addition, our product candidates and any praalticit we may develop may compete with other prodaricdidates and products for acces
manufacturing facilities. Certain of these manufaog facilities may be contractually prohibiteddn manufacturing our product candidates o
products due to exclusivity provisions in agreeraeavith our competitors. There are a limited numifenanufacturers that operate under
cGMP regulations and that might be capable of meaatufing for us.

Our current and anticipated future dependence oftoers for the manufacture of our product candelatgproducts may adversely affect our
future profit margins and our ability to commer@alany products that receive marketing approva timely and competitive basis.

If we are unable to manufacture our product canditds in sufficient quantities and at sufficient yid$, we may experience delays in prod
development, clinical trials, regulatory approvahd commercial distribution.

Completion of our clinical trials and commerciatipa of our product candidates require accessditittas to manufacture our product
candidates at sufficient yields and at clinical anchmercial scale. We have limited experience magtufing, or managing third parties in
manufacturing, any of our product candidates invilemes that will be necessary to support larggesclinical trials or commercial sales.
Efforts to establish these capabilities may nottietal expectations as to scheduling, scalereproducibility, yield, purity, cost, potency or
quality.

Our reliance on contract manufacturers may advweeféct our operations or result in unforeseemykebr other problems beyond our control.
Because of contractual restraints and the limitedler of third-party manufacturers with the exmertirequired regulatory approvals and
facilities to manufacture our bulk drug substanoee drug product on a commercial scale, replacemfemimanufacturer may be expensive anc
time-consuming and may cause interruptions in telyction of our product candidates. A third-partgnufacturer may also encounter
difficulties in production. These problems may irdz:

e difficulties with production costs, sci-up and yields
e availability of raw materials and supplit

e quality control and assuranc

e capacity constraint:

e shortages of qualified personn

e compliance with strictly enforced federal, statel international regulations that vary in eachntguwhere a product might be sold;
and

e lack of capital funding

Any delay or interruption in our supply of prodweindidates or products could have a material adwdfect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may not be successful in establishing and maiinitag strategic collaborations which could advergedffect our ability to develop and
commercialize our product candidates, negativelyp@meting our operating results.

We plan to commercialize AKB-6548 ourselves in theted States and will likely seek one or moretsyyec collaborators to commercialize
AKB-6548 in additional markets. We face competitinrseeking appropriate collaborators for our paidiandidates, and the negotiation
process is time-consuming and complex. In ordeu$oto successfully collaborate with a third panmyour product candidates, potential
collaborators must view these product candidatesasomically valuable. Even if we are successful i
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our efforts to establish strategic collaboratidhs, terms that we agree upon may not be favorahls,tand we may not be able to maintain
such strategic collaborations if, for example, depment or approval of a product is delayed orssafean approved product are disappointing
Any delay in entering into strategic collaboratagreements related to our product candidates atmiéy the development and
commercialization of our product candidates andicectheir competitiveness even if they reach theketa

In addition, our strategic collaborators may teratdnany agreements they enter into with us, anchayenot be able to adequately protect our
rights under these agreements. Furthermore, ategic collaborators will likely negotiate for cairt rights to control decisions regarding the
development and commercialization of our producdidates, if approved, and may not conduct thoseites in the same manner as we do.

If we fail to establish and maintain strategic abbbrations related to our product candidates, vieoear all of the risk and costs related to the
development and commercialization of any such pcbdandidate, and we may need to seek additiomahging, hire additional employees
otherwise develop expertise. This could negatiadigct the development of any such product candidat

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property

If our efforts to protect our proprietary technologs are not adequate, we may not be able to come#éetively in our market. We ar
currently involved in an opposition proceeding inwing one of our European patents, and the outcowfethat proceeding may affect our
ability to establish a competitive advantage in timarket or successfully commercialize our lead puet candidate in the European Union.

We rely upon a combination of patents, trade sqmaection and confidentiality agreements to prbtie intellectual property related to our
technologies. We will only be able to protect otmdquct candidates, proprietary technologies anil tlses from unauthorized use by third
parties to the extent that valid and enforceabtemia or trade secrets cover them. Any disclosur tisappropriation by third parties of our
confidential proprietary information could enabtanpetitors to quickly duplicate or surpass our t@thgical achievements, thus eroding our
competitive position in the market.

In July 2011, a third party filed an oppositionaiee of our issued European patents, European Réter®044005, or the '005 Patent. During
the oral proceedings, which took place on April 2013, the Opposition Division of the European Ragffice decided to maintain certain
claims of the patent directed to a compound ché®an a group of eight compounds, including AKB-6548 well as claims to compositions
and methods for treating various diseases inclydingnot limited to, anemia. Both parties haveesgded the decision of the Opposition
Division and final resolution of the opposition peeding will likely take a number of years. We aairipe assured of the breadth of the claims
that will remain in the '005 Patent or that theguatwill not be revoked in its entirety. If the Bpean Patent Office decides to narrow the scor
of the claims or revoke the '005 Patent, we mayh®oable to establish a competitive advantagesdrEtiropean Union in our market or
successfully commercialize our product candidatdhé European Union, which could materially adebraffect our business, operating
results and financial condition.

Composition-of-matter patents on the active pharutical ingredient are generally considered toheestrongest form of intellectual property
protection for pharmaceutical products, as suclrgatprovide protection without regard to any mdtbbuse. Method-of-use patents protect
the use of a product for the specified method. Aho@-of-use patent does not prevent a competitor from ngedard marketing a product tha
identical to our product for an indication thabistside the scope of the patented method. Moreeven if competitors do not actively promote
their product for our targeted indications, phyais may prescribe these products “off-label.” Althlo off-label prescriptions may infringe or
contribute to the infringement of method-of-usespds, the practice is common and such infringensedifficult to prevent or prosecute.

The strength of patents in the biotechnology aratmlaceutical field involves complex legal and stfenquestions and can be uncertain. The
patent applications that we own or license mayttaiesult in issued patents in the United Statds other countries. Our competitors have
will continue to undertake formal efforts to oppdise issuance of claims in our patent applicativ¥ie.do not control decisions made by the
US PTO or equivalent bodies outside the UnitedeStaEven if our patents do successfully issued parties may challenge the validity,
enforceability, inventorship, or scope thereof, ethinay result in such patents being narrowed, idatdd or held unenforceable. Furthermore
even if they are unchallenged, our patents anchpafmlications may not adequately protect outledtual property or prevent others from
designing around our claims. If the breadth omggtle of protection provided by the patent applmagi we hold with respect to our product
candidates is threatened, it could dissuade corapdrom collaborating with us to develop, and tteeaur ability to commercialize, our
product candidates. Further, if we encounter deilagair clinical trials, the period of time durimghich we could market our product candid:
under patent protection would be reduced. Sincenpaipplications in the United States and mostratbentries are confidential for a period of
time after filing, we cannot be certain that we avtite first to file any patent application relatecbur product candidates. Furthermore, for
applications in which all claims are entitled tpréority date before March 16, 2013, an interfeeepooceeding can be provoked by a thpedty
or instituted by the US PTO, to determine who wessfirst to invent any of the subject matter coddog the patent claims of our applications.
For applications containing a claim not entitlegtrity before March 16, 2013, there is greaésel of uncertainty in the patent law
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with the passage of the America Invents Act (20fhich brings into effect significant changes te th.S. patent laws and which introduces
new procedures for challenging pending patent eggtins and issued patents. A primary change uhdereform is creating a “first to file”
system in the United States. This will requireabé cognizant of the time from invention to filin§a patent application.

In addition to the protection afforded by patemis,seek to rely on trade secret protection andidenfiality agreements to protect proprietary
know-how that is not patentable, processes for wpatents are difficult to enforce and any othen®ints of our drug discovery and
development processes that involve proprietary khow, information or technology that is not covelsdpatents. Although we require all of
our employees to assign their inventions to us,ragdire all of our employees, consultants, adgisod any third parties who have access to
our proprietary know-how, information or technolagyenter into confidentiality agreements, we cadroeocertain that our trade secrets and
other confidential or proprietary information wilbt be disclosed or that competitors will not othiee gain access to our trade secrets or
independently develop substantially equivalentrimfation and techniques. Furthermore, the laws wfescountries do not protect proprietary
rights to the same extent or in the same manntiredaws of the United States. As a result, we eragounter significant problems in protect
and defending our intellectual property both in theted States and abroad. If we are unable togmtewnauthorized material disclosure of our
intellectual property to third parties, we will no¢ able to establish or maintain a competitiveaathge in the market, which could materially
adversely affect our business, operating resulisfiaancial condition.

Our reliance on third parties requires us to shaoerr trade secrets, which increases the possibiiitsit a competitor will discover them or
that our trade secrets will be misappropriated das@osed.

Because we rely on third parties to research, dpvahd manufacture our product candidates, we ratiSines, share trade secrets with them.
We seek to protect our proprietary technology irt pg entering into confidentiality agreements ahdpplicable, material transfer agreeme
consulting agreements, research agreements orsithigir agreements with our advisors, employdesj{arty contractors and consultants
prior to beginning research or disclosing proprietaformation. These agreements typically limig ttights of the third parties to use or
disclose our confidential information, includingrdtade secrets. Despite the contractual provisemngloyed when working with third parties,
the need to share trade secrets and other corifileriormation increases the risk that such treglerets become known by our competitors
inadvertently incorporated into the technology tifess, or are disclosed or used in violation oféhagreements. Given that our proprietary
position is based, in part, on our know-how anddrsecrets, a competitor's discovery of our tramteets or other unauthorized use or
disclosure would impair our competitive positiordanay have a material adverse effect on our busines

In addition, these agreements typically restrietability of our advisors, employees, third-pamtytractors and consultants to publish data
potentially relating to our trade secrets, althoaghagreements may contain certain limited pubbearights. For example, any academic
institution that we may collaborate with will uslyaéxpect to be granted rights to publish datairagisut of such collaboration, provided that
we are notified in advance and given the opporyuitdelay publication for a limited time periodander for us to secure patent protection of
intellectual property rights arising from the cbitaation, in addition to the opportunity to remaanfidential or trade secret information from
any such publication. In the future we may alsodean joint research and development programs tlagtm@quire us to share trade secrets
under the terms of our research and developmesitilar agreements. Despite our efforts to proterttrade secrets, our competitors may
discover our trade secrets, either through bre&cimagreements with third parties, independeretigment or publication of information by
any of our third-party collaborators. A competitodiscovery of our trade secrets would impair ampetitive position and have an adverse
impact on our business.

Third-party claims of intellectual property infringment may be costly and time consuming, and magyler harm our drug discovery and
development efforts.

Our commercial success depends in part on our engpidfringement of the patents and proprietartsgof third parties. The pharmaceutical
and biotechnology industries are characterizeddgnsive litigation over patent and other intelledtproperty rights. We may become a party
to, or threatened with, future adversarial litigator other proceedings regarding intellectual proprights with respect to our drug candidates
As the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industiqsand and more patents are issued, the risk sesahat our drug candidates may give

to claims of infringement of the patent rights tiiers.

While our product candidates are in preclinicatisa and clinical trials, we believe that the uewr product candidates in these preclinical
studies and clinical trials in the United Statdisfaithin the scope of the exemptions provided3byU.S.C. Section 271(e), which provides

it shall not be an act of infringement to make,, wsger to sell, or sell within the United Statesimport into the United States a patented
invention solely for uses reasonably related todineelopment and submission of information to tB&FAs our product candidates progress
toward commercialization, the possibility of a pdtfringement claim against us increases. Weargitdo ensure that our product candidates
and the methods we employ to manufacture themetisag/the methods for their use which we intendrtamote, do not infringe other parties’
patents and other proprietary rights. There candbassurance they do not, however, and competitasther parties may assert that we infri
their proprietary rights in any event.
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Third parties may hold or obtain patents or othégliectual property rights and allege in the fatthrat the use of our product candidates
infringes these patents or intellectual propergyts, or that we are employing their proprietaghteology without authorization. For example,
we are aware of certain patents that have beeriradduy FibroGen directed to certain heterocyctidboxamide compounds that are describec
as inhibitors of prolyl-4-hydroxylase. Those pagefiowever, are believed to have expired as of iDbee 2014.

In addition, we are aware of subsequent U.S. paisstied to FibroGen directed to purportedly newhods of using such previously known
heterocyclic carboxamide compounds for purposereating or affecting specified conditions. We dx believe these currently issued
FibroGen U.S. patents conflict with our intelledtpeoperty rights; nor do we make any admission #my of such patents are valid or
enforceable. Under U.S. law, a party may be abfmtent a discovery of a new way to use a prewadkrsbwn compound, even if such
compound itself is patented, provided the newlgalered use is novel and nonobvious. Such a meaifrade patent, however, if valid, only
protects the use of a claimed compound for theiipéenethods claimed in the patent. This type atiept does not prevent persons from using
the compound for any previously known use of thmpound. Further, this type of patent does not prepersons from making and marketing
the compound for an indication that is outsidegbepe of the patented method. We are not awaneyofaid U.S. patents issued to FibroGen,
or any other person, that claim methods of usingadrour product candidates for purposes of inhibitiypoxia-inducible factor prolyl
hydroxylases, or HIF-PHSs, for the treatment of aiaesecondary to CKD. In June 2013, the EuropeaerP@ffice granted European Patent
No. 1463823, or th'823 patent, to FibroGen. The '823 patent clainrmpag other things, the use of a heterocyclic caabtde compound
selected from the group consisting of pyridine caemides, quinoline carboxamides, isoquinoline ggalmides, cinnoline carboxamides, and
beta-carboline carboxamides that inhibits HIF-PiRyeme activity in the manufacture of a medicamenirioreasing endogenous EPO in the
prevention, pretreatment or treatment of anemiaD@&cember 5, 2013, we filed an opposition to tH8'®atent requesting that the '823 patent
be revoked in its entirety. While, for the reaseasforth in our opposition, we believe the '823gpd should be revoked in its entirety, the
ultimate outcome of the opposition remains uncertiithe European Patent Office decides not tokevthe ‘823 patent in its entirety, or only
certain claims of the '823 patent, and any sungwitaims are determined to encompass our intensle@iiour lead product candidate, we may
not be able to commercialize our lead product adatdiin the European Union for its intended uséchvbould materially adversely affect our
business, operating results and financial condition

FibroGen has filed patent applications relatedh&o’823 patent in the United States and in othentites, and some of these applications have
since issued as patents outside of the U.S., sudhmanese Patent No. 4804131, or the '131 p&entune 2, 2014, we filed an invalidity
proceeding in the Japanese Patent Office challgrbimvalidity of the '131 patent and requestinatibbe revoked in its entirety. An oral
hearing before the Japanese Patent Office wasoneigtbruary 9, 2015. While, for the reasons sei fiorour Request For Trial and subseqt
briefing filed in that proceeding, we believe ti81 patent should be revoked in its entirety, thienate outcome of the invalidity proceeding
remains uncertain. If the Japanese Patent OfficElde not to revoke the '131 patent in its entiretyonly certain claims of thd 31 patent, ar
any surviving claims are determined to encompassntended use of our lead product candidate, we mo& be able to commercialize our le
product candidate in Japan for its intended uséwtould materially adversely affect our busineggerating results and financial

condition. FibroGen is also pursuing other patgglications in the United States and other coesti@nd some of these have issued as pa
To the extent any such patents issue or have ksead, we may initiate opposition or other legatpedings with respect to those patents.

There may be patents of third parties, includiny &Gen, of which we are currently unaware withrolato materials, formulations, methods of
manufacture or methods for treatment related tatieeor manufacture of our drug candidates. Alsoabse patent applications can take man
years to issue, there may be currently pendingnpafeplications which may later result in issuetepts that our product candidates n

infringe. Third parties, including FibroGen, maytire future claim that our product candidates aheératechnologies infringe upon these
patents or others and may challenge our abiligoramercialize AKB-6548.

Parties making claims against us may seek androintiainctive or other equitable relief, which cow@ffectively block our ability to further
develop and commercialize AKB-6548 or AKB-6899alfy third-party patents were held by a court of petant jurisdiction to cover the
manufacturing process of any of our product cartd&laany molecules formed during the manufactypiogess or any final product itself, the
holders of any such patents may be able to bloclability to commercialize such product candidatéess we obtained a license under the
applicable patents, or until such patents expirhey are finally determined to be held invalidumenforceable. Similarly, if any third-party
patent were held by a court of competent jurisdicto cover aspects of our formulations, proceksesmanufacture or our intended methods o
use, including patient selection methods, the hisldéany such patent may be able to block or impai ability to develop and commercialize
the applicable product candidate unless we obtaarexknse or until such patent expires or is findétermined to be held invalid or
unenforceable. We may also elect to enter intoemne in order to settle litigation or in orderesolve disputes prior to litigation. Furthermc
even in the absence of litigation, we may needbtaia licenses from third parties to advance oseagch or allow commercialization of our
product candidates. Should a license to a thirdlygeatent become necessary, we cannot predict wheth would be able to obtain a license
or, if a license were available, whether it wouddavailable on commercially reasonable terms.dhslicense is necessary and a license
the applicable patent is unavailable on commeicialhsonable terms, or at all, our ability to comtiadize our product candidates may be
impaired or delayed, which could in turn signifidgrharm our business.
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Further, defense of infringement claims, regardéddbeir merit, would involve substantial litigati expense and would be a substantial
diversion of employee resources from our businesthe event of a successful claim of infringemagsinst us, we may have to pay substa
damages, including treble damages and attornegs’fte willful infringement, pay royalties or redgs our products, which may be impossible
or require substantial time and monetary expenelitur

We are currently involved in opposition and invalig proceedings and may in the future be involvedlawsuits or administrative
proceedings to challenge the patents of our comijoesi or to protect or enforce our patents, whichutd be expensive, time consuming, a
unsuccessful.

We are currently involved in two opposition procegd in the European Patent Office and one ingligioceeding in the Japanese Patent
Office. These proceedings may be ongoing for a rmrmbyears and may involve substantial expensedamaision of employee resources fr
our business. In addition, we may become involvealdditional opposition proceedings or other legaddministrative proceedings in the
future. For more information, see the other rigitdes under “Risks Related to Intellectual Propérty

Competitors may infringe our patents or misappedprour trade secrets or confidential informatibm counter infringement or unauthorized
use, we may be required to file infringement orapjzropriation claims, which can be expensive amé-{onsuming. We may not be able to
prevent infringement of our patents or misapprajeof our trade secrets or confidential inforroatiparticularly in countries where the laws
may not protect those rights as fully as in thetebhiStates. In addition, in an infringement prodegda court may decide that a patent of ours
is not valid or is unenforceable, or may refusettp the other party from using the technologsstié on the grounds that our patents do not
cover the technology in question. An adverse reswhy litigation or defense proceedings couldgna or more of our patents at risk of being
invalidated, held unenforceable, or interpretedaaly and could put our patent applications at nékot issuing. In addition, there may be a
challenge or dispute regarding inventorship or asimi@ of patents or applications currently idestifias being owned by or licensed to us.
Defense of these claims, regardless of their m&duld involve substantial litigation expense analid be a substantial diversion of employee
resources from our business.

Various administrative proceedings are also avil&dr challenging patents, including interfereneexaminationinter partesreview, and
post-grant review proceedings before the US PT@ppositions and other comparable proceedings &idorjurisdictions. Interference
proceedings provoked by third parties or broughtheyUS PTO may be necessary to determine thetgradrinventions with respect to our
patents or patent applications. An unfavorable @ug could require us to cease using the relatéshtdagy or to attempt to license rights to it
from the prevailing party. Our business could bexte if the prevailing party does not offer uscetise on commercially reasonable terms or
at all. Even if we are successful, participatiomiterference or other administrative proceedingfote the US PTO or a foreign patent office
may result in substantial costs and distract ouragament and other employees.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amounisobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation and some administrative
proceedings, there is a risk that some of our dential information could be compromised by disates In addition, there could be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motionsher interim proceedings or developments. ILisidies analysts or investors perceive tt
results to be negative, it could have a substaatiaérse effect on the price of our common stock.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds on compliance with various procedural, docurhenbmission, fee payment and
other requirements imposed by governmental pategercies, and our patent protection could be reducecliminated for non-compliance
with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patemniugr¢o be paid to the US PTO and foreign patemags in several stages over the lifetime
of the patent. The US PTO and various foreign gawental patent agencies also require compliandeawtumber of procedural,
documentary, fee payment (such as annuities) dvet similar provisions during the patent applicaowocess. While an inadvertent lapse car
in many cases be cured by payment of a late fég other means in accordance with the applicabiésythere are situations in which non-
compliance can result in abandonment or lapseeopétent or patent application, resulting in padrecomplete loss of patent rights in the
relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events thaild result in abandonment or lapse of a patepatent application include, but are not
limited to, failure to respond to official actiomsthin prescribed time limits, non-payment of feesl failure to properly legalize and submit
formal documents. In such an event, our competitoght be able to enter the market, which wouldehawmaterial adverse effect on our
business.

We may be subject to claims that our employeessottants or independent contractors have wrongfullged or disclosed confidential
information of third parties.

We have received confidential and proprietary infation from collaborators, prospective licenseas@her third parties. In addition, we
employ individuals who were previously employedtiter biotechnology or pharmaceutical companiesnvsg be
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subject to claims that we or our employees, coastdtor independent contractors have inadvertentbtherwise used or disclosed confider
information of these third parties or our employdesmer employers. We may also be subject to cldamsformer employees, collaborators
other third parties have an ownership interesuinpatents or other intellectual property. We mayshbject to ownership disputes in the future
arising, for example, from conflicting obligationgconsultants or others who are involved in depiglg our drug candidates. Litigation may
necessary to defend against these claims. If wanfdefending any such claims, in addition to p@ymonetary damages, we may lose valuabl
intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ewghip of, or right to use, valuable intellectusdgerty. Such an outcome could have a mai
adverse effect on our business. Even if we areesstal in defending against these claims, litigatiould result in substantial cost and be a
distraction to our management and employees.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesty rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on oadpct candidates in all countries throughout theldwyould be prohibitively

expensive. Consequently, the breadth of our edallal property rights in some countries outsigelnited States may be less extensive than
those in the United States. In addition, the lafvsoone countries do not protect intellectual propeghts to the same extent as laws in the
United States. Consequently, we may not be abbeeeent third parties from practicing our invensan all countries outside the United Sta
or from selling or importing products made using imwentions in and into the United States or ottwrntries. Competitors may use our
technologies in countries where we have not obthpregent protection to develop their own products, durther, may infringe our patents in
territories where we have patent protection, bfivement is not as strong as in the United Stdallesse products may compete with our
products and our patents or other intellectual erigprights may not be effective or sufficient t@ypent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problienprotecting and defending intellectual propeigyts in certain countries. The legal
systems of certain countries, particularly certiéneloping countries, do not favor the enforcenoémpatents, trade secrets and other
intellectual property, particularly those relatitmgpharmaceutical and biotechnology products, whalld make it difficult for us to stop the
infringement of our patents or marketing of compgtproducts in violation of our proprietary riglgsnerally. Proceedings to enforce our
patent rights in countries outside of the Unitealt&t could result in substantial costs and divaredforts and attention from other aspects of
our business, could put our patents at risk ofd@&imalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patgplications at risk of not issuing, and
could provoke third parties to assert claims agaissWe may not prevail in any lawsuits that wiate and the damages or other remedies
awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningfglcordingly, our efforts to enforce our intelleat property rights around the world may
be inadequate to obtain a significant commercigbathge from the intellectual property that we deper license.

Risks Related to Commercialization

Our future commercial success depends upon attagsignificant market acceptance of our product cdddtes, if approved, among
physicians, patients, thir-party payors and others in the medical community.

Even if we obtain marketing approval for AKB-6548<B-6899 or any other product candidates that wg develop or acquire in the future,
these product candidates may not gain market ameeptamong physicians, thipdty payors, patients and others in the medicalnconity. Ir
addition, market acceptance of any approved predigpends on a number of other factors, including:

e the efficacy and safety of the product, as dematesdrin clinical trials

e the clinical indications for which the productagproved and the product label approved by regmlauthorities, including any
warnings that may be required on the la

e acceptance by physicians and patients of theugtaths a safe and effective treatment and thengitkess of the target patient
population to try new therapies and of physicianprescribe new therapie

e the cost, safety and efficacy of the product iatieh to alternative treatmen

e the availability of adequate coverage and reimbues# by thir-party payors and government authorit
e the ability to contract with dialysis provide

e relative convenience and ease of administra

e the prevalence and severity of adverse side eff

e the effectiveness of our sales and marketing effard

e the restrictions on the use of our products togetlin other medications, if an

For example, two of the largest operators of dialgnics in the United States, DaVita, Inc., ca\Dta, and Fresenius Medical Care, or
Fresenius, account for more than half of the iajelet rESA sales in the U.S. dialysis market ancelentered into long-term
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supply agreements with Amgen Inc., or Amgen, tlegfam in January 2012. We believe that it may béestging to enter into long or short-
term supply agreements with DaVita, Fresenius leembperators of dialysis clinics.

Market acceptance is critical to our ability to geate significant revenue. In addition, any prodizstdidate, if approved and commercialized,
may be accepted in only limited capacities or n@llalf any approved products are not acceptethbymarket to the extent that we expect, we
may not be able to generate significant revenueoandusiness would suffer.

If we are unable to establish sales, marketing agtidtribution capabilities or to enter into agreemenwith third parties to market and se
our product candidates, we may not be successfutammercializing our product candidates if and whémey are approved.

We do not have a sales or marketing infrastrucincewe have not yet sold, marketed or distributgdad our products. To achieve commer
success for any product for which we obtain markgtipproval, we will need to establish a salesraarketing organization or make
arrangements with third parties to perform theseices.

There are risks involved with establishing our aates, marketing and distribution capabilities. &mmple, recruiting and training a sales
force are expensive and time consuming and cod&y @y product launch. If the commercial launclagiroduct candidate for which we
recruit a sales force and establish marketing dhifiedis delayed or does not occur for any reasemwould have prematurely or unnecess
incurred these commercialization expenses. This lmeagostly, and our investment would be lost ifaganot retain or reposition our sales and
marketing personnel.

Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commeraalour products on our own include:
e our inability to recruit, train and retain adequatenbers of effective sales and marketing perse!
e the inability of sales personnel to obtain accesad educate physicians regarding our prod

e our inability to effectively manage a geographigalispersed sales and marketing te

e the lack of complementary products to be offdrgdales personnel, which may put us at a competiisadvantage relative to
companies with more extensive product lines;

e unforeseen costs and expenses associated witingrasgales and marketing organizati

If we are unable to establish our own sales, manfgetnd distribution capabilities and have to eiigr arrangements with third parties to
perform these services, our profitability, if aig/ikely to be lower than if we were to marketl| send distribute any products that we develop
ourselves. In addition, we may not be successfahiering into arrangements with third partiesetih snarket and distribute our product
candidates or may be unable to do so on termsathdavorable to us. We likely will have little doml over such third parties, and any of them
may fail to devote the necessary resources andtiatteto sell and market our products effectivéyve do not establish sales, marketing and
distribution capabilities successfully, either amw own or in collaboration with third parties, wdlwot be successful in commercializing our
product candidates.

Coverage and reimbursement may be limited or ungadalie in certain market segments for any approvedgucts, which could make it
difficult for us to sell our products profitably.

Market acceptance and sales of any approved pgtidepend significantly on the availability aflequate coverage and reimbursement
from third-party payors and may be affected by taxgsand future healthcare reform measures. Govenmuthorities and third-party payors
decide which drugs they will pay for and estabfistmularies and reimbursement levels. Coverageraincbursement by a third-party payor

may depend upon a number of factors, includinghird-party payor’s determination that use of adut is:

e a covered benefit under its health pl
e safe, effective and medically necess:
e appropriate for the specific patie
e cos-effective; anc
e neither experimental nor investigatior
Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval fopduct from a government or other third-partyqrag a time consuming and costly

process that could require us to provide supposaigntific, clinical and cost-effectiveness datathe use of our products to the payor.
Additionally, we may be required to enter into gats with third-party payors to obtain favoratdenfiulary status. We
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may not be able to provide data sufficient to gaineptance with respect to coverage and reimburgelive cannot be sure that coverage or
adequate reimbursement will be available for anguwfproduct candidates. Even if we obtain covefageur product candidates, third-party
payors may not establish adequate reimbursemenim@siavhich may reduce the demand for, or the piceur products. If reimbursement is
not available or limited, we may not be able to awercialize certain of our products. In additionthie United States third-party payors are
increasingly attempting to contain healthcare cbgtBmiting both coverage and the level of reinderment of new drugs. As a result,
significant uncertainty exists as to whether and hauch third-party payors will provide reimbursernéar newly approved drugs, which in
turn will put pressure on the pricing of drugs.

In addition, if AKB-6548 is used in an outpatiemlgsis facility, such facilities often receive & reimbursement for all dialysis services
furnished to patients with erstage renal disease, or ESRD. For example, Medpamments to ESRD facilities for such serviceshased on
prospective payment system known as the basicroasadjusted composite payment system. These pagneerer a bundle of items and
services routinely required for dialysis treatmédntsished to Medicare beneficiaries in Medicareified ESRD facilities or at their home,
including the cost of certain routine drugs suclasproduct candidates. Patient and provider acmeadequate coverage and reimbursemen
by government and private insurance plans is cetatthe acceptance of any products for which veeire regulatory approval. We may be
unable to sell AKB-6548, if approved, to dialysi®yders on a profitable basis if third-party payoeduce their current levels of payment or if
our costs of production increase faster than irsge# reimbursement levels.

Price controls may be imposed, which may adversdfgct our future profitability.

In some countries, particularly member states @Bhropean Union, the pricing of prescription phaceuticals is subject to governmental
control. In these countries, pricing negotiationthwovernmental authorities can take considertibile after receipt of marketing approval for
a product. In addition, there can be consideratdegure by governments and other stakeholdersiogs@nd reimbursement levels, including
as part of cost containment measures. Politicalh@wnic and regulatory developments may further dmate pricing negotiations, and pricing
negotiations may continue after reimbursement leas lmbtained. Reference pricing used by variousf&an Union member states and
parallel distribution, or arbitrage between loweed and high-priced member states, can furtherceegrices. In some countries, we may be
required to conduct a clinical trial or other seslthat compare the cost-effectiveness of our ptorhndidates to other available products in
order to obtain or maintain reimbursement or pgcpproval. Publication of discounts by third-pgrfyyors or government authorities may
lead to further pressure on the prices or reimbuoese levels within the country of publication arttier countries. If reimbursement of our
products is unavailable or limited in scope or amoar if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levalsy business could be adversely affected.

The impact of recent healthcare reform and otherarfiges in the healthcare industry and in healthcaspending is currently unknown, and
may adversely affect our business model.

Our revenue prospects could be affected by chandesalthcare spending and policy in the UnitedeStand abroad. We operate in a highly
regulated industry and new laws, regulations oicjatldecisions, or new interpretations of existiags, regulations or decisions, related to
healthcare availability or method of delivery oypeent for healthcare products and services coul@tiesly impact our business, operations
and financial condition.

In the United States, the Medicare PrescriptiongDtnprovement and Modernization Act of 2003, alatied the MMA, changed the way
Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceutical pradiitte legislation expanded Medicare coveragerag gurchases by the elderly and
introduced a new reimbursement methodology baseaerage sales prices for physician-administeragsdrin addition, this legislation
provided authority for limiting the number of druthgt will be covered in any therapeutic classaAssult of this legislation and the expansior
of federal coverage of drug products, we expedtttiere will be additional pressure to reduce cdsts example, the Centers for Medicare anc
Medicaid Services, or CMS, has enacted regulatisaisreduced capitated payments to dialysis prosidenese cost reduction initiatives and
other provisions of this legislation could decretimescope of coverage and the price that we redeivany approved products and could
seriously harm our business. While the MMA apptialy to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiariesygte payors often follow Medicare
coverage policies and payment limitations in sgttheir own reimbursement rates, and any redudtisaimbursement that results from the
MMA may cause a similar reduction in payments fromvate payors. Similar regulations or reimbursenpaticies may be enacted in
international markets which could similarly impactr business.

In addition, the Patient Protection and AffordaBkrre Act, as amended by the Health Care and EducBgconciliation Act, or collectively
PPACA, was enacted in 2010 with a goal of redutiirggcost of healthcare and substantially chandiagnay healthcare is financed by both
government and private insurers. The PPACA, amdherdhings, increases the minimum Medicaid rebatesd by manufacturers under the
Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and extends the rgivagram to individuals enrolled in Medicaid manégare organizations, establishes
annual fees and taxes on manufacturers of certaimdbd prescription drugs, and creates a new MedRart D coverage gap discount
program, in which manufacturers must agree to &6 point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prickapplicable brand drugs to eligible
beneficiaries during their coverage gap period esnalition for the
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manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be covered uNtticare Part D. In addition, other legislativenbes have been proposed and adopted i
the United States since the PPACA was enacted. @ust 2, 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011 ardaheasures for spending reductions
by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficidiraion, tasked with recommending a targeted deafciuction of at least $1.2 trillion for
the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reaglirezl goals, thereby triggering the legislatiosgomatic reduction to several government
programs. This includes aggregate reductions ofidéee payments to providers of up to 2% per figealr, which went into effect on April 1,
2013.

It is likely that federal and state legislatureshivi the United States and governments in othenti@ms will continue to consider changes to

existing healthcare legislation. We cannot prettietreform initiatives that may be adopted in thteife or whether initiatives that have been
adopted will be repealed or modified. The contiguifforts of the government, insurance companies)aged care organizations and other
payors of healthcare services to contain or redosés of healthcare may adversely affect:

e the demand for any drug products for which we matgio regulatory approva

our ability to set a price that we believe is fair our products

our ability to obtain coverage and reimbursemeptayal for a product

our ability to generate revenue and achieve or mmimprofitability; anc

the level of taxes that we are required to |

If our product candidates obtain marketing approvale will be subject to healthcare laws, regulatiand enforcement and our failure t
comply with those laws could have a material adeeesfect on our results of operations and financiebnditions.

If we obtain approval for any of our product caradabs and begin commercializing them, our operatioag be directly, or indirectly through
our customers, subject to additional healthcaralatign and enforcement by the federal governmedtthe states and governments outside o
the United States in which we conduct our busingls.laws that may affect our ability to operatelude:

e the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which proh#hiamong other things, persons from knowingly aiiflully soliciting, receiving,
offering or paying remuneration, directly or inditly, to induce, or in return for, the purchaseearommendation of an item or
service reimbursable under a federal healthcargrano, such as the Medicare and Medicaid progr

e federal civil and criminal false claims laws asidil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, amootfper things, individuals or
entities from knowingly presenting, or causing éodresented, claims for payment from Medicare, Beadi or other third-party
payors that are false or fraudule

e the federal Health Insurance Portability and Aotability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created néaderal criminal statutes that
prohibit executing a scheme to defraud any heaiéhlsanefit program and making false statementsimgléo healthcare matter

e HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Tedbgy and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, and iteplementing regulations,
which imposes certain requirements relating topitieacy, security, and transmission of individuatigntifiable health informatior

e the federal physician “sunshine” requirementsaurRPACA, which requires manufacturers of drugsjads, biologics, and medical
supplies to report annually to CMS information tethto payments and other transfers of value taiptans, other healthcare
providers, and teaching hospitals, and ownershipimrestment interests held by physicians and dtkalthcare providers and their
immediate family member.

e state law equivalents of each of the above fédenes, such as ankickback and false claims laws that may apply émi or service
reimbursed by any third-party payor, including coenaial insurers; state laws that require pharmaca@utompanies to comply with
the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliago@lelines and the applicable compliance guidamomplgated by the federal
government, or otherwise restrict payments that beagnade to healthcare providers and other poteafexrral sources; state laws
that require drug manufacturers to report infororatielated to payments and other transfers of valydysicians and other
healthcare providers or marketing expenditures;stat laws governing the privacy and securityealth information in certain
circumstances, many of which differ from each othesignificant ways, thus complicating compliareféorts.

Because of the breadth of these laws and the naesswf the statutory exceptions and safe harlvaikable, it is possible that some of our
business activities could be subject to challengeuone or more of such laws. In addition, retematithcare reforms have strengthened these
laws. For example, the PPACA, among other thinggrads the intent requirement of the federal amtidik@ick and criminal healthcare fraud
statutes. A person or entity no longer needs te laatual knowledge of the statute or specific interviolate it. The PPACA also amended the
False Claims Act, such that violations of the ditkback statute are now deemed violations
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of the False Claims Act. To constitute a falsenalarior to this amendment, an anti-kickback vialathad to be accompanied by a false
statement, such as false certification of compkanc

If our operations are found to be in violation afyaf such laws or any other governmental regutatifat apply to us, we may be subject to
penalties, including civil and criminal penaltiedemages, fines, the curtailment or restructuringuwfoperations, the exclusion from
participation in federal and state healthcare @ogrand imprisonment, any of which could materiatlyersely affect our ability to operate
business and our financial results.

We face substantial competition, which may resultdthers discovering, developing or commercializipgpducts before, or more
successfully than, we dt

The development and commercialization of new dmagipcts is highly competitive. Our future succespahds on our ability to demonstrate
and maintain a competitive advantage with respethid development and commercialization of our pobdandidates. Our objective is to
develop and commercialize new products with supefiicacy, convenience, tolerability and/or safdtymany cases, the products that we
commercialize will compete with existing, markeadiéng products.

If AKB-6548 is approved and launched commerciadlympeting drugs may include EPOGERNd Aranesfy, commercialized by Amgen,
Procrit® and EpreX¥, commercialized by Johnson & Johnson, and Mir€ermommercialized by Roche Holding Ltd., or Rochee Wvay face
competition from potential new anemia therapieser€hare several other HIF product candidates ilowaistages of active development for
anemia indications that may be in direct competitiath AKB-6548 if and when they are approved aauhiched commercially. These
candidates are being developed by such companigéib@sGen, in partnership with AstraZzeneca PLChie nited States and China and with
Astellas Pharma Inc., in Europe and Asia, Japaradab International, GlaxoSmithKline plc and BayeraihCare AG. FibroGen/Astellas
Pharma Inc., in particular, is currently in Phasgi@ical development of its product candidate, #82 (roxadustat). Some of these product
candidates may enter the market as early as 20&ddition, certain companies are developing pitenéw therapies for renaglated diseas
that could potentially reduce rESA utilization ahds limit the market for AKB-6548 if and whendtapproved and launched commercially.
Other new therapies are in development for thertreat of conditions inclusive of renal anemia, latatercept from Acceleron Pharma Inc,
that may impact the market for anemia-targetedrivent.

Since rESAs are biologic products, the introductibbiosimilars into the rESA market in the Unit8thtes will constitute additional
competition for AKB-6548 if we are able to obtaippaoval for and commercially launch our producthidsimilar product is a follow-on
version of an existing, branded biologic produdte patents for the existing, branded product nxgite in a given market before biosimilars
may enter that market without risk of being suadp@atent infringement. In addition, an applicatfona biosimilar product cannot be approved
by the FDA until 12 years after the existing, brasgroduct was approved under a Biologics Licensgliéation, or BLA. The patents for
epoetin alfa, an rESA, expired in 2004 in the EeapUnion, and the remaining patents have expiredlloexpire between 2012 and 2015 in
the United States. Several biosimilar versiond&SAs are available for sale in the European Unmahtdosimilar versions of rESAs are
currently being studied in clinical trials in thenited States.

Many of our potential competitors have significgrgteater financial, manufacturing, marketing, ddgéyelopment, technical and human
resources than we do. Large pharmaceutical comganiparticular, have extensive experience inicdilntesting, obtaining regulatory
approvals, recruiting patients and manufacturingrptaceutical products. Large and established coi@panch as Amgen and Roche, among
others, compete in the market for drug productseat anemia. In particular, these companies hea@ter experience and expertise in securin
government contracts and grants to support the@areh and development efforts, conducting preediriesting and clinical trials, obtaining
regulatory approvals to market products, manufaagusuch products on a broad scale and marketipgoapd products. These companies als
have significantly greater research and marketaypabilities than we do and may also have produetsitave been approved or are in late
stages of development, and have collaborative geraents in our target markets with leading comsaaiel research institutions. Established
pharmaceutical companies may also invest heavihctelerate discovery and development of novel camgs or to in-license novel
compounds that could make the product that we dpvatbsolete. As a result of all of these factows,ammpetitors may succeed in obtaining
patent protection and/or FDA approval or discovgriuteveloping and commercializing products beforenore effectively than, we do. In
addition, any new product that competes with an@md product must demonstrate compelling advastagefficacy, convenience,
tolerability and safety in order to overcome preoenpetition and to be commercially successful.dfave not able to compete effectively
against potential competitors, our business willgrow and our financial condition and operationt suffer.

Our products may cause undesirable side effecth@ave other properties that delay or prevent thesgulatory approval or limit their
commercial potential.

Undesirable side effects caused by our productéyen competing products in development that utdiz®mmon mechanism of action could
cause us or regulatory authorities to interruplayer halt clinical trials and could result in tdenial of regulatory approval by the FDA or
other regulatory authorities and potential prodiadtility claims. We recently completed a Phasesflaly of
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AKB-6548 in non-dialysis patients with anemia rethto CKD. The incidence of the most common treatreemergent adverse events in the
Phase 2b study were well balanced overall betweehKB-6548 and placebo treatment groups. ThereanN@gher incidence of serious
adverse events (SAESs) reported in the AKB-6548tmeat group, the most common being renal-relatedo8s adverse events deemed to be
possibly or probably related to AKB548 could have a material adverse effect on theldpment of our product candidates and our busiat
a whole. Our understanding of adverse events irréutlinical trials of other product candidates nshgnge as we gather more information,
additional unexpected adverse events may be olzbeniature clinical trials.

If we or others identify undesirable side effecsiged by our product candidates either beforeter edceipt of marketing approval, a number
of potentially significant negative consequencaddoesult, including:

e our clinical trials may be put on hol
e patient recruitment could be slowed, or enrolletigodés may not want to complete a clinical tr

e we may be unable to obtain regulatory approvabto product candidates or regulatory authoritiesy withdraw approvals of
product candidate:

e regulatory authorities may require additional wags on the labe
e a medication guide outlining the risks of such g@tfects for distribution to patients may be regqdii
e we could be sued and held liable for harm causeatients; ani

e our reputation may suffe

Any of these events could prevent us from achiewinghaintaining market acceptance of our productsa@uld substantially increase
commercialization costs.

Risks Related to our Business and Industry

If we fail to attract and keep senior managementdkey scientific personnel, we may be unable tocassfully develop our product
conduct our clinical trials and commercialize ourpduct candidates.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, étial, manufacturing and sales and marketing perdonifi also be critical to our success. We
are highly dependent on certain members of ounsenanagement. The loss of the services of ourutixecofficers or other key employees
could impede the achievement of our research, dpuetnt and commercialization objectives and seljduerm our ability to successfully
implement our business strategy. Furthermore, camieexecutive officers and key employees may Kedit and may take an extended per
of time because of the limited number of individuia our industry with the breadth of skills anghexence required to successfully develop,
gain regulatory approval of and commercialize patsluWe may be unable to hire, train, retain orivate these key personnel on acceptable
terms given the intense competition among numeb@sharmaceutical companies for similar personnel.

In addition, certain of our current employees gdsavide services to Aerpio Therapeutics, Inc., erglo, a company we spun out in 2011,
under a services agreement between Akebia and d&kpia result, these employees devote some ofttheg to activities relating to Aerpio’s
business. In addition, some of our employees whuige services to Aerpio may ultimately become-fiie employees of Aerpio and we will
be forced to hire additional personnel to repldeat.

We also experience competition for the hiring aéstific and clinical personnel from universitiesdaresearch institutions. In addition, we rely
on consultants and advisors, including scientifid alinical advisors, to assist us in formulating cesearch and development and
commercialization strategy. Our consultants andsads may be employed by employers other than dsyvay have commitments under
consulting or advisory contracts with other engitieat may limit their availability to us. If weeatunable to continue to attract and retain high
quality personnel, our ability to pursue our growttategy will be limited.

Our employees, independent contractors, principatéstigators, CROs, consultants and vendors mayagegin misconduct or other
improper activities, including non-compliance wittegulatory standards and requirements and insideading.

We are exposed to the risk that our employeespinldent contractors, principal investigators, CRfasultants and vendors may engage in
fraudulent conduct or other illegal activity. Misatuct by these parties could include intentioredkltess and/or negligent conduct or
unauthorized activities that violate (1) FDA regdidas, including those laws that require the repgrbf true, complete and accurate
information to the FDA, (2) quality standards, indihg Good Laboratory Practices (GLP), Good Clihiiactices (GCP) and Good
Manufacturing Practices (GMP) (3) federal and stet@ithcare fraud and abuse laws and regulatio(®) taws that require the reporting of
true and accurate financial information and datébpsecurities laws and regulations. Specificables,
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marketing and business arrangements in the hesdtihwdustry are subject to extensive laws and egguls intended to prevent fraud,
kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practitasse laws and regulations may restrict or piibhilwvide range of pricing, discounting,
marketing and promotion, sales commission, custonoentive programs and other business arrangemergsiot always possible to identify
and deter misconduct by employees and third padies the precautions we take to detect and prekiEnactivity may not be effective in
controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losseis @rotecting us from governmental investigation®ther actions or lawsuits stemming
from a failure to be in compliance with such lawsegulations. If any such actions are institutgdiast us, and we are not successful in
defending ourselves or asserting our rights, tl@siens could have a significant impact on our hess, including the imposition of civil,
criminal and administrative penalties, damages,atamy fines, possible exclusion from participatiotMedicare, Medicaid and other federal
healthcare programs, contractual damages, repaghtiarm, diminished profits and future earningsl eurtailment of our operations, any of
which could adversely affect our ability to operate business and our results of operations.

We may encounter difficulties in managing our grolwvind expanding our operations successfully.

As we seek to advance our product candidates throligical trials and commercialization, we willegtto expand our development,
regulatory, manufacturing, marketing and sales lodipas or contract with third parties to provitieese capabilities for us. As our operations
expand, we expect that we will need to manage iaddit relationships with various strategic colladtors, suppliers and other third parties.
Future growth will impose significant added respbitiies on members of management. Our futurerfoial performance and our ability to
commercialize AKB-6548, if approved, and any oterduct candidates and to compete effectively dafpend, in part, on our ability to
manage any future growth effectively. To that emd,must be able to manage our development effadhnical trials effectively and hire,
train and integrate additional personnel. We maybeacable to accomplish these tasks, and our étluaccomplish any of them could prevent
us from successfully growing our company.

If product liability lawsuits are brought againsts) we may incur substantial liabilities and may bequired to limit commercialization of ou
product candidates

We face an inherent risk of product liability aseault of the clinical testing of our product cataties and will face an even greater risk if we
commercialize any products. For example, we maguesl if any product we develop allegedly causesyrgr is found to be otherwise
unsuitable during product testing, manufacturingrketing or sale. Any such product liability claimsy include allegations of defects in
manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to wafrdangers inherent in the product, negligencetstability and breach of warranties. Claii
could also be asserted under state consumer postextts. If we cannot successfully defend oursedgrinst product liability claims, we may
incur substantial liabilities or be required to iimommercialization of our product candidates. ieaesuccessful defense would require
significant financial and management resourcesaRigss of the merits or eventual outcome, liabdlaims may result in:

e decreased demand for any product candidates ougi®that we may develo

e injury to our reputation and significant negativedia attention

e withdrawal of clinical trial participant:

e significant costs to defend the related litigati

e adiversion of managem¢s time and our resource

e substantial monetary awards to study participanfsatients

e product recalls or withdrawals, or labeling, maithgtor promotional restriction:

e loss of revenue

e the inability to commercialize any product candéathat we may develop; a

e a decline in our stock pric
Failure to obtain and retain sufficient producblidly insurance at an acceptable cost to protgairest potential product liability claims could
prevent or inhibit the commercialization of produate develop. We currently carry product liabilitgurance covering our clinical trials in the
amount of $10 million in the aggregate. Althoughmaintain product liability insurance, any clainatimay be brought against us could resul
in a court judgment or settlement in an amountithabt covered, in whole or in part, by our insw@ or that is in excess of the limits of our
insurance coverage. Our insurance policies alse kaxious exclusions, and we may be subject t@dyat liability claim for which we have

no coverage. We will have to pay any amounts avehbyea court or negotiated in a settlement thatedmur coverage limitations or that are
not covered by our insurance, and we may not havee able to obtain, sufficient capital to paylsamounts.
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If we fail to comply with environmental, health anslafety laws and regulations, we could become scitije fines or penalties or incur cos
that could harm our business.

We are subject to numerous environmental, healthsafety laws and regulations, including those guwg laboratory procedures and the
handling, use, storage, treatment and disposazdrdous materials and wastes. Our operationsvietbe use of hazardous and flammable
materials, including chemicals and biological miaisr Our operations also produce hazardous wastkipts. We generally contract with third
parties for the use and disposal of these materralsvastes. We cannot eliminate the risk of commtation or injury from these materials. In
the event of contamination or injury resulting freime use of hazardous materials by our employeesrtsultants, we could be held liable for
any resulting damages, and any liability could exiceur resources. We also could incur significastEassociated with civil or criminal fines
and penalties for failure to comply with such laavsl regulations.

Although we maintain workers’ compensation insustwcover us for costs and expenses we may inutalinjuries to our employees
resulting from the use of hazardous materials,ittisrance may not provide adequate coverage agaitential liabilities. We do not maintain
insurance for environmental liability or toxic tataims that may be asserted against us in cormmewiith our storage or disposal of biological,
hazardous or radioactive materials.

In addition, we may incur substantial costs in otdecomply with current or future environmentadaith and safety laws and regulations.
These current or future laws and regulations mayainour research, development or production eff@dur failure to comply with these laws
and regulations also may result in substantiakfipenalties or other sanctions.

We may not be able to win government, academiciingbn or non-profit contracts or grants.

From time to time, we may apply for contracts args from government agencies, non-profit entaied academic institutions. Such contract:
or grants can be highly attractive because theyigeocapital to fund the on-going development af poduct candidates without diluting our
stockholders. However, there is often significasthpetition for these contracts or grants. Entitifering contracts or grants may have
eligibility requirements that our competitors maydble to satisfy that we cannot. In addition, sewtities may make arbitrary decisions as to
whether to offer contracts or make grants, to whioencontracts or grants will be awarded and the agizhe contracts or grants to each grat
Even if we are able to satisfy the award requires)ahere is no guarantee that we will be awartledytant. Therefore, we may not be able to
win any contracts or grants in a timely manneat iéll.

Risks Related to our Common Stock

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined metJumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012. aresult, we may take advantage
of certain reduced disclosure requirements.

We are an “emerging growth company”, as definetthénJumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 201#HedOBS Act. For as long as we
continue to be an emerging growth company, we rakg advantage of exemptions from various reporgggiirements that are applicable to
other public companies that are not emerging grasthpanies. These exemptions include:

e not being required to comply with the auditoeatation requirements in the assessment of ounadteontrol over financial
reporting;

e reduced disclosure obligations regarding executorapensation; an

e exemptions from the requirements of holding ahiating advisory vote on executive compensation@stdining shareholder
approval of any golden parachute payments not pusiy approvec

Investors may find our common stock less attradfivee continue to rely on these exemptions. If sdnvestors find our common stock less
attractive as a result, there may be a less attiding market for our common stock and our stadepmay be more volatile. In addition, the
JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth compamytake advantage of an extended transition pésiocomplying with new or revised
accounting standards. This allows an emerging dr@empany to delay the adoption of these accoustiagdards until they would otherwise
apply to private companies. We have irrevocablgteld not to avail ourselves of this exemption dhédrefore, we will be subject to the same
new or revised accounting standards as other pobiigpanies that are not emerging growth companies.

We could be an emerging growth company for upue fiears from our initial public offering in Mar@®14, although circumstances could
cause us to lose that status earlier, includitigéfmarket value of our common stock held by nditiats exceeds $700 million as of any
September 30 before that time or if we have tataual gross revenue of $1 billion or more during fiscal year before that time, in which
cases we would no longer be an emerging growth aomps of the following December 31 or, if we
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issue more than $1 billion in non-convertible debting any three-year period before that time, veeild cease to be an emerging growth
company immediately.

Our stock price has been and may continue to beatitd, and, as a result you may not be able to tegeur shares at or above the public
offering price.

Our stock price has been and may continue to tegilelSince our IPO in March 2014, the price of oommon stock as reported on The
NASDAQ Global Market has ranged from a low of $8ct7February 13, 2015 to a high of $31.00 on Juh@14. The market price of sha
of our common stock could be subject to wide flatians in response to many risk factors listedia section, and others beyond our control,
including the risks described in Item 1A.

In addition, the stock market has recently expegensignificant volatility, particularly with respieto pharmaceutical, biotechnology and othel
life sciences company stocks. The volatility of phaceutical, biotechnology and other life sciermm®pany stocks often does not relate to th
operating performance of the companies represdnytdie stock. As we operate in a single industry ane especially vulnerable to the factors
listed above to the extent that they affect oungidy, markets or products. In the past, securdi@ss action litigation has often been initiated
against companies following periods of volatilitytheir stock price. This type of litigation coutekult in substantial costs and divert our
management’s attention and resources, and cowdedgiire us to make substantial payments to ggtidfyments or to settle litigation.

Our principal stockholders and management own arsficant percentage of our stock and will be able éxercise significant influence over
matters subject to stockholder approval.

Our executive officers, directors and principalcktwolders, together with their respective affilmt®llectively control a majority of our
common stock. Accordingly, these stockholders béllable to exert a significant degree of influeoaeer our management and affairs and ove
matters requiring stockholder approval, including €lection of our Board of Directors and apprafaignificant corporate transactions. This
concentration of ownership could have the effeardfenching our management and/or the Board @fdiirs, delaying or preventing a change
in our control or otherwise discouraging a potdra@uirer from attempting to obtain control of udyich in turn could have a material and
adverse effect on the fair market value of our camrstock.

We are incurring increased costs as a result ofriea public company, and our management is requiteddevote substantial time to new
compliance initiatives.

As a newly public company, we are incurring sigrdfit legal, accounting and other expenses thaidvead incur as a private company. In
addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and rules of thE€ &nd The NASDAQ Global Market, or NASDAQ, havewsed various requirements on
public companies including requiring establishmeamd maintenance of effective disclosure and fir@romntrols. Our management and other
personnel will need to devote a substantial amofitime to these compliance initiatives. Moreowbese rules and regulations have increaset
and will continue to increase our legal and finahcompliance costs and will make some activitiesertime-consuming and costly.

Provisions in our charter documents and Delawaravanay have an-takeover effects that could discourage an acqudsitof us by others,
even if an acquisition would be beneficial to ouoskholders, and may prevent attempts by our stamlers to replace or remove our
current management.

Provisions in our Amended and Restated Certifioffecorporation and Amended and Restated By-Lawdain provisions that may have the
effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing are in control of us or changes in our managenidgtse provisions could also limit the
price that investors might be willing to pay in tluwture for shares of our common stock, therebyreleging the market price of our common
stock. In addition, because our Board of Directsrgsponsible for appointing the members of ounagament team, these provisions may
frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockhsltereplace or remove our current managementdking it more difficult for stockholders
to replace members of our Board of Directors. Amotiger things, these provisions:

e authorize “blank check” preferred stock, whichukcbbe issued by our Board of Directors withoutktmlder approval and may
contain voting, liquidation, dividend and otherhig superior to our common stot

e create a classified Board of Directors whose memberve staggered th-year terms
e specify that special meetings of our stockholaears be called only by our Board of Directors parguto a resolution adopted by a
majority of the total number of directol
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e prohibit stockholder action by written conse

e establish an advance notice procedure for stockh@ldprovals to be brought before an annual meefingr stockholders, includil
proposed nominations of persons for election toBnard of Directors

e provide that our directors may be removed onlycfouse

e provide that vacancies on our Board of Directoey be filled only by a majority of directors thienoffice, even though less than a
quorum;

e require a supermajority vote of the holders af @mmon stock or the majority vote of our Boardifectors to amend our
Amended and Restated -Laws; anc

e require a supermajority vote of the holders af @mmon stock to amend the classification of coam8 of Directors into three
classes and to amend certain other provisions oAmended and Restated Certificate of Incorporal

These provisions, alone or together, could delgyrevent hostile takeovers and changes in controhanges in our management.

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delawaeegre governed by the provisions of Section 20B@Delaware General Corporation
Law, which prohibits a person who owns in exces$596 of our outstanding voting stock from mergimgombining with us for a period of
three years after the date of the transaction iichviine person acquired in excess of 15% of owstantling voting stock, unless the merger or
combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

Any provision of our Amended and Restated Certifiaaf Incorporation, our Amended and Restated By ar Delaware law that has the
effect of delaying or deterring a change in contanlld limit the opportunity for our stockholdetsreceive a premium for their shares of our
common stock, and could also affect the price sbate investors are willing to pay for our commarckt

Our ability to use net operating losses to offseture taxable income may be subject to certain fiations.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Reedbode of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a ctigrothat undergoes an “ownership
change” is subject to limitations on its abilityutilize its preehange net operating losses, or NOLs, to offsefréutaxable income. Our existi
NOLs may be subject to substantial limitationsiaggrom previous ownership changes and our ahiitytilize NOLs could be further limite
by Section 382 of the Code. Future changes in tmekownership, many of which are outside of ountoa, could result in an ownership
change under Section 382 of the Code. Our NOLsatsybe impaired under state law. Accordingly, wvaymot be able to utilize a material
portion of our NOLs. Furthermore, our ability talize our NOLs is conditioned upon our attainin@fitability and generating U.S. federal
taxable income. As described above under “—Riskdead to our financial position and need for addlitil capital,” we have incurred
significant net losses since our inception andcigdte that we will continue to incur significanskes for the foreseeable future; thus, we d
know whether or when we will generate the U.S. fatiaxable income necessary to utilize our NOL$ulhvaluation allowance has been
provided for the entire amount of our NOLs.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatidesignates the state or federal courts locatethie State of Delaware as the sole ¢
exclusive forum for certain types of actions andomeedings that may be initiated by our stockholdewich could limit our stockholders’
ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for diputes with us or our directors, officers or empéms.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorponggirovides that, subject to limited exceptions, state and federal courts located in the
State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusiverfofor (1) any derivative action or proceedinguabt on our behalf, (2) any action asser

a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by amyor directors, officers or other employees t@musur stockholders, (3) any action asserting
a claim against us arising pursuant to any promisiothe Delaware General Corporation Law, our Adezhand Restated Certificate of
Incorporation or our Amended and Restated By-Lam@pany other action asserting a claim againsghasis governed by the internal affairs
doctrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otlisesacquiring any interest in shares of our cagiiatk shall be deemed to have notice of an
to have consented to the provisions of our AmeradetiRestated Certificate of Incorporation descrifigalve. This choice of forum provision
may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claima judicial forum that it finds favorable for gistes with us or our directors, officers or other
employees, which may discourage such lawsuits agjagand our directors, officers and employeeraatively, if a court were to find these
provisions of our Amended and Restated Certifichti@corporation inapplicable to, or unenforceablth respect to, one or more of the
specified types of actions or proceedings, we mawri additional costs associated with resolvindhguatters in other jurisdictions, which
could adversely affect our business and finan@abdion.
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Ite m 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None

Ite m 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in Cambridgssachusetts. We currently lease approximate§6ll square feet of office space in
Cambridge, Massachusetts under a lease that expirBecember 31, 2016. We believe that our exidtwdities are adequate to meet our
current needs, and that suitable additional altarmapaces will be available in the future on ceenoially reasonable terms for our future
growth.

Ite m 3. Legal Proceedings

In July 2011, a third party filed an oppositionaiar issued European Patent No. 2044005, orGbg Patent. During the oral proceedings, w
took place on April 10, 2013, the Opposition Diwisiof the European Patent Office maintained thé& 'Batent on the basis of the third
auxiliary request filed during the oral proceedingisis decision resulted in the maintenance otarcHirected to a compound chosen from a
group of eight compounds, including AKB-6548, adlwe claims to compositions and methods for treptiarious diseases, including, but not
limited to, anemia. Both parties have appealedit@sion of the Opposition Division and final rag@n of the opposition proceedings will
likely take a number of years. We cannot be assof¢iie breadth of the claims that will remain e t005 Patent or that the patent will not be
revoked in its entirety.

In June 2013, the European Patent Office granteddean Patent No. 1463823, or the '823 patentitkmBen, Inc., or FibroGen. The '823
patent claims, among other things, the use of erbeyclic carboxamide compound selected from tlhemgiconsisting of pyridine
carboxamides, quinoline carboxamides, isoquinatem®oxamides, cinnoline carboxamides, and betastinebcarboxamides that inhibits HIF-
PH enzyme activity in the manufacture of a medicainfier increasing endogenous EPO in the preventicetreatment or treatment of anemia.
On December 5, 2013, we filed an opposition to828 patent requesting that the 823 patent bekegadn its entirety. While, for the reasons
set forth in our opposition, we believe tl823 patent should be revoked in its entirety, thienate outcome of the opposition remains uncetr

If the European Patent Office decides not to rextbke823 patent in its entirety, or only certalaims of the '823 patent, and any surviving
claims are determined to encompass our intendedfumg lead product candidate, we may not be etbtmmmercialize our lead product
candidate in the European Union for its intendesl which could materially adversely affect our beasis, operating results and financial
condition.

In August 2011, the Japanese Patent Office gral#pdnese Patent No. 4804131, or the '131 pateRibtoGen. The '131 patent claims,
among other things, the use of certain heterocgeliboxamides selected from the group consistimydéline carboxamides, quinoline
carboxamides, and isoquinoline carboxamides td neamia, wherein the heterocyclic carboxamides sippress HIF prolyl hydroxylase. On
June 2, 2014, we filed an invalidity proceedinghia Japanese Patent Office challenging the valafithe '131 patent and requesting that it be
revoked in its entirety. An oral hearing before ffapanese Patent Office was held on Februaryl®, 2&/hile, for the reasons set forth in our
Request For Trial and subsequent briefing filethat proceeding, we believe the '131 patent shbaldevoked in its entirety, the ultimate
outcome of the invalidity proceeding remains uraiertlf the Japanese Patent Office decides navoke the 131 patent in its entirety, or or
certain claims of the '131 patent, and any sunguifaims are determined to encompass our intensieaiour lead product candidate, we may
not be able to commercialize our lead product adatdiin Japan for its intended use, which coulcenety adversely affect our business,
operating results and financial condition.

Ite m 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Rdated Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases ofdglity Securities

Market Price Information

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Globatket on March 20, 2014 under the symbol “AKBARYior to that date, there was
no established public trading market for our comrstmek. The following table sets forth, for theipds indicated, the high and low intraday
sales prices of our common stock as reported biNk@DAQ Global Market:

High Low
2014
First Quarter from and after March 2( $ 28.5C $ 18.7¢
Second Quarte $ 31.0C $ 16.41
Third Quartel $ 28.3< $ 20.1C
Fourth Quarte $ 21.7¢ $ 8.6C

Holders

At February 17, 2015, there were approximately didiérs of record of our common stock. We believa the number of beneficial owners of
our common stock at that date was substantiallstgre

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock and our ability to pay cashd#inds is currently prohibited by the
terms of our debt financing arrangements. We ctigrémend to retain earnings, if any, for use ur dusiness and do not anticipate paying
dividends on our common stock in the foreseealileéu Payment of future dividends, if any, on comenon stock will be at the discretion of
our board of directors after taking into accouniaas factors, including our financial conditiorperating results, anticipated cash needs, and
plans for expansion.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securit

Between January 1, 2014 and December 31, 2014sued and sold an aggregate of 116,394 sharesnofao stock to certain employee for
cash consideration in the aggregate amount of $88)8on the exercise of stock options. These igmsgawere undertaken in reliance upor
exemption from registration requirements of Rul& @0the Securities Act.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securiti¢
The following table contains information regardmgrchases of our common stock made during the ejuanded December 31, 2014 by or on

behalf of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. or any “affiéid purchasers,” as defined by Rule 10b-18(a)(3@fSecurities Exchange Act of 1934:

Approximate Dollar

Total Number of Value of Share that
Shares Purchased as May Yet be
Part of Publicly Purchased Under
Total Number of  Average Price Announced Plans or the Plans or
Period Share Purchase( Paid Per Share Programs Programs
10/01/2014 -
10/31/2104 — $ — — $ —
11/10/2014 -
11/30/2014 — — — —
12/01/2014 -
12/31/2014 5,91C 11.4% — —
Total 591C $ 11.4< — $ =

Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering of Comon Stock
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On March 25, 2014, we completed the IPO of our comstock and issued and sold 6,762,000 sharesr @omomon stock, including 879,647
shares of common stock sold pursuant to the underg/rfull exercise of their option to purchasaldithnal shares at a public offering price of
$17.00 per share, for aggregate gross proceedkl&f @ million. All of the shares issued and soldhie IPO were registered under the
Securities Act pursuant to a Registration Stateroarfiorm S-1 (File No. 333-193969), which was dedleeffective by the SEC on March 19,
2014.

The net proceeds to us, after deducting undengrifiscounts of $8.0 million and offering expensaaling $2.5 million, were approximately
$104.4 million. No offering expenses were paid diseor indirectly to any of our directors or oféirs (or their associates) or persons owning
10.0% or more of any class of our equity securitie® any other affiliates.

There has been no material change in our planredfuthe balance of the net proceeds from theiafjedescribed in our final prospectus filed
with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the BtesiAct. We invested the funds received in caghivalents and other investments in
accordance with our investment policy, and as afddgber 31, 2014, the remainder of the net procisadsluded in cash and cash equivalent:
and available for sale securities.

Comparative Stock Performance Graph

The information included under the heading “CompegaStock Performance Graph” in this Item 5 oftRbof this annual report on Form 10-
K shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material'sabject to Regulation 14A or 14C, shall not berded “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of
the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liizds of that section, nor shall it be deemed mpooated by reference in any filing under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchaunge

Set forth below is a graph comparing the total clative returns of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc., theSNBAQ Composite Index and the
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index. The graph assumes $48¢ invested on March 20, 2014 in our common stoekeach of the indices and t
all dividends, if any, are reinvested.

Comparison of 10 Month Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of $100
December 2014
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3/19/2014  3/31/2014  4/30/2014  5/31/2014  6/30/2014  7/31/2014  8/31/2014  9/30/2014  10/31/2014 11/30/2014 12/31/2014

Akebia Therapeutics Inc - NASDAQ Composite-Total Returns NASDAQ Biotechnology Index

3/19/201¢ 3/31/201: 4/30/201: 5/31/201¢ 6/30/201« 7/31/201+ 8/31/201+ 9/30/201: 10/31/201. 11/30/201: 12/31/201-

Akebia

Therapeutics

Inc $ 100.0C $ 115.0¢ $ 143.3t $ 1429/ $ 16347 $ 130.2¢ $ 13241 $ 130.1¢ $ 7624 $ 71.06 $ 68.47
NASDAQ

Composite-

Total Returns$ 100.0C $ 9751 $ 955¢ $ 98.74 $ 102.6¢ $ 101.8t $ 106.9: $ 104.9¢ $ 108.2¢ $ 112.1¢ $ 110.97
NASDAQ

Biotechnology

Index $ 100.0C $ 91.04 $ 885 $ 9237 $ 99.1 $ 96.81 $ 106.7¢ $ 105.5€¢ $ 1145t $ 117.4¢ $ 117.37
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Equity Compensation Plan Informatiol

We have two equity compensation plans, which hath been approved by our shareholders: the 20khtive Plan and the 2014 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan. Upon the conclusion of our, iROceased to make grants under the 2008 Equigntive Plan.

The following table sets forth the number and weidkaverage exercise price of ordinary shares issued upon exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and rights, and the number afriges remaining available for future issuanceemall of our equity compensation plans, at
December 31, 2014.

Number of Number of securities
securities to be Weighted- remaining available for
issued upon average exercise future issuance under
exercise of price of equity compensation
outstanding outstanding plans (excluding
options, warrants  options, warrants securities reflected in
Plan Category and rights and rights column (a))
@) (b) (©
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 1,526,34¢t $ 7.57 1,549,15:
Equity compensation plans not approved by seci
holders B o o
Total 1,526,34¢ $ 7.57 1,549,15:
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Ite m 6. Selected Financial Date

The selected statements of operations data forges ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 arzhthnce sheet data as of Decembe
2014 and 2013 are derived from our audited conatditifinancial statements included elsewhere mAhinual Report on Form 10-K. The
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2012 iseddiiom our audited consolidated financial stateant included in this Annual Report.
You should read this data together with our condsidéid financial statements and related notes irdedsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the captions “Consolidated Findriatements and Supplementary Data” and “ManagésBiscussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” @istorical results for any prior period are notessarily indicative of results to be expectec
in any future period, and our interim period resualte not necessarily indicative of results toXyeeted for a full year or any other interim
period.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except share and per share data

Consolidated statements of operations data:
Operating expense

Research and developme $ 25,39¢ $ 10,781 $ 5,632
General and administratiy 12,54z 5,152 2,891
Total operating expens 37,94( 15,93: 8,523
Loss from operation (37,94() (15,939 (8,523)
Other income, ne 906 2,76¢€ 327
Net loss $ (37,039 $ (13,167 $ (8,19¢)
Accretion on preferred stoc (86,899  (55,88¢) (3,323)
Net loss applicable to common shareholc $ (123,939 $ (69,059 $ (11,519
Net loss per share applicable to comr
stockholder—basic and dilute(®) $ (8.04) $ (126.99 $ (27.82)

Weighted-average number of common shares used
in net loss per share applicable to common
stockholder—basic and dilute! 15,406,38! 544,00 414,10;

(1) See Note 12 within the notes to our consadiddinancial statements appearing elsewhere inAiigial Report on Form 10-K for a
description of the method used to calculate basicdiluted net loss per share of common st

December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents and available for salgites $ 108,91¢ $ 32,55¢ $ 1,641
Working capital (deficit 103,59t 29,52¢ (2,679
Total asset 110,99¢ 34,66¢ 2,244
Redeemable convertible preferred st - 157,82 56,90¢
Accumulated defici (100,677) (127,077 (59,58¢)
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 104,07¢ (127,077) (59,58¢)
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It em?7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

You should read the following discussion and anslgsour financial condition and results of opecats together with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes appearingpi annual report on Form -K. Some of the information contained in this déstan and
analysis or set forth elsewhere in this annual répo Form 10K, including information with respect to our plaasd strategy for our busine
and related financing, includes forward-lookingtstaments that involve risks and uncertainties. Assalt of many factors, including those
factors set forth in th“Risk Factors” section of this annual report on Farl0-K, our actual results could differ materiallpm the results
described in or implied by the forward-looking staents contained in the following discussion arelyesis.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused onataliy innovative therapies to patients with kidiksease through the biology of hypoxia-
inducible factor, or HIF. HIF is the primary regtdaof the production of red blood cells, or RB@®sthe body and potentially a novel
mechanism of treating anemia. Our lead productidatel AKB-6548, is being developed as a once-daiigl therapy that has successfully
completed a Phase 2b study demonstrating that AB&B@&an safely and predictably raise hemoglobiglfein non-dialysis patients with
anemia related to chronic kidney disease, or CKD.

On October 27, 2014, we announced positive toprtsealts from our Phase 2b study of AKB-6548 in-daalysis patients with anemia related
to CKD, and we expect complete efficacy and sadleita to be presented in the first half of 2015.&gect to initiate Phase 3 studies for
anemia secondary to CKD in 2015 and would antieigatbmitting an NDA for AKB-6548 in the United Statby 2019, if the Phase 3 data are
favorable. We have also initiated Phase 2 climiealelopment for AKB-6548 for the treatment of angini patients undergoing dialysis, the
second indication we will pursue. The results fithiat study are expected in the third quarter 0f520%e have also commenced discussions
with European regulatory authorities in the firsager of 2015, with the goal of potentially alstmitting European marketing application(s).
Also in the third quarter of 2014, we completeth@rough QT (TQT) study, demonstrating that AKB-65#fes not have an adverse effect on
cardiac repolarization or conduction (i.e., negaiQT study).

Our preclinical candidate, AKB-6899, is a small emlle with distinctive biochemical and physiolodjipeoperties that may be beneficial for
treatment of certain cancers. In several preclimtause models, AKB-6899 has been active in reduttimor growth and development of
metastases. Therefore, Investigational New Drugi\Bx, enabling studies are being performed withdbal of opening an IND with the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2015.

We own global rights to our HIF-based product cdatis, including AKB-6548. If approved by regulstauthorities, we plan to
commercialize AKB-6548 in the United States ouresland intend to seek one or more collaboratacsrumercialize the product candidate in
additional markets.

Since our inception in 2007, we have devoted thgelst portion of our resources to our developm#otts relating to AKB-6548, including
preparing for and conducting clinical studies of B46548, providing general and administrative supfmrthese operations and protecting ou
intellectual property. We do not have any prodagigroved for sale and have not generated any revieonn product sales. We have funded
our operations primarily through our IPO and thiegte placement of preferred stock, common stockamvertible notes.

In December 2011, we distributed our programs fedum the treatment of diabetic eye disease atahinfatory bowel disease into Aerpio,
which has since operated as a stand-alone compémgurrently have administrative services agreeserth Aerpio under which we obtain
from, and provide to, Aerpio certain services idahg consulting services and use of premises.

We have never been profitable and have incurretbeses in each year since inception. Our net $osgee $37.0 million and $13.2 million for
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, rasgecBubstantially all of our net losses resultienin costs incurred in connection with «
research and development programs and from gemedsdadministrative costs associated with our ojmersit

We expect to continue to incur significant opemgtxpenses and increased operating losses fasitthee next several years. We expect our
expenses will increase substantially in conneatidh our ongoing activities, as we:

e continue our Phase 2 clinical study of A-6548 for the treatment of anemia in patients unoiaggdialysis;

e  prepare for and initiate a global Phase 3 developmegram of AKE-6548 for the treatment of anemia secondary to C

e  seek regulatory approvals for our product candiltitat successfully complete clinical trie
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e  have our product candidates manufactured for @irtitals and for commercial sal

e  establish a sales, marketing and distributiorastfucture to commercialize any products for whighmay obtain marketing
approval,

e continue preclinical and clinical development fdkB-6899;

® initiate additional preclinical, clinical or othstudies for additional indications for AKB-6548, Bik6899 and other product
candidates that we may develop or acqt

e seek to discover and develop additional productiiciates;

e acquire or i-license other commercial products, product cand&lahd technologie
e make royalty, milestone or other payments underfatwe ir-license agreement

e  maintain, protect and expand our intellectual prypeortfolio;

e  attract and retain skilled personnel;

e create additional infrastructure to support ourrapens as a public compar

We do not expect to generate revenue from produes sinless and until we successfully completeldpueent and obtain regulatory approval
for one or more of our product candidates, whichewgect will take a number of years and is sulifesignificant uncertainty. We have no
manufacturing facilities, and all of our manufaatgractivities are contracted out to third partiédditionally, we currently utilize third-party
clinical research organizations, or CROs, to cattyour clinical development activities, and werthd yet have a sales organization. If we
obtain regulatory approval for any of our produahdidates, we expect to incur significant commdizzition expenses related to product sales
marketing, manufacturing and distribution. Accomlyn we will seek to fund our operations througiblpeior private equity or debt financings
or other sources. However, we may be unable te slitional funds or enter into other arrangemerisn needed on favorable terms or a
Our failure to raise capital or enter into sucheothrrangements as and when needed would haveativeeignpact on our financial condition
and our ability to develop our products.

On March 6, 2014, we effected a 1.75-for-1 stodk spour outstanding common stock. Our historishére and per share information have
been retroactively adjusted to give effect to #teck split. Shares of common stock underlying tamiing stock options and other equity
instruments were proportionately increased anddhbpective exercise prices, if applicable, werg@ortionately reduced in accordance with
terms of the agreements governing such securiesres of common stock reserved for issuance upooanversion of our Series A
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, Seriesd@®&eable Convertible Preferred Stock and Seriesd@&nable Convertible Preferred
Stock were proportionately increased, and the is@econversion prices were proportionately rediuce

On March 25, 2014, we completed our IPO wherebgald 6,762,000 shares of common stock, includir@y®¥7 shares of common stock
pursuant to the full exercise of an over-allotmaption granted to the underwriters, at a pricelof.80 per share. The shares began trading or
the Nasdaq Global Market on March 20, 2014. Theegme net proceeds received by us from the offeviere $104,364,560, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions and estithatiring expenses. Upon the closing of the IHOgfaour outstanding shares of
convertible redeemable preferred stock converterllif,115,183 shares of common stock. Additionalky,are now authorized to issue
175,000,000 shares of common stock and 25,000}0@0@s of preferred stock.

Financial Operations Overview
Revenue

To date, we have not generated any revenue fromsatlles of products or other means. Our abilityanegate product revenue and become
profitable depends upon our ability to successfdéyelop and commercialize products. We expeaidarilosses for the foreseeable future,
we expect these losses to increase as we contimaewvelopment of, and seek regulatory approvajsofar product candidates and begin to
commercialize any approved products. Because afithgerous risks and uncertainties associated wittiyzt development, we are unable to
predict the timing or amount of increased expesaghen or if we will be able to achieve or maintarofitability. Even if we are able to
generate revenue from the sale of our productsnesyenot become profitable. If we fail to becomefipable or are unable to sustain
profitability on a continuing basis, then we mayupable to continue our operations at planned seaetl be forced to reduce our operations.
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Research and Development Expen:

Research and development expenses consist prinoaclysts incurred for the development of our padiandidates, which include:
e employerrelated expenses, including salaries, benefitgetrand stoc-based compensation exper
e expenses incurred under agreements with the CROmeaestigative sites that conduct our clinicaldis;
e the cost of acquiring, developing and manufactudligcal study materials

e facilities, depreciation and other expenses, Witiclude direct and allocated expenses for redtraaintenance of facilities,
insurance and other supplies; ¢

e  costs associated with preclinical and clinical\atiés.

Research and development costs are expensed azthdDosts for certain development activitiesramgnized based on an evaluation of the
progress to completion of specific tasks usingnmiation and data provided to us by our vendorsaamctlinical sites.

We cannot determine with certainty the duration emhpletion costs of the current or future clinisaldies of our product candidates or if,
when, or to what extent we will generate revenoenfthe commercialization and sale of any of oudpo candidates that obtain regulatory
approval. We may never succeed in achieving reguylapproval for any of our product candidates.

The duration, costs and timing of clinical studiesl development of our product candidates will delpen a variety of factors, including:

e the rate of progress of, results of and cosbafeting our Phase 2 clinical development for ABBA8 for the treatment of aner
in patients undergoing dialysi

e assuming the AKBE548 clinical development program for CKD patiemi$ on dialysis advances to Phase 3, the scope,rate 0
progress, results and costs of initiating and cetgy our Phase 3 development program of ~6548;

e the scope, progress, results and costs of pieallidevelopment, laboratory testing and clinidabges for AKB-6899 and any other
product candidates that we may develop or acq

e the cost of having our product candidates manufedttor clinical trials

e (difficulties or delays in enrolling patients in otlnical trials;

e unanticipated changes to laws or regulations agiplécto our clinical trials; an

e the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtagregulatory approvals for AKB-6548 and any otberduct candidates, if clinical
trials are successft

A change in the outcome of any of these variabiiéis respect to the development of a product candidauld mean a significant change in the
costs and timing associated with the developmettaifproduct candidate. For example, if the FDRIAEor another regulatory authority were
to require us to conduct clinical studies beyoraséhthat we currently anticipate, or if we exper@nignificant delays in enrollment in any of
our clinical studies, we could be required to expsignificant additional financial resources amdetion the completion of clinical
development.

From inception through December 31, 2014, we hagerred $77.1 million in research and developm&peases. We plan to increase our
research and development expenditures for thedegdse future as we continue the development of A&8B3 and AKB-6899. Our current
and planned research and development activitiégdadhe following:

e We have completed a Phase 2b study during 20&xamine the safety and efficacy of AKB-6548 in abalysis patients with
anemia related to CKD, and we will prepare the d@ataresentation at the World Congress of Neplyplmeeting in March 2015
and other scientific meeting

e We plan to initiate a Phase 3 development progamKB-6548 in 2015 for anemia secondary to CKD in pasiert on dialysis

e We have begun Phase 2 clinical development foBA#848 for the treatment of anemia in patients ugaoieg dialysis, the second
indication we will pursue. The results from thatdit are expected in the third quarter of 2(

e We intend to file an IND and begin Phase 1 stuftie®\KB-6899.
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Our direct research and development expenses tgnisisipally of external costs, such as startigsfpaid to investigators, consultants, centre
laboratories and CROs in connection with our chhitudies, and costs related to acquiring and faaturing clinical study materials.

We currently have two programs to which our redeartd development costs are attributable. Histllyioae have not accumulated and
tracked our research and development costs orevaopnel and personnel-related costs on a progyaprdgram basis. Our employee and
infrastructure resources, and many of our costse Wigected to broadly applicable research endsavs a result, we are unable to specify
precisely the historical costs incurred for eacbwf programs on a program-by-program basis.

General and Administrative Expenses

We obtain from, and provide to, Aerpio servicesamthe terms of administrative services agreemegtiseen the two companies. S&ettair
Relationships and Related Party Transactions.” Gia@d administrative expenses consist primafilyataries and related costs for personne
including stock-based compensation and travel esggenOther general and administrative expensedadgcility-related costs, fees for
directors, accounting and legal services feesuyiting fees and expenses associated with obtaamiiigmaintaining patents.

We anticipate that our general and administratikpeases will increase in the future as we increasdeadcount to support our continued
research and development and potential commeraiaiz of our product candidates. We also anticiiateeased expenses related to finance,
legal, regulatory and tax-related services assediaith maintaining compliance with exchange ligtand SEC requirements, and our other
costs associated with being a public company. Aaftilly, we anticipate an increase in payroll aeldted expenses if and when we prepar
commercial operations, especially in sales and et

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmeats and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of oanéiial condition and results of operations are dhaseour financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. generallgmed accounting principles. The preparation adehfénancial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the regh@arnounts of assets, liabilities, and expensestendisclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities in our financial statements. On an oimgpbasis, we evaluate our estimates and judgmiectsding those related to accrued expel
and stock-based compensation. We base our estioratgstorical experience, known trends and evemtd,various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstatioesesults of which form the basis for making jodmts about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent frother sources. Actual results may differ from thesimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are désed in more detail in the notes to our financtateaments appearing elsewhere in this Annuze
Report on Form 10-K, we believe the following aaating policies to be most critical to the judgmeaitsl estimates used in the preparation o
our financial statements.

Accrued Research and Development Expen

As part of the process of preparing our finandiatesnents, we are required to estimate our acaupenses. This process involves reviewing
open contracts and purchase orders, communicaithgowr personnel to identify services that haverbperformed on our behalf and
estimating the level of service performed and $woeiated cost incurred for the service when we Ima¢ yet been invoiced or otherwise
notified of the actual cost. The majority of oungee providers invoice us monthly in arrears fensces performed. We make estimates of ou
accrued expenses as of each balance sheet datefinamcial statements based on facts and ciramass known to us at that time. We
confirm the accuracy of our estimates with the iserproviders and make adjustments if necessammiples of estimated accrued researct
development expenses include expenses for:

e CROs in connection with clinical studie

e investigative sites in connection with clinical dies;

e vendors in connection with preclinical developmactivities; anc

e vendors related to product manufacturing, develagraad distribution of clinical material
We base our expenses related to clinical studiesuorstimates of the services received and eféoqpended pursuant to contracts with
multiple CROs that conduct and manage clinicalissidn our behalf. The financial terms of theseagrents are subject to negotiation, vary
from contract to contract and may result in unepayment flows. The scope of services under thesrais can be modified and some of the

agreements may be cancelled by either party upd@tenwnotice. There may be instances in which paysmade to our vendors will exceed
the level of services provided and result in a pyapent of the clinical expense. Payments

63




under some of these contracts depend on factohsasuthe successful enrollment of subjects anddhgpletion of clinical study milestones. In
accruing service fees, we estimate the time pen@d which services will be performed and the |lefetffort to be expended in each period. If
the actual timing of the performance of servicetherlevel of effort varies from our estimate, vaguat the accrual or prepaid accordingly.

Although we do not expect our estimates to be risiedifferent from amounts actually incurred oifir estimates of the status and timing of
services performed differ from the actual status #ming of services performed we may report amstimat are too high or too low in any
particular period. To date, there have been no mahtfferences between our estimates and the atactually incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-Based Awards

We issue stock-based awards to employees and nployees, generally in the form of stock optionstrieted stock and shares of common
stock. We account for our stock-based compensati@rds in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 7C8mpensation—Stock Compensation
or ASC 718. ASC 718 requires all stock-based paysienemployees, including grants of employee stqtions and restricted stock and
modifications to existing stock awards, to be retpgd in the statements of operations and compedeitoss based on their fair values. We
account for stock-based awards to non-employeasdardance with FASB ASC Topic 505-#uity-Based-Payments to Non-Employeess
ASC 505-50, which requires the fair value of theaedo be re-measured at fair value until a peréoroe commitment is reached or
counterparty performance is complete. Describedvibéd the methodology we have utilized in measustogk-based compensation expense.
Following the consummation of our IPO, stock optioommon stock and restricted stock values argm@ted based on the quoted market
price of our common stock.

We estimate the fair value of our stock-based asvafaptions to purchase shares of common stoekigloyees and non-employees using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model, which requities input of highly subjective assumptions, inchgl{a) the expected stock price volatility,
(b) the calculation of the expected term of theraywéc) the risk-free interest rate and (d) expeédiwidends. Due to the lack of a public market
for the trading of our common stock and a lackahpany-specific historical and implied volatilitatd, we have based our estimate of
expected volatility on the historical volatility afgroup of similar companies that are publiclyié@ The historical volatility is calculated ba
on a period of time commensurate with the expetetad assumption. The computation of expected \itjais based on the historical volatility
of a representative group of companies with sintlaracteristics to our company, including stagprofiuct development and life science
industry focus. We are a company in a very eadgetof product development with no revenue andepeesentative group of companies has
certain similar characteristics. We believe theugreelected has sufficient similar economic andistiy characteristics, and includes
companies that are most representative of our compale use the simplified method as prescribechBySEC Staff Accounting Bulletin

No. 107,Share-Based Paymen, calculate the expected term for options graittezmployees as we do not have sufficient histbggarcise
data to provide a reasonable basis upon whichtima&t® the expected term. The expected term idexbf the stock option grant group as a
whole, as we do not expect substantially diffeesdrcise or post-vesting termination behavior ammngemployee population. For options
granted to non-employees, we utilize the contra¢aren of the arrangement as the basis for theaggdegerm assumption. The rifilee interes
rate is based on a treasury instrument whose toorisistent with the expected life of the stockams. The expected dividend yield is
assumed to be zero as we have never paid dividerdleave no current plans to pay any dividendsuortommon stock, similar to our peer
group. We estimate grant date fair value of rettictock awards with corresponding promissorysageng the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. Post IPO, the grant date fair value of ietsfl stock award grants without a promissory g awards of common stock has been
based on the estimated value of our common stottieadate of grant.

Our stock-based awards are subject to either georiperformance-based vesting conditions. Compiensaxpense related to awards to
employees with service-based vesting conditiomedegnized on a straight-line basis based on thet glate fair value over the associated
service period of the award, which is generallyubsting term. Consistent with the guidance in AB5-50, compensation expense related to
awards to non-employees with service-based vestingitions is recognized on a straight-line basiselol on the then-current fair value at eac
financial reporting date prior to the measuremené¢ aver the associated service period of the gwdrith is generally the vesting term.
Compensation expense related to awards to empleyieperformance-based vesting conditions is recaal based on the grant date fair
value over the requisite service period using twkerated attribution method to the extent achiearg of the performance condition is
probable. Consistent with the guidance in ASC 505edmpensation expense related to awards to n@hegaes with performance-based
vesting conditions is recognized based on the therent fair value at each financial reporting datier to the measurement date over the
requisite service period using the accelerateiatton method to the extent achievement of thégoerance condition is probable.

We are also required to estimate forfeitures atithe of grant, and revise those estimates in sp¥s# periods if actual forfeitures differ from
our estimates. We use historical data to estimatesesting forfeitures and record stock-based caorsgtiion expense only for those awards tha
are expected to vest. To the extent that actutdifares differ from our estimates, the differeiceecorded as a
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cumulative adjustment in the period the estimatesewevised. Stock-based compensation expensenieedgn the financial statements is
based on awards that are ultimately expected to ves

In June 2011, certain of our employees purchasarkstof our restricted stock in exchange for preorig notes. Although these notes were
50% recourse to the employees, we have accountede@romissory notes as nonrecourse in theireptsince the promissory notes are not
aligned with a corresponding percentage of the dyidg shares. Accordingly, we have accounted lier ¢combination of the promissory note
and restricted stock as a grant of an option, @astibstance is similar to the grant of an optidre &xercise price of this stock option is the
principal and interest due on the promissory nbte fair value of the stock option is recognize@rathe requisite service period (not the term
of the promissory note) through a charge to comgiias cost. The maturity date of the promissonesatflects the legal term of the stock
option for purposes of valuing the award. The @uiding principal and interest on the promissonesaetas paid in full during the third quarter
of 2014.

Stock-based compensation totaled approximately $@l®dn and $1.6 million for the year ended DecenB1, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

We expect the impact of our stock-based compemsatipense for stock options and restricted stoaktgd to employees and non-employees
to grow in future periods due to the potential @ages in the fair value of our common stock andntrease in the number of grants as a resu
of an increase in headcount.

Emerging Growth Company Statt

The JOBS Act permits an “emerging growth compamytake advantage of an extended transition pedadinply with new or revised
accounting standards applicable to public compahii&schose to “opt out” of this provision and, agsult, we will comply with new or
revised accounting standards as required whenateegdopted. This decision to opt out of the extdrtdansition period under the JOBS Act is
irrevocable.

Results of Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2014 2013
Year ended December 31 Increase

2014 2013 (Decrease’
(In Thousands

Operating expense

Research and developm: $ 25,39¢ $ 10,781 $ 14,615
General and administrati 12,54% 5,152 7,39C
Total operating expens 37,94( 15,93: 22,007
Loss from operation (37,940 (15,937) 22,007
Other income (expense), r 906 2,76€ (1,860)
Net loss $ (37,039 $ (13,167) $ 23,86

Research and Development Exper. Research and development expenses were $25idmidt the year ended December 31, 2014,
compared to $10.8 million for the year ended Deam®, 2013. The increase of $14.6 million was pritlp due to the following expense
increases related to AKB-6548: Phase 2b study odstpproximately $1.7 million due to ongoing etmant through April 2014, $2.9 million
related to the initiation and conduct of Phaseirficdl development for the treatment of anemiaatigmts undergoing dialysis, $0.3 million
related to Phase 3 program costs and $3.3 miletatad to a thorough QT (TQT) study and other céihinon-clinical and manufacturing
costs. Research and development expenses wdterfurtreased by $0.7 million of patent costs, $ilfon of stock compensation costs, $
million related to increased headcount, travel @musulting costs, and $0.3 million related to ddegelopment for AKB-6899.

General and Administrative ExpenséSeneral and administrative expenses were $1aliomior the year ended December 31, 2014,
compared to $5.2 million for the year ended Decamlie2013. The increase of $7.4 million was prihgatue to the following expense
increases: $1.8 million of stock-based compensa#iory million of professional fees, $2.8 millioglated to increased headcount, severance
and consulting costs, $1.3 million related to imswwe and facilities and $0.7 million in commergknning costs.

Other Income (Expense), NeéDther income (expense), net, was $0.9 milliortlieryear ended December 31, 2014, compared ton$iftién
for the year ended December 31, 2013. Other indexgense), net for the year ended December 31, 20pdmarily related to
reimbursements from Aerpio for employee-relatedso$approximately $0.7 million and interest inaof approximately
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$0.2 million. Other income (expense), net foryear ended December 31, 2013 included $1.0 milliceimbursements from Aerpio for
employeerelated costs and $2.4 million gain on the extisbmient of debt, partially offset by net interegpense of $0.7 million. The decre
in reimbursements from Aerpio for employee-relatesits is principally the result of reduced timergg®y our employees on Aerpio related
activities. Under the terms of the administragegvices agreements entered into upon disposifiéxipio in 2011, we and Aerpio obtain
from, and provide to, each other certain services.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 20itP

Year ended December 31, Increase
2013 2012 (Decrease)
(In Thousands

Operating expense

Research and developmt $ 10,781 $ 5632 $ 5,14¢
General and administratiy 5,152 2,891 2,261
Total operating expens 15,93¢ 8,528 7,41C
Loss from operation (15,937) (8,529 7,41C
Other income, ne 2,76€ 327 2,43¢
Net loss $ (13,167) $ (8,19€) $ 4,971

Research and Development Exper. Research and development expenses were $10i8midt the year ended December 31, 2013,
compared to $5.6 million for the year ended DecamBfie2012, an increase of $5.1 million. The inseewas primarily due to an increase in
AKB-6548 clinical trial costs of approximately $2.5 linih due to the initiation of our Phase 2b studyufy 2013 and its continued enrollime
an increase of approximately $1.3 million in drudpstance and drug manufacturing costs and increzstedt costs of approximately

$1.3 million.

General and Administrative Expens&eneral and administrative expenses were $5.2omiftrr the year ended December 31, 2013, compare
to $2.9 million for the year ended December 31,20he increase of $2.3 million was primarily doeah increase in stock-based
compensation expense of $1.4 million and incre@sefitssional fees of $0.5 million indirectly reldt® the initial public offering. The
remaining increase was due to offsetting increasésdecreases in all general and administrativis.cos

Other Income, NetOther income, net, was $2.8 million for the yeaded December 31, 2013, compared to $0.3 milbothe year ended
December 31, 2012, an increase of approximatel @#llion. Other income, net for the year ended &wgber 31, 2013 included $1.0 million
in reimbursements from Aerpio for employee-relatedts of the Company and a $2.4 million gain onetktenguishment of debt, partially
offset by net interest expense of $0.7 million. @timcome, net for the year ended December 31, 2@l2ded $2.0 million in reimbursements
from Aerpio for employee-related costs of the Compaartially offset by net interest expense ob#illion. The decrease in reimbursement:
from Aerpio for employee-related costs of the Comypia principally the result of reduced time spleyntour employees on Aerpio related
activities. Under the terms of the administratieevices agreements entered into upon dispositigkegbio by the Company in 2011, the
Company and Aerpio obtain from and provide to eattler certain services.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred losses and cumulative negativie ftaws from operations since our inception in ketry 2007, and as of December 31,
2014, we had an accumulated deficit of $100.7 amllWe anticipate that we will continue to incusdes for at least the next several years. W
expect that our research and development and demetadministrative expenses will continue to @&se and, as a result, we will need
additional capital to fund our operations, whichmay raise through a combination of equity offesindebt financings, other third-party
funding, marketing and distribution arrangements atier collaborations, strategic alliances anehlgng arrangements.

We have funded our operations principally fromdhé of common stock, preferred stock and convertibtes. As of December 31, 2014, we
had cash and cash equivalents and available ferssalrities of approximately $108.9 million. Caskxcess of immediate requirements is
invested in accordance with our investment polymarily with a view to liquidity and capital preivation. Accordingly, available for sale
securities, consisting principally of corporate gmyernment debt securities and stated at faireyalte also available as a source of liquidity.
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Cash Flows

The following table sets forth the primary souraed uses of cash for each of the periods set featthw:

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(In Thousands

Net cash provided by (used il

Operating activities $ (27,487 $ (11,332 $ (7,211)
Investing activities (65,352) (11,42%) 1,36€
Financing activities 104,40( 42,331 2,47¢
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 11,568 $ 19,57¢ $ (3,370

Operating Activities During the years ended December 31, 2014, 20d2@h2, our operating activities used net casi2@f%million, $11.3
million and $7.2 million respectively. The net caged in operating activities in these periods pritm resulted from our net losses and
changes in our working capital accounts. The irséa net cash used in operations for the yearcebdeember 31, 2014 as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2013 was due primarilygtoeh operating expenses during the year endedrbleee31, 2014 of $37.9 million i
compared to $15.9 million for the year ended Decan®, 2013 adjusted for non-cash items, includbogk-based compensation of $6.0
million in 2014. The increase in net cash usedperations for the year ended December 31, 2018rapared to the year ended December 31
2012 was due primarily to higher operating expemseba $2.4 million gain on the extinguishmentelbtdduring the year ended December 31
2013.

Investing Activitie. During the years ended December 31, 2014 and, 2@t 3nvesting activities used net cash of $65ilian and $11.4
million, respectively and provided cash of $1.4limil during the year ended December 31, 2012. Heh eised in investing activities for the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was comhprigearily of purchases of available for sale sii@ms of and purchases of equipme
offset by proceeds from the maturities of availdblesale securities. Net cash provided by investiativities for the year ended December 31,
2012 was $1.4 million and consisted primarily afggeds from sales of available for sale securities.

Financing ActivitiesDuring the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h2 our net cash provided by financing activities $104.4

million, $42.3 million and $2.5 million, respectiye Net cash provided by financing activities fbetyear ended December 31, 2014 consiste
primarily of net proceeds from the issuance of camrstock in connection with our IPO. Net cash pdedi by financing activities for the year
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted printdiniet proceeds from the issuance of preferreckst

Operating Capital Requirements

To date, we have not generated any revenue frodupt®ales. We do not know when, or if, we will geate revenue from product sales. We
do not expect to generate significant revenue fpooduct sales unless and until we obtain regulaapproval of and commercialize one of our
current or future product candidates. We anticiplaé® we will continue to generate losses for tiregeeable future, and we expect the loss
increase as we continue the development of, aridregelatory approvals for, our product candidasesl begin to commercialize any apprc
products. We are subject to all risks incidenti® development and commercialization of novel theutics, and we may encounter unforesee
expenses, difficulties, complications, delays atiepunknown factors that may adversely affecttmginess. We expect to incur additional
costs associated with operating as a public comptsay we anticipate that we will need substamtiitional funding in connection with our
continuing operations.

We believe that the net proceeds from our IPO amcderisting cash and cash equivalents and avaifabkale securities will be sufficient to
fund our projected operating requirements throtnghfirst half of 2016. However, we may require éiddal capital for the further developm:
of our existing product candidates and may alsa neeaise additional funds sooner to pursue alegelopment activities related to additional
product candidates.

If and until we can generate a sufficient amourmesknue from our products, we expect to finanteréucash needs through public or private
equity or debt offerings. Additional capital maytthe available on reasonable terms, if at all.dfave unable to raise additional capital in
sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to usnag have to significantly delay, scale back ocaliginue the development or
commercialization of one or more of our productdidates. If we raise additional funds through g®iance of additional debt or equity
securities, it could result in dilution to our etxig) stockholders or increased fixed payment oliliges, and any such securities may have right
senior to those of our common stock. If we incutelbtedness, we could become subject to covenatta/ttuld restrict our operations and
potentially impair our competitiveness, such astitions on our ability to incur additional debinitations on our ability to acquire, sell or
license intellectual property rights and other agiag restrictions that
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could adversely impact our ability to conduct ousinmess. Any of these events could significantlyrhaur business, financial condition and
prospects.

Our forecast of the period of time through which fimancial resources will be adequate to supportaperations is a forward-looking
statement and involves risks and uncertainties aahahl results could vary as a result of a nurobéactors. We have based this estimate on
assumptions that may be substantially different #hetual results, and we could utilize our avadatdpital resources sooner than we currently
expect. Our future funding requirements, both naad long-term, will depend on many factors, inatgd but not limited to those described
under Iltem 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report.

If we cannot expand our operations or otherwisétakige on our business opportunities because waledafficient capital, our business,
financial condition and results of operations cdutdmaterially adversely affected.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

In December 2013, the Company entered into a theaelease for 6,837 square feet of office spacgaimbridge, Massachusetts. The least
monthly lease payments of approximately $31,00Q@Herfirst twelve months, with annual rent escalathereafter, and provides a rent
abatement of approximately $31,000 for the firditdalendar month of the lease term. The lease tetTmmenced in January 2014. The
Company has recorded a deferred lease obligati@fid which represents the cumulative differendeséen actual facility lease payments
lease expense recognized ratably over the leagmlpwihich is included in other liabilities. In ardance with the lease, the Company enterec
into a cash-collateralized irrevocable standbyetetf credit in the amount of $125,345, naminglémllord as beneficiary. The Company did
not have rent expense associated with this lea2@18.

In December 2014, the Company entered into a Rittndment to Lease (Amendment) for additional effipace contiguous to its current
office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The Alment includes leasing an additional 8,530 squaetdf office space (Expansion Space),
with an estimated occupancy date of March 1, 200t%e Amendment provides for additional monthly &epayments of approximately $45,(
for the 8,530 square feet for the first twelve nimsraind provides for annual rent escalations thienealhe Amendment includes a Landlord’s
contribution for leasehold improvements in the amaf approximately $100,000. The Company curgergtords a deferred lease obligation
for the original lease which represents the cunudalifference between actual facility lease payteaemd lease expense recognized ratably
over the lease period also record a deferred Iglalsgation for the Expansion Space at time of oetigy. The Company has an existing cash-
collateralized irrevocable standby letter of credi$125,345, naming the landlord as beneficidryconnection with the Amendment, the
Company paid an additional cash security deposhadandlord of $179,130.

We lease office equipment under a three year ddpéae with payments commencing in February 2014,
At December 31, 2014, the Company’s future minimpapments required under these leases are as follows

Payments due by period

More

Less than 1 1-3 than 5

Total year years 3-5 years years
Capital Lease Obligatior $ 8,65( $ 420C $ 4,45C $ - 8 -
Operating Lease Obligatiol 1,811,10¢ 875,47¢ 935,62¢ - -
Total $ 1,819,75¢ $  879,67¢ $940,07¢ $ - $ -

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2014 we did not have any of&bed sheet arrangements as defined in the rulesegathtions of the SEC.
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Ilte m 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changiggarest rates. As of December 31, 2014 and 20&@3)ad cash and cash equivalents and
available for sale securities of $108.9 million &82.6 million, respectively, primarily money markeutual funds consisting of U.S.
government debt securities, certificates of deparsit corporate debt securities. Our primary exgosumarket risk is interest rate sensitivity,
which is affected by changes in the general le¥&l.8. interest rates, particularly because ouestments are in short-term securities. Our
investments are subject to interest rate risk aifidadl in value if market interest rates increafaie to the short-term duration of our
investment portfolio and the low risk profile ofraavestments, an immediate 100 basis point chamgeerest rates would not have a material
effect on the fair market value of our portfolio.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. as of Deee®b, 2014 and 2013, and the relate
consolidated statements of operations and compsaleeloss, redeemable convertible preferred stockséockholders’ equity (deficit) and
cash flows for each of the three years in the pezinded December 31, 2014. These financial statsraes the responsibility of the Compasy’
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ait afuithe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementgaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Akebia
Therapeutics, Inc. at December 31, 2014 and 201Btte consolidated results of its operations &édash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2014, in conformitly W.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 4, 2015

71




AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
Consolida ted Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Available for sale securitie
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Deferred offering cost
Other asset
Total asset

Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stockand stockholders' equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Total current liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Redeemable convertible preferred stock; $0.0000¥alae; 0 and 5,500,636
shares authorized at December 31, 2014 and Dmedi, 2013, respectivel

Series A redeemable convertible preferred sto@dgd 734,538 shares issued

and outstanding at December 31, 2014 and Deaedih@013;
(Aggregate liquidation preference of $39,36Datember 31, 201:

Series B redeemable convertible preferred stoeiid1,287,525 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 201Dacdmber 31, 2013;
(Aggregate liquidation preference of $21,03Datember 31, 201:

Series C redeemable convertible preferred stoekidd3,302,885 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 20149andmber 31, 2013;
(Aggregate liquidation preference of $97,20®atember 31, 201:

Total redeemable convertible preferred st

Stockholders' equity (deficit

December 31

December 31

Preferred stock $0.00001 par value, 25,000,00sstthres authorized at December 31, 20

and 2013, respectively; 0 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, c&sply

Common stock: $0.00001 par value; 175,000,000 dnddD,000 shares authorized at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively; 2062A0and 1,383,345
shares issued and outstanding at December 24,&@1 2013,
respectively

Additional paic-in capital

Treasury stock, at cost, 8,463 she

Accumulated other comprehensive |

Accumulated defici

Total stockholders' equity (defici
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferstdck and stockholders'
equity (deficit)

2014 2013

$ 32,78C 21,21¢
76,13¢ 11,341

48 135

1,514 740

110,48( 33,431

210 30

— 1,07¢

305 125

$ 110,99 34,66¢
$ 2,021 714
4,864 3,18¢

6,88E 3,90z

32 8

$ 6,917 3,91(
— 39,367

— 21,257

— 97,20z

$ — 157,82
204,96¢ —

(162) —

(56) —
(100,679 (127,079
104,07¢ (127,079

$ 110,99 34,66¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.
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AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Years ended December 3.

2014 2013 2012
Operating expense
Research and developmt 25,39¢ 10,781 5,632
General and administrati 12,54 5,152 2,891
Total operating expens 37,94( 15,93: 8,52
Operating los! (37,940 (15,939 (8,527)
Other income (expense
Interest income (expense), | 206 (704) (1,644
Extinguishment of debt and other liabiliti — 2,42C —
Reimbursements from Aerp 700 1,05C 1,971
Net loss (37,039 (13,167 (8,19€)
Reconciliation of net loss to net loss applicableammon
stockholders
Net loss (37,039 (13,167 (8,19¢)
Accretion on preferred stoc (86,899 (55,88¢) (3,329
Net loss applicable to common stockholc (123,937) (69,057) (11,519
Net loss per share applicable to common stockhe— basic
and dilutec (8.09) (126.99) (27.82)
Weighted-average number of common shares used in ne
loss per share applicable to common stockholdbesic
and dilutec 15,406,38! 544,00 414,10
Comprehensive los
Net loss (37,039 (13,167 (8,19¢)
Other comprehensive los
Unrealized loss on securiti (56) — —
Comprehensive los (37,090 (13,167 (8,196€)

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertibledferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stocl

Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

Series A
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series B Series C
Redeemable Redeemable
Convertible Convertible

Preferred Stock Preferred Stock

2012 Series X

Redeemable

Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Additional

Number
of
Shares

Amount

Number of
Shares

Number of

Shares  Amount Amount

Number

of

Shares

Amount

$0.00001

Number of
Shares

Par

Value

Paid-In  Unrealized Accumulated Treasury
Capital Gain/Loss Deficit Stock

Total
Stockholders'

Equity
(Deficit)

Balance at December 31, 20

Accretion of preferred stock to
redemption valu

Issuance of restricted common
stock

Share-based compensation
expenst

Net income (loss

734,53¢ $ 34,927

2,16€

1,287,52¢ $ 18,65¢

1,157

$ —

563,17t $
52,582

— $ — $ — 3 (48,1927 $ —

(122) (3,200)

(8,196)

$ (48,197
(3.329)

122
(8,196)

Balance at December 31, 20

Issuance of restricted common
stock

Issuance of common sto

Exercise of stock optior

Forfeitures of restricted commo
stock

Reclassification of 2012 Series
preferred stock upon
modification

Sale of 2012 Series X preferrec
stock, net of issuance costs ¢
$42,09¢€

Sale of Series C preferred stocl
net of issuance costs of
$1,151,92¢

Conversion of 2012 Series X
preferred stock into Series C
preferred stoc

Accretion of preferred stock to
redemption valu

Share-based compensation
expenst

Net income (loss

734,53¢

37,092

1,287,52¢ 19,81¢

2,945,74; 40,08¢

357,14 4,944

52,17¢C

25,00

25,00

(50,000)

2,486

2,458

(4,944)

615,757
583,12¢
176,717

14,357

(6,612

(59,58¢)

(54,317)

(13,167

(59,58¢)

5

(55,886)

1,564
(13,167)

Balance at December 31, 20

Issuance of common sto

Issuance of restricted common

stock

Forfeitures of restricted commo
stock

Receipt of payment on

promissory
notes issued in exchange for
shares of common sto

Exercise of option

Accretion of preferred stock to
redemption valu

Conversion of preferred sto

Share-based compensation
expenst

Deferred offering cos- IPO

Unrealized gain/los

Treasury shares purchased, no
retired (2,553

Treasury shares purchased,
retired (5,910

Net income (loss

(734,539

734,53¢ 39,367

34,821
(74,18¢)

1,287,52¢ 21,257  3,302,88¢

(1,287,529

24,257
(45,514)

(3,302,889

27,822
(125,029

1,383,34¢
6,762,000

56,00C

(53,835)

116,394

12,115,18¢

(2,553)

(5,910)

(127,079)

237
89

(85,66%)
180,057

(1,237)
64,67C

6,01C
(10,718

(94)

(68)

(37,039

(127,077)
114,95¢

237
89

(86,900)
244,727

6,01C
(10,715)
(56)
(94)

(68)
(37,039

Balance at December 31, 20

»
I

20,370,62: $

— $ 204,96¢ $ (56) $ (100,679 $  (162)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtrsients
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AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Operating activities:
Net loss $ (37,03) $ (13,167 $ (8,19¢)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Gain on extinguishment of debt and other liabgi — (2,420 —
Depreciation expens 49 1 —
Amortization of debt issuance co: — 8 17
Amortization of premium/discount on investme 268 752 1,654
Stoclk-based compensation expel 6,01C 1,564 122
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 87 (50) 4)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (773) (167) 244
Other asset (179) (125) —
Accounts payable and accrued expet 4,061 2,272 (1,04¢)
Other liabilities 28 — —
Net cash used in operating activit (27,487) (11,337) (7,2117)
Investing activities:
Purchase of equipme (229) (29) —
Proceeds from maturities of available for sale sées 12,58¢ 1,99C —
Proceeds from sale of available for sale secul — — 1,36¢€
Purchases of available for sale securi (77,709 (13,395 —
Net cash used in investing activiti (65,352) (11,42%) 1,36¢
Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertibfemped stock, net of
issuance cos — 40,047 —
Proceeds from issuance of 2012 Series X prefetomit snet of issuance
costs — 2,27¢ 2,47¢
Repurchase of treasury stc (162 — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net chigseicost 104,32¢ 5 —
Proceeds from receipt of payment on promissorysisgied in exchange
for shares of common sto 237 — —
Payments on capital lease obligatit (3) — —
Net cash provided by financing activiti 104,40( 42,331 2,47¢
Increase in cash and cash equival 11,56t 19,57¢ (3,370
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 21,21¢ 1,641 5,011
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 32,78( $ 21,21 $ 1,641
Non-cash financing activitie:
Conversion of series A, series B and series C pafestock into common stor $ 244727 $ —  $ —
Accretion of preferred stock to redemption va $ 86,89¢ $ 55,88¢ $ 3,328
Unpaid initial public offering issuance co: $ — 3 857 $ —
Assets acquired under capital le $ — % 12 % —
Reclassification of 2012 Series X preferred staokif debt to
preferred stocl $ —  $ 2,48¢ % —
Conversion of 2012 Series X preferred stock intoeSeC preferred stoc $ — % 4944  $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsdistents.
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Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of Organization and Operations

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. (Akebia, or the Compdsyg biopharmaceutical company focused on deligdrinovative therapies to patients with
kidney disease through the biology of hypoxia-iridlecfactor (HIF). HIF is the primary regulator thie production of red blood cells in the
body and a potentially novel mechanism of treatingmia. The Company’s lead product candidate, ABB86is being developed as a once-
daily, oral therapy that has successfully complet&hase 2b study demonstrating that AKB-6548 atelysand predictably raise hemoglobin
levels in non-dialysis patients with anemia relatedhronic kidney disease (CKD).

The Company’s operations to date have been lindemtganizing and staffing the Company, busineasnuhg, raising capital, acquiring and
developing its technology, identifying potentiabguct candidates and undertaking preclinical amicell studies. The Company has not
generated any product revenue to date, nor is tHreressurance of any future product revenue. Tmepany’s product candidates are subject
to long development cycles and there is no assardrecCompany will be able to successfully devetdyain regulatory approval for or marl
its product candidates.

The Company is subject to a number of risks inclgdbut not limited to, the need to obtain adeqadtitional funding, possible failure of
preclinical testing or clinical trials, the needdiotain marketing approval for its product candédathe development of new technological
innovations by competitors, the need to succegstwinmercialize and gain market acceptance of &ttyeoCompany'’s products that are
approved and the ability to protect its propriet@ghnology. If the Company does not successfuipmercialize any of its products, it will be
unable to generate product revenue or achievetabdfty.

The Company believes that it can continue as aggoamcern as its cash resources of approximatdlg.9Imillion at December 31, 2014 will
be sufficient to allow the Company to fund its emtroperating plan through the required minimunigaeof at least the next twelve

months. There can be no assurance, howeverhiautrent operating plan will be achieved in iheeframe anticipated by the Company, or
that its cash resources will fund the Company’satireg plan for the period anticipated by the Compar that additional funding will be
available on terms acceptable to the Company, aif.at

Unless otherwise indicated, all information in théimancial statements gives retrospective efiethé 1.75-for-1 stock split of the Company’s
common stock (the Stock Split) that was effectedvianch 6, 2014 (see Note 7), as well as any otfoekssplits in historical periods.

The Company was incorporated on February 27, 20d@énthe laws of the State of Delaware.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Initial Public Offering

On March 25, 2014, the Company completed its intiolic offering (IPO) whereby the Company sol@@,000 shares of common stock
including 879,647 shares of common stock pursuatitd full exercise of an over-allotment optionrgeal to the underwriters in connection
with the offering at a price of $17.00 per sharee Thares began trading on the Nasdaq Global Markktarch 20, 2014. The aggregate net
proceeds received by the Company from the offeniage $104,364,560, net of underwriting discount$ @mmissions and estimated offering
expenses payable by the Company. Upon the clositigedPO, all outstanding shares of convertibessnable preferred stock converted into
12,115,183 shares of common stock. As of Marct2@%5, the Company is authorized to issue 175,000sb@res of common stock and
25,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock.

Our preferred stock was redeemable at the grekfairavalue or the original issuance price. Weargled $86,899,555 of accretion on the
preferred stock in the period from January 1, 2Btdugh the date of the closing of our IPO whighresents the difference in the carrying
value at December 31, 2013 and the fair value ®@ptieferred stock just prior to conversion into coon stock.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiaentade the accounts of the Company and its wholtyred subsidiary, Akebia
Therapeutics Securities Corporation. All intercamyp balances and transactions have been elimiiratamhsolidation. These consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in confgrmith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
(“GAAP”). Any reference in these notes to applieaguidance is meant to refer to the authoritatiméted States generally accepted
accounting principles as found in the Accountingn8tards Codification (“ASC”) and Accounting Starttaltpdate (“ASU”) of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”).
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronouncemerdgssaued by the Financial Accounting Standards @aASB) or other standard setting
bodies and adopted by the Company as of the speédffective date. Unless otherwise discussedCtmpany believes the impact of recently
issued standards that are not yet effective willhave a material impact on its financial posit@mesults of operations upon adoption.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-10, vklominates the concept of a development stage/eat DSE, in its entirety from
GAAP. Under existing guidance, DSEs are requiregtpmrt incremental information, including inceptito-date financial information, in their
financial statements. A DSE is an entity devotingstantially all of its efforts to establishing ewmbusiness and for which either planned
principal operations have not yet commenced or lsanemenced but there has been no significant resegeanerated from that business.
Entities classified as DSEs will no longer be sabfe these incremental reporting requirements aftiepting ASU No. 02014-10. ASU

No. 201+10 is effective for fiscal years beginning afteed@mber 15, 2014, with early adoption permittedrd¥pective application is required
for the elimination of incremental DSE disclosupeior to the issuance of ASU No. 2014-10, the Camydead met the definition of a DSE
since its inception. The Company elected to aduptASU early and, therefore, it has eliminatedittteemental disclosures previously
required of DSEs, starting with the Quarterly Répor Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, ZBild No. 001-36352), which was filed
with the SEC on August 11, 2014.

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as componentsaitarprise about which separate discrete informasi@vailable for evaluation by the chief
operating decision maker, or decision-making gramipleciding how to allocate resources and in a&isgperformance. The Company views
its operations and manages its business in onatipgisegment, which is the business of developitdjcommercializing proprietary
therapeutics based on HIF biology.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make estand assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities andalisce of contingent assets and liabilities atdate of the financial statements and the repc
amounts of revenues and expenses during the negqrtiriod. Actual results may differ from thosdrastes. Management considers many
factors in selecting appropriate financial accauptpolicies and controls, and in developing thavestes and assumptions that are used in the
preparation of these financial statements. Managemast apply significant judgment in this procdasaddition, other factors may affect
estimates, including: expected business and opestchanges, sensitivity and volatility associatétth the assumptions used in developing
estimates, and whether historical trends are egpdotbe representative of future trends. The esiim process often may yield a range of
potentially reasonable estimates of the ultimaterioutcomes, and management must select an atatfialls within that range of
reasonable estimates. Estimates are used in fbeviiof) areas, among others: stock-based compensatjpense, fair value of common stock
and preferred stock and the Company’s other edustyuments (in periods prior to the IPO), accragdenses, prepaid expenses and income
taxes.

Prior to the IPO, the Company utilized significastimates and assumptions in determining the &irevof its common stock. The Company
granted stock options at exercise prices not hems the fair market value of its common stock derdeined by the Board of Directors
contemporaneously at the date such grants were, mittieénput from management. For periods prioMarch 2014, the fair value of common
stock at the grant date was adjusted in conneutitinthe Company'’s retrospective fair value assesgrfor financial reporting purposes. Prior
to the Company’s IPO, the Board of Directors detead the estimated fair value of the Company’s camistock based on a number of
objective and subjective factors, including extémarket conditions affecting the biotechnologyustty sector and the prices at which the
Company sold shares of preferred stock, the supegiots and preferences of securities senioréoGbmpany’s common stock at the time anc
the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, suat an IPO or sale of the Company.

The Company utilized various valuation methodolegreaccordance with the framework of the Ameribigtitute of Certified Public
Accountants Technical Practice AMaluation of Privately-Held Company Equity Secestissued as Compensaticio estimate the fair value
of its common stock in periods prior to March 20The methodologies included a probability analysisuding both a potential public trading
scenario and potential sale scenario. In both smnaalue is estimated using the guideline putdimpany method. The sale scenario inclt
an adjustment for a market participant acquisipogmium. Value is allocated among the preferreda@mdmon shares according to the rights
associated with each type of security. Valuatiotho@ologies include estimates and assumptiong¢aire the Company’s judgment. These
estimates include assumptions regarding futureopaence, including the successful completion ofilalip offering. Significant changes to the
key assumptions used in the valuations could r@sulifferent fair values of common stock at eaatuation date.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of all cash od, ldeposits and funds invested in available fta securities with original maturities of thr
months or less at the time of purchase. At Decer@begP014, the Company’s cash is primarily in momayrket funds. The Company may
maintain balances with its banks in excess of f@tiemsured limits.

Investments

Management determines the appropriate classifitaticecurities at the time of purchase and reatetusuch designation as of each balance
sheet date. Currently, the Company classifiesegilisties as available-for-sale which are inclugtedurrent assets as they are intended to fun
current operations. The Company carries availatieséle securities at fair value, with temporaryeatized gains and losses, reported in
accumulated other comprehensive income, a compafistbckholders’ equity (deficit). The Company daots periodic reviews to identify
and evaluate each investment that has an unreddigedin accordance with the meaning of other-tieamporary impairment and its applicat
to certain investments. When assessing whetheclandén the fair value of a security is other-themporary, the Company considers the fair
market value of the security, the duration of teeusity’s decline, and prospects for the underlying busineéBased on these considerations
Company did not identify any other-than-temporanyealized losses. Unrealized losses on availablsdle securities that are determined t
temporary, and not related to credit loss, arerdah net of tax, in accumulated other comprehenisivome. The amortized cost of debt
securities in this category reflects amortizatibpr@miums and accretion of discounts to maturitsnputed under the effective interest metl
The Company includes this amortization in the @aptinterest income (expense), net” within the Goiggted Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss. We also include in net investimeome, realized gains and losses and declimealue determined to be other than
temporary. The Company bases the cost of secusiieisupon the specific identification method, amdudes interest and dividends on
securities in interest income.

Research and Development

Costs incurred in connection with research and ldpweent activities are expensed as incurred. Rekeard development expenses consist of
(i) employee-related expenses, including salakiesgfits, travel and stock-based compensation egpéii) external research and developmen
expenses incurred under arrangements with thirilegasuch as contract research organizationssiigational sites and consultants; (iii) the
cost of acquiring, developing and manufacturingichl study materials; (iv) facilities and othepexses, which include direct and allocated
expenses for rent and maintenance of facilitied; (&h costs associated with preclinical and clihaativities and regulatory operations.

The Company enters into consulting, research amel aigreements with commercial firms, researchmisgersities and others for the provisi
of goods and services. Under such agreements,ahmp&hy may pay for services on an hourly, montilarterly, project or other basis. Such
arrangements are generally cancellable upon rebkonatice and payment of costs incurred. Costga@nsidered incurred based on an
evaluation of the progress to completion of spec#dsks under each contract using information atd pgrovided to us by the Company’s
clinical sites and vendors. These costs considirett and indirect costs associated with spepifajects, as well as fees paid to various entitie
that perform certain research on behalf of the Camp

Patents
Costs incurred in connection with the applicationdnd issuance of patents are expensed as incurred

Income Taxes

Income taxes are recorded in accordance with FAGBCT740,Income TaxefASC 740), which provides for deferred taxes usingasset and
liability approach. The Company recognizes defetexdassets and liabilities for the expected futaxeconsequences of events that have bee
included in the financial statements or tax retubeferred tax assets and liabilities are deterthimesed on the difference between the fina
statement and tax bases of assets and liabiliieg @wnacted tax rates in effect for the year iicvkthe differences are expected to reverse.
Valuation allowances are provided, if, based upawteight of available evidence, it is more likédan not that some or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positiorectordance with the provisions of ASC 740. Wheceutain tax positions exist, the
Company recognizes the tax benefit of tax positiorthe extent that the benefit will more likelyathnot be realized. The determination as to
whether the tax benefit will more likely than nat kealized is based upon the technical meritseofak position, as well as consideration of the
available facts and circumstances. As of Decembg?@14 and 2013, the Company does not have any
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significant uncertain tax positions. The Compargognizes interest and penalties related to uncetdai positions in income tax expense.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its stock-based compemsatvards in accordance with FASB ASC Topic T@&mnpensation—Stock
CompensatiofASC 718). ASC 718 requires all stock-based payments to empkayincluding grants of employee stock optionsrastticted
stock and modifications to existing stock award€ye recognized in the statements of operationcanmgrehensive loss based on their fair
values. The Company accounts for stock-based awaunizn-employees in accordance with FASB ASC Té&pis-50 Equity-Based Payments
to Non-EmployeeASC 505-50), which requires the fair value of #veard to be re-measured at fair value until a perémce commitment is
reached or counterparty performance is complete.Jémpany’s stock-based awards are comprised ci sfations, shares of restricted stock
and shares of common stock. The Company estimagesit value of options granted using the Blackeses option pricing model. The
Company uses the value of its common stock to aéterthe fair value of restricted stock awards emeimon stock awards.

The Black-Scholes option pricing model requiresitipait of certain subjective assumptions, includiagthe expected stock price volatility,
(b) the calculation of expected term of the awéithe risk-free interest rate and (d) expectaitidnds. Due to the lack of a public market for
the trading of the Company’s common stock and lk ¢ddcompany-specific historical and implied voligyi data, the Company has based its
estimate of expected volatility on the historicalatility of a group of similar companies that gueblicly traded. The historical volatility is
calculated based on a period of time commensuriletine expected term assumption. The computati@xpected volatility is based on the
historical volatility of a representative groupaafmpanies with similar characteristics to the Comypincluding stage of product development
and life science industry focus. The Company ia irery early stage of product development withex@nue and the representative group of
companies has certain similar characteristicsecdbmpany. The Company believes the group seldaedufficient similar economic and
industry characteristics, and includes companiasahe most representative of the Company The Coynpses the simplified method as
prescribed by the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 67,Share-Based Paymem, calculate the expected term for options gratded
employees as it does not have sufficient histoegarcise data to provide a reasonable basis uparhwo estimate the expected term. The
expected term is applied to the stock option ggaotip as a whole, as the Company does not explestssuially different exercise or post-
vesting termination behavior among its employeeufaton. For options granted to non-employeesQbmpany utilizes the contractual term
of the arrangement as the basis for the expectedassumption. The risk-free interest rate is based treasury instrument whose term is
consistent with the expected life of the stock adi The expected dividend yield is assumed tcebe as the Company has never paid
dividends and has no current plans to pay any e€idg on its common stock, which is similar to tleen@any’s peer group.

The Company’s stock-based awards are subjecthereiervice- or performance-based vesting conditi@ompensation expense related to
awards to employees with service-based vestingitionsl is recognized on a straight-line basis basethe grant date fair value over the
associated service period of the award, which iegaly the vesting term. Consistent with the goain ASC 505- 50, compensation expens
related to awards to non-employees with servicedagsting conditions is recognized on a straigigtasis based on the then-current fair
value at each financial reporting date prior tortteasurement date over the associated servicedpertbe award, which is generally the
vesting term. Compensation expense related to awaremployees with performanbased vesting conditions is recognized based ogrtra
date fair value over the requisite service perisicigi the accelerated attribution method to thergxehievement of the performance condition
is probable. Consistent with the guidance in ASG6-50, compensation expense related to awards t@mpuioyees with performance-based
vesting conditions is recognized based on the therent fair value at each financial reporting datier to the measurement date over the
requisite service period using the accelerateiatton method to the extent achievement of thégoerance condition is probable.

The Company is also required to estimate forfegatethe time of grant, and revise those estimatdge subsequent periods if actual forfeit
differ from its estimates. The Company uses histbrilata to estimate pre-vesting forfeitures awdne stockbased compensation expense

for those awards that are expected to vest. Textent that actual forfeitures differ from the Camp’s estimates, the difference is recorded &
a cumulative adjustment in the period the estimatr® revised. Stock-based compensation expensgniged in the financial statements is
based on awards that are ultimately expected to ves

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company is required to disclose informatiorathmssets and liabilities reported at fair valuat tenables an assessment of the inputs use
in determining the reported fair values. FASB AS@pit 820,Fair Value Measurements and Disclosuf(@$C 820), establishes a hierarchy of
inputs used in measuring fair value that maximthesuse of observable inputs and minimizes theotisaobservable inputs by requiring that
the observable inputs be used when available.
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Observable inputs are inputs that market parti¢gpamuld use in pricing the asset or liability bdhem market data obtained from sources
independent of the Company. Unobservable inputingrds that reflect the Company’s assumptions atimiinputs that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability, and developed based on the best information availalitee circumstances. The fair value
hierarchy applies only to the valuation inputs usedetermining the reported fair value of the istveents, and is not a measure of the
investment credit quality. The three levels of filie value hierarchy are described below:

e Level 1 - Valuations based on unadjusted quotie@$in active markets for identical assets diilites that the Company has the
ability to access at the measurement ¢

e Level 2 — Valuations based on quoted pricesifailar assets or liabilities in markets that aré active, or for which all significant
inputs are observable, either directly or indingc

e Level 3 —Valuations that require inputs thataetfthe Company’s own assumptions that are bgthifssant to the fair value
measurement and unobserval

To the extent that valuation is based on modeisprts that are less observable or unobservalileeimarket, the determination of fair value
requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degrepid§ment exercised by the Company in determinimgvieiue is greatest for instruments
categorized in Level 3. A financial instrumentével within the fair value hierarchy is basecdtos lowest level of any input that is significao
the fair value measurement.

Items measured at fair value on a recurring basiside short-term investments (see Note 5). Theyicar amounts of accounts receivable,
prepaid expenses and other current assets, acquaygble and accrued expenses approximate theirdfigies due to their short-term
maturities. The rate implicit within the Compangapital lease obligation approximates market irgerates.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Off-Balance SheeRisk

Cash, investments and accounts receivable arentiidimancial instruments that potentially subjdzé Company to concentrations of credit
risk. The Company maintains its cash with high tyahccredited financial institutions and, accogly, such funds are subject to minimal
credit risk. The Company has no significant offdvale sheet concentrations of credit risk, sucloresgn currency exchange contracts, option
contracts or other hedging arrangements.

Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividiegloss attributable to common stockholders bywbighted-average shares outstanding
during the period, without consideration for comnstmck equivalents. Diluted net loss per sharalsutated by adjusting weighted-average
shares outstanding for the dilutive effect of commnstock equivalents outstanding for the periodeneined using the treasury-stock method.
For purposes of the diluted net loss per sharailzdlon, preferred stock, stock options and unweststricted stock are considered to be
common stock equivalents, but have been excluded fhe calculation of diluted net loss per shasehair effect would be anti-dilutive for all
periods presented. Therefore, basic and dilutetbestper share were the same for all periods prede

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost, lessvadeted depreciation. Assets under capital leas@atuded in property and equipment.
Property and equipment is depreciated using tlaggsit-line method over the estimated useful livethe assets, generally three to seven year
Such costs are periodically reviewed for recovéditghivhen impairment indicators are present. Suahidators include, among other factors,
operating losses, unused capacity, market valuindsand technological obsolescence. Recorde@salfiasset groups of equipment that are
not expected to be recovered through undiscounitedef net cash flows are written down to curremtvialue, which generally is determined
from estimated discounted future net cash flowsdissheld for use) or net realizable value (agsstsfor sale).
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The following is the summary of property and equiminand related accumulated depreciation as ofDleee31, 2014 and December 31,
2013.

December 31,

Useful Life 2014 2013
Computer equipment and softw: 3 $ 98,70C $ 19,73:
Furniture and fixture 5 117,157 —
Equipment 7 6,19 —
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the
useful life or
remaining
lease term
(3 years) 26,60¢ —
Office equipment under capital lec 3 11,91¢ 11,91¢
260,57 31,64¢
Less accumulated depreciati (50,64%) (1,282)
Net property and equipme $ 209,92¢ $ 30,36¢

Depreciation expense, including expense assocwatacassets under capital leases, was $49,3638358ad $0 for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

3. Distribution of Aerpio Therapeutics, Inc.

On December 22, 2011, the Company assigned cesaits and liabilities to a wholly-owned subsididgrpio Therapeutics, Inc. (Aerpio),
which has since operated as an independent, stand-eompany and is no longer a wholly-owned suasid The assigned assets and
liabilities included all of the Company’s fixed ass, the Company’s Tie2 activator program, AKB-9 788 diabetic macular edema, the HIF-1
stabilizer program, AKB-4924, for inflammatory badvagsease and contracts, intellectual propertyrenirassets and current liabilities
associated with these programs. The Aerpio shages thien distributed to the Company’s shareholdgs distribution on the basis of one
share of Aerpio Series A Preferred Stock for ex8&ghares of Akebia Series A Preferred Stock owoee share of Aerpio Series A Preferred
Stock for every 100 shares of Akebia Series B PredeStock owned, and one share of Aerpio CommookSor every 175 shares of Akebia
Common Stock owned.

Under the terms of administrative services agreésnéime Company and Aerpio obtain from and protadeach other certain services
beginning in 2012, and as outlined below. Theseayents are cancellable upon mutual agreemergale @f either company.

Below is a summary of the activities included ie gtatements of operations and comprehensive loss:

Year ended December

31,
Activity Financial Statement Caption 2014 2013
Reimbursement from Aerpio for Akebia Reimbursements from
employee cosi Aerpio $ 700,237 $1,049,84-
General and administrati
Facility-related charges from Aerp Operating expens: $ 68,81t $ 277,92:

Below is a summary of the receivables and payabt#sded in the balance sheets related to Aerpio:

Year Ended December 31,

Financial Statement

Activity Caption 2014 2013
Amounts receivable from Aerp Accounts receivables $ 48,13t $ 135,33¢
Amounts payable to Aerpi Accounts payabl $ 3561 $ 62,73
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4. Available for sale securities

Available for sale securities at December 31, 28dd December 31, 2013 consist of the following:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

December 31, 2014
Cash and cash equivaler

Cash and money market acco $ 32,780,11: $ — 3 — $ 32,780,11.
Total cash and cash equivale $ 32,780,11. $ — $ — $ 32,780,11
Available for sale securitie

Certificates of depos 13,429,00- — — $ 13,429,00.

U.S. Government debt securiti 38,412,15I 1,427 (28,290 38,385,28

Commercial pape 2,499,26: — — 2,499,26:

Corporate debt securitis 21,853,97: 2,437 (31,937) 21,824,47!
Total available for sale securiti $ 76,194,39. $ 3,864 $ (60,22%) $ 76,138,03.
Total cash, cash equivalents, and available fe&r sal

securities $108,974,50. $ 3,864 $ (60,227) $108,918,14

The estimated fair value of the Company’s availdbiesale securities balance at December 31, 204 dontractual maturity, is as follows:

Due in one year or le: $ 36,283,62
Due after one yes 39,854,401
Total available for sale securiti $ 76,138,03:
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
December 31, 2013
Cash and cash equivaler
Cash and money market acco $ 21215221 $ — 3 — $ 21,215,22
Total cash and cash equivale $ 21215221 $ — $ — $ 21,215,22
Available for sale securitie
Certificates of depos $ 1,330,13! $ — % — $ 1,330,13:
U.S. Government debt securiti 7,506,95: 2,41¢ — 7,509,36!
Corporate debt securiti 2,501,68t 54 — 2,501,741
Total available for sale securiti $ 11,338,76! $ 2472 $ — $ 11,341,24
Total cash, cash equivalents, and available far sal
securities $ 32,553,99 $ 2472 $ — $ 32,556,46!

5. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company utilizes a portfolio management comganyhe valuation of the majority of its investmignThis company is an independent,
third-party vendor recognized to be an industry lead#r aécess to market information that obtains orates fair market values from quo
market prices, pricing for similar securities, nethg executed transactions, cash flow models wigthdycurves and other pricing models. For
valuations obtained from the pricing service, tlmrpany performs due diligence to understand howahgation was calculated or derived,
focusing on the valuation technique used and ther@®f the inputs.

Based on the fair value hierarchy, the Companysifias its cash equivalents and marketable seeanitithin Level 1 or Level 2. This is

because the Company values its cash equivalentaricetable securities using quoted market pricedternative pricing sources and models

utilizing market observable inputs.
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Assets measured or disclosed at fair value onwarniag basis as of December 31, 2014 are summabiekedv:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalel 32,780,11: $ — 8 — $ 32,780,11
Certificates of depos — 13,429,00 — $ 13,429,00.
U.S. Government debt securiti — 38,385,28 — $ 38,385,28
Commercial pape — 2,499,26: — $  2,499,26:
Corporate debt securiti — 21,824,47! — $ 21,82447
$32,780,11° $76,138,03 $ — $ 108,918,14
The Company’s corporate debt securities are aistment grade.
Assets measured or disclosed at fair value onwniag basis as of December 31, 2013 are summabiekedv:
Fair Value Measurements Using
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 21,215221 $ — 3 — $ 21,215,22
Certificates of depos — 1,330,13: — 1,330,13:
U.S. Government debt securiti — 7,509,36¢ — 7,509,36¢
Corporate debt securitit — 2,501, 74( — 2,501,74(
$ 21,215,220 $ 11,341.24. $ — $ 32,556,46!

The Company had no assets or liabilities measur&dravalue on a recurring basis using significanbbservable inputs (Level 3) at
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

Investment securities are exposed to various s8kh as interest rate, market and credit. Dueddetel of risk associated with certain
investment securities and the level of uncertaialgted to changes in the value of investment #&esirit is at least reasonably possible that
changes in risks in the near term would result &temal changes in the fair value of investments.

6. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses are as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2014 2013
Professional fee 2,459,30¢ $ 2,452,06°
Accrued bonu: 1,286,12 439,43¢
Accrued vacatiol 177,16: 109,92!
Accrued severanc 178,81¢ —
Accrued payrol 213,22¢ —
Other 549,14¢ 186,33¢
Total accrued expens $ 4,863,78! $ 3,187,76:

In February 2014, the Company entered into a séparagreement with an employee primarily as alteduhe transition to the Company’s
Cambridge, Massachusetts location. During the diustrter of 2014, the Company recorded severarpense in the amount of $323,685,
which was recorded to general and administratiygenege. During the year ended December 31, 2014pxdpymately $271,000 was paid out of
the severance accrual. At December 31, 2014, $a5@8ained in accrued expenses in relation to tipaid severance costs, which will be
paid out through February 2015.

In August 2014, the Company entered into a sepearatjreement with an employee, which became eff=oth August 13, 2014. The
Company will record the expense and liability agstecl with the separation agreement ratably oveptriod from August 5, 2014 through
December 31, 2015 because the severance paymersistgect to continued service and forfeiture ubéitember 31, 2015. During the year
ended 2014, the Company recorded severance exjpetiigeamount of $118,852, which was recorded seaech and development expense
will be paid out beginning January 2015 through éeber 2015.
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7. Stockholders’ Equity

As of December 31, 2014, the authorized capitalkstd the Company included 175,000,000 shares wincon stock, par value $0.00001 per
share and 25,000,000 shares of undesignated mef&iock, par value $0.00001 per share.

On March 6, 2014, the Company effected a 1.75kfeteck split of its outstanding common stock. Wreletherwise indicated, all share data
per share amounts in these financial statements aen retroactively adjusted to reflect the sgyik, as well as any stock splits that occurre
in periods prior to March 6, 2014.

As of December 31, 2013, the authorized capitalkstd the Company included 5,500,636 shares ofpredl stock, par value $0.00001 per
share, of which: (i) 734,538 shares were designaseSleries A redeemable convertible preferred t®ekies A Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock), (ii) 1,287,525 shares were deséghas Series B redeemable convertible prefetoe#t §Series B Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock), (iii) 3,428,572 shares were desigd as Series C redeemable convertible prefetoett (Series C Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock) and (iv) 50,001 shares were dagigias Series X convertible preferred stock (Seti€onvertible Preferred Stock). There is
no outstanding Series X Convertible Preferred Stxchf December 31, 2013. The Series A Redeematrieetible Preferred Stock, the Se

B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and thesS€ Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock @tectively referred to as the
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock.

Upon the closing of the IPO on March 25, 2014p&the outstanding shares of the Company’s redelentalmvertible preferred stock were
converted into 12,115,183 shares of its commorksths of December 31, 2014, the Company does nat hay redeemable convertible
preferred stock issued or outstanding.

Reserved for Future Issuance

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 h@séue authorized shares for each series, the @oyripas reserved the following she
of common stock for future issuance:

December 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Conversion of Series A Redeemable Convertible .
Preferred Stoc T 3,672,67.
Conversion of Series B Redeemable Convertible . 225315
Preferred Stoc
Conversion of Series C Redeemable Convertible . 6.296,45;
Preferred Stoc
Options to purchase common stc 1,526,341 1,251,39¢
Shares available for future issuait 1,549,15: 155,10¢
Total 3,075,501 13,628,78

8. Income Taxes
These was no current or deferred income tax expanisenefit for the years ended December 31, 2084813, due to the Company’s net
losses and increases in its deferred tax assedti@uallowance.

The U.S. components of loss before income taxesardonciliation of the statutory federal incorae with the provision for income taxes,
follow:

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013
Federal tax at statutory re 34.C% 34.0%
State and local tax at statutory r 5.5 0.8
Research and development tax cre (0.6) 4.2
Disqualified interest expen: 0.0 (1.9
Cancellation of debt incon 0.0 6.2
Equity Compensatio (1.6) (2.6)
Other permanent differences and cre (0.2) 0.0
Change in valuation allowan (37.2) (40.7)
Effective tax rate 0.0% 0.0%
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The Company’s income tax provision was compute@thas the federal statutory rate and the average statutory rates, net of the related
federal benefit.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettermporary differences between the carrying an®ohassets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢armpurposes. Significant components of the Comisasigferred tax assets and liabilities
are as follows:

December 31 December 31
2014 2013
Deferred tax asset
Current
Accrued expense $ 558,93t $ 189,64¢
Less valuation allowanc (558,93F)
Net current deferred tax as: - 189,64¢
Noncurrent
Intangible asset 603,64« 602,78¢
Restricted stoc 436,05¢ -
Fixed asset 1,69C -
Research and development cre 1,588,89° 1,821,40:
Net operating loss carryforwa 30,558,91! 17,916,81
Other 479,28 24,371
Less valuation allowanc (33,668,48) (20,446,54)
Net noncurrent deferred tax ass - (81,167)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allos: - 108,48
Deferred tax liabilities
Fixed asset - (925)
Restricted stoc = (107,55¢6)
Total deferred tax liabilitie - (108,487)
Net deferred tax ass $ - 3 =

When realization of the deferred tax asset is rniikedy than not to occur, the benefit related te tteductible temporary differences attributabls
to operations is recognized as a reduction of irectar expense. Valuation allowances are providaihagdeferred tax assets when, based or
all available evidence, it is considered more jikkblan not that some portion or all of the recordeterred tax assets will not be realized in
future periods. The Company cannot be certainfthate taxable income will be sufficient to realite deferred tax assets, and accordingly a
full valuation allowance has been provided on éfedred tax assets. The Company continues to niaitht@ underlying tax benefits to offset
future taxable income, and to monitor the needafealuation allowance based on the profitabilitytefuture operations.

At December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, thep@oynhas approximately $1,181,000 (after amortpatif $788,000) and $1,312,000
(after amortization of $656,000), respectivelystart-up expenses capitalized for income tax ppesth amortization available to offset
future federal, state and local income tax. Addially, at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Compasyapproximately $84,200,000 and
$51,630,000, respectively, of net operating losSINcarry-forwards. Included in the 2014 NOL aa& tleductions related to equity
compensation in excess of book compensation expdPgesuant to the realization requirements in A38, these tax deductions are not
included in the NOL deferred tax asset above. Cbmpany also has approximately $1,654,000 of féde state research and development
tax credit carry-forwards. The NOL and research @enklopment tax credit carry-forwards begin toiexm 2027, and will be utilized for tax
purposes at such time the Company generates taxablme.

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Ctuenet operating loss and tax credit carry-forsanee subject to review and possible
adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service and satauthorities. Net operating loss and tax ¢tieadry-forwards may become subject to an
annual limitation in the event of certain cumulatthanges in the ownership interest of signifistuatreholders over a three-year period in
excess of 50%, as defined under Sections 382 a®df3Be Internal Revenue Code, respectively, dsagesimilar state provisions. This could
limit the amount of tax attributes that can beizeidl annually to offset future taxable income orltabilities. The amount of the annual
limitation is determined based on the value ofGloenpany immediately prior to the ownership chaiBgsequent ownership changes may
further affect the limitation in future years. TBempany has completed
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several financings since its inception, which mayenhresulted in a change in control as defineddmnti@s 382 and 383 of the Internal Reve
Code, or could result in a change in control inftitare.

For applicable years, the Company generated rdseezdits but has not conducted a study to docuiteequalified activities. This study may
result in an adjustment to the Company’s reseandndavelopment credit carryforwards; however, umstudy is completed and any
adjustment is known, no amounts are being presexsti@h uncertain tax position. A full valuatioroathnce has been provided against the
Company’s research and development credits aadh, &djustment is required, this adjustment wouldffeet by an adjustment to the deferred
tax asset established for the research and develumredit carry-forwards and the valuation alloa&an

The Company will recognize interest and penaltidated to uncertain tax positions in income taxegige. As of December 31, 2014 and 2
the Company had no accrued uncertain tax positoassociated interest or penalties and no amdaves been recognized in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, and various state jurisdictioiee Company’s 2011 through 2013 tax
years remain open and subject to examination bgré@nd state taxing authorities. However, feldmmd state net operating losses from 2
through 2013 are subject to review by taxing auttesrin the year utilized.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

In December 2013, the Company entered into a tyeaelease for 6,837 square feet of office spac@aimbridge, Massachusetts. The least
monthly lease payments of approximately $31,00Q@Herfirst twelve months, with annual rent escalathereafter, and provides a rent
abatement of approximately $31,000 for the firditdalendar month of the lease term. The lease tetTmmenced and rental payments began |
January 2014. The Company has recorded a deferasd bbligation in 2014 which represents the cuiwaldifference between actual facility
lease payments and lease expense recognized ratadlyhe lease period, which is included in offadgilities. In accordance with the lease,
Company entered into a cash-collateralized irreblecatandby letter of credit in the amount of $825, naming the landlord as beneficiary.
The Company did not have rent expense associatbdhis lease in 2013.

In December 2014, the Company entered into a Ritegtndment to Lease (Amendment) for additional effipace contiguous to its current
office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The Alment includes leasing an additional 8,530 squaetdf office space (Expansion Space),
with an estimated occupancy date of March 1, 200t%e Amendment provides for additional monthly &payments of approximately $45,(
for the 8,530 square feet for the first twelve nisraind provides for annual rent escalations thiereaThe monthly rent on the existing 6,837
square feet will remain at approximately $32,000tlgh December 31, 2016, the expiration of theded$he Amendment includes a
Landlord’s contribution for leasehold improvemeintshe amount of approximately $100,000 which wélaccounted for as a reduction in
monthly rent expense over the term of the leasee Gompany currently records a deferred lease atiwig for the original lease which
represents the cumulative difference between atagdity lease payments and lease expense recedgmaably over the lease period and will
also record a deferred lease obligation for theaBgpn Space at time of occupancy. The Compangasisting cash-collateralized
irrevocable standby letter of credit of $125,34&mning the landlord as beneficiary. In connectiatihthe Amendment, the Company paid an
additional cash security deposit to the landlor§b79,130. These amounts are included in othetass

The Company leases office equipment under a theaegapital lease with payments commencing in Fepra014. The capital lease amounts
are included in accrued expenses and other ligisilit

At December 31, 2014, the Company’s future mininpayments required under these leases are as follows

Operating Capital
Lease Lease Total
2015 $ 875,47¢ $ 4,20C $ 879,67¢
2016 $ 935,62¢ 4,20C $ 939,82¢
2017 — 250 250
Total $ 1,811,10¢ 8,65C $ 1,819,75¢
Less amount representing inter (297)
Present value of minimum lease payments at Dece81he&2014 $ 8,353
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The Company recorded $377,578 and $0 in rent explenshe years ended December 31, 2014 and 2@pactvely.

The Company contracts with various organizationsoteduct research and development activities wveithaining contract costs to the Comp
of approximately $4,312,081 and $4,477,081 at Déezri1, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectivélg.sEope of the services under the
research and development contracts can be modifiddhe contracts cancelled by the Company upatewnotice. In some instances the
contracts may be cancelled by the third party upndtien notice.

10. Stock-Based Compensation

On February 28, 2014, the Company’s Board of Dinecadopted its 2014 Incentive Plan (2014 Plan)¢chvivas subsequently approved by its
stockholders and became effective upon the clasfitige Company’s IPO on March 25, 2014. The 20EhPéplaces the 2008 Equity
Incentive Plan (2008 Plan).

The 2014 Plan allows for the granting of stock @i, stock appreciation rights, or SARs, restristietk, unrestricted stock, stock units,
performance awards and other awards convertibbednbtherwise based on shares of our common siieldend equivalents may also be
provided in connection with an award under the 2Blh. The Company’s employees, officers, direcamd consultants and advisors are
eligible to receive awards under the 2014 Plan.Cbepany initially reserved 1,785,000 shares of@mmon stock for the issuance of award:
under the 2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan provides tleabtimber of shares reserved and available fornssuander the 2014 Plan will
automatically increase annually on Januafofleach calendar year, by an amount equal to theement (3%) of the number of shares of stock
outstanding on a fully diluted basis as of the eloEbusiness on the immediately preceding Dece®b®r The Company’s Board of Directors
may act prior to January*of any year to provide that there will be no auttmacrease in the number of shares availablgfant under the
2014 Plan for that year (or that the increase bélless than the amount that would otherwise hat@eatically been made). Subject to
adjustment, no more than 1,131,937 shares of aunam stock may be delivered in satisfaction of imis@ stock options awarded under the
2014 Plan.

Any options or awards outstanding under the 20@8 Bt the time of adoption of the 2014 Plan rempaiistanding and effective. As of
December 31, 2014, the total number of common shtaet may be issued under all equity award pls3s(75,500 and approximately
1,549,154 shares remain available for future grants

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coyngiamted 437,289 stock options to employees, BrsE@ck options to directors and
56,000 shares of restricted stock to a former eygao

Stock Options

Options granted by the Company vest over periodsetfeen 12 and 48 months. Options vest in ins&dtmof (i) 25% at the one year
anniversary and (ii) in either 36 or 48 equal mbntr 12 equal quarterly installments beginninghia thirteenth month after the initial Vesting
Commencement Date (as defined) or grant date, cluioj¢he employee’s continuous service with thenpany.. Options generally expire ten
years after the date of gra

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes priciadehto estimate the grant date fair value of apigranted to employees are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013
Risk-free interest rat 1.63%- 2.06% 1.71%- 2.03%
Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%
Volatility 67.97%- 77.00% 75.00%- 79.00%
Expected term (year: 6.25 6.25

The following table summarizes the Company’s stogtion activity:
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Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average Contractual Life

Shares Exercise Price (in years) Int/r\iggirce %Ztli e

Outstanding, December 31, 20 1,251,40: % 1.01 $ 8,020,06!
Grantec 514,81 $ 22.5:

Exercisec (116,399 $ 0.7€ $ 1,991,92:
Forfeited (123,477 $ 9.93 $ 330,22:
Expired/cancelle —

Outstanding, December 31, 20 1,526,34¢ $ 7.57 8.45 $ 11,523,53:
Opfions exercisable, December 31, 455,13( $ 0.81 701 $ 4,931,085
Expected to vest, December 31, 2( 1,281,73. $ 8.85 9.03 $ 8,886,57(

As of December 31, 2014, there was approximate)§=B037 of unrecognized compensation cost relatstbck options, which is expectec
be recognized over a weighted average period &f yars.

Restricted Stock

On December 23, 2013, the Company issued 450,24 slof restricted stock to employees and 79,06fshof restricted stock to non-
employees at a grant date fair value of $7.42 pares The awards of restricted stock contain sopeidince condition wherein the vesting
commencement date is contingent upon the Compamyisummation of a liquidity event, as definedymto the fifth anniversary of the date
grant. Certain of the awards of restricted stockeharequisite service period that was completengant. The remainder of the awards of
restricted stock have a requisite service peridwf years whereby the award vests 25% on theyeaeanniversary of the vesting
commencement date, then ratably on the first daaoh calendar quarter for 12 quarters, subjempidinuous service by the individual and
achievement of the performance target. Due to #tera of the performance condition, recognitiora@ipensation cost did not begin until the
occurrence of a liquidity event, as defined. Thiliity event occurred upon the closing of the i®fOMarch 25, 2014.

A summary of the Company’s restricted stock agtiistas follows:
Weighted-Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value
Unvested balance, December 31, 2 629,51: $ 8.55
Granted 56,00( $ 12.0¢
Vested (209,53) $ 9.1€
Forfeited (53,83 $ 7.42
Outstanding, December 31, 20 422,14¢ $ 9.12
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As of December 31, 2014, there was approximate/832,185 of unrecognized compensation cost relatéite restricted stock awards grantec
on December 23, 2013 with a performance conditibime recognition of the compensation cost for ttesards did not begin until the closing
of the IPO on March 25, 2014. The expense is d€rpeo be recognized over a weighted average pefitdr4 years.

Common Stock

In connection with the termination of a former eoyde in September 2013, the Company granted theefoemployee stock awards totaling
70,964 shares in September 2013 and 105,753 shdbesember 2013 of Common Stock, at a fair valu#3o77 per share and $7.42 per
share, respectively. The fair value of the awamgsbased on the estimated fair value of the Cogip&@ommon Stock at the date of

grant. Accordingly, compensation cost was recagphin full on the date of grant. The associatadron shares immediately vested, and
were not subject to any other restriction. Accogtly, the compensation cost was recognized indiulthe date of grant. Total compensation
cost of approximately $1,053,000 was recognizethduhe year ended December 31, 2013 related setawards.

Compensation Expense Summary
The Company has recognized the following compeosatbst related to share-based awards:

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013
Research and developme $ 2,766,04¢ $ 110,68¢
General and administrati 3,244,00! 1,453,07:
Total $ 6,010,05: $ 1,563,75¢

Compensation expense by type of award:

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013
Stock options $ 1,924,92: $ 305,45:
Restricted stoc 4,085,13( 1,258,30°
Total $ 6,010,05: $ 1,563,75¢

Included in the compensation expense for the yeded December 31, 2014, is approximately $1.0 onilfielated to the modification of
awards in connection with an employee separatioeesgent in the first quarter of 2014.

11. Employee Retirement Plan

During 2008, the Company established a retiremlamt fthe Plan) authorized by Section 401(k) ofltiternal Revenue Code. In accordance
with the Plan, all employees who have attainedageof 21 are eligible to participate in the Plamgthe first Entry Date, as defined, follow
their date of employment. Each employee can carnt&ib percentage of compensation up to a maximutmeddtatutory limits per year.
Company contributions are discretionary, and ndrdmutions were made during the year ended Dece®ibe2014 or 2013.
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12. Net Loss per Share
The following table presents the calculation ofibasid diluted net loss per share applicable tomomstockholders:

Year ended December 31

2014 2013
Numerator:
Net loss $ (37,034,03) $ (13,167,18)
Accretion on preferred stoc (86,899,55)) (55,885,84,)
Net loss applicable to common stockholc $ (123,933,59) $ (69,053,02)
Denominator
Weighted-average number of common shares — basic
and dilutec 15,406,38!I 544,00
Net loss per share applicable to comr
stockholder— basic and dilute $ (8.04) $ (126.99)

The amounts in the table below were excluded filoencilculation of diluted net loss per share, poahe use of the treasury stock method,
due to their anti-dilutive effect:

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013
Preferred stoc — 12,002,32!
Outstanding stock optior 1,526,34t 1,251,39¢
Unvested restricted stor 422 14" 629,517
Total 1,948,49: 13,883,23!

13. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table summarizes the changes in tieaimulated balances for each component of accuetutsther comprehensive loss, net of
tax:

Unrealized Loss on

Investments Total
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ — 3 —
Other comprehensive loss before reclassificat (56,35¢) (56,35¢)
Net currer-period other comprehensive Ic (56,35¢) (56,35¢)
Balance at December 31, 20 $ (56,35¢) $ (56,35¢)
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14. Quarterly Results (unaudited)

Operating expenst

Loss from operation

Other income (expense), r

Net loss

Net loss per share applicable to common stockhs)
basic and dilute

Operating expenst

Loss from operation

Other income (expense), r

Net loss

Net loss per share applicable to common stockhs)
basic and dilute

Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)
$ 2577 $ 3121 % 4,034 $ 6,201
$ (2570 % (312) % (4,039 $ (6,207)
$ 1,95€ $ 290 $ 266 $ 254
$ (621) $ (2,831 $ (3,768 $ (5,947)
$ (3.09 $(103.19 $ (1192 $ (13.92)

Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014
(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)
$ 9,90¢ $ 7.84C $ 9,584 $ 10,607
$ (9909 $ (7,840 $ (9,584 $ (10,607)
$ 212 $ 222 % 236 $ 237
$ (9697 $ (7,619 $ (9,34¢) $ (20,370
$ @330 % (039 9% (047 % (0.52)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

It em 9A. Controls and Procedures

Controls and Procedures
Managemen's Annual Report on Internal Control over FinanciaReporting

This annual report does not include a report ofagament’s assessment regarding internal contralfmancial reporting or an attestation
report of the company’s independent registeredipauicounting firm due to the existence of a trémisiperiod, established by rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, for newly putdimpanies.

Managemen's Evaluation of our Disclosure Controls and Proceces

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information requindattdisclosed in the reports that we file
submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934)isecorded, processed, summarized, and repaithoh the time periods specified in the
SEC'’s rules and forms and (2) accumulated and camuated to our management, including our princgadcutive officer and principal
financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarg required disclosure.

As of December 31, 2014, our management, with #régipation of our principal executive officer apdncipal financial officer, evaluated t
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and prooesi (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(@¢uthe Securities Exchange Act of
1934). Our management recognizes that any corarmlprocedures, no matter how well designed anchtgrg can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives, and managenecessarily applies its judgment in evaludtiegcost-benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures. Our principal executifieef and principal financial officer have concludeased upon the evaluation described
above that, as of December 31, 2014, our disclosamé&rols and procedures were effective at theoretde assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportmn

During the quarter ended December 31, 2014, there heen no changes in our internal control overitial reporting, as such term is defii
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f) promulgated urttie Securities Exchange Act of 1934, that haveeriadly affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal controber financial reporting.

Ite m 9B. Other Information

Other Information

The following disclosure is provided in accordamgth and in satisfaction of the requirements ofrlt2.02 “Results of Operations and
Financial Conditior” of Form 8-K:

On November 10, 2014, Akebia announced its findmegults for the quarter ended September 30, 20t4commented on certain corporate
accomplishments and plans. The full text of thesprelease issued in connection with the announteisi&urnished as Exhibit 99.1 hereto.

The information furnished in Item 9B (including Bkt 99.1) shall not be deemed “filed” for purpos#sSection 18 of the Exchange Act, or

otherwise subject to the liabilities of that sewtioor shall it be deemed incorporated by referémeay filing under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, or the Exchange Act, except as exprediorth by specific reference in such a filing.
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PART 11l

Certain information required by Part 11l is omittedm this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is inammgted herein by reference from our
definitive proxy statement relating to our 2015 AahMeeting of Stockholders (the “Definitive Pro®yatement”)which we expect to file wit
the SEC no later than April 30, 2015.

Ilte m 10. Director, Executive Officers and Corporate Governarce

John P. Butlerjoined Akebia as director in July 2013 and was ampd as the President and Chief Executive Offadekkebia in August
2013. Prior to joining Akebia, from 2011 until 2Q28r. Butler served as the Chief Executive Offioétnspiration Biopharmaceuticals, Inc.,
a biopharmaceutical company that filed for protactinder Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Codedtober 2012 prior to the successful
sale of its hemophilia assets to Cangene Corporatiol Baxter International in early 2013. From 1892011, Mr. Butler held various
positions at Genzyme Corporation, a biopharmacalutizmpany, most recently serving as Presidertiotbompany’s rare genetic diseases
business. From 2002 until 2010, Mr. Butler led Gene’s renal division. Prior to his work at Genzyrivl, Butler held sales and marketing
positions at Amgen and Hoffmann-La Roche. Mr. Butlerrently serves as the chairman of board oté¢rssfor the American Kidney Fund
and a member of the board of directors of Relyprsa,Mr. Butler received a B.A. in Chemistry fromaMhattan College and an M.B.A.
degree from Baruch College, City University of N¥ark. We believe that Mr. Butler is qualified torge on our board of directors due to
his industry experience in the biotechnology segtarticularly his experience working in the redslease market.

Jason A. Amellgoined Akebia as Senior Vice President, Chief FaialnOfficer and Treasurer in 2013. Prior to joipiAkebia, Mr. Amello
served as Executive Vice President, Chief Finar@ffiter and Treasurer of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Ina biopharmaceutical company, from
2012 to 2013. From 2000 to 2011, Mr. Amello heldmas positions at Genzyme Corporation, most rdgest Senior Vice President,
Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting OfficEarlier in his career, Mr. Amello spent 10 yearshie business advisory and assurance
practice of Deloitte, serving in various roles mélieasing responsibility through senior manager.Annello holds a B.A. from Boston
College and is a Certified Public Accountant in @@mmonwealth of Massachusetts.

Brad Maroni, M.D. joined Akebia as Senior Vice President and Chietligid Officer in August 2014. Prior to joining Akigl Dr. Maroni
served as Vice President, Medical Research at Bitdge from March 2012 to February 2014. Priotiat trole, Dr. Maroni served as Chief
Medical Officer of Stromedix, Inc. from June 200mtiuthe company was acquired by Biogen Idec in 8ha2012. His previous experience
also includes serving as Executive Vice Presidedt@hief Medical Officer at RenaMed Biologics, aslivas multiple roles at Amgen Inc.,
including Vice President, Clinical Development atemia/Nephrology Therapeutic Area Head. At Amden,Maroni led the cross-
functional team responsible for the registratioongoam and global regulatory approval of Aranes, @ novel long-acting recombinant
erythropoietic protein, indicated for the treatmeh&nemia in chronic kidney disease. During hisite, Amgen also received approval for
Sensipa ®, a first-in-classsmall molecule for the treatmehibone disease in dialysis patients. Dr. Maraaiined as a nephrologist at
Brigham and Women'’s Hospital in Boston, Massachssefter which he spent 10 years in academia ariidniversity.

Nicole R. Hadagoined Akebia as Vice Presiden t , General CouasdlSecretary in 2013. Prior to joining Akebia, Madas was Vice
President and General Counsel at OvaScience diéopharmaceutical company, in 2013. From 20120t3, Ms. Hadas served as the
Senior Vice President and General Counsel at laspir Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., a biopharmaceutioatpany that filed for protection
under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code iroat 2012, where she managed the successful sideheimophilia assets to Cangene
Corporation and Baxter International in early 208&m 2001 to 2011, Ms. Hadas worked at Genzym@@atio n , most recently as Senior
Corporate Counsel. Prior to Genzyme, she was aciass at Foley Hoag representing biopharmaceutimalpanies and healthcare providers
in a wide variety of matters. Ms. Hadas receiv&lA from the University of Michigan and a J.D. findBoston College Law School.

The remaining information required by this Itemviill be contained in the Definitive Proxy Statemeant is incorporated herein by
reference.
It em11. Executive Compensatior

The information required by this Item 11 will bentained in the Definitive Proxy Statement and onporated herein by reference.
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It em 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:
The information required by this Item 12 will bentained in the Definitive Proxy Statement and onporated herein by reference.

Ite m13. Certain Relationships and Related Persofiransactions, and Director Independence
The information required by this Item 13 will bentained in the Definitive Proxy Statement and soiporated herein by reference.

Ite m 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this Item 14 will bentained in the Definitive Proxy Statement and toiporated herein by reference.

94




PART IV

It em 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a8 Documents filed as part of Form-K.
(1) Financial Statemen
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEinm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compserehoss
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityfi(itg
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(2) Schedule:
Schedules have been omitted as all required infiomaas been disclosed in the financial statemamdisrelated footnotes.
(3) Exhibits
The Exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index are filad a part of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caussdréport to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ John P. Butlel
John P. Butle
Chief Executive Officer and President (Principal
Executive Officer

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Jason A. Amellc
Jason A. Amellc
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer (Principal Financial and Accounting Oig

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Muneer Satte
Muneer Satte
Chairman

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Anupam Dalal
Anupam Dala
Director

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Jack Nielser
Jack Nielsel
Director

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Duane Nast
Duane Nasl
Director

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Michael Wyzga
Michael Wyzge
Director

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Maxine Gowen
Maxine Gower
Director

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Michael Claymar
Michael Claymar
Director

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Ronald Renaut
Ronald Renau
Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibit

3.1 Ninth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora(incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1He Compan’'s Current
Report on Form-K, filed on March 28, 2014

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by neéeréo exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current ReparEorm 8-K, filed
on March 28, 2014

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated éference to exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s RegisiraBtatement on
Form &-1/A (332-193969), filed on March 4, 201

4.2 Third Amended and Restated Voting Agreement, ditag 10, 2013 (incorporated by reference to exHittto the
Compan'’s Registration Statement on For-1 (33%-193969), filed on February 14, 201

4.3 Amendment No. 1 to the Third Amended and Restatstihy Agreement, dated May 31, 2013 (incorporatgddference to
exhibit 4.3 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (33:-193969), filed on February 14, 201

4.4* Fourth Amended and Restated Inves Rights Agreement, dated March 5, 2(

10.1 Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreent (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1hieo€Company’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1/A (333-193969), filed on March 4, 201

10.2 Office Lease Agreement Between [-Riverview/245 First Street, L.L.C. and Akebia Thazatics, Inc., dated Decembei
2013 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.theoCompany’s Registration Statement on Form S33-33969), filed on
February 14, 2014

10.3* First Amendment to Office Lease Agreement Betweenektown Premier 245 First, LLC and Akebia Theréipgulnc.,
dated December 15, 20

104 Amended and Restated Administrative Services Agestnibetween Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. and Aerpierdpeutics, Inc
dated August 27, 2012 (incorporated by referen@xkibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Stateno& Form S-1 (333-
193969), filed on February 14, 201

105 Administrative Services Agreement, between Akeliiar@ipeutics, Inc. and Aerpio Therapeutics, Indedidlovember 1,
2012 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.theoCompany’s Registration Statement on Form S33-33969), filed on
February 14, 201¢

10.61 Amended and Restated 2008 Equity Incentive Plaro(porated by reference to exhibit 10.5 to the Camyfs Registration
Statement on Form-1 (33:-193969), filed on February 14, 201

10.7t Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated 2008 Eqndgntive Plan (incorporated by reference to exhid.6 to the
Compan'’s Registration Statement on For-1 (33%-193969), filed on February 14, 201

10.8t Executive Employment Agreement with John P. Butleted September 16, 2013 (incorporated by referemexhibit 10.7
to the Compar’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (33:-193969), filed on February 14, 201

10.9t Executive Employment Agreement with Jason A. Amediated September 23, 2013 (incorporated by rederemexhibit
10.8 to the Compar's Registration Statement on Fori-1 (33:-193969), filed on February 14, 201

10.10t Offer Letter to Nicole R. Hadas, dated November2IB,3 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.theoCompany’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1 (33:-193969), filed on February 14, 201

10.111 Executive Employment Agreement with Dr. Robert Slitzl dated April 6, 2011 (incorporated by referena exhibit 10.10

to the Compar’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (33:-193969), filed on February 14, 201
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10.12t Separation Agreement with Dr. Robert Shalwitz, da#tegust 5, 2014 (incorporated by reference tolgkh0.1 to the
Compan'’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed on November 10, 201

10.13t Consulting Agreement with Dr. Robert Shalwitz, dafeigust 5, 2014 (incorporated by reference toldkhi0.2 to the
Compan'’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed on November 10, 201

10.141 Amended and Restated Partial Recourse Promissas; Nated May 9, 2013, with Robert Shalwitz (inaogted by reference to
exhibit 10.20 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on For-1 (33%-193969), filed on February 14, 201

10.151 Amended and Restated Partial Recourse Promissasy; Nated June 15, 2013, with Robert Shalwitz (ipomated by reference
exhibit 10.21 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on For-1 (333-193969), filed on February 14, 201

10.161 Forgiveness and Release Agreement, dated Janua2® B0, with Robert Shalwitz (incorporated by refere to exhibit 10.22 to
the Compan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (33:-193969), filed on February 14, 201

10.171" Offer Letter with Bradley Maroni, M.D., dated Juiy, 2014

10.181 Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement fdiagfrs (incorporated by reference to exhibit 1@4he Company’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1/A (333-193969), filed on March 4, 201

10.191 Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement fonfemployee directors (incorporated by referenaextubit 10.25 to the
Compan'’s Registration Statement on For-1/A (33%-193969), filed on March 4, 201

10.20t Non-Employee Director Compensation Program (incorgatdty reference to exhibit 10.26 to the Companggi&ration
Statement on Form-1/A (333-193969), filed on March 4, 201

10.21t Form of Executive Severance Agreement for offi¢grsorporated by reference to exhibit 10.27 toG@enpany’s Registration
Statement on Form-1/A (332-193969), filed on March 4, 201

10.221 2014 Incentive Plan (incorporated by referencextolst 10.29 to the Company’s Registration StatenmenForm S-1/A (333-
193969), filed on March 4, 201

10.231 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporateefleyence to exhibit 10.30 to the Comp’s Registration Statement on F¢
S-1/A (33:-193969), filed on March 4, 201

10.24% Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by referencexhibé 10.31 to the Company’s Registration StatenmenForm S-1/A (333-
193969), filed on March 4, 201

10.25# Master Services Agreement by and between Evonib&@ation and Akebia Therapeutics, Inc., dated Falyrg8, 2014
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.32 toG@mnpany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A {B33969), filed on Marc
4,2014)

10.261”Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement un2i@t4 Incentive Pla

21.1* List of Subsidiarie!

23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young LL

31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Regedt Under Rule 1:-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asratac

31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Reqad@ Under Rule 1:-14(a) of theSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amer

32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer andifripal Financial Officer Required Under Rule 13§H) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.@
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990.1

101.INS*

101.SCH~*

101.CAL*

101.DEF*

101.LAB*

101.PRE*

Press Release issued by Akebia Therapeutics, mrlglasch 4, 2015 (furnished herewi
XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuitr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docurr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeni

Filed, or submitted electronically, herewith
Indicates management contract or compensatory pla
Indicates portions of the exhibit (indicated byeaisks) have been omitted pursuant to a requesbitiidential treatmer
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FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS ' RIGHTS AGREEMENT

THIS FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS' RIGHTBGREEMENT (this “_Agreement) is made as of the 5th ¢
of March, 2014 by and among AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS,QN a Delaware corporation (the “ Compdiyeach of the investors listed
Schedule Ahereto, each of which is referred to in this Agreetnas an “ Investdt and collectively, the “ Investory, and any Addition:
Investor that becomes a party to this Agreemeatoordance with Section éh@reof.

RECITALS
WHEREAS, certain of the Investors have previouslychased equity securities of the Company;

WHEREAS, the Company and certain Investors ardgzatt the “ Series A Preferr&tock Purchase Adreemeritslated as of Janue
23, 2008 and July 15, 2009;

WHEREAS, the Company and certain Investors aregzait the Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreermated as of April 6, 20
by and among the Company and certain of the Inve¢#s it may be amended, restated, supplementetth@mvise modified from time to tin
the “ Series B Purchase Agreem&nt

WHEREAS, the Company and certain Investors areigsatd the Series C Preferred Stock Purchase Agmegerdated as of May ]
2013, by and among the Company and certain ofrthestors (as it may be amended, restated, supptethenotherwise modified from time
time, the “_ Series C Purchase Agreenignt

WHEREAS, the Company, certain of the Investors eedain other Persons (as defined below) previoashgred into an Investors’
Rights Agreement, dated as of January 23, 2008nasnfled and Restated as of July 15, 2009, Aprib&l2and May 10, 2013 (thePriot

Adgreement);

WHEREAS, the Company and its existing Investorsrdds amend and restate the Prior Agreement iaritgety on the terms set fo
herein; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section @f6the Prior Agreement, this Agreement has beecwre by the Appropriate Percentag
the Registrable Securities then outstanding (asekkin the Prior Agreement);

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree as follows
1. Definitions.For purposes of this Agreement:

“ Affiliate " means, with respect to any specified Person, amgr ®erson who, directly or indirectly, controks controlled by, ¢
is under common control with such Person, includiithout limitation any general partner, managingmber, officer or director of su
Person or any venture capital fund now or hereagsting that is controlled by one or more geng@aitners or managing members of
shares the same management company with, suchnParssh provided that Satter Investment Managenidr®, Muneer A. Satter and .
Persons for which Mr. Satter or any of his Immealiaamily Members serves as trustee or investmeng@dor any similar capacity (and tr
respective Affiliates) and any account held for ble@efit of any such Person shall be Affiliate®pé another, regardless of whether they w
otherwise be deemed Affiliates hereunder.

“ Appropriate Percentagemeans fifty percent (50%).

“ Common StocK means shares of the Company’s common stock, glae’0.00001 per share.

“ Damages’ means any loss, damage, or liability (joint or seljgo which a party hereto may become subjeceutite Securitie
Act, the Exchange Act, or other federal or state asofar as such loss, damage, or liability oy action in respect thereof) arises out of
based upon (i) any untrue statement or allegeduendtatement of a material fact contained in amgystation statement of the Compe
including any preliminary prospectus or final presfus contained therein or any amendments or swmgples thereto; (i) an omission
alleged omission to state therein a material faquired to be stated therein, or necessary to itiekstatements therein not misleading; or
any violation or alleged violation by the indemiiify party (or any of its agents or Affiliates) et Securities Act, the Exchange Act, any !
securities law, or any rule or regulation promudghtinder the Securities Act, the Exchange Acthgrsdate securities law.

“ Derivative Securitie§ means any securities or rights convertible intagarcisable or exchangeable for (in each casegttiiro
indirectly), Common Stock, including options andriaats.




“ Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, amde® and the rules and regulations promulgate@tineler.

“ Excluded Reaqistratiori means (i) a registration relating to the sale @iuséies to employees of the Company or a subsi
pursuant to a stock option, stock purchase, orlairpian; (ii) a registration relating to an SECI&®0145 transaction; (iii) a registration on .
form that does not include substantially the samfi@mation as would be required to be included registration statement covering the sa
the Registrable Securities; or (iv) a registrafiomhich the only Common Stock being registere@asnmon Stock issuable upon conversic
debt securities that are also being registered.

“Form S1 " means such form under the Securities Act as irceffe the date hereof or any successor registréion under th
Securities Act subsequently adopted by the SEC.

“Eorm S3” means such form under the Securities Act as ircetfie the date hereof or any registration form uride Securitie
Act subsequently adopted by the SEC that permitsrporation of substantial information by refererioeother documents filed by 1
Company with the SEC.

“ GAAP " means generally accepted accounting principléhénUnited States.

“ Holder” means any holder of Registrable Securities whpgarty to this Agreement.

“ Immediate Family Membét means a child, stepchild, grandchild, parentpgégent, grandparent, spouse, sibling, mothdasin-

father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in- law, brottie-law, or sister-inaw, including adoptive relationships, of a natupaison referred
herein.

“ Initiating Holders” means, collectively, Holders who properly inigad registration request under this Agreement.

“ Investor” means the persons named on Scheduleefeto, each person who hereafter becomes a sigriatthis Agreemel
pursuant to Section 6#&nd any one of them, as the context may requiiged, howeverthat any such person shall cease to be consi
an Investor for purposes of this Agreement at ang such person and his, her or its Affiliates edtively hold no shares of Preferred Stock.

“1PO " means the Company’s first underwritten publiceoiiig of its Common Stock under the Securities Act.

“ Key Employee” means any executive-level employee (includinggion director and vice presidel@vel positions) as well
any employee who, either alone or in concert witrecs, develops, invents, programs, or designsCamgpany Intellectual Property (as defi
in the Series C Purchase Agreement).

“ Major Investor” means any Investor that, individually or togethgth such Investos Affiliates, holds at least 27,500 share
Registrable Securities (as adjusted for any stptik stock dividend, combination, or other recafitation or reclassification effected after
date hereof).

“ New Securities’ means, collectively, equity securities of the Compavhether or not currently authorized, as welkights
options, or warrants to purchase such equity seéesirior securities of any type whatsoever that aremay become, convertible
exchangeable into or exercisable for such equityries.

“ P&G License Agreemerit means that certain License Agreement dated aspié®ber 4, 2007 between the Company anc
Procter & Gamble Company.

“ Person” means any individual, corporation, partnershipst, limited liability company, association, fouatin or other entity.

“ Preferred Directol’” means any director of the Company that the holdérgcord of the Preferred Stock are entitled &
pursuant to the Company’s Certificate of Incorpiorat

“ Preferred StockK means shares of the CompasiBeries A Preferred Stock, Series B PreferredkStod Series C Preferr
Stock.

“ Prior Agreement has the meaning set forth in the Recitals to Agseement.
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“ Regqistrable Securitiesmeans (i) the Common Stock issuable or issued apowersion of the Preferred Stock; (ii) any Com|
Stock issued or issuable (directly or indirectlyjon conversion and/or exercise of any other seéesribf the Company, acquired by
Investors after the date hereof; and (iii) any Camrtock issued as (or issuable upon the convesienercise of any warrant, right, or ot
security that is issued as) a dividend or otheritistion with respect to, or in exchange for oréplacement of, the shares referenced in cl
(i) and (ii) above; excluding in all cases, howewaty Registrable Securities sold by a Person tim@saction in which the applicable rig
under this Agreement are not assigned pursuanéd¢tdd 6.1,and excluding for purposes of Sectiomr®y shares for which registration rig
have terminated pursuant_to Section i 8is Agreement. As to any particular RegisteaBecurities, such shares shall cease to be Reyé
Securities when (i) a registration statement wébpect to the sale of such securities shall hagerhe effective under the Securities Act
such securities shall have been disposed of inrdanoe with such registration statement, (ii) atfgities of the Company held by the Inve
thereof (and all securities held by any other Resswith which such Investor must aggregate itsssateder Rule 144) may be distribL
without volume limitation or other restrictions aransfer under Rule 144 (including without applicatof paragraphs (c), (e), (f) and (h
Rule 144), or (iii) such securities shall have egd® be outstanding.

“ Registrable Securities then outstandingeans the number of shares determined by addinguimber of shares of outstand
Common Stock that are Registrable Securities aadhtimber of shares of Common Stock issuable (directindirectly) pursuant to thi
exercisable and/or convertible securities thatRegistrable Securities.

“ Restricted Securitiesmeans the securities of the Company requirecetrr khe legend set forth in Section 2.12(bjeof.

“ SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

“ SEC Rule 144 means Rule 144 promulgated by the SEC under ¢oeir8ies Act.

“ SEC Rule 145 means Rule 145 promulgated by the SEC under ¢loaiiBies Act.

“ Securities Act’ means the Securities Act of 1933, as amendedttencdules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“ Selling Expense$ means all underwriting discounts, selling commissjoand stock transfer taxes applicable to the af

Registrable Securities, and fees and disbursenmdntsunsel for any Holder, except for the fees digbursements of the Selling Hol
Counsel borne and paid by the Company as provia&egction 2.6

“ Series A Preferred Stockmeans shares of the Company’s Series A Pref&teck, par value $0.00001 per share.

“ Series B Preferred Sto¢kmeans shares of the Company’s Series B Pref@teck, par value $0.00001 per share.

“ Series C Preferred Sto¢knmeans shares of the Company’s Series C Pref&taak, par value $0.00001 per share.

“ Series C Purchase Agreeméiiitas the meaning set forth in the Recitals to Agseement.

2. Reqistration Rightd’he Company covenants and agrees as follows:

2.1. Demand Registratian

(a) Form $1 Demand If at any time after the earlier of (i) five (§gars after the date of the Prior Agreement @rofiie
hundred eighty (180) days after the effective dditine registration statement for the IPO the Comypaceives a request from Holders of tt
percent (30%) of the Registrable Securities thastanding that the Company file a Forni egistration statement with respect to Regist
Securities then outstanding, then the Company ghallithin ten (10) days after the date such resjue given, give notice thereof (the *
Demand Noticé) to all Holders other than the Initiating Holderagdii) as soon as practicable, and in any evetitimsixty (60) days after tl
date such request is given by the Initiating Hdddéite a Form St registration statement under the Securities Aeedng all Registrab
Securities that the Initiating Holders requestedbhtoregistered and any additional Registrable $tezuurequested to be included in s
registration by any other Holders, as specifiedhbtice given by each such Holder to the Compankiwiten (10) days of the date the Denr
Notice is given, and in each case, subject toithitdtions ofSections 2.1(cand 2.3

(b) Form $3 Demand If at any time when it is eligible to use a Fo83 registration statement, the Company recei
request from Holders of at least thirty percen®3®f the Registrable Securities then outstandiad the Company file a Form Bregistratio
statement with respect to outstanding Registrabtai®ies of such Holders, then the Company shalithin
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ten (10) days after the date such request is gigie, a Demand Notice to all Holders other than IthiBating Holders; and (ii) as soon
practicable, and in any event within forty-five J4fays after the date such request is given bynitiating Holders, file a Form S-registratio
statement under the Securities Act covering alliReple Securities requested to be included irh segistration by any other Holders,
specified by notice given by each such Holder o @ompany within ten (10) days of the date the Daindotice is given, and in each c:
subject to the limitations of Sections 2.1(c) ar#l.2

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing obligations,hietCompany furnishes to Holders requesting a magish pursuant to th
Section 2.1a certificate signed by the Company’s chief exeeutifficer stating that in the good faith judgmeirithe Companys Board @
Directors it would be materially detrimental to tBempany and its stockholders for such registrasiaement to either become effectiv
remain effective for as long as such registratitatesnent otherwise would be required to remaincéffe, because such action would
materially interfere with a significant acquisitiooorporate reorganization, or other similar tratisa involving the Company; (ii) requi
premature disclosure of material information ttet Company has a bona fide business purpose feempiag as confidential; or (iii) render
Company unable to comply with requirements underShcurities Act or Exchange Act, then the Comparall have the right to defer tak
action with respect to such filing, and any timeigas with respect to filing or effectiveness tharshall be tolled correspondingly, for a pel
of not more than sixty (60) days after the requéghe Initiating Holders is given; providechoweverthat the Company may not invoke 1
right more than once in any twelve (12) month periand_provided further,that the Company shall not register any securfoests owr
account or that of any other stockholder duringhssigty (60) day period other than an Excluded Biegiion.

(d) The Company shall not be obligated to effectodake any action to effect, any registrationspant taSection 2.1(a)(
during the period that is sixty (60) days before @ompanys good faith estimate of the date of filing of, aemtding on a date that is ¢
hundred eighty (180) days after the effective ddt@ Companynitiated registration, provided, that the Compangctively employing in goc
faith commercially reasonable efforts to cause stagistration statement to become effective; (fierathe Company has effected f
registrations pursuant to Section 2.1{a&r (iii) if the Initiating Holders propose to ¢isse of shares of Registrable Securities that n@
immediately registered on Form S-3 pursuant taqaest made pursuant to Section 2.1(lhe Company shall not be obligated to effecto
take any action to effect, any registration purstersection 2.1(bfi) during the period that is thirty (30) days befahe Company good fait|
estimate of the date of filing of, and ending odaie that is ninety (90) days after the effectiatedof, a Companinitiated registratiot
provided, that the Company is actively employing in gooithfaommercially reasonable efforts to cause sedistration statement to becc
effective; or (ii) if the Company has effected #hregistrations pursuant to Section 2.1(B)registration shall not be counted as “effectfmt”
purposes of this Section 2.1(dptil such time as the applicable registrationestant has been declared effective by the SEC, sitle
Initiating Holders withdraw their request for suyistration, elect not to pay the registrationenges therefor, and forfeit their right to
demand registration statement pursuant to Sect®n i which case such withdrawn registration statenstall be counted as “effecteftir

purposes of this Section 2.1(d)

2.2. Company Regqistration If the Company proposes to register (includingy, this purpose, a registration effected by
Company for stockholders other than the Holderg)afrits Common Stock under the Securities Actamrmection with the public offering
such securities solely for cash (other than in adufled Registration), the Company shall, at surcie t promptly give each Holder notice
such registration. Upon the request of each Hajdemn within twenty (20) days after such noticgjigen by the Company, the Company sl
subject to the provisions of Section Zause to be registered all of the Registrable S&xsuthat each such Holder has requested to thedec
in such registration. The Company shall have tgktrio terminate or withdraw any registration atiéid by it under this Section Zb2fore th
effective date of such registration, whether or oy Holder has elected to include Registrable Ste&siin such registration. The exper
(other than Selling Expenses) of such withdrawiistegtion shall be borne by the Company in accordamith_Section 2.6

2.3. Underwriting Requirements

(a) If, pursuant to Section 2.the Initiating Holders intend to distribute the Re@ble Securities covered by their reque:
means of an underwriting, they shall so adviseGbepany as a part of their request made pursuafettion 2.1and the Company sh
include such information in the Demand Notice. Timelerwriter(s) will be selected by the Initiatinglders, subject only to the reason:
approval of the Company. In such event, the righarty Holder to include such HolderRegistrable Securities in such registration she
conditioned upon such Holder’s participation infswaderwriting and the inclusion of such HoldeRegistrable Securities in the underwri
to the extent provided herein. All Holders propgsia distribute their securities through such unditing shall (together with the Company
provided in_Section 2.4(e@nter into an underwriting agreement in customamynfwith the underwriter(s) selected for such unditing.
Notwithstanding any other provision of ttSection 2.3jf the managing underwriter(s) advise(s) the Itiitig Holders in writing that marketil
factors require a limitation on the number of skatie be underwritten, then the Initiating Holdemsals so advise all Holders of Registre
Securities that otherwise would be underwrittenspant hereto, and the number of Registrable Sexsurihat may be included in 1
underwriting shall be allocated among such Holddr&RRegistrable Securities, including the Initiatiktplders, in proportion (as nearly
practicable) to the number of Registrable Securibned by each Holder or in such other proporisishall mutually be agreed to by all <
selling Holders;_provided




however, that the number of Registrable Securitedd by the Holders to be included in such undeimgishall not be reduced unless all o
securities are first entirely excluded from the emditing. To facilitate the allocation of sharesadccordance with the above provisions,
Company or the underwriters may round the numbeshafes allocated to any Holder to the nearesshafes.

(b) In connection with any offering involving anderwriting of shares of the Company’s capital stpoksuant td&ectior
2.2,the Company shall not be required to include anthefHolders'Registrable Securities in such underwriting untbesHolders accept t
terms of the underwriting as agreed upon betweerCttmpany and its underwriters, and then only ahgquantity as the underwriters in tt
sole discretion determine will not jeopardize thecess of the offering by the Company. If the totainber of securities, including Registre
Securities, requested by stockholders to be indudesuch offering exceeds the number of securttielse sold (other than by the Compe
that the underwriters in their reasonable discretietermine is compatible with the success of ffering, then the Company shall be requ
to include in the offering only that number of swsgrturities, including Registrable Securities, Wwhite underwriters and the Company in t
sole discretion determine will not jeopardize thecess of the offering. If the underwriters deterenthat less than all of the Registr:
Securities requested to be registered can be iedlidsuch offering, then the Registrable Securitieat are included in such offering shal
allocated among the selling Holders in proportias fearly as practicable to) the number of Reditrecurities owned by each selling Ho
or in such other proportions as shall mutually geead to by all such selling Holders. To facilitétte allocation of shares in accordance
the above provisions, the Company or the undergriteay round the number of shares allocated toHwiger to the nearest 100 sha
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shglltlie number of Registrable Securities includedhim offering be reduced unless all o
securities (other than securities to be sold by Goenpany) are first entirely excluded from the dffg, or (ii) the number of Registral
Securities included in the offering be reduced Wweloirty percent (30%) of the total number of sétes included in such offering, unless s
offering is the IPO, in which case the selling Hoklmay be excluded further if the underwriters entile determination described above
no other stockholder’s securities are includeduichsoffering. For purposes of the provision in tBection 2.3(broncerning apportionment, -
any selling Holder that is a partnership, limitéabllity company, or corporation, the partners, rbens, retired partners, retired memt
stockholders, and Affiliates of such Holder, or #states and Immediate Family Members of any sactmgrs, retired partners, members,
retired members and any trusts for the benefingfaf the foregoing Persons, shall be deemed ta &iagle “selling Holder,and any pro ra
reduction with respect to such “selling Holdestiall be based upon the aggregate number of RalgistSecurities owned by all Pers
included in such “selling Holder,” as defined ifisteentence.

(c) For purposes of Section 2,1a registration shall not be counted as “effectdd’as a result of an exercise of
underwriter's cutback provisions in Section 2.3(d¢@wer than fifty percent (50%) of the total numloé Registrable Securities that Holc
have requested to be included in such registratimt@ment are actually included.

2.4. Obligations of the CompanyWhenever required under this Sectioto2ffect the registration of any Registrable Stias:
the Company shall, as expeditiously as reasonaisgibple:

(a) prepare and file with the SEC a registrati@teshent with respect to such Registrable Secudtelsuse its commercia
reasonable efforts to cause such registrationmstateto become effective and, upon the requesteoHolders of a majority of the Registre
Securities registered thereunder, keep such ragia@irstatement effective for a period of up to boedred twenty (120) days or, if earlier, L
the distribution contemplated in the registratitateament has been completed; providédweverthat (i) such one hundred twenty (120)
period shall be extended for a period of time eqoidhe period the Holder refrains, at the reqoéstn underwriter of Common Stock (or ot
securities) of the Company, from selling any sdmgiincluded in such registration, and (ii) in tbese of any registration of Registre
Securities on Form S-that are intended to be offered on a continugudetayed basis, subject to compliance with apple&EC rules, sui
one hundred twenty (120) day period shall be exadrfdr up to sixty (60) days, if necessary, to kdepregistration statement effective unti
such Registrable Securities are sold;

(b) prepare and file with the SEC such amendmemdssapplements to such registration statementtlangrospectus us
in connection with such registration statementinay be necessary to comply with the Securitiesidarder to enable the disposition of
securities covered by such registration statement;

(c) furnish to the selling Holders such numbersagies of a prospectus, including a preliminaryspextus, as required
the Securities Act, and such other documents asithiders may reasonably request in order to fatditheir disposition of their Registra
Securities;

(d) use its commercially reasonable efforts tostgiand qualify the securities covered by suckstegion statement unc
such other securities or blue-sky laws of suchslictions as shall be reasonably requested byefliagsHolders;_providedthat the Compar
shall not be required to qualify to do businesdoofile a general consent to service of procesany such states or jurisdictions, unless
Company is already subject to service in suchdioton and except as may be required by the SiesiAct;
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(e) in the event of any underwritten public offgxienter into and perform its obligations undewaderwriting agreemel
in usual and customary form, with the underwriteofssuch offering;

(f) use its commercially reasonable efforts to eaalh such Registrable Securities covered by sagrstration statement
be listed on a national securities exchange oirtgaslystem and each securities exchange and tragisigm (if any) on which similar securi
issued by the Company are then listed;

(g) provide a transfer agent and registrar folRabistrable Securities registered pursuant toAlieement and provide
CUSIP number for all such Registrable Securitiegdch case not later than the effective dateaf segistration;

(h) promptly make available for inspection by thellisg Holders, any managing underwriter(s) paptding in an
disposition pursuant to such registration statemrsrd any attorney or accountant or other ageairred by any such underwriter or selecte
the selling Holders, all financial and other resrgertinent corporate documents, and propertigheofCompany, and cause the Company
officers, directors, employees, and independenbwtt@ants to supply all information reasonably redfee by any such seller, underwri
attorney, accountant, or agent, in each case,@ssary or advisable to verify the accuracy ofifi@mation in such registration statement
to conduct appropriate due diligence in connedti@newith;

() notify each selling Holder, promptly after t@ompany receives notice thereof, of the time whechsregistratio
statement has been declared effective or a supptamany prospectus forming a part of such regfisin statement has been filed; and

(j) after such registration statement becomes #fecnotify each selling Holder of any request thee SEC that tt
Company amend or supplement such registrationnséatteor prospectus.

2.5. Furnish Information It shall be a condition precedent to the obligagi of the Company to take any action pursuankis
Section 2with respect to the Registrable Securities of aelingy Holder that such Holder shall furnish to tBempany such informati
regarding itself, the Registrable Securities hgldtpand the intended method of disposition oftssecurities as is reasonably required to €

the registration of such Holder's Registr&Securities.

2.6 Expenses of ReqistrationAll expenses (other than Selling Expenses) imzlin connection with registrations, filings,
qualifications pursuant to_Section ,2including all registration, filing, and qualifitan fees; printers’and accounting fees; fees |
disbursements of counsel for the Company; and éesanable fees and disbursements, not to excegd0®7®f one counsel for the sell
Holders (“_Selling Holder Counsé), shall be borne and paid by the Company; pradideowever, that the Company shall not be require
pay for any expenses of any registration proceelagun pursuant to Section 2fthe registration request is subsequently witharat the
request of the Holders of a majority of the Regiske Securities to be registered (in which cassadling Holders shall bear such expense:
rata based upon the number of Registrable Seautfia were to be included in the withdrawn registn), unless the Holders of a majority
the Registrable Securities agree to forfeit thigihtrto one registration pursuant to Sections 3.&¢a2.1(b), as the case may be; provided
further, that if, at the time of such withdrawal, the Holsleshall have learned of a material adverse chamghe condition, business,
prospects of the Company from that known to thedeid at the time of their request and have withdrdlae request with reasona
promptness after learning of such information ttrenHolders shall not be required to pay any ohsexpenses and shall not forfeit their r
to one registration pursuant to Sections 2.bfaR.1(b). All Selling Expenses relating to Registrable S#ims registered pursuant to t
Section Xhall be borne and paid by the Holders pro rattherbasis of the number of Registrable Securiggsstered on their behalf.

2.7 Delay of Registration No Holder shall have any right to obtain or seekinjunction restraining or otherwise delaying
registration pursuant to this Agreement as thelre$wany controversy that might arise with respcthe interpretation or implementatior
this Section 2

2.8 Indemnification If any Registrable Securities are included iegistration statement under this Sectian 2

(a) To the extent permitted by law, the Companylshdemnify and hold harmless each selling Holderd the partnei
members, officers, directors, and stockholdersamhesuch Holder; legal counsel and accountantedoh such Holder; any underwriter
defined in the Securities Act) for each such Haldexd each Person, if any, who controls such Haddemderwriter within the meaning of -
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, against any &ges, and the Company will pay to each such Holdwderwriter, controlling Person,
other aforementioned Person any legal or otherresgsereasonably incurred thereby in connection iwitastigating or defending any clainm
proceeding from which Damages may result, as skphreses are incurred; providetowever, that the indemnity agreement contained in
Section 2.8(a¥hall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of surch claim or proceeding if such settlement fsaéd without the consent
the Company, which consent shall not be unreasgnaitihheld, nor shall the Company be liable for &gmages to the extent that they ¢
out of or are based upon actions or omissions rimade




reliance upon and in conformity with written infoation furnished by or on behalf of any such Holdergerwriter, controlling Person, or ot
aforementioned Person expressly for use in cormeetith such registration.

(b) To the extent permitted by law, each sellingdedo, severally and not jointly, shall indemnifydahold harmless ti
Company, and each of its directors, each of iticef§ who has signed the registration statememt) €erson (if any), who controls
Company within the meaning of the Securities Aegial counsel and accountants for the Company, adgrwriter (as defined in the Securi
Act), any other Holder selling securities in suelgistration statement, and any controlling Persoany such underwriter or other Holc
against any Damages, in each case only to the tetkiehsuch Damages arise out of or are based aptions or omissions made in relia
upon and in conformity with written information fished by or on behalf of such selling Holder egphg for use in connection with st
registration; and each such selling Holder will payhe Company and each other aforementioned Parsplegal or other expenses reasor
incurred thereby in connection with investigatingdefending any claim or proceeding from which Dgesmmay result, as such expense
incurred;_provided however that the indemnity agreement contained in thisiSe@.8(b)shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of
such claim or proceeding if such settlement isatéfg without the consent of the Holder, which comshall not be unreasonably withheld;
provided, further,that in no event shall the aggregate amounts payabany Holder by way of indemnity or contributionderSections 2.8(t
and_2.8(dexceed the proceeds from the offering receiveduo $1older (net of any Selling Expenses paid byhddolder), except in the ce
of fraud or willful misconduct by such Holder.

(c) Promptly after receipt by an indemnified pauyder this_Section 2.8f notice of the commencement of any ac
(including any governmental action) for which atpanay be entitled to indemnification hereundeghsindemnified party will, if a claim
respect thereof is to be made against any indeingifgarty under this Section 2, &jive the indemnifying party notice of the commemen
thereof. The indemnifying party shall have the titghparticipate in such action and, to the extbatindemnifying party so desires, partici
jointly with any other indemnifying party to whiaiotice has been given, and to assume the defeasmfhwith counsel mutually satisfact
to the parties; providedhowever, that an indemnified party (together with all athelemnified parties that may be represented witlconflict
by one counsel) shall have the right to retain eaparate counsel, with the fees and expenses fmideby the indemnifying party,
representation of such indemnified party by thensel retained by the indemnifying party would bappropriate due to actual or poter
differing interests between such indemnified partg any other party represented by such counseidn action.

(d) To provide for just and equitable contributtonjoint liability under the Securities Act in aggse in which either (i) a
party otherwise entitled to indemnification hereendnakes a claim for indemnification pursuant tcs tBection 2.8but it is judicially
determined (by the entry of a final judgment orrdecby a court of competent jurisdiction and thpimtion of time to appeal or the denia
the last right of appeal) that such indemnificatioay not be enforced in such case, notwithstanttiagfact that this Section 2@ovides fo
indemnification in such case, or (ii) contributiamnder the Securities Act may be required on thd parany party hereto for whi
indemnification is provided under this Section 2.8en, and in each such case, such parties willriboite to the aggregate losses, cla
damages, liabilities, or expenses to which they magubject (after contribution from others) intspeoportion as is appropriate to reflect
relative fault of each of the indemnifying partydathe indemnified party in connection with the staénts, omissions, or other actions
resulted in such loss, claim, damage, liabilityegpense, as well as to reflect any other releggottable considerations. The relative fau
the indemnifying party and of the indemnified pastyall be determined by reference to, among otfiags$, whether the untrue or allege
untrue statement of a material fact, or the omissioalleged omission of a material fact, relateinformation supplied by the indemnifyi
party or by the indemnified party and the partiedative intent, knowledge, access to informatiamg opportunity to correct or prevent s
statement or omission; providechowever, that, in any such case, (x) no Holder will beuieed to contribute any amount in excess o
public offering price of all such Registrable Séties offered and sold by such Holder pursuanuithgegistration statement, and (y) no Pe
guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within imeaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act)l\wé entitled to contribution from any Per:
who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepreséoma and_provided further, that in no event shall a Holdsrliability pursuant to th
Section 2.8(d) when combined with the amounts paid or payableumh Holder pursuant to Section 2.8(l®xceed the proceeds from
offering received by such Holder (net of any SelllExpenses paid by such Holder), except in the o&seéllful misconduct or fraud by su
Holder.

(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the exterdttthe provisions on indemnification and contribaticontained in tt
underwriting agreement entered into in connectidth the underwritten public offering are in confliwith the foregoing provisions, t
provisions in the underwriting agreement shall calnt

() Unless otherwise superseded by an underwriiggeement entered into in connection with the umd#en public
offering, the obligations of the Company and Hoddender this Section 2.8hall survive the completion of any offering of Retable
Securities in a registration under this Sectigra@d otherwise shall survive the termination @f thgreement.
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2.9. Reports Under Exchange AdWith a view to making available to the Holders tienefits of SEC Rule 144 and any other
or regulation of the SEC that may at any time peariolder to sell securities of the Company toghblic without registration or pursuant t
registration on Form S-3, the Company shall:

(a) make and keep available adequate current pudfticmation, as those terms are understood anishattin SEC Rul
144, at all times after the effective date of thgistration statement filed by the Company forl#®;

(b) use commercially reasonable efforts to filehwtie SEC in a timely manner all reports and otteeruments required
the Company under the Securities Act and the Exgidhdct (at any time after the Company has becorbgsuto such reporting requiremen
and

(c) furnish to any Holder, so long as the Holdemevany Registrable Securities, forthwith upon regg to the extel
accurate, a written statement by the Company thets complied with the reporting requirements BESRule 144 (at any time after ninety (
days after the effective date of the registratitaiesnent filed by the Company for the IPO), theusigies Act, and the Exchange Act (at
time after the Company has become subject to segbrting requirements), or that it qualifies aegistrant whose securities may be re
pursuant to Form S-(at any time after the Company so qualifies);dicopy of the most recent annual or quarterlyriepf the Company ai
such other reports and documents so filed by theag@@my; and (iii) such other information as may basonably requested in availing
Holder of any rule or regulation of the SEC thatpiés the selling of any such securities withowis&ration (at any time after the Company
become subject to the reporting requirements utideExchange Act) or pursuant to Forn3 $at any time after the Company so qualifie
use such form).

2.10._Limitations on Subsequent Registration Rigltsom and after the date of this Agreement, thengamy shall not, witho
the prior written consent of the Holders of morarttihe Appropriate Percentage of the Registrabteir@ees then outstanding, enter into
agreement with any holder or prospective holdearof securities of the Company that would allow sholder or prospective holder (i)
include such securities in any registration unlesgjer the terms of such agreement, such holdgraspective holder may include s
securities in any such registration only to theeakthat the inclusion of such securities will nreduce the number of the Registrable Secu
of the Holders that are included or (ii) allow suadider or prospective holder to initiate a deméordegistration of any securities held by s
holder or prospective holder.

2.11. "‘Market Stanebff” Agreement Each Holder hereby agrees that it will not, withthe prior written consent of the manag
underwriter, during the period commencing on theedzf the final prospectus relating to the regtstraby the Company of shares of
Common Stock or any other equity securities underSecurities Act on a registration statement amF8-1 or Form 3, and ending on tl
date specified by the Company and the managingramider (such period not to exceed (x) one hundrigghty (180) days in the case of
IPO, or (y) if requested by the managing underwréted approved by Holders of more than the AppaiprPercentage of the Registri
Securities, ninety (90) days in the case of anysteggion other than the IPO, (i) lend; offer; pded sell; contract to sell; sell any optior
contract to purchase; purchase any option or cantoasell; grant any option, right, or warrantparchase; or otherwise transfer or dispos
directly or indirectly, any shares of Common Stackany securities convertible into or exercisabi@xchangeable (directly or indirectly)
Common Stock held immediately before the effectia¢e of the registration statement for such offgmn (ii) enter into any swap or otl
arrangement that transfers to another, in whola gart, any of the economic consequences of ovaierd such securities, whether any s
transaction described in clause (i) or (ii) aboseta be settled by delivery of Common Stock or otbecurities, in cash, or otherwi
Notwithstanding clause (i) and (ii) above, eachddolmay distribute any or all of its shares of Cann$tock or any securities convertible
or exercisable or exchangeable (directly or indiyg¢dor Common Stock to any of its limited parteeProvided howeverthat such limite
partners who receive the distribution of any orshlires of Common Stock or any securities convertitio or exercisable or exchange:
(directly or indirectly) for Common Stock shalllktbe subject to the other provisions of this Saet.11. The foregoing provisions of tt
Section 2.13shall not apply to the sale of any shares to arenmtter pursuant to an underwriting agreement, simall be applicable to t
Holders only if all officers and directors are =dijto the same restrictions and the Company usesercially reasonable efforts to obta
similar agreement from all stockholders individyadwning more than one percent (1%) of the Compmaoytstanding Common Stock (a
giving effect to conversion into Common Stock df @itstanding Preferred Stock). The underwritersannection with such registration
intended third-party beneficiaries of this Sectibfil and shall have the right, power, and authorityrtfoece the provisions hereof as tho
they were a party hereto. Each Holder further agteeexecute such agreements as may be reasomplgsted by the underwriters
connection with such registration that are conststath this_Section 2.1r that are necessary to give further effect tlerétny discretionar
waiver or termination of the restrictions of anyatlrof such agreements by the Company or the writers shall apply pro rata to all Hold
subject to such agreements, based on the numiseaoés subject to such agreements.

2.12. Restrictions on Transfer

(a) The Preferred Stock and the Registrable Séesishall not be sold, pledged, or otherwise temstl, and the Compa
shall not recognize and shall issue stop-transfgructions to its transfer agent with respectrtp such sale, pledge, or
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transfer, except upon the conditions specifiechia Agreement, which conditions are intended taisngompliance with the provisions of
Securities Act. A transferring Holder will causeyaproposed purchaser, pledgee, or transferee oPthérred Stock and the Registr:
Securities held by such Holder to agree to take faold such securities subject to the provisions apdn the conditions specified in t
Agreement.

(b) Each certificate or instrument representingttig Preferred Stock, (ii) the Registrable Seasitiand (iii) any oth
securities issued in respect of the securitiesreafeed in clauses (i) and (ii), upon any stocktsgliock dividend, recapitalization, mer
consolidation, or similar event, shall (unless othige permitted by the provisions of Section 2.}Pbe stamped or otherwise imprinted wi
legend substantially in the following form:

THE SHARES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED ROINVESTMENT AND HAVE NOT BEEN
REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933. SUCHHARES MAY NOT BE SOLD, PLEDGED, OR
TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION GRVALID EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION
AND PROSPECTUS DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS OF SAID ACT.

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY MAY BE TRANSFERBIENLY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND THE STOCKHOLDE, A COPY OF WHICH IS ON FILE WITH THE
SECRETARY OF THE COMPANY.

The Holders consent to the Company making a notatidts records and giving instructions to anysf@r agent of the Restricted Securities ir
order to implement the restrictions on transferfegh in this_Section 2.12

(c) The holder of each certificate representingtiR#ed Securities, by acceptance thereof, agreesmply in all respec
with the provisions of this _Section .2Before any proposed sale, pledge, or transfeangf Restricted Securities, unless there is in &ff
registration statement under the Securities Acedag the proposed transaction, the Holder theskafl give notice to the Company of s
Holder’s intention to effect such sale, pledge, or tramdfach such notice shall describe the manner andnestances of the proposed s
pledge, or transfer in sufficient detail and, iisenably requested by the Company, shall be aceuetpat such Holdes’ expense by either
a written opinion of legal counsel who shall, anbose legal opinion shall, be reasonably satisfgctorthe Company, addressed to
Company, to the effect that the proposed transactiay be effected without registration under theuides Act; (ii) a “no action'letter from
the SEC to the effect that the proposed sale, pledg transfer of such Restricted Securities withmgistration will not result in
recommendation by the staff of the SEC that adtiemaken with respect thereto; or (iii) any othédence reasonably satisfactory to couns
the Company to the effect that the proposed s#delgp, or transfer of the Restricted Securities lagffected without registration under
Securities Act, whereupon the Holder of such Retstii Securities shall be entitled to sell, pledgetransfer such Restricted Securitie
accordance with the terms of the notice given lgyHlolder to the Company. The Company will not regjsuch a legal opinion or “no action”
letter (x) in any transaction in compliance withGGRule 144 or (y) in any transaction in which sttiider distributes Restricted Securitie
an Affiliate of such Holder for no considerationppided,that each transferee agrees in writing to be stibjethe terms of this Section 2.12
Each certificate or instrument evidencing the Retstd Securities transferred as above provided $fealr, except if such transfer is m
pursuant to SEC Rule 144, the appropriate resteckegend set forth in_Section 2.12(lekcept that such certificate shall not bear
restrictive legend if, in the opinion of counset Buch Holder and the Company, such legend is empired in order to establish complia
with any provisions of the Securities Act.

2.13. Termination of Registration Right§he right of any Holder to request registratiorirelusion of Registrable Securities
any registration pursuant to Section #r12.2shall terminate upon the closing of a Deemed Ligtioh Event, as such term is defined in
Company’s Certificate of Incorporation.

3. Information and Observer Rights

3.1. Delivery of Financial Statement¥he Company shall deliver to each Major Investor:

(a) as soon as practicable, but in any event witlmety (90) days after the end of each fiscal yefahe Company, (i)
balance sheet as of the end of such year, (iigrstants of income and of cash flows for such yead, @ comparison between (x) the ac
amounts as of and for such fiscal year and (yrtreparable amounts for the prior year and as ireclud the Budget (as defined_in Section 3.
(e)) for such year, with an explanation of any matediffierences between such amounts and a schedutethe sources and application:
funds for such year, and (iii) a statement of shmttters’equity as of the end of such year, all such finglngtiatements audited and certifiec
independent public accountants of nationally recgghstanding selected by the Company;

(b) as soon as practicable, but in any event withirly (30) days after the end of each of thetfirsee (3) quarters of ec
fiscal year of the Company, unaudited statemenisaafime and of cash flows for such fiscal quaded an unaudited
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balance sheet as of the end of such fiscal quaitgrepared in accordance with GAAP (except theh financial statements may (i) be sut
to normal year-end audit adjustments and (ii) mottain all notes thereto that may be required aoetance with GAAP);

(c) as soon as practicable, but in any event withirty (30) days after the end of each month,aeshent showing tl
number of shares of each class and series of tafotk and securities convertible into or exeigisdor shares of capital stock outstandir
the end of the period, the Common Stock issuabtn ugpnversion or exercise of any outstanding stesrconvertible or exercisable
Common Stock and the exchange ratio or exercige @pplicable thereto, and the number of sharéssaéd stock options and stock opti
not yet issued but reserved for issuance, if alhyn aufficient detail as to permit the Major Irsters to calculate their respective percer
equity ownership in the Company, and certified gy thief financial officer or chief executive officof the Company as being true, comp
and correct;

(d) as soon as practicable, but in any event withirty (30) days of the end of each month, an ditad income stateme
and statement of cash flows for such month, andraudited balance sheet as of the end of such malhfftrepared in accordance with GA
(except that such financial statements may (i)uigext to normal yeaend audit adjustments and (ii) not contain all adtereto that may
required in accordance with GAAP);

(e) as soon as practicable, but in any event ti@®y days before the end of each fiscal year,dgétiand business plan
the next fiscal year (collectively, the * Buddgt prepared on a monthly basis, including balancetshe@eome statements, and statemer
cash flow for such months and, promptly after predaany other budgets or revised budgets prefmréide Company;

(f) with respect to the financial statements cafledin Sections 3.1(agnd_3.1(b)a management discussion and analys
the chief executive officer of the Company thaludes updates and status of the Company’s matsialopments and activities; and

(g) such other information relating to the finah@andition, business, prospects, or corporataraffaf the Company as a
Major Investor may from time to time reasonablyuest;_provided howeverthat the Company shall not be obligated underSkistion 3.10
provide information (i) that the Company reasonatgyermines in good faith to be a trade secrebnfidential information (unless covered
an enforceable confidentiality agreement, in focoeptable to the Company) or (ii) the disclosurg/bich would adversely affect the attorney
client privilege between the Company and its colinse

If, for any period, the Company has any subsidigihpse accounts are consolidated with those of tiragany, then in respect of such pe
the financial statements delivered pursuant toftihegoing sections shall be the consolidated antsa@alating financial statements of
Company and all such consolidated subsidiaries.

Notwithstanding anything else in ttSection 3.1o the contrary, the Company may cease providiegriformation set forth in thiSection 3.
during the period starting with the date thirty Y8@ys before the Company’s gofaith estimate of the date of filing of a regisivat statemet

if it reasonably concludes it must do so to compith the SEC rules applicable to such registrastaiement and related offering; provided
that the Company’s covenants under this SectionsBall be reinstated at such time as the Compamp ifonger actively employing
commercially reasonable efforts to cause such tragjisn statement to become effective.

3.2. Inspection. The Company shall permit each Major Investorsath Major Investos expense, to visit and inspect
Company'’s properties; examine its books of acceuntt records; and discuss the Compargffairs, finances, and accounts with its offi
during normal business hours of the Company as leaseasonably requested by the Major Investor;igeal, however.that the Compar
shall not be obligated pursuant to this Section@j2rovide access to any information that it reatbynand in good faith considers to be a t
secret or confidential information (unless covetsdan enforceable confidentiality agreement, imfaacceptable to the Company) or
disclosure of which would adversely affect the mtéy-client privilege between the Company and dgtsnsel.

3.3. Observer RightAs long as each of Venture Investors Early StagedAY Limited Partnership, Athenian Venture Pars;
AgeChem Venture Fund L.P., Cincinnati Cornerstamees$tors AKB, LLC and Family Akebia Investments LI(&) purchases shares of
Companys Series C Preferred Stock for at least $1,499i00thash (excluding any conversion of Series X Rrefe Stock) pursuant to t
Series C Purchase Agreement and (b) continues tormivless than fifty percent (50%) of the aggregaimber of shares of Preferred S
that it purchased under the Series A PreferredkStarchase Agreements and the Series B Purchasergnt and that it is purchasing
acquiring as a result of the conversion of its ekasf Series X Preferred Stock) under the SeridduChase Agreement (or an equive
number of shares of Common Stock issued upon csiovethereof), and as long as Triathlon Medical tdegs Fund, L.P. continues to own
less than fifty percent (50%) of the aggregate nema shares of Preferred Stock that it purchasetbuthe Series A Preferred Stock Purc
Agreements and the Series B Purchase Agreemerthahd is purchasing (or acquiring as a resulthaf conversion of its shares of Serie
Preferred Stock) under the Series C Purchase Agnetefor an equivalent number of shares of CommonkSssued upon conversion there
the Company
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shall invite a representative of each such Perpoovided that the representative of Triathlon Madi¢entures Fund, L.P. must be Johr
Rice), as applicable, to attend all meetings ofBitewrd of Directors in a nonvoting observer capaeind, in this respect, shall give s
representative copies of all notices, minutes, eotss and other materials that it provides to iteators at the same time and in the s
manner as provided to such directors; provided, dvan that such representative shall agree to hold ifidemce and trust and to act il
fiduciary manner with respect to all information gmvided; and provided further, that the Company reserves the right to withhaigl
information and to exclude such representative femmy meeting or portion thereof if access to sudbrimation or attendance at such mee
could adversely affect the attornelyent privilege between the Company and its couaseesult in disclosure of trade secrets or aflagrof
interest, or if such Investor or its representaiiva competitor of the Company.

3.4. Termination of Information and Observer Righthe covenants set forth in Sections 3312, and_3.3shall terminate and
of no further force or effect (i) immediately bedothe consummation of the IPO, (ii) when the Comypiinst becomes subject to the peric
reporting requirements of Section 12(g) or 15(d}haf Exchange Act, or (iii) upon a Deemed LiquidatEvent, as such term is defined in
Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, whichevgest occurs first.

3.5. Confidentiality. Each Investor agrees that such Investor will kegpfidential and will not disclose, divulge, oreufor an
purpose (other than to monitor its investment e @ompany) any confidential information obtaineshirthe Company pursuant to the terrr
this Agreement (including notice of the Compamnyitention to file a registration statement), gelsuch confidential information (a) is knc
or becomes known to the public in general (oth@ntlas a result of a breach of this Section I8/5such Investor), (b) is or has b
independently developed or conceived by the Invesgithout use of the Comparg/confidential information, or (c) is or has beead®a know
or disclosed to the Investor by a third party witha breach of any obligation of confidentialitychuthird party may have to the Compe
provided, howeverthat an Investor may disclose confidential inforimrat(i) to its attorneys, accountants, consultaatg] other profession:
to the extent necessary to obtain their servicemimection with monitoring its investment in then@pany; (ii) to any prospective purchase
any Registrable Securities from such Investorudhsprospective purchaser agrees to be bound hyrdivésions of this Section 3;5iii) to any
existing or prospective Affiliate, partner, membsiqckholder, or wholly owned subsidiary of suchdstor in the ordinary course of busin
provided, that such Investor informs such Person that sufdnmation is confidential and directs such Persbmaintain the confidentiality
such information; or (iv) as may otherwise be reegiby law;_provided that the Investor promptly notifies the Compaiguch disclosure al
takes reasonable steps to minimize the extentyosach required disclosure.

4. Rights to Future Stock Issuances

4.1. Right of First Offer Subject to the terms and conditions of this $&cl.1and applicable securities laws, if the Comg
proposes to offer or sell any New Securities, thenfany shall first offer such New Securities torebvestor. An Investor shall be entitlec
apportion the right of first offer hereby grantedttamong itself and its Affiliates in such propons as it deems appropriate.

(a) The Company shall give notice (the “ Offer Mefl) to each Investor, stating (i) its bona fide intentto offer such Ne
Securities, (ii) the number of such New Securiteebe offered, and (i) the price and terms, i anpon which it proposes to offer such M
Securities.

(b) By notification to the Company within twentyQRdays after the Offer Notice is given, each Iteesnay elect t
purchase or otherwise acquire, at the price anth®@merms specified in the Offer Notice, up to thattion of such New Securities which eq;
the proportion that the Common Stock then heldumhdnvestor (assuming full conversion and/or eisercas applicable, of all Preferred St
and other Derivative Securities then held by sunbestor) bears to the total shares of Common Safcthe Company then outstand
(assuming full conversion and/or exercise, as apple, of all Preferred Stock and other DerivaBeeurities). At the expiration of such twe
(20) day period, the Company shall promptly no&fich Investor that elects to purchase or acquiteekhares available to it (each, Bully
Exercising Investol) of any other Investos failure to do likewise. During the ten (10) dagripd commencing after the Company has ¢
such notice, each Fully Exercising Investor maygbyng notice to the Company, elect to purchasaaguire, in addition to the numbel
shares specified above, up to that portion of the ISecurities for which Investors were entitledubscribe but that were not subscribed fc
the Investors which is equal to the proportion tifiet Common Stock then held by such Fully Exergidmvestor (assuming full convers
and/or exercise, as applicable, of all PreferrextiSand other Derivative Securities then held byhskully Exercising Investor) bears to
Common Stock then held by all Fully Exercising Istogs who wish to purchase such unsubscribed slfassaming full conversion and
exercise, as applicable, of all Preferred Stock athér Derivative Securities then held by all s&ehly Exercising Investors). The closing
any sale pursuant to this Section 4.1gball occur within the later of ninety (90) daystlé date that the Offer Notice is given and thie d
initial sale of New Securities pursuant to Sectigh(c).

(c) If all New Securities referred to in the Offdotice are not elected to be purchased or acqasgatovided in Section 4.1
(b) , the Company may, during the ninety (90) day mkfalowing the expiration of the periods providiedSection 4.1(b) offer and sell th
remaining unsubscribed portion of such New Se@agsitd any Person or Persons at a price not lessahd upon
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terms no more favorable to the offeree than, tlspeeified in the Offer Notice. If the Company does enter into an agreement for the sa
the New Securities within such period, or if sudre@ment is not consummated within thirty (30) dajshe execution thereof, the ril
provided hereunder shall be deemed to be revivedsaich New Securities shall not be offered unléss$ feoffered to the Investors
accordance with this Section 4.1.

(d) The right of first offer in this Section 4shall not be applicable to (i) Exempted Securif@sdefined in the Comparsy’
Certificate of Incorporation); and (ii) shares afr@mon Stock issued in the IPO.

(e) [Reserved]

(f) Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the tany, in lieu of complying with the provisions tfis Section 4.3, the
Company may elect to give notice to the Investoithiw thirty (30) days after the issuance of Newci@dies. Such notice shall describe
type, price, and terms of the New Securities. Hagkstor shall have twenty (20) days from the duatitice is given to elect to purchase u
the number of New Securities that would, if pur@thby such Investor, maintain such Investor's pgageeownership position, calculated
set forth in_Section 4.1(ljefore giving effect to the issuance of such Newusiges. The closing of such sale shall occur imiixty (60) day
of the date notice is given to the Investors.

4.2. Termination The covenants set forth in Section ghhll terminate and be of no further force or dff§cimmediately befor
the consummation of the IPO, or (ii) upon a Deerniggiidation Event, as such term is defined in thempanys Certificate of Incorporatio
whichever event occurs first.

5. Additional Covenants

5.1. Insurance The Company shall use its commercially reasonefitats to obtain, within ninety (90) days of tbate hereo
from financially sound and reputable insurers Ctiwes and Officers liability insurance and term “kggrson”insurance on each of Jos
Gardner, Robert Shalwitz and William Daly, eachthie amount of $2,000,000 or such lesser amountrdated by the Board of Directc
(including a majority of the Preferred Directorgidaon terms and conditions satisfactory to the BadrDirectors, and will use commercie
reasonable efforts to cause such insurance policibe maintained until such time as the Board wé&ors determines that such insure
should be discontinued. The kpgrson policy shall name the Company as loss paekneither policy shall be cancelable by the Camy
without prior approval by the Board of Directorsdalnolders of more than the Appropriate Percentdgheo shares of Common Stock tl
issuable upon conversion of the then outstandiageshof Preferred Stock.

5.2. Employee AdgreementsThe Company will cause (i) each person now oediger employed by it or by any subsidiary
engaged by the Company or any subsidiary as a tangindependent contractor) with access to camfih| information and/or trade secret
enter into a nondisclosure and proprietary riglssgnment agreement and (ii) each Key Employeeater énto a one (1) year noncompetit
and nonsolicitation agreement, substantially infdren approved by the Board of Directors. In adugfitithe Company shall not amend, mo
terminate, waive, or otherwise alter, in wholempart, any of the abouweferenced agreements or any restricted stock egrmeebetween th
Company and any employee, without the consentadjarity of the Preferred Directors.

5.3. Qualified Small Business Stockhe Company shall use reasonable best effotause the shares of Preferred Stock, as
as any shares into which such shares are conveviddn the meaning of Section 1202(f) of the Im@r Revenue Code (the “Codeth
constitute “qualified small business stocs defined in Section 1202(c) of the Code; providexivever, that such requirement shall nc
applicable if the Board of Directors of the Compa®fermines, in its goofith business judgment, that such qualificatioruldainreasonab
defer a sale or liquidation of the Company by \éraf the applicable “minimum holding periocBquirements. The Company shall submit t
stockholders (including the Investors) and to thiernal Revenue Service any reports that may hgérestjunder Section 1202(d)(1)(C) of
Code and the regulations promulgated thereundexddiition, within twenty (20) business days aftey énvestors written request therefor, 1
Company shall, at its option, either (i) deliversioch Investor a written statement indicating whettand what portion of) such Investor’
interest in the Company constitutes “qualified drbalksiness stockas defined in Section 1202(c) of the Code or @hiver to such Invest
such factual information in the Compasyjossession as is reasonably necessary to enablényestor to determine whether (and what po
of) such Investor’s interest in the Company couatgg “qualified small business stock” as define@éttion 1202(c) of the Code.

12




5.4. Matters Requiring Investor Approvabo long as at least twenty percent (20%) of thgirally issued Series A Prefer
Stock, at least twenty percent (20%) of the oritlynssued Series B Preferred Stock or at leashtwpercent (20%) of the originally isst
Series C Preferred Stock remains outstanding, tvepgany hereby covenants and agrees with each dftiestors that it shall not, without 1
approval of the Board of Directors, which approwalst include the affirmative vote of a majoritytbé Preferred Directors then in office:

(a) make, or permit any subsidiary to make, any loaadvance in an aggregate amount in excess0ff,®10 to, or ow
any stock or other securities of, any subsidiargtber corporation, partnership, or other entitieas it is wholly owned by the Company;

(b) make, or permit any subsidiary to make, any loaadvance to any Person, including, withouttétidn, any employe
or director of the Company or any subsidiary, exeglvances and similar expenditures in the ordicaryse of business or under the tern
an employee stock or option plan approved by ther@of Directors;

(c) guarantee, directly or indirectly, or permityasubsidiary to guarantee, directly or indirectyny indebtedness in
aggregate amount in excess of $100,000, exceptaide accounts of the Company or any subsidiasyrayin the ordinary course of business;

(d) make any investment inconsistent with any itmest policy approved by the Board of Directors;

(e) incur any aggregate indebtedness in exces290,800, other than trade credit incurred in thdinary course (
business;

(f) otherwise enter into or be a party to any teati®n with any director, officer, or employee betCompany or ai
“associate” (as defined in Rule 12bpromulgated under the Exchange Act) of any sumisdh, except for transactions contemplated b
Agreement, the Series A Purchase Agreements, thes3® Purchase Agreement, and the P&G License ehgeat in effect as of the date
this Agreement;

(9) hire, terminate, or change the compensatiothefexecutive officers, including approving anyioptgrants or stoc
awards to executive officers;

(h) change the principal business of the Compamigrenew lines of business, or exit the currerd i business;

(i) sell, assign, license, pledge, or encumber rtiechnology or intellectual property, other nhiicenses granted in t
ordinary course of business;

(j) make any capital expenditure in excess of $10@;, or
(k) adopt the Budget.

5.5. Board Matters Unless otherwise determined by the vote of a ritgjof the directors then in office, the Board Director:
shall meet at least bi-monthly in accordance withagreedipon schedule. The Company shall reimburse themployee directors for ¢
reasonable out-of-pocket travel expenses incurcedsfstent with the Comparsytravel policy) in connection with attending mags of th
Board of Directors. The Company shall cause to stabdished, as soon as practicable after such seqaed will maintain, an audit a
compensation committee, each of which shall cossitly of non-management directors. Each amployee director shall be entitled in s
person’s discretion to be a member of any Boardroittee.

5.6. Successor Indemnificatiorif the Company or any of its successors or aggigrconsolidates with or merges into any «
Person and is not the continuing or surviving ceaafion or entity of such consolidation or mergber to the extent necessary, proper prov
shall be made so that the successors and assightes Company assume the obligations of the Compath respect to indemnification
members of the Board of Directors as in effect irdiately before such transaction, whether such abiigs are contained in the Company’
Bylaws, its Certificate of Incorporation, or elseavl, as the case may be.

5.7. Termination of Covenants The covenants set forth in this Sectiore%cept for_Section 5.6hall terminate and be of
further force or effect (i) immediately before thensummation of the IPO, (ii) when the Companyt fliecomes subject to the peric
reporting requirements of Section 12(g) or 15(d}haf Exchange Act, or (iii) upon a Deemed LiquidatEvent, as such term is defined in
Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, whicheveeet occurs first.
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5.8. Limitation of Liability . The Company shall not enter into any agreemeat ¢buld reasonably be expected to rest
requiring such Investor in any series of the ComgparPreferred Stock, without the written consent wéhsInvestor, to participate in &
transaction which would expose such Investor toillist (a) in excess of the proceeds actually reediby such Investor under such transa
or (b) where the share of such liability of suchdstor is higher than its pro rata portion of thecgeds actually received by such Investor L
such transaction.

6. Miscellaneous

6.1. Successors and AssignsThe rights under this Agreement may be assigbetonly with all related obligations) by a Hot
to a transferee of Registrable Securities thas @n Affiliate of a Holder; (ii) is a Holdes’Immediate Family Member or trust for the benef
an individual Holder or one or more of such Holdeimmediate Family Members; or (iii) after suchnster, holds at least 1,000 share
Registrable Securities (subject to appropriatesigjant for stock splits, stock dividends, combioadi and other recapitalizations after the
hereof);_provided howeverthat (x) the Company is, within a reasonable tifterauch transfer, furnished with written notidettee name ar
address of such transferee and the Registrableiseswith respect to which such rights are bdiagsferred; and (y) such transferee agre
a written instrument delivered to the Company tobloeind by and subject to the terms and conditidnthis Agreement, including tl
provisions of Section 2.11For the purposes of determining the number ofeshaf Registrable Securities held by a transfeheeholdings of
transferee (1) that is an Affiliate or stockholdém Holder; (2) who is a Holdexr'lmmediate Family Member; or (3) that is a trustthe benef
of an individual Holder or such Holdsrimmediate Family Member shall be aggregated bagetnd with those of the transferring Hol
provided, further,that all transferees who would not qualify indivadly for assignment of rights shall have a singteraey-infact for the
purpose of exercising any rights, receiving noticegaking any action under this Agreement. Thimgeand conditions of this Agreement ir
to the benefit of and are binding upon the respedaiuccessors and permitted assignees of the paxtghing in this Agreement, expres:
implied, is intended to confer upon any party ottiean the parties hereto or their respective sworesand permitted assignees any ri
remedies, obligations or liabilities under or bgsen of this Agreement, except as expressly pravigeein.

6.2. Governing Law This Agreement shall be governed by, and coadtin accordance with, the laws of the State dabare
regardless of the laws that might otherwise gowertter applicable principles of conflicts of law.

6.3. Counterparts; Facsimile or PDF This Agreement may be executed in two or marenterparts, each of which shall
deemed an original, but all of which together shalistitute one and the same instrument. This Ages¢ may also be executed and deliv
by facsimile or PDF signature and in two or morardgerparts, each of which shall be deemed an adliglvut all of which together sh
constitute one and the same instrument.

6.4. Titles and Subtitles The titles and subtitles used in this Agreensgatfor convenience only and are not to be consitli
construing or interpreting this Agreement.

6.5. Notices. All notices and other communications given ada pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing shall b
deemed effectively given upon the earlier of acteakipt or: (i) personal delivery to the partyo®notified; (i) when sent, if sent by electrc
mail or facsimile during the recipient’s normal mess hours, and if not sent during normal busihesss, then on the recipiesthext busine:
day; (iii) five (5) days after having been sentrigistered or certified mail, return receipt rededs postage prepaid; or (iv) one (1) busi
day after the business day of deposit with a natipnmecognized overnight courier, freight prepagecifying nexday delivery, with writte
verification of receipt. All communications shak Isent to the respective parties at their addresseet forth on Schedule ereto, or to tr
principal office of the Company and to the attemtwf the Chief Executive Officer, in the case of tBiompany, or to such email addr
facsimile number, or address as subsequently neadify written notice given in accordance with héction 6.5

If notice is given to the Company, a copy shalbdle sent to:

Thompson Hine LLP

312 Walnut Street, 14 Floor
Cincinnati, OH 45202-4089

Attn: David J. Willbrand
david.willborand@thompsonhine.com
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If notice is given to the Investors, a copy shidbabe sent to:

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

300 N. LaSalle St.

Chicago, IL 60654

Attn: Ted H. Zook, P.C.
Roger D. Rhoten

E-mail: ted.zook@kirkland.com
roger.rhoten@Xkirkland.com

and

Edwards Wildman Palmer LLP
Attn: Albert L. Sokol

111 Huntington Avenue
Boston, MA 02199 USA
asokol@edwardswildman.com

6.6. Amendments and Waiver#\ny term of this Agreement may be amended andbservance of any term of this Agreen
may be waived (either generally or in a particufetance, and either retroactively or prospectivagly with the written consent of t
Company and the holders of more than the Apprapifercentage of the Registrable Securities thestamding; provided, that the Comp.
may in its sole discretion waive compliance witlctBe 2.12(c)(and the Compang’failure to object promptly in writing after natgtion of ¢
proposed assignment allegedly in violation of Sec.12(c)shall be deemed to be a waiver); and providedhéuytthat any provision here
may be waived by any waiving party on such parigwn behalf, without the consent of any otherypasotwithstanding the foregoing, tl
Agreement may not be amended or terminated anditbervance of any term hereof may not be waivel sepect to any Investor without
written consent of such Investor, unless such amend, termination, or waiver applies to all Investm the same fashion (it being agreed
a waiver of the provisions of Sectionwth respect to a particular transaction shall berded to apply to all Investors in the same faskf
such waiver does so by its terms, notwithstandirgfact that certain Investors may nonethelessadgrgement with the Company, purct
securities in such transaction). Notwithstanding thregoing, the provisions of (a) Section 2.8(djommencing with its wordsptovided
however”,may not be amended or waived without the writtensent of (i) the Company and (ii) the holders afety percent (90%) of tl
shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversioth®fthen outstanding shares of Preferred Stock (@)d(A) Satter Investmel
Management, LLC so long as Satter Investment Managg LLC or any of its Affiliates holds any Prefed Stock or Common Stock issi
upon conversion of any of such Preferred Stock,NByartis Bioventures Ltd. so long as Novartis Rintures Ltd. holds any Preferred Si
or Common Stock issued upon conversion of any ol Rreferred Stock, and (C) Novo A/S so long asd\B&iS holds any Preferred Stock
Common Stock issued upon conversion of any of fudferred Stock; (b) Section 3n3ay not be amended to terminate a designated
therein to appoint an observer to the Board of @aes without the written consent of the Compang anleast fifty percent (50%) of the sh:
of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the thetstanding shares of Preferred Stock held byPtesons entitled to appoint s
observer; (c) Sections 4ahd_4.2may not be waived without the written consent &f iolders of more than seventy percent (70%) ohizee
of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the thetstanding shares of Preferred Stock; and (d}i®e5.8, Section 6.6(apnd thi
Section 6.6(dmay not be amended or waived without the writtensemt of (i) the Company, (ii) the holders of ninpercent (90%) of tt
shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversioth®fthen outstanding shares of Preferred Stock (@)d(A) Satter Investmel
Management, LLC so long as Satter Investment Managg LLC or any of its Affiliates holds any Prefed Stock or Common Stock issi
upon conversion of any of such Preferred Stock,NByartis Bioventures Ltd. so long as Novartis Rintures Ltd. holds any Preferred Si
or Common Stock issued upon conversion of any ofi sireferred Stock, and (C) Novo A/S so long asd\&i& holds any Preferred Stock
Common Stock issued upon conversion of any of Sueferred Stock. The Company shall give promptoeotif any amendment or termina
hereof or waiver hereunder to any party hereto dicitnot consent in writing to such amendment, teation, or waiver. Any amendme
termination, or waiver effected in accordance witis Section 6.&hall be binding on all parties hereto, regardt#sshether any such pa
has consented thereto. No waivers of or exceptimasly term, condition, or provision of this Agreemh, in any one or more instances, sha
deemed to be or construed as a further or congnuaiver of any such term, condition, or provision.

6.7. Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions doathin this Agreement is for any reason held tarbalid,
illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such iidtgl illegality, or unenforceability shall notfatt any other provision of this Agreement,
such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provisidra be reformed and construed so that it will béids legal, and enforceable to the maxin
extent permitted by law.
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6.8._Aggregation of Stock All shares of Registrable Securities held ajuaed by Affiliates shall be aggregated togettwerthe
purpose of determining the availability of any tiglunder this Agreement and such Affiliated persoray apportion such rights as am
themselves in any manner they deem appropriate.

6.9. Additional Investors Notwithstanding anything to the contrary congad herein, if the Company issues additional shaf
the Companys Preferred Stock after the date hereof, whethesuamt to the Series C Purchase Agreement or oferov if any Invest
transfers any shares of the Companiyteferred Stock to any other Person, any purclwsgew holder of such shares of Preferred Stoal
become a party to this Agreement by executing afideting an additional counterpart signature pagenis Agreement, and thereafter sha
deemed an " Investdrfor all purposes hereunder. No action or conserthbyinvestors shall be required for such joindethis Agreement t
such additional Investor, so long as such additibmeestor has agreed in writing to be bound byddlithe obligations as an* Investbr
hereunder.

6.10. Entire Agreement This Agreement (including any Schedules andiliithhereto) amends and restates in its entited
Prior Agreement, constitutes the full and entirdenstanding and agreement among the parties vafiect to the subject matter hereof, anc
other written or oral agreement relating to thejsctomatter hereof existing between the partiexgessly canceled.

6.11. [Reserved].

6.12. Delays or Omissions No delay or omission to exercise any right, powor remedy accruing to any party under
Agreement, upon any breach or default of any offeety under this Agreement, shall impair any suigintr power, or remedy of su
nonbreaching or nondefaulting party, nor shalleitdonstrued to be a waiver of or acquiescenceytsach breach or default, or to any sin
breach or default thereafter occurring, nor shayl waiver of any single breach or default be deemadiver of any other breach or def
theretofore or thereafter occurring. All remedighgther under this Agreement or by law or othenaiferded to any party, shall be cumula
and not alternative.

6.13. Acknowledgment The Company acknowledges that certain Investogsin the business of venture capital investingd
therefore review the business plans and relateprigtary information of many enterprises, includegterprises which may have product
services which compete directly or indirectly wittose of the Company. Nothing in this Agreementlgivaclude or in any way restrict 1
Investors from investing or participating in anytaular enterprise whether or not such enterphise products or services which compete
those of the Company.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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SCHEDULE A

Investors

Name and Address

Triathlon Medical Ventures Fund, L.P.
Attn:  John M. Rice

Managing Partner
300 E-Business Way, Suite 200
Cincinnati, OH 45241

Novartis BioVentures Ltc
Attn: Henri Simon Zivi
131 Front Street
Hamilton HM 12
Bermuda

But for mail, to:

Novartis BioVentures Ltc
IAttn: Henri Simon Zivi

PO Box HM 2899
Hamilton HM LX Bermuda

)And, also send a copy t

Novartis Venture Fun

Attn: Campbell Murray

Five Cambridge Center, Suite 603
Cambridge, MA 02142

and

Edwards Angell Palmer & Dodge LLP
Attn: Al Sokol

111 Huntington Avenue

Boston, MA 02199
asokol@eapdlaw.com

\Venture Investors Early Stage Fund IV Limited Parghip
Attn:  Paul Weiss
Managing Director
505 South Rosa Road
Madison, WI 53719-1262

Kearny Venture Partners, L.P.
Attn: Anupam Dalal

Kearny Venture Associates, LLC
88 Kearny Street, Suite 200

San Francisco, CA 94108-5530

Kearny Venture Partners Entrepreneurs Fund, L.P.
Attn: Anupam Dalal

Kearny Venture Associates, LLC

88 Kearny Street, Suite 200

San Francisco, CA 94108-5530




Thomas Weisel Healthcare Venture Partners, L.P.
88 Kearny Street, # Floor
San Francisco, CA 94108

The Procter & Gamble Company
Attn:  David Le Neveu
Director, Corporate Acquisitions, Divestitures dmlity Ventures
1 Procter & Gamble Plaza
Cincinnati, OH 45202

IAthenian Venture Partners Il L.P.
Attn: Karl O. Elderkin

President, Athenian Ill, Ltd.

340 West State Street

Unit 29/Suite 137D

Athens, OH 45701

IAVP Ohio Technology I L.P.
Attn:  Karl O. Elderkin
President
AVP Ohio I, Ltd.
340 West State Street
Unit 29/Suite 137D
Athens, OH 45701

Sigvion Fund I, LP

Attn:  J. P. Fairbank
Founding Partner

738 W. Belden Avenue

Chicago, IL 60614

Cincinnati Cornerstone Investors AKB, LLC
Attn:  Robert W. Coy, Jr.
President
30 West 39 Street, 68" Floor
Cincinnati, OH 45202-3559

Tri-State Growth Capital Fund II, L.P.
Attn:  Steve Baker

303 Broadway, Suite 1200
Cincinnati, OH 45202

Blue Chip Validation Fund, Ltd.

Attn:  John Mcllwraith
Managing Director

1100 Chiquita Center

250 East Fifth Street

Cincinnati, OH 45202

QCA First Fund Il

Attn:  John Habbert

1776 Mentor Avenue, MB #302
Cincinnati, OH 45212




Gitana Family Trust, Elizabeth C. Armitage Trustee
Attn:  Elizabeth C. Armitage
Trustee
2207 Upland Place
Cincinnati, OH 45206

Robert Shalwitz
2549 Bryden Road
Bexley, OH 43209

Fred Shalwitz Trust, Robert Shalwitz, Trustee
Attn:  Robert Shalwitz
Trustee
2549 Bryden Road
Bexley, OH 43209

Joseph H. Gardner
4060 Boomer Road
Cincinnati, OH 45247

Gardner Family Trust, John D. Gardner Trustee
Attn:  John D. Gardner
Trustee
111 Pine Court
Bastop, TX 78602

lan A. W. Howes, IRA, Sterling Trust Custodian
Attn:  lan A. W. Howes
Trustee
219 Stratford Drive
Chapel Hill, NC 27516

lan A. W. Howes
219 Stratford Drive
Chapel Hill, NC 27516

Kevin Peters
9160 Given Road
Cincinnati, OH 45243

\William Daly
13 Via Abrazar
San Clemente, CA 92673

Muneer A. Satter Revocable Trust

c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC
676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000
Chicago, IL 60611

Attn: Muneer A. Satter

John Wood Trust

c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC
676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000
Chicago, IL 60611

Attn: Muneer A. Satter




The Satter Foundation

c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC
676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000
Chicago, IL 60611

Attn: Muneer A. Satter

Muneer A Satter IRA, Millennium Trust Company, Gaditin

Satter Children’s Trust |

c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC
676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000
Chicago, IL 60611

Attn: Muneer A. Satter

Kristen Hayler Hertel Revocable Trust
c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC
676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000
Chicago, IL 60611

Attn: Muneer A. Satter

IAnne-Carole Witort Insurance Trust

c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC
676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000
Chicago, IL 60611

Attn: Muneer A. Satter

Rose Shereen Fuqua Insurance Trust
c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC
676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000
Chicago, IL 60611

Attn: Muneer A. Satter

Rabi H. Satter Insurance Trust

c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC
676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000
Chicago, IL 60611

)Abdus Satter Insurance Trust

c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC
676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000
Chicago, IL 60611

Attn: Muneer A. Satter

Gordon and Barbara Anne Hertel Insurance Trust
c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC

676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000

Chicago, IL 60611

Attn: Muneer A. Satter

Satter Family Trust

c/o Satter Investment Management, LLC
676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000
Chicago, IL 60611

Attn: Muneer A. Satter




IAgeChem Venture Fund L.P.

Attn:  Louis Lacasse
President

1 Westmount Square, Suite 800

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

H3Z 2P9

Diane H. Janusz Trust

Attn:  John Janusz
Trustee

7385 Desert Spring Court

\West Chester, OH 45069

John Janusz
7385 Desert Spring Court
\West Chester, OH 45069

MRK International, LLC
Attn:  Richard L. Kiley
Principal Member
7800 Tecumseh Trail
Cincinnati, OH 45243

Mcllwraith Investments, LLC

Attn:  John Mcllwraith
Manager

7680 Foxgate Lane

Cincinnati, OH 45243

John H. Wyant

Blue Chip Venture Company
1120 Scripps Center

312 Walnut Street
Cincinnati, OH 45202

Alan Fishman
6900 Stonehenge Drive
Cincinnati, OH 45242-6204

Family Akebia Investments LLC
1185 Park Avenue #11G
New York, NY 1012¢

Novo A/S Novo Venture
Tuborg Havnevej 19
DK - 2900 - Hellerup




Exhibit 10.3

FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE

This First Amendment to Lease (thigitst Amendment ) is entered into as of December 15, 2014, (theetiition Date”) by and
between]AMESTOWN PREMIER 245 FIRST, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company (the “Landij), successor-in-interest to MA-
Riverview/245 First Street, L.L.C., alKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC ., a Delaware corporation (thél"enant”).

WHEREAS, Landlord’s predecessor and Tenant enietedhat certain Office Lease Agreement datedfddecember 3, 2013 (the “
Lease”) for the lease of certain premises on the elavébith) floor of the Office Building located at2#&irst Street, Cambridge, MA 02142
(the “Building "), containing 6,837 rentable square feet (tlexisting Premises’);

WHEREAS, Tenant desires to lease an additional(Br&Btable square feet of office space on the atbv@ 1th) floor of the Building (*
Expansion Premises A or “ Expansion Premises) as shown on Exhibit A, First Amendment, attachedeto and incorporated herein; and

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend ttesédo reflect (i) the expansion of the Existingrifises to include Expansion
Premises A and (ii) the modification of certainyisions of the Lease.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoimgl #or other good and valuable consideration, #oeipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Teagree that the Lease is hereby amended as follows:

1. Demise of Expansion Premises A (8,530 .

A. Expansion Premises A andlord hereby demises and leases to TenanflTamant hereby hires and takes from Landlord,
Expansion Premises A. Said demise of Expansion iBesn#\ shall be for a term commencing on the SultisiaCompletion Date (the “
Expansion Premises A Commencement Datg of Landlord’s Work (as hereinafter defined) relating to Expanstremises A and expiring
the Termination Date, which the parties herebyaggdecember 31, 2016. Th&Stimated Expansion Premises A Commencement Date
is February 1, 2015. Landlord shall use diligefr$ to deliver Expansion Premises A to Tenanbohefore the Estimated Expansion
Premises A Commencement Date; however, the failik@ndlord to cause the Substantial Completioreldit andlord’s Work relating to
Expansion Premises A to occur on or before tharizdéd Expansion Premises A Commencement Dateishadlway affect the validity of the
Lease, this First Amendment, or the obligation§efant hereunder, and Tenant shall not have amy elgainst Landlord by reason thereof;
provided, however, that if the Substantial CompletDate of Landlord’s Work relating to Expansiomiises A does not occur on or before
April 1, 2015, for any reason other than a Tenagialp (defined below), then Tenant shall receiverd credit against the next installment(s) of
Base Rent payable hereunder in an amount equia¢ toroduct of (x) the number of days that elapser &fpril 1, 2015 (as such date may be
extended by reason of Tenant Delay) until the aetue of the Substantial Completion Date of LardifowWork relating to Expansion
Premises A, multiplied by (y) $1,492.75 (th&Xpansion Premises A Rent Credit).

Except as set forth herein, said demise of ExparBiemises A shall be upon all of the terms andlitioms set forth in the Lease
(as amended by this First Amendment) applicabteéd=Existing Premises. Effective as of the Expams$icemises A Commencement Date,
(x) all references in the Lease to “Premises” shalleemed to mean the “Existing Premises” and dBgjpn Premises A”, collectively, and
(y) Tenant’'s Building Pro Rata Share shall be iaseal to 9.3301%, and (z) Tenant's Common Area Rta Bhare shall be increased to
5.1631%.

B. _RemtExpansion Premises ACommencing on the Expansion Premises A Commenuelae, Tenant shall pay Base Rent
and Additional Rent for Expansion Premises A asa@¢h below, subject to any applicable Expansioenfises A Rent Credit:

(i) Base Rent

Lease Yea Annual Monthly Per
Base Rent Base Rent Rentable
Square
Foot

Expansion Premises A Commencement Date throughriblese31, 201 $537,390.0( $44,782.5( $63.00
January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2 $545,920.0( $45,493.3:| $64.00




(i) Additional Rent Tenant shall pay Tax Excess, Expense ExcessCaminon Area Expense Excess for Expansion
Premises A in accordance with the provisions ofikikiB of the Lease, except that from and afterExpansion Premises A
Commencement Date:

(1) the Base Year for Taxes for the Expansimnises A shall be the fiscal year 2016 (i.e., ylg015 through
June 30, 2016); and

(2) the Base Year for Expenses and for Commm@aAxpenses for Expansion Premises A shall bealeadar
year 2015.

(i)  Electricity Charges Tenant shall pay electricity charges for Expam$oemises A in accordance with the provisions
of Section 7.02 of the Lease.

2. Existing Premise.

A. Base RenrExisting PremisesThe Base Rent for the Existing Premises shalbieras set forth in the Lease prior to the
Execution Date of this First Amendment.

B. _Condition of Existing Premise§enant is in possession of the Existing Premasekaccepts the same “as is”, without any
obligation on the part of Landlord to refurbish testing Premises, and without any representdiiphandlord to Tenant as to the conditiol
the Existing Premises or the Building, except &&tise provided in the Lease which shall applEtpansion Premises. Nothing herein
contained shall in any way diminish or affect Lamdls on-going repair, maintenance and/or replacgrokligations under Section 9.02 of the
Lease or Landlord’s service obligations under ®ecti of the Lease.

3. Landlorcs Work/Landlor’s Contributior.

A. Landlords Work. Subject to Landlord’ Contribution (as hereinafter defined), Landldndlsprepare the Expansion Prem
for occupancy by Tenant and perform the work descrion Exhibit BFirst Amendmeri attached to this First Amendmentl@ndlord’s
Work "), using Building standard materials, methods, indhes comparable to the materials and finishdéke Existing Premises, and in
compliance with Landlord’s Plans (as such termeiineéd below).

Promptly after the Execution Date, Landlord shali@ge DBA-W Architects as the architect (th&rthitect "), to prepare final
construction documents [fandlord’s Plans ") for Landlord’s Work, which shall include detailarchitectural drawings and specifications,
including mechanical, electrical and plumbingEP ") drawings to the extent any portion of Landlori&rk consists of MEP work.
Landlord’'s Plans with respect to the Expansion Fsesmshall be submitted to Tenant for its apprbyaho later than December 31, 2014 (the *
Plan Delivery Date”). From the Execution Date until the Plan Deliv&gte, Landlord and Tenant shall work togethertendesign of the
renovations to the Expansion Premises consistahtthe scope of Landlord’s Work. Tenant's appradlandlord’s Plans shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.an¢mshall respond to any written request from Lard]lthe Architect, Landlord’s contractor
and/or Landlord’s construction representative fagpravals or information in connection with Landl@rdVork within five (5) business days
after Tenant’s receipt of such written requestlufaiby Tenant to approve or disapprove in writimy submission of Landlord’s Plans or
respond in writing to any requests for approvalarfdlord’s Plans within (i) three (3) business dafter the initial submission and (ii) two
(2) business days after any subsequent submidsaihcenstitute Tenant's approval of such submissi@ndlord shall use good faith efforts to
respond to any written request for information fréemant or any request for consent in connectigh aéndlord’s Work within five
(5) business days after Landlord’s receipt of sudktten request.

Landlord shall request bids for the constructiohafdlord’s Work from at least three (3) generaltcactors reasonably
acceptable to both Landlord and Tenant. Landloadl siiotain such bids within twenty (20) businesgdafter the Landlord’s Plans are
sufficiently completed for construction bidding.neet shall have the right to review all bids witltinee (3) business days after receipt thereo
Landlord agrees to select the lowest qualifieduritess Landlord reasonably determines to seled¢hanbid based on projected delivery dates
in which event Landlord shall share such reasoh Wénant. If Tenant reasonably determines thabitheelected by Landlord is higher than is
reasonably acceptable to Tenant, then Tenantistnad a one-time right to give request changes talload’s Work. In order to exercise such
one-time right to request changes to Landlord’s M\fiororder to reduce the Cost of Landlord’s Workn@nt shall, on or before the date three
(3) business days after Tenant receives Landlomotise to Tenant of the bid selected by Landlorde gvritten notice to Landlord specifying
the changes in Landlord’s Work requested by Terfaunth changes shall be subject to Landlord’s pyiitten approval (which approval shall
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or dedlyBased upon the revised plans for Landkkiiork, based upon the changes request
Tenant, as approved by Landlord, as aforesaid, Inash@hall again request bids for the constructibhandlord’s Work from at least three
(3) general contractors reasonably acceptabletto lemdlord and Tenant. Tenant shall have the tigihéview the revised bids within three
(3) business




days after receipt thereof. Landlord agrees tocséie lowest qualified bid unless Landlord reasydetermines to select another bid, in
which event Landlord shall share such reason wéthant.

For the purposes of this Section 3: (i) if the afstandlord’s Work described in the bid selectgd_ndlord is equal to, or less
than, the Landlord Contribution (theMaximum Amount "), then “ Tenant’'s Share” shall be 0%, and (ii) if the cost of such LandlsrWork
is greater than the Maximum Amount, then Tenanitiar8 shall be a fraction, the numerator of whiciiésamount by which the total cost of
such Landlord’s Work exceeds the Maximum Amount] e denominator of which is the total cost offsbandlord’s Work.

If the cost of Landlord’s Work described in the bielected by Landlord exceeds the Maximum Amountli{samount exceeding
the Maximum Amount being herein referred to as‘tBxcess Costs$), Tenant shall pay Tenant's Share of Excess Qostsndlord prior to
commencement of the Landlord’s Work and any dateguich payment shall be deemed a Tenant Delay EAnogss Costs not expended by
Landlord shall be promptly refunded to Tenant, red@ted against the next payment of Rent, followliagdlord’s final payment to the general
contractor. The amounts payable by Tenant herewuestitute Rent payable pursuant to the Leasettenthilure to timely pay same
constitutes an event of default under the Lease

Landlord shall complete Landlord’s Work in a goadiavorkmanlike manner in accordance with LandloRlans and in
compliance with all applicable laws. Tenant agibas Landlord may make any changes in Landlord’skimm that shown on Landlord’s
Plans, the necessity or desirability of which beesrapparent following approval of Landlord’s Plamson prior written notice to Tenant for
non-substantial changes (which approval shall ratfreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed) &ith the approval of Tenant for
substantial changes (which approval shall be ireiiéa reasonable discretion). Tenant shall haveigi to request changes in Landlord’s
Work (a “Change Order”) provided that: (x) any changes shall be subjedtandlord’s prior written consent, which consehall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, (y) Tenant gbayl any increase in cost associated with such &haitgin 5 business days of Landlord’s
consent to such Change Order, and (z) any delaygrdrom any such changes shall be deemed tolleaant Delay.

The “ Substantial Completion Date” is defined as (x) the date that Landlord’s Worithwespect to the renovation of the
Expansion Premises has been substantially compbgtédndlord, except for minor or insubstantialadistof construction, decoration or
mechanical adjustments which remain to be donkdrExpansion Premises or any part thereof thabtioaterially interfere with Tenarstuse
and enjoyment of the Expansion Premises, and fachndnfinal and permanent certificate of occupalnay been issued by the City of
Cambridge Inspectional Services Department ordgh®arlier date on which Landlord’s Work would édeen substantially completed, as
aforesaid, but for any Tenant Delay. Landlord shatify Tenant of the anticipated date of Substdr@iompletion for the Expansion Premises
in a notice given at least fifteen (15) businesgssdaior to the anticipated Substantial Complefiaie for each such portion of Landlord’s
Work. Upon the Substantial Completion Date, Landilsinall provide a certificate from the Architecttifging to Landlord and Tenant that
Landlord’'s Work has been substantially completeddoordance with Landlord’s Plans and the termspaadisions of the Lease

For purposes of this Lease, @énant Delay” is defined as any delay in the performance ofdlard’s Work to the extent (i) due
to special work, changes, alterations or additiorisandlord’s Plans required or made by Tenantoich Landlord notifies Tenant that there
will be a resulting delay, (ii) caused in wholeilpart by Tenant through the delay of Tenant ipptying required information, approving
plans, specifications or estimates, giving autlai@ns or otherwise after the required time sahfabove, or (iii) caused in whole or in part by
delay and/or default on the part of Tenant or @stactors; provided, however, that no Tenant Delmll be deemed to occur under clauses
(ii) or (iii) above, until Landlord gives noticedheof to Tenant (which in this case may be orghien to Tenang Construction Representatiy
and in any event, no such notice from Landlordeéadnt shall be required where the Tenant Delagsedh upon Tenarstfailure to act within
time certain set forth in this First Amendment. dlmd’s Architect’s Certificate of Substantial Colegon with respect to the Expansion
Premises given in good faith shall be deemed csh@wof the statements therein contained and bgndpon Tenant unless within fifteen
(15) business days after Tenant’s receipt of suatifiate, Tenant gives written notice to Landlsetting forth with specificity Tenant’s
objections thereto.

Tenant acknowledges that Landlord’s Work will befpened during Tenant’s occupancy of the ExistimgrRises. Landlord shall
use diligent efforts to coordinate Landlord’s Wavith Tenant’'s schedule, whenever possible, to mizeéndisruption to Tenant’s business
operations, but there shall be no diminution orta@nt of Annual Base Rent or Additional Rent dreotcompensation due from Landlord to
Tenant hereunder, nor shall the Lease or this Rimstndment be affected or any of the Tenant’s albligns hereunder reduced, and Landlord
shall have no responsibility or liability for anycionvenience or disruption to Tenant’s businessatijpms, except in the event of Landlord’s
willful misconduct or gross negligence. Notwithsdarg the foregoing, during Tenant’s normal busirtessrs Landlord shall be prohibited
from (i) performing demolition work, (ii) shootingack, (iii) installing drywall and (iv) performingny other work that would constitute a
nuisance or disruption as reasonably determinebeimant.




B. Tenant shall have the right to hire an imtliial or individuals to act as Tenant’s represéveatith respect to certain
construction matters (“TenantGonstruction Representative’). Upon Tenant’s notice to Landlord of such regmstive, Landlord hereby
agrees to allow Tenant’s Construction Represemtatiparticipate in all meetings with Landlord arehant related to Landlord’s Work.

C. _Landlords Contribution Landlord hereby grants to Tenant an allowandbéramount of $99,545.10 (i.e., $11.67 per
rentable square foot of the Expansion Premiseghtopurpose of paying the cost of performing Larndis Work (the “Allowance™”). “
Landlord’s Contribution ” shall be equal to the lesser of: (x) the actwat©f Landlord’s Work (the Cost”); or (y) the Allowance. For
purposes of this First Amendment, the Cost shathbeactual cost to Landlord of performing Landlsrd/ork including, without limitation, all
architectural, engineering and design fees andresqs a construction management fee payable tddranat its affiliate (not to exceed three
percent (3%) of the hard costs of Landlord’s Woddnstruction documents and all contractor chafgethe cost of work and materials, profit,
general conditions and overhead and supervisibfiliad) fees and other permitting costs, providadyever, that in no event shall the soft
costs of Landlord’s Work exceed fifteen percent)®f the Allowance.

D. _Early AccessWith Landlord’s prior written consent, which shabt be unreasonably withheld based upon the ipatied
effect of Tenant’s entry on the performance of Uardls Work, Tenant shall have the right to enter Expansion Premises during normal
business hours or other hours agreed to by theepdréfore the occurrence of the applicable Comeraeat Date for the Expansion Premises
(the“Early Entry Period ") and without payment of Rent, to perform such kvfincluding, without limitation, the installatiosf computer
systems, telephone equipment, cabling, furnituxéyries and other special improvements) or decamads is to be performed by, or under the
direction or control of, Tenant and as is othervilseompliance with the terms of the Lease. Sughtrof entry shall be deemed a license from
Landlord to Tenant, and any entry thereunder $@adit the risk of Tenant. Landlord shall have tgktrto terminate or suspend Tenant's early
access entry into the Expansion Premises uporewnitbtice to Tenant at any time that Landlord aeiees, in Landlord’s reasonable
judgment, that such entry is delaying or interfgnmith, or otherwise adversely affecting, the tiynahd efficient performance of Landlcs
Work.

E. _Limited Warranty Landlord shall guarantee Landlord’'s Work agattefective design, workmanship and materials, latent
otherwise, for a period of one (1) year followitg tSubstantial Completion Date of Landlord’s WdHe(* Warranty Period ). By virtue of
the foregoing guaranty, Landlord shall repair gaee at its sole cost and expense any defecéwe diccasioned by defective design,
workmanship or materials that Tenant discoversrdutfie Warranty Period and provides written noticeandlord of promptly after discovery
but in any event prior to the expiration of the laqggble Warranty Period, as the case may be. Oextpéeation of the Warranty Period,
Landlord must deliver to Tenant originals of alhtiauing, express and assignable (at no cost tallbat) guaranties and warranties issued or
made in connection with the construction of Landi®MWork. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlottali remain responsible for all
obligations set forth in the Lease and shall ngpéxenitted to pass through any of the costs aswatisith the foregoing as costs to the Tenant
whether as Expenses or Common Area Expenses.

4. Base Buildinc.

A. Prior to the Expansion Premises A Commencgate, Landlord, at Landlorsl'sole cost and expense, shall replace the
pumps currently existing in the Expansion Premikas Landlord in good faith determines, based oepart prepared by a third party, are past
their useful life. Landlord shall replace said hgamps with heat pumps that have a useful life hdytbe Extension Term (as such term is
defined herein). Landlord shall not be entitlegh&ss through any of the costs or expenses relatibe replacement of the heat pumps as
Expenses or Common Area Expenses.

B. Landlord represents and warrants that tbéabthe Building is watertight and that the Builg systems (i.e., HVAC,
electrical, life safety, and plumbing) are in gawdrking order and shall be in good working orderttoe Expansion A Premises
Commencement Date, and Landlord shall maintaineaitiand Building systems throughout the Term Brténsion Term (as hereinafter
defined), if any, in said watertight and good warkicondition.

5. Extension Optiol.

A. Grant of Option; ConditionsTenant shall have the right to extend the Telra {Extension Option”) for one (1) addition
period of five (5) years commencing on the dayofeihg the Termination Date and ending on the fi§th) anniversary of the Termination
Date (the “Extension Term™), if:

1. Landlord receives notice of exercisénftial Extension Notice ") not later than twelve (12) full calendar months
prior to the expiration of the Term and not eartlean eighteen (18) full calendar months priohi® ¢éxpiration of the Term; and
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2. No Default beyond any applicable notice ance period exists at the time that Tenant deliitsriiitial Extension
Notice or at the time Tenant delivers its Bindingtide (as defined below); ai

3.  No more than twentjwve (25) percent of the Premises is sublet (othan pursuant to a Business Transfer, as de
in Article 11 of the Lease) at the time that Terdelivers its Initial Extension Notice or at thm& Tenant delivers its Binding Notice; and

4. The Lease has not been assigned (otheptiranant to a Business Transfer, as defined irclartil of the Lease)
prior to the date that Tenant delivers its Inixtension Notice or prior to the date Tenant defivies Binding Notice.

B. _Terms Applicable to Premises during the Bgien Term The initial Base Rent rate per rentable squanéffr the Premise
during the Extension Term shall equal the PrevgiNMuarket rate (hereinafter defined) per rentableéasg foot for the Premises. Base Rent
during the Extension Term shall increase, if atinlaccordance with the increases assumed indtezrdination of Prevailing Market rate. B¢
Rent attributable to the Premises shall be payiabteonthly installments in accordance with the teand conditions of Article 4 of the Lease.

Tenant shall pay Additional Rent (i.e., Taxes, bhqes, and Common Area Expenses) for the Premisegydhe Extension Term
in accordance with the terms of Article 4 of theake, and the manner and method in which Tenanbresas Landlord for Tenant's share of
Taxes, Expenses, Common Area Expenses and theYBasgif any, applicable to such matter, shall v of the factors considered in
determining the Prevailing Market rate for the Eien Term. The Base Year for Taxes for the Exten3ierm shall be the fiscal year 2022
and the Base Year for Expenses and for Common Bxpanses shall be the calendar year 2021.

C. _Initial Procedure for Determining Prevailiftarket. Within thirty (30) days after receipt of Tenamthitial Extension Notic
(but no sooner than twelve (12) months prior toakgiration of the Term), Landlord shall advise aenof the applicable Base Rent rate foi
Premises for the Extension Term. Tenant, withireéh (15) business days after the date on whicklbethadvises Tenant of the applicable
Base Rent rate for the Extension Term, shall eifgive Landlord written notice that Tenant acsepandlord’s Base Rent for the Extension
Term (“Binding Notice ") or (ii) if Tenant disagrees with Landlord’s dat@nation, provide Landlord with written notice i&jection (the “
Rejection Notice”). If Tenant fails to provide Landlord with eitharBinding Notice or Rejection Notice within sudtiefen-(15)-business day
period, Tenant shall be deemed to have providedjacRon Notice. If Tenant provides or is deemetidwge provided Landlord with a Binding
Notice, Landlord and Tenant shall enter into théeBgion Amendment (as defined below) upon the temasconditions set forth herein anc
Landlord’s notice as to Base Rent for the Exten3ierm. If Tenant provides Landlord with a Rejectiatice, Landlord and Tenant shall work
together in good faith to agree upon the Prevailitagket rate for the Premises during the Exten3ierm. Upon agreement, Landlord and
Tenant shall enter into the Extension Amendmemiitordance with the terms and conditions hereafwhiustanding the foregoing, if
Landlord and Tenant fail to agree upon the Prewvgilarket rate within thirty (30) days after thaeld@enant provides Landlord with the
Rejection Notice, then the Prevailing Market ratalsbe determined in accordance with the arbarafirocedures described in Section D
below.

D. Arbitration Procedure

1. If Landlord and Tenant have failed to reagheement as to the Prevailing Market rate withirty (30) days after
the date of the Rejection Notice, then, within (&) days after the expiration of such thirty-(2@)y period, Landlord and Tenant shall each
simultaneously submit to the other, in a sealectkape, its good faith estimate of the Prevailingkéarate for the Premises during the
Extension Term (collectively referred to as thestimates”). If the higher of such Estimates is not morenti®5% of the lower of such
Estimates, then Prevailing Market rate shall beatberage of the two Estimates. If the Prevailinghéarate is not resolved by the exchange o
Estimates, then, within ten (10) days after theharge of Estimates, Landlord and Tenant shall salgtt an appraiser to determine which of
the two Estimates most closely reflects the PrangaiViarket rate for the Premises during the Eximmdierm. Each appraiser so selected shall
be certified as an MAI appraiser or as an ASA aigpraand shall have had at least five (5) yearpeernce within the previous ten (10) years
as a real estate appraiser working in the Kenaplbh® area of Cambridge, with working knowledgewfent rental rates and practices. For
purposes hereof, anMAI " appraiser means an individual who holds an MAdigeation conferred by, and is an independent mewih¢he
American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers (®siiccessor organization, or in the event theme successor organization, the organization
and designation most similar), and aASA " appraiser means an individual who holds the Sediember designation conferred by, and is an
independent member of, the American Society of Ajgars (or its successor organization, or, in tfenethere is no successor organization,
the organization and designation most similar).

2. Upon selection, Landlord’s and Tenant's ajgars shall work together in good faith to agneeruwhich of the two
Estimates most closely reflects the Prevailing Markte for the Premises. The Estimate chosen dly appraisers shall be
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binding on both Landlord and Tenant as the Base Ra for the Premises during the Extension Téfmither Landlord or Tenant fails to
appoint an appraiser within the ten-(10)-day peri&férred to above, which failure continues for entiran five (5) days after notice thereof to
the failing party, the appraiser appointed by tthepparty shall be the sole appraiser for the gsep hereof. If the two appraisers cannot agre
upon which of the two Estimates most closely réfidéhe Prevailing Market within twenty (20) dayseaftheir appointment, then, within ten
(10) days after the expiration of such twenty-(88y period, the two appraisers shall select a tqpuiaiser meeting the aforementioned
criteria. Once the third appraiser (i.e., arbitratas been selected as provided for above, tlsesn@n thereafter as practicable but in any case
within fourteen (14) days, the arbitrator shall m#lis determination of which of the two Estimatesstrclosely reflects the Prevailing Market
rate and such Estimate shall be binding on botldlcaid and Tenant as the Prevailing Market rateterPremises for the purpose of
determining Base Rent for the Extension Term. dfdbitrator believes that expert advice would miatg assist him, he may retain one or
more qualified persons to provide such expert advitie parties shall share equally in the costhearbitrator and of any experts retained by
the arbitrator. Any fees of any appraiser, counsexperts engaged directly by Landlord or Tenbotyever, shall be borne by the party
retaining such appraiser, counsel or expert.

3. If the Prevailing Market rate has not beetedmined by the commencement date of the Exteri®om, Tenant shall
pay Base Rent upon the terms and conditions irctedfiering the last month of the Term for the Presigntil such time as the Prevailing
Market rate has been determined. Upon such detatioim the Base Rent for the Premises shall beaetively adjusted to the commencemen
of the Extension Term for the Premises.

E. _Extension Amendmentf Tenant is entitled to and properly exercidgssExtension Option, Landlord shall prepare an
amendment (the Extension Amendment”) to reflect changes in the Base Rent, Term, Teatidn Date as expressly provided herein and
other mutually agreeable appropriate terms. Thersion Amendment shall be sent to Tenant withi@eawonable time after final determinat
of the Prevailing Market rate applicable during Ehéension Term, and Tenant shall execute andrréher Extension Amendment to Landlord
within fifteen (15) business days after Tenantteipt of same, but an otherwise valid exercisénefiExtension Option shall be fully effective
whether or not the Extension Amendment is executed.

F. _Prevailing MarketFor purposes hereofPrevailing Market ” shall mean the arms’ length fair market annuatakrate per
rentable square foot under direct leases entetesdimor about the date on which the Prevailingkéais being determined hereunder for sy
comparable to the Premises in the Building andteflivildings comparable to the Building in the Kalh&quare area of Cambridge, taking
account all relevant factors including proximitygoblic transportation and retail amenities. Theedaination of Prevailing Market shall take
into account all relevant factors including any emnit economic differences between the terms afltease and any comparison lease or
amendment, such as rent abatements, tenant impemigntonstruction costs and other concessionth@nthanner, if any, in which the
landlord under any such lease is reimbursed foratipgy expenses and taxes.

6. Right of First Offel.

A. Grant of Option; ConditionsTenant shall have a one-time right of first offiere “ Right of First Offer ") with respect to
available office space on the tenth (10th) floothe Building (each such space being referred teihas “Offering Space”); provided,
however, that if Landlord makes available OfferBygace to Tenant prior to December 31, 2014, andritedoes not timely provide to
Landlord a Notice of Exercise, and if Landlord does consummate a transaction for such Offeringc8pdth a party other than Tenant witl
90 days following the date that such Offering Spaafered to Tenant, then Tenant shall have alitiadal Right of First Offer with respect
such Offering Space tendered to Tenant prior toebBdaer 31, 2014. TenastRight of First Offer shall be exercised as fokowt any time afte
Landlord has determined that an existing tenaahinOffering Space will not extend, renew the teffiits lease or enter into a new lease
directly with Landlord, for any Offering Space (kprior to leasing such Offering Space to a parheothan the existing tenant, subtenant or
any party holding expansion rights to such spaa# #se Execution Date as provided in Subsectidrelbw), Landlord shall advise Tenant (the
“ Advice ") of the terms under which Landlord is preparedkttse the Offering Space to Tenant, including Tiésamprovement allowance, if
any, renewal term and all other terms. Tenant raagd such Offering Space under such terms, byedlielg/written notice of exercise to
Landlord (the “Notice of Exercise’) within ten (10) business days after the datéhefAdvice, except that Tenant shall have no sughtRf
First Offer and Landlord need not provide Tenartihwvain Advice, if:

1. a Default of Tenant beyond any applicabliécecand cure exists at the time that Landlord watherwise deliver tr
Advice; or

2. no more than ten (10) percent of the Presissublet (other than pursuant to a Businessstegras defined in
Section 11 of the Lease) at the time Landlord walerwise deliver the Advice; or

3. the Lease has been assigned (other thangnir® a Business Transfer, as defined in Sedtloof the Lease) prior-
the date Landlord would otherwise deliver the Adyior




4. Tenant is not occupying more than seveny{V5) percent the Premises on the date Landlotddiwotherwise
deliver the Advice; or

5. the existing tenant or subtenant in the @ftpSpace is interested in extending or renewinidease for the Offering
Space or entering into a new lease for such OffeBpace; or

6. less than three (3) years remain in thersie Term (provided, however, that if Tenant $idk the right to exercise
its Extension Option, then Landlord shall neverisslgive the Advice and Tenant may elect to exetbis Right of First Offer provided that,
simultaneously with giving the Notice of Exerci§gnant gives Landlord an Initial Extension Noticelar Section 5 of this First Amendment;
provided, further, that (x) in such event, if Laowdl and Tenant fail to agree upon the PrevailingkéaRent as defined in said Section 5 of thic
First Amendment, Tenant shall be required to gieeArbitration Notice, and (y) notwithstanding fhr@visions of said Section 5, the process
of determining the Base Rent for the Extension Tehiadl not commence until the date that is ninen{@hths before the Termination Date and
all deadlines in said Section 5 shall be adjustedm@ingly.

B. Terms for Offering Space

1. The term for the Offering Space shall comoeempon the commencement date stated in the Adwvideexpire on the
Termination Date and during such period, such @fieSpace shall be considered a part of the Premisevided that all of the terms stated in
the Advice shall govern Tenant's leasing of thee@ffg Space and only to the extent that they daaoflict with the Advice, the terms and
conditions of this Lease shall apply to the OffgrBpace.

2. Tenant shall pay Base Rent and AdditionaitRear the Offering Space in accordance with thiengeand conditions «
the Advice, which terms and conditions shall reftbe Prevailing Market rate for the Offering Spasedetermined in Landlord’s reasonable
judgment.

3. The Offering Space (including improvementd personalty, if any) shall be accepted by Temaits condition and
asbuilt configuration existing on the earlier of tate Tenant takes possession of the Offering Spraas of the date the term for such Offe
Space commences, unless the Advice specifies arlytade performed by Landlord in the Offering Spaio which case Landlord shall
perform such work in the Offering Space. If Landlis delayed delivering possession of the OffeBpgce due to the holdover or unlawful
possession of such space by any party, Landlofitisseareasonable efforts to obtain possessiohegpace, including summary process, and
the commencement of the term for the Offering Spammecommencement of rent shall be postponedthetitiate Landlord delivers possessior
of the Offering Space to Tenant free from occupdmncgny party.

C. _Termination of Right of First OfferThe rights of Tenant hereunder with respect ¢oQfffering Space shall terminate on the
earlier to occur of: (i) Tenant's failure to exesiits Right of First Offer within the ten (10)-Buosss-Day period provided in Section A above;
and (ii) the date Landlord would have provided Treren Advice if Tenant had not been in violatioroaE or more of the conditions set fortl
Section A above.

D. Offering Amendmentlf Tenant exercises its Right of First Offer, ldéord shall prepare an amendment (th@ffering
Amendment”) adding the Offering Space to the Premises ortehas set forth in the Advice and reflecting thamges in the Base Rent,
Rentable Square Footage of the Premises, TenaotRB&a Share, Parking Spaces, and other mutugi@eable appropriate terms. A copy of
the Offering Amendment shall be sent to Tenantiwithreasonable time after Landlord’s receipt ef iotice of Exercise executed by Tenant,
and, if the terms and conditions of the Offering&rmment are reasonably acceptable to Tenant, thieant shall execute and return the
Offering Amendment to Landlord within fifteen (18qys thereafter, but an otherwise valid exercigh®Right of First Offer shall be fully
effective whether or not the Offering Amendmengxecuted.

E. _SubordinationNotwithstanding anything herein to the contrargnant’s Right of First Offer is subject and suloate to
the expansion rights (whether such rights are deségl as a right of first offer, right of first usial, expansion option or otherwise) of any
tenant of the Building existing on the date hereof.

7. _Parking Tenant is currently using eight (8) parking spgaiceaccordance with the provisions of Section Extfiibit F of the Lease.
Effective as of the Expansion Premises A Commenoéiate, Tenant shall be entitled to use elevep ddltlitional parking spaces with
respect to Expansion Premises A (th&dditional Parking Spaces”), thereby increasing the total number of parking epavailable to Tene
to nineteen (19) spaces (at the parking ratio ®parking spaces per 1,000 rentable square fdtenhises), to be paid for by Tenant at the
prevailing monthly parking rate, as adjusted frammetto time in accordance with the published raggsicable to all tenants of the Building.
of the Execution Date of this First Amendment, ¢herent monthly rate is $280.00 per parking spagenmonth.

7




8. _Security DepositReference is made to the fact that Landlord ésegmtly holding a Security Deposit in the amour§1i25,345.00
in the form of a letter of credit in accordancehntite provisions of Section 6 of the Lease. Attiine that Tenant executes and delivers this
First Amendment to Landlord, Tenant shall alsovdlto Landlord an additional Security Deposit witlspect to the Expansion Premises ir
amount of $179,130.00 (theAdditional Security Deposit”), thereby increasing the Security Deposit to ¢§394,475.00 (the Total
Security Deposit”). The Total Security Deposit shall secure Tenaobligations under the Lease, as hereby amendddstall be held by
Landlord in accordance with said Section 6 of teade.

The Additional Security Deposit may be in the fasfrcash or letter of credit. If Tenant desires $e a letter of credit for the
Additional Security Deposit, then Tenant shall delieither (i) a new irrevocable letter of creditihe amount of the Additional Security
Deposit or (i) an amendment to the existing Lete€redit increasing the amount of the Securityp@sit to be held by Landlord under
Section 6 of the Lease to the Total Security Deposi

9. _Landlord/Landlord AddresseEffective as of the date hereof, (a) all refeenin the Lease to “MA-Riverview/245 First Street,
L.L.C.” as Landlord shall be deemed to mean “JaavestPremier 245 First, LLC”, and (b) Landlosdhotice addresses set forth in Section
of the Lease shall be deleted in their entiretyl, e following addresses shall be substitutecefioer

Jamestown Premier 245 First, LLC

c/o Jamestown

One Overton Park, 12th Floor

3625 Cumberland Boulevard

Atlanta, GA 30339

Attn: Managing Director/Asset Management

and

Jamestown Premier 245 First, LLC

c/o Jamestown

Chelsea Market

75 Ninth Avenue, 5th Floor

New York, NY 10011

Attn: Asset Manager/25 First Street, Cambridge, $dabusetts

With a copy to:

Goulston & Storrs PC

400 Atlantic Avenue

Boston, MA 02110-3333

Attn: Amy Moody McGrath, Esq.

10. _Subordination, NeBisturbance, and Attornment Agreemeh&ndlord agrees to use reasonable efforts tdrohtaubordination,
non-disturbance and attornment agreement from loaddl current mortgagee and any future mortgagaas ,Tenant agrees that (i) any such
agreement shall be on such mortgagee’s commercedlyonable form, and (ii) Tenant shall pay angeoeable charges (including legal fees)
required by such mortgagee as a condition to emgénto such agreement.

11. _Inapplicable Lease ProvisianBhe Base Rent Abatement Period set forth in 8edtiO3, Section 3.03 (Rent Abatement), Exhibit
C (Work Letter) and Exhibit C-1 (Space Plans) @& tiease shall have no applicability with respet¢h®Expansion Premises and this First
Amendment.

12. _Limitations on Landlotd Liability . Tenant shall not assert nor seek to enforce kiy dor breach of the Lease against any of
Landlord’s assets other than Landlord’s intereshaBuilding, and Tenant agrees to look solelguoh interest for the satisfaction of any
liability or claim against Landlord under the Leai$deing specifically agreed that in no event tgbaver shall Landlord ever be personally
liable for any such liability. In addition, Tenagtd Landlord agree that no trustee, officer, doedeneral or limited partner, member,
shareholder, beneficiary, employee or agent of laddr Tenant (including any person or entity frime to time engaged to supervise an
manage the operation of Landlord or Tenant) steathddd to any liability, jointly or severally, fany debt, claim, demand, judgment, decree,
liability or obligation of any kind (in tort, cordct or otherwise) of, against or with respect tadlard or Tenant, or arising out of any action
taken or omitted for or on behalf of Landlord om&et.




13. _Broker Landlord and Tenant warrant and represent thtliereparty has dealt with any broker in conneciioth the
consummation of this First Amendment, other thalli€s International and Transwestern RBJ (colleddii, the “Broker ") and in the event
of any brokerage claims or liens, other than bykBrpagainst Landlord or Tenant or the Buildingdicated upon or arising out of prior
dealings with Tenant and Landlord, Tenant and Lamidéach agree to defend the same and indemniffa@ldceach other harmless against an
such claim, and to discharge any such lien. Anyro@sion payable by Landlord to Broker in connectidgth this First Amendment shall be
paid pursuant to a separate agreement betweendrdratid Broker.

14. _No Default Landlord represents and warrants that to Lantiadtual knowledge, Tenant is not in default of ahits respective
obligations under the Lease and no event has aattinat, with the passage of time or the givingatice (or both) would constitute a default
by Tenant thereunder.

15. _SignageTenant shall have the right, at its sole costexmknse, to install building standard signagéeentrance to the Premi:
on the eleventh (11th) floor. Landlord shall, atékpense, list Tenant in the building directoigaked in the main building lobby.

16. _MiscellaneousCapitalized terms used and not otherwise defirerdin shall have the meanings ascribed to suofstar the
Lease. Except as amended hereby, the Lease isyhatéled and confirmed.




EXECUTED under seal as of the date first abovetemit
LANDLORD:

JAMESTOWN PREMIER 245 FIRST, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: /s/ Shegun Holde

Name:

Title:  Authorized Signator

TENANT:

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC .,
a Delaware corporatic

By:
Name: /s/ John P. Butl
Title: CEO

By:

Name: /s/ Jason A. Amel
Title: SVP, CFC
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EXHIBIT A, FIRST AMENDMENT

PLAN OF EXPANSION PREMISES
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EXHIBIT B- FIRST AMENDMENT

LANDLORD’S WORK
Landlord’'s Work consists of the following which #ih@e completed using Building standard materiaiethods, and finishes comparable to the
materials and finishes in the Existing Premises:
e Painting the entirety of Expansion Premise:
e Carpeting the entirety of Expansion Premises Aépkas set forth below
e Installing VCT tile in those areas of ExpansionrRises A where tile currently exis
e Replacing the existing ceiling tiles in Expansiagerises A with the same ceiling tiles currentlyhie Existing Premise

e Combining the Existing Premises and Expansiomizes A into a single demised premises by remottieglemising walls
currently in the location(s) shown on Exhibit Adapatching and painting the area(s) affected thel

e Replace baseboards to coordinate with new carp
e Remove no-working AC unit in server roor
e Make sure blinds are workir

e Replace any nc-working lights

Exhibit A-2



Exhibit 10.17

4 ° Akebia Therapeutics, Inc

0%%% S 245 First Street, Suite 11
i 3.-.' Cambridge, MA 0214
.... THERAPEUTICS T:+1617.871.2098 EVV:V::./ gl:l.;b?;](.:ozr'

July 21, 2014

Bradley Maroni, M.D.
8 Durham Street
Boston, MA 02115

Dear Brad:

It is my pleasure to extend the following offer employment to you on behalf of Akebia Therapeutits;. (“Akebia” or the
“Company”). Akebiais proud of its achievements to date and we arkinigoto individuals such as you to play a suppartiale in advancin
our exciting product candidates. We are confidleat you will make an immediate impact and beapctive member of our team.

This offer letter (the “Offer Letter”) confirms tou Akebia’s offer of employment, the terms of whare as follows:

1.

Position.You will be employed in the fullime, salaried exempt position of Sr. Vice PresidiChief Medical Officer reporting to Jo
Butler, President and CEO, and based in our Cambrilassachusetts office. We expect that you petform any and all duties a
responsibilities typically associated with your pios, and any other duties assigned to you, imtssfactory manner and to the bes
your abilities at all times. As you progress witle Company, your position, location and assignmargsof course, subject to chang

Start Date. Your employment will begin on August 18, 20 Start Dat"”).

CompensationYour initial compensation will include the followgn

(i)  You will be paid a base salary of $400,000 per ypeaid b-weekly;

(i)  You will be considered annually for a performa-based, cash bonus of up to 30% of your base saad

(iii) Subject to approval by the Board of Direcpyou will be granted a nastatutory option to purchase 125,000 shares of com
stock of the Company, with an exercise price etuidhe fair market value of a share of Companylstmt the date of grant a
subject to the terms of a stock option agreememtden you and the Compar

Benefits. As a fulltime employee, during your employment with the Campyou will be entitled to participate in all ajgalble benef
programs currently offered by Akebia and for whjciu are eligible. The Company is committed to pdowy competitive benefits to
employees. The Company currently offers healtk ead dental insurance to fiilne employees (and their spouses and dependant
a 401(k) savings plan, which allows employees tatrifoute a portion of their priax wages to a retirement account, up to the maxi
permitted by law. The Company will also provideuywith paid time off (PTO) in accordance with itslipies as in effect from time
time (currently twenty (20) days per calendar yepl)s those holidays observed by the Company.r étigibility to participate in an
receive any particular benefit is subject to, amdegned solely by, the applicable plan documene Will provide separately mc
detailed information regarding the current termd aonditions of our benefit plans, and informati@garding any future additions
modifications to our benefit plans will be providedien available. The Company reserves the righadify, change or terminate
benefits and benefit plans from time to time insitde discretion.

Taxes. All forms of compensation referred to in this Offeetter are subject to reduction to reflect appileataxes and oth
withholdings and deductionsfou hereby acknowledge that the Company does ng haduty to design its compensation policies
manner that minimizes your tax liabilities, and yeill not make any claim against the Company oBit&rd of Directors (or any of its
their respective agents, delegates and represarsptielated to tax liabilities arising from yowmnspensation

Contingencies. Pursuant to the Immigration and Reform Controt A£1986, and within three days after your Staateé) you mu:
provide sufficient documentation of your ability wmwrk legally in the U.S. This employment offeradlso contingent upon the result
any reference and background checl

Employment at Will. This offer of employment is not intended to ceeatcontract of employment. Your employment wél dtwill
and both you and Akebia will have the right to terate the employment relationship at any time, withvithout reason or notic




. Akebia Therapeutics, Inc
0.‘0 245 First Street, Suite 11
-.’ Cambridge, MA 0214
%.. THERAPEUTICS T:+1617.871.2008 F: +1 617.871.2
www.akebia.cor

8. Covenants. This offer of employment is contingent upon youeextion of an Employee Agreement (Confidentialign-Solicitation
Non-Competition and Developments Agreement), a copwluth will be provided to you and which you muggrsiand return prior
your Start Date.

9. Entire Agreement, Amendments This Offer Letter constitutes the complete agreenbetween you and the Company, contains
the terms of your employment with the Company amgkssedes any prior agreements, representatiansderstandings (whether writt
oral or implied) between you and the Company. MHdations, modifications or amendments to this Offetter shall be deemed ve
unless reduced to writing and signed by the Compardyyou, provided that your employment will rematmwill unless otherwise s
forth in a writing signed by the CompasyChief Executive Officer. We will be providing yavith an Executive Severance Agreen
(“ESA”) for your review and signature. In the event ofoaftict between the terms of this Offer Letter ahé terms of the ESA, t
terms of the ESA will goverr

To indicate acceptance of these terms, pleaseasidmeturn a copy of this letter (via fax, pdf egular mail).

Brad, we look forward to you joining Akebia. Teamk, quality people and a business focus are #italto Akebia's success. We
confident that you will play an important role metfuture of our Company.

Very truly yours,

John P. Butle
President & CEC

Response requested by July 24, 2014

| accept the above employment offer and agreestieitns and conditions. By accepting this offeemployment, | acknowledge that no prior
employment obligations or other contractual regtits exist which preclude my employment with AkeBherapeutics, Inc. | further
understand that this offer is confidential and thgtdisclosure of any of its terms and conditioresymesult in termination of my employmen
withdrawal of this offer. | represent that | ant nelying on any representations made to me by a@yher than as set forth above.

Accepted:

/s/ Bradley Maron Date: 7/24/1¢
Bradley Maroni, M.D




E xhibit 10.2¢

RESTRICTED Stock UNIT AWARD
granted under the

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
2014 INCENTIVE PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

This agreement (the_* Agreeméhtevidences the grant of a restricted stock uwihi@ by Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. (the * Compényo
the undersigned (the “ Participdit pursuant to and subject to the terms of the Ak&bierapeutics, Inc. 2014 Incentive Plan (as ameifrded
time to time, the * Plaf). For purposes of this Agreement, the * GrantdJawill mean [e].

1. Restricted Stock Unit Award The Participant is hereby awarded, pursuartiddPlan and subject to its terms, a RestrictedkStmit
award (the “ Award) giving the Participant the conditional rightteceive, without payment but subject to the condgiand limitations set
forth in this Agreement and in the Plam] Ehares of Stock of the Company (the “ Shédjes

2. Meaning of Certain TermsExcept as otherwise defined herein, all cagitaliterms used herein have the same meaninglas in t
Plan. For purposes of this Award, the followingrs have the following meanings:

(a) “ Change in Contrdl means the occurrence of any of the following @sarther than in connection with the consummation o
an initial public offering of the Company’s secig# (i) any “person” (as such term is used in ®ast13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) who is not akbéder of the Company as of the date of this Age@ or an affiliate thereof is or
becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in RiBd-3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, afcairities of the Company representing 50%
or more of the total voting power represented ley@ompany’s then outstanding voting securitieya(ithange in the composition of the Boarc
occurring within a two-year period, as a resuliwbich less than a majority of the directors araumbent Directors; (iii) the date of the
consummation of a merger, scheme of arrangemesdrmolidation of the Company with any other corgiorathat has been approved by the
stockholders of the Company, other than a mergéerse of arrangement or consolidation which woeglilt in the voting securities of the
Company outstanding immediately prior thereto aaritig to represent (either by remaining outstandinigy being converted into voting
securities of the surviving entity) more than fifigrcent (50%) of the total voting power represetg the voting securities of the Company or
such surviving entity outstanding immediately afiech merger or consolidation; or (iv) the dat¢hef consummation of the sale or dispositior
by the Company of all or substantially all the Camy's assets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, as@aation will not constitute a Change in
Control if: (i) its sole purpose is to change tloenicile of the Company’s incorporation; or (ii) Esle purpose is to create a holding company
that will be owned in substantially the same pretipos by the persons who held the Company’s séesiiinmediately before such
transaction. In all respects, the definition o@be in Control will be interpreted to comply wikction 409A of the Code, and any successo
statute, regulation and guidance thereto.

(b) “ Good Reasohhas the same meaning as under the Executive &se@Agreement between the Participant and the @oynp
or, if the Participant is not party to an Execut8&verance Agreement with the Company, means aialatgnminishment of his or her job
responsibilities or duties, or base compensation.

(c) “ Incumbent Directors means directors who either (A) are directors ofGeenpany as of the date hereof, or (B) are eleci
nominated for election, to the Board with the affative votes of at least a majority of the remagnimcumbent Directors at the time of such
election or nomination (but will not include an inidual whose election or nomination is in connestwith an actual or threatened proxy
contest relating to the election of directors t® @ompany).

3. Vesting. Unless earlier terminated, forfeited, relinqaidtor expired, and subject to Section 6 of thise&gnent and the terms of any
Executive Severance Agreement or other writteneagent between the Participant and the CompanyAwaed will become vested, subject to
the Participant’s continuous Employment thoughapglicable vesting date, as follows:

(a) 100% of the Award will become vested on thedthinniversary of the Grant Date.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing Section 3(a)ldaling the occurrence of a Change in Control, theafd will become fully
vested in the event that the Participant is terteuhavithout Cause or terminates his or her Employrfeer Good Reason. Such vesting
acceleration will take place automatically and indiméely on the date of such termination of Emplogimeithout Cause or for Good Reason,
as the case may be, so that the Award will be fugigted upon such termination.

4. Delivery of Shares Subject to Section 6 of this Agreement, the Canypwill, within thirty (30) days of the vesting t@adescribed in
Section 3 with respect to any portion of the Awaafflect delivery of the Shares with respect to sue$ted portion to the




Participant (or, in the event of the Participawesth, to the person to whom the Award has passedllor the laws of descent and
distribution). No Shares will be issued pursuarthie Award unless and until all legal requiremeaytplicable to the issuance or transfer of
such Shares have been complied with to the satiisfaof the Administrator.

5. Dividends; Other RightsThe Award will not be interpreted to bestow uploa Participant any equity interest or ownershithi
Company or any Affiliate prior to the date on whitle Company delivers Shares to the Participaht Harticipant is not entitled to vote any
Shares by reason of the granting of this Awardaeteive or be credited with any dividends decdaned payable on any Share prior to the
payment date with respect to such Share. ThecReatit will have the rights of a shareholder ordyt@those Shares, if any, that are actually
delivered under this Award.

6. Treatment of Award Upon Cessation of Employmetitthe Participant's Employment ceases, the Aly&o the extent not already
vested, will be immediately forfeited. Notwithsthing the foregoing, to the extent the Participard party to an Executive Severance
Agreement or other written agreement with the Camgthat provides for the Award to remain outstagdimd continue to vest during a
specified period of time following the Participantessation of Employment (such period, the “ Sever Period), the Award will remain
outstanding and will continue to vest, and Shandidoe delivered upon such vesting, in accordanith the terms of this Agreement during the
Severance Period as if the Participant had remagngzloyed during such period, subject to any camuton continued vesting and delivery a:
may be contained in such Executive Severance Agreear other written agreement. For the avoidari@oubt, any portion of the Award
that fails to vest during the Severance Periodiwithediately be forfeited on the last day of suehiqd.

7. Certain Tax Matters

(a) The Participant expressly acknowledges thatmse this Award consists of an unfunded and unedquomise by the
Company to deliver Shares in the future, subjetihéaterms hereof, it is not possible to make aated “83(b) election” with respect to the
Award. In no event will the Company have any lidprelating to the failure or alleged failure afiy payment or benefit under this Agreemen
to comply with, or be exempt from, the requiremeftSection 409A.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary irstliward, if at the time of the Participant’s teriaion of Employment, the
Participant is a “specified employee,” as definetbtw, any and all amounts payable under this Avesrdccount of such separation from
service that constitute deferred compensation anddny(but for this provision) be payable within $6) months following the date of
termination, will instead be paid on the next basgday following the expiration of such six (6)mtioperiod or, if earlier, upon the
Participant’s death; except (A) to the extent obants that do not constitute a deferral of compgmsavithin the meaning of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b) or (B) other amownttbenefits that are not subject to the requirdmehSection 409A.

(c) For purposes of this Award, all referencestesrhination of employmenténd correlative phrases will be construed to rega
“separation from service” (as defined in SectiodDPA-1(h) of the Treasury Regulations after givaifect to the presumptions contained
therein), and the term “specified employee” meanmdividual determined by the Company to be a igeicemployee under Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(i).

(d) The award, vesting or delivery of the Sharegiaed hereunder may give rise to “wages” subjeaetithholding. The
Participant expressly acknowledges and agreesihat her rights hereunder, including the righb&delivered Shares upon vesting, are
subject to the Participant promptly paying the Campin cash (or by such other means as may be atdepo the Administrator in its
discretion) all taxes required to be withheld. Stwares will be delivered pursuant to this Awardesaland until the Participant will have
remitted to the Company in cash or by check an ansufficient to satisfy any federal, state or logihholding tax requirements or tax
payments, or will have made other arrangementsfaatory to the Administrator with respect to stiwkes. The Administrator may, in its sole
discretion, hold back Shares from an award or pethriParticipant to tender previously owned shafestock in satisfaction of tax
withholding or tax payment requirements (but nogxaeess of the applicable minimum statutory witllirad rate).

8. Forfeiture; Recovery of Compensation

(a) The Administrator may cancel, rescind, withhotdtherwise limit or restrict the Award at anmé if the Participant is not in
compliance with all applicable provisions of thigr@ement and the Plan, or if the Participant breseimy agreement with the Company or its
subsidiaries with respect to non-competition, nolicgtation, invention assignment or confidentiglilncluding, but not limited to, any
employment agreement or offer letter with the Conypar the Company’s standard Employee Agreementfi@entiality, Non-Solicitation,
Non-Competition and Developments Agreement).
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(b) By accepting the Award, the Participant exgseasknowledges and agrees that his or her rigimd,those of any permitted
transferee of the Award, under the Award, includimgny Stock delivered under the Award or procdema the disposition thereof, are
subject to Section 6(a)(5) of the Plan (including auccessor provision). Nothing in the precediagtence will be construed as limiting the
general application of Section 11 of this Agreement

9. Transfer of Award The Award may not be transferred except as esprgpermitted under Section 6(a)(3) of the Plan.

10. Effect on Employment Neither the grant of this Award, nor the delivef Shares under this Award, will give the Papait any
right to be retained in the employ or service & @ompany or any of its Affiliates, affect the rigii the Company or any of its Affiliates to
discharge or discipline such Participant at anyetior affect any right of such Participant to terate his or her Employment at any time.

11. Provisions of the PlanThis Agreement is subject in its entirety to pinevisions of the Plan, which are incorporated:hreby
reference. A copy of the Plan as in effect onGnant Date has been furnished to the ParticipBgtaccepting this Award, the Participant
agrees to be bound by the terms of the Plan asditiieement. In the event of any conflict betwtenterms of this Agreement and the Plan,
the terms of the Plan will control.

12. Provisions of Executive Severance Agreem@iatthe extent the Participant has entered intB)atutive Severance Agreement with
the Company, for so long as such Executive Severagceement remains in effect, the terms of suokcHtive Severance Agreement as they
relate to the Award will control in the event ofyaconflict with the terms of this Agreement.

13. Acknowledgements The Participant acknowledges and agrees thttigi)Agreement may be executed in two or more taparts,
each of which will be an original and all of whitdgether will constitute one and the same instrum@hnthis agreement may be executed and
exchanged using facsimile, portable document foiaBf-) or electronic signature, which, in each cask constitute an original signature for
all purposes hereunder and (iii) such signaturthbyCompany will be binding against the Company waiticcreate a legally binding agreement
when this Agreement is countersigned by the Paetitt.

[Signature page follows.]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused thigégient to be executed by its duly authorized affice

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By:

Name [e]
Title: [e]

Dated:
Acknowledged and Agreed:

By:
[Participan’s Name]

[Signature Page to Restricted Stock Unit Award Agrent]




OFFICER RESTRICTED StocK UNIT AWARD
granted under the

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
2014 INCENTIVE PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

This agreement (the_* Agreeméhtevidences the grant of a restricted stock uwidi@ by Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. (the * Compényo
the undersigned (the_* Participdit pursuant to and subject to the terms of the Ak&bierapeutics, Inc. 2014 Incentive Plan (as ameifrded
time to time, the “ Plaf). For purposes of this Agreement, the * GrantdJawill mean [e].

14. Restricted Stock Unit AwardThe Participant is hereby awarded, pursuartiédan and subject to its terms, a RestrictedkStimit
award (the “ Award) giving the Participant the conditional rightteceive, without payment but subject to the condgiand limitations set
forth in this Agreement and in the Plam] Bhares of Stock of the Company (the “ Shédjes

15. Meaning of Certain TermsExcept as otherwise defined herein, all capi¢aliterms used herein have the same meaninglas in t
Plan. For purposes of this Award, the followingrie have the following meanings:

(a) “ Change in Contrdl means the occurrence of any of the following @sarther than in connection with the consummation o
an initial public offering of the Company’s secig# (i) any “person” (as such term is used in ®ast13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) who is not a&kbéter of the Company as of the date of this Age@ or an affiliate thereof is or
becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in RiBd-3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, afcairities of the Company representing 50%
or more of the total voting power represented ley@ompany’s then outstanding voting securitieya(ithange in the composition of the Boarc
occurring within a two-year period, as a resulivbich less than a majority of the directors araumbent Directors; (iii) the date of the
consummation of a merger, scheme of arrangemeasdrmolidation of the Company with any other corgiorathat has been approved by the
stockholders of the Company, other than a mergberse of arrangement or consolidation which woatdilt in the voting securities of the
Company outstanding immediately prior thereto aaritig to represent (either by remaining outstandinigy being converted into voting
securities of the surviving entity) more than fifigrcent (50%) of the total voting power represeg the voting securities of the Company or
such surviving entity outstanding immediately aiech merger or consolidation; or (iv) the dat¢éhef consummation of the sale or dispositior
by the Company of all or substantially all the Camy's assets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, as@ation will not constitute a Change in
Control if: (i) its sole purpose is to change tloenicile of the Company’s incorporation; or (ii) Esle purpose is to create a holding company
that will be owned in substantially the same pretipos by the persons who held the Company’s séesiiinmediately before such
transaction. In all respects, the definition o@be in Control will be interpreted to comply wikction 409A of the Code, and any successo
statute, regulation and guidance thereto.

(b) “ Incumbent Directors means directors who either (A) are directors ofGoenpany as of the date hereof, or (B) are elect
nominated for election, to the Board with the affative votes of at least a majority of the remainimcumbent Directors at the time of such
election or nomination (but will not include an inidual whose election or nomination is in connegtivith an actual or threatened proxy
contest relating to the election of directors t® @ompany).

16. Vesting Unless earlier terminated, forfeited, relinqaidlor expired, and subject to Section 6 of thise&gnent and the terms of &
Executive Severance Agreement or other writteneagent between the Participant and the CompanyAwsrd will become vested, subject to
the Participant’s continuous Employment thoughapglicable vesting date, as follows:

(a) 100% of the Award will become vested on thedthinniversary of the Grant Date.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing Section 3(a), #veard, to the extent outstanding immediately ptaa Change in Control but
not then vested in full, will automatically and irediately become fully vested upon such Change mGb

17. Delivery of Shares Subject to Section 6 of this Agreement, the Canypwill, within thirty (30) days of the vestingt@adescribed i
Section 3 with respect to any portion of the Awaafflect delivery of the Shares with respect to suested portion to the Participant (or, in the
event of the Participant’s death, to the personttom the Award has passed by will or the laws afcdat and distribution). No Shares will be
issued pursuant to this Award unless and untlegil requirements applicable to the issuanceamster of such Shares have been complied
with to the satisfaction of the Administrator.

18. Dividends; Other RightsThe Award will not be interpreted to bestow uplo@a Participant any equity interest or ownershighi
Company or any Affiliate prior to the date on whitle Company delivers Shares to the Participaht Harticipant is not entitled to vote any
Shares by reason of the granting of this Awardaeteive or be credited with any dividends declaned
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payable on any Share prior to the payment date #pect to such Share. The Participant will Haeeights of a shareholder only as to those
Shares, if any, that are actually delivered unhdisrAward.

19. Treatment of Award Upon Cessation of Employmelitthe Participant's Employment ceases, the Aly&r the extent not already
vested, will be immediately forfeited. Notwithstting the foregoing, to the extent the Participard party to an Executive Severance
Agreement or other written agreement with the Camgthat provides for the Award to remain outstagdimd continue to vest during a
specified period of time following the Participatessation of Employment (such period, the * Sever Period), the Award will remain
outstanding and will continue to vest, and Shandide delivered upon such vesting, in accordanith the terms of this Agreement during the
Severance Period as if the Participant had remagngzloyed during such period, subject to any camuton continued vesting and delivery a:
may be contained in such Executive Severance Agreear other written agreement. For the avoidari@oubt, any portion of the Award
that fails to vest during the Severance Period iwithediately be forfeited on the last day of suehiqd.

20. Certain Tax Matters

(a) The Participant expressly acknowledges thatmse this Award consists of an unfunded and unedquomise by the
Company to deliver Shares in the future, subjetihéaterms hereof, it is not possible to make aated “83(b) election” with respect to the
Award. In no event will the Company have any ligprelating to the failure or alleged failure afiy payment or benefit under this Agreemen
to comply with, or be exempt from, the requiremesftSection 409A.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary irstliward, if at the time of the Participant’s teriaiion of Employment, the
Participant is a “specified employee,” as definetbtw, any and all amounts payable under this Avesrdccount of such separation from
service that constitute deferred compensation anddy(but for this provision) be payable within $6) months following the date of
termination, will instead be paid on the next bassday following the expiration of such six (6)ntioperiod or, if earlier, upon the
Participant’s death; except (A) to the extent obants that do not constitute a deferral of comptmsavithin the meaning of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b) or (B) other amownttbenefits that are not subject to the requirdmehSection 409A.

(c) For purposes of this Award, all referencestésrhination of employmenténd correlative phrases will be construed to rega
“separation from service” (as defined in SectiodDBA-1(h) of the Treasury Regulations after givaifect to the presumptions contained
therein), and the term “specified employee” meanmdividual determined by the Company to be a igeicemployee under Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(i).

(d) The award, vesting or delivery of the Shareguaed hereunder may give rise to “wages” subjestithholding. The
Participant expressly acknowledges and agreehibhat her rights hereunder, including the righbéodelivered Shares upon vesting, are
subject to the Participant promptly paying the Campin cash (or by such other means as may be tatdepo the Administrator in its
discretion) all taxes required to be withheld. Stwares will be delivered pursuant to this Awardesaland until the Participant will have
remitted to the Company in cash or by check an ansufficient to satisfy any federal, state or log@hholding tax requirements or tax
payments, or will have made other arrangementsfaatory to the Administrator with respect to stekes. The Administrator may, in its sole
discretion, hold back Shares from an award or pettrai Participant to tender previously owned shafetock in satisfaction of tax
withholding or tax payment requirements (but nogxaeess of the applicable minimum statutory witllirad rate).

21. Forfeiture; Recovery of Compensation

(a) The Administrator may cancel, rescind, withhatdtherwise limit or restrict the Award at anmé if the Participant is not in
compliance with all applicable provisions of thigr@ement and the Plan, or if the Participant brea@my agreement with the Company or its
subsidiaries with respect to non-competition, nolicgtation, invention assignment or confidentiglilncluding, but not limited to, any
employment agreement or offer letter with the Conypar the Company’s standard Employee Agreementfi@entiality, Non-Solicitation,
Non-Competition and Developments Agreement).

(b) By accepting the Award, the Participant exgseasknowledges and agrees that his or her rigimd,those of any permitted
transferee of the Award, under the Award, includimgny Stock delivered under the Award or procdemta the disposition thereof, are
subject to Section 6(a)(5) of the Plan (includimg auccessor provision). Nothing in the precediegtence will be construed as limiting the
general application of Section 11 of this Agreement

22. Transfer of Award The Award may not be transferred except as sshyr@ermitted under Section 6(a)(3) of the Plan.
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23. Effect on Employment Neither the grant of this Award, nor the delivef Shares under this Award, will give the Pagémit any
right to be retained in the employ or service & @ompany or any of its Affiliates, affect the rigii the Company or any of its Affiliates to
discharge or discipline such Participant at anetior affect any right of such Participant to terate his or her Employment at any time.

24. Provisions of the PlanThis Agreement is subject in its entirety to fievisions of the Plan, which are incorporateceheby
reference. A copy of the Plan as in effect onGnant Date has been furnished to the ParticipBgtaccepting this Award, the Participant
agrees to be bound by the terms of the Plan asditiiieement. In the event of any conflict betwtenterms of this Agreement and the Plan,
the terms of the Plan will control.

25. Provisions of Executive Severance Agreemé@iatthe extent the Participant has entered intBxetutive Severance Agreement with
the Company, for so long as such Executive Severagceement remains in effect, the terms of suokcHtive Severance Agreement as they
relate to the Award will control in the event ofyarpnflict with the terms of this Agreement.

26. Acknowledgements The Participant acknowledges and agrees thttigi)Agreement may be executed in two or more tmparts,
each of which will be an original and all of whitdgether will constitute one and the same instrum@hthis agreement may be executed and
exchanged using facsimile, portable document foiaBf-) or electronic signature, which, in each cask constitute an original signature for
all purposes hereunder and (iii) such signaturthbyCompany will be binding against the Companyaiticcreate a legally binding agreement
when this Agreement is countersigned by the Paetiti.

[Signature page follows.]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused thigégient to be executed by its duly authorized affice

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By:

Name [e]
Title: [e]

Dated:
Acknowledged and Agreed:

By:
[Participan’s Name]

[Signature Page to Restricted Stock Unit Award &grent]



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRAN

Name Ownership Percentag Jurisdication of Organizatic
Akebia Therapeutics Securities Corporal 100% Massachuseti




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-196748jgning to the Amended and Restatec
2008 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2014 Incentive Péard the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ofiAKeterapeutics, Inc. of our report

dated March 4, 2015, with respect to the consaidifinancial statements of Akebia Therapeutics, imduded in this Annual Report (Form
10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/s/Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 4, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John P. Butler, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortémnstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proesjar caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) (Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release N-8238/3+47986 and 3-8392/3+-49313);

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and preséantbis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) ilas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the in@dmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Directos persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmanhcial information; ani

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inked management or other employees who have aisagtifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ John P. Butle

John P. Butle
President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Jason A. Amello, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortémnstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proesjar caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) (Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release N-8238/3+47986 and 3-8392/3+-49313);

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and preséantbis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) ilas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the in@dmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Directos persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmanhcial information; ani

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inked management or other employees who have aisagtifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Jason A. Amelli

Jason A. Amellc

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurel

(Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350

In connection with the accompanying Annual Repbkebia Therapeutics, Inc. (the Company) on Fof¥Klfor the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014 (the Report), |, John P. BulleiChief Executive Officer and President of the @any, and |, Jason A. Amello, as Senior
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treaswf the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.€ct®n 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; that

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of
the Company

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ John P. Butle
John P. Butle
President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ Jason A. Amelli
Jason A. Amellc
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasure
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 99.1

; . Akebia Therapeutics, Inc
’@Akeblﬂ 245 First Street, Suite 11
: Cambridge, MA 0214
T:+1617.871.2098 F: +1 617.871.2

www.akebia.cor

March 4, 2015

Akebia Announces Fourth Quarter and Full-Year 2014Financial Results
-Company Remains on Track to Launch Phase 3 ProgreonAKB-6548 in 2015-

CAMBRIDGE, Mass.—(BUSINESS WIRE)— Akebia Therapestilnc. (NASDAQ:AKBA), a biopharmaceutical company
focused on delivering innovative therapies to pasiavith kidney disease through the biology of hyiponducible factor (HIF),
today announced financial results for the fourtartgr and full year ended December 31, 2014.

“2014 was a transformative year for Akebia, begignivith the completion of our initial public offexy in March, followed by the
expansion of our leadership team and Board of Bore@and, most importantly, the advancement ofctinical development
programs for AKB-6548 in renal-anemia, bringingstpotential therapy one step closer to patientatéd John P. Butler,
President and Chief Executive Officer of Akebian the fourth quarter, we reported positive top-liesults from our Phase 2b
clinical study in non-dialysis patients with anemgtated to chronic kidney disease (CKD), confirgithat our once-daily, oral
therapy has the potential to safely and predictatdgease and maintain hemoglobin levels in thry Uepatient population. We
look forward to presenting the study results atw@ld Congress of Nephrology in mid-March, and aamon track to launch our
Phase 3 program in the non-dialysis setting this.y®/e have also reported significant progresk witr Phase 2 study in CKD
patients undergoing dialysis, with faster-than-exge enrollment in our first two cohorts. This akgto investigator and patient
interest in this new potential therapeutic optidfe expect to report data from this study in thedtiguarter, consistent with our
original timeline.”

2014 Corporate Highlights

« Announced positive top-line results from its Ph2kestudy of AKB-6548 in nowlialysis patients with anemia relatec
CKD

+  Completed enroliment ahead of schedule in thermalgivo cohorts of its Phase 2 study of AKB-654®atients with
anemia related to CKD who are undergoing dialyais, added an additional cohort designed to evathateafety,
efficacy and tolerability of AKB-6548 dosed thrémés per week, administered in conjunction wittatigmt's
hemodialysis schedu

+  Presented data from the AKE®B48 development program at the American Societyagfhrology 2014 Annual Meetir
and the 2014 European Renal Associ-European Dialysis and Transplant Association (FEDTA) 51stCongres:

«  Strengthened corporate leadership with the additfdrad Maroni, M.D. as Senior Vice President &fdef Medical
Officer, Mark De Rosch, Ph.D. as Vice PresideriRefulatory Affairs and Tamara Dillon as Vice Presidof Human
Resource:

+ Added Ronald C. Renaud Jr., Michael Clayman, MMaxine Gowen, Ph.D., and Michael Wyzga to the Baxrd
Directors

«  Completed an initial public offering and fully exesed underwriters' option to purchase additiohates with net
proceeds of the offering totaling $104.4 milli




Financial Results

Akebia reported a net loss and a net loss appédabtommon stockholders of $10.4 million, or (®).per share, for the fourth
guarter of 2014. Net loss applicable to commonldtolders for the fourth quarter of 2013, which irdgs accretion on preferred
stock of $3.0 million, was $9.0 million or ($13.9®r share.

Akebia reported a net loss applicable to commockstolders for the full year of 2014 of $123.9 nailii or ($8.04) per share,
which includes accretion on preferred stock of $886illion. Net loss applicable to common stockhoédier the full year of 2013,
which includes accretion on preferred stock of $58illion, was $69.1 million or ($126.94) per share

In connection with the closing of the Company’sialipublic offering on March 25, 2014, all of t®mpanys outstanding shar
of preferred stock were converted into shares ofroon stock and accordingly the accretion on théepred stock ceased as of
such date.

Research and development expenses were $7.1 nfdlidhe fourth quarter of 2014 compared to $3.Rioni for the fourth
quarter of 2013. Research and development expereses$25.4 million for the full year of 2014 comedrto $10.8 million for th
full year of 2013. The increase in both periodgrimarily attributable to costs related to AKES48 including Phase 2b study cc
due to the ongoing enroliment through April 20h& initiation and conduct of Phase 2 clinical depetent for the treatment of
anemia in patients undergoing dialysis, Phase §rpm costs and manufacturing costs.

Research and development expenses in both periemsfurther increased by stock-based compensatimge and personnel-
related costs due to increased headcount and enejapment costs for AKB-6899.

General and administrative expenses were $3.50milbr the fourth quarter of 2014 compared to $8ilion for the fourth

quarter of 2013. General and administrative expengge $12.5 million for the full year of 2014 coangd to $5.2 million for the
full year of 2013. The increase in general and a@dstrative expenses for both periods is primamhated to increased headcount,
professional fees, facility related costs and conciakplanning costs, as well as increased stodeth@ompensation expense.

The increased stock-based compensation expens¢himdsearch and development expenses and gendratiministrative
expenses is primarily a result of an increase énvididue of the Company’s common stock due to thag2my’s initial public
offering and the expense associated with bothdbticted stock grants made in December 2013 aarttggmade to employees
hired during 2014.

The Company’s cash used in operations during theHauarter of 2014 was $9.2 million, an increas$4.3 million from $4.9
million for the same period of 2013. The Comparodsh used in operations during the full year of42@4s $27.5 million, an
increase of $16.2 million from $11.3 million foretlsame period of 2013. The Company ended 2014cagh, cash equivalents
and available for sale securities of $108.9 milléo expects its existing cash resources to supperations through the first half
of 2016.

About Akebia Therapeutics

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. is a biopharmaceuticatgany headquartered in Cambridge, Massachusettsséd on delivering
innovative therapies to patients with kidney disethsough HIF biology. Akebia's lead clinical pragr, AKB-6548, is a once-
daily, oral therapy, which has completed a Phasst@tly in non-dialysis patients with anemia relate@KD and is in Phase 2
development for the treatment of anemia in patiantiergoing dialysis, serious medical conditiorat thad to increased morbic
and mortality if left untreated. We routinely pasfiormation that may be important to investorsha tinvestors” section of our
website at www.akebia.comWe encourage investors and potential investocehsult our website regularly for important
information about us.

Forward-Looking Statements

This press release includes forward-looking statémeSuch forward-looking statements include trads@ut Akebia's strategy,
future plans and prospects, including statemeg@rding the potential indications and benefits BA6548, the presentation of
data from the Phase 2b study in non-dialysis pestianthe World Congress of Nephrology, the comreerant of the Phase 3
clinical study in non-dialysis patients with rer@ademia, and the development plan for the
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Phase 2 study in dialysis patients with renal-aaaentluding the timing of the announcement of stresults. The words
"anticipate," "appear," "believe," "estimate," "exp," "intend," "may," "plan," "predict," "projett;target,” "potential,” "will,"
"would," "could," "should," "continue," and similaxpressions are intended to identify forward-logkstatements, although not
all forward-looking statements contain these idgmt words. Each forwartboking statement is subject to risks and uncetits
that could cause actual results to differ materimbm those expressed or implied in such statepmecitiding the risk that existir
preclinical and clinical data may not be predictdfe¢he results of ongoing or later clinical triatlse ability of Akebia to
successfully complete the clinical development KBA6548; the funding required to develop Akebiasduct candidates and
operate the company, and the actual expenses ategbtherewith; the timing and content of decisimagle by the FDA and other
regulatory authorities; the rate of enrolimentlia Phase 2 study; the actual time it takes to cetmphe Phase 2 study and ana
the data; the actual time it takes to preparetidriaitiate the Phase 3 clinical study; the sucoés®mpetitors in developing
product candidates for diseases for which Akeb@ursently developing its product candidates; ahkél#a's ability to obtain,
maintain and enforce patent and other intelleqgtuaperty protection for AKB-6548. Other risks anttartainties include those
identified under the heading "Risk Factors" in Ale&bAnnual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2014,
and other filings that Akebia may make with the 8#ies and Exchange Commission in the future. Akelmes not undertake,
and specifically disclaims, any obligation to ugdany forward-looking statements contained in piness release.
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Tables Follow:

3




AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands except share and per share data)

(unaudited)
Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Operating expense
Research and developme $ 7,06 $ 3,19C $ 25,39¢ % 10,781
General and administratiy 3,53¢ 3,011 12,542 5,152
Total operating expens 10,607 6,201 37,94( 15,93:
Operating los! (20,607%) (6,207) (37,940 (15,939
Other income, ne 237 253 906 2,76€
Net loss and comprehensive ¢ $ (10,370) $ (5,94¢) $ (37,039 $ (13,167)
Reconciliation of net loss to net loss applicableammon
stockholders
Net loss $ (10,3700 $ (5,94¢) $ (37,039 $ (13,167)
Accretion on preferred stoc — (3,024) (86,899 (55,88¢€)
Net loss applicable to common stockholc $ (10,370) $ (8,972) $ (123,937 $ (69,059)
Net loss per share applicable to common stockhs—basic
and dilutec $ (052 $ (13.92) $ (8.049) $ (126.99)
Weighted-average number of common shares used Ingse
per share applicable to common stockholders—etzasi
diluted 19,815,14. 644,59 15,406,38I 544,00z

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
Selected Balance Sheet Data
(in thousands)
(unaudited)

December 31, December 31,
2014 2013

Cash, cash equivalents and available for sale isiest $ 108,91¢ $ 32,55¢€
Working capital 103,59¢ 29,52¢
Total asset 110,99¢ 34,66¢
Total stockholdel' equity (deficit) 104,07¢ (127,072

Investors:

Argot Partners, LLC

Andrea Rabney, +1-212-600-1902
Andrea@argotpartners.com

Or

Media:

Argot Partners, LLC

Elizabeth Schleifstein, +1-917-763-8106
Elizabeth@argotpartners.com
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